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Small businesses are the
engine room of the
global economy.

We help them grow.

Across the globe, SMEs aren’t given the finance they need to
grow. We're here to change that, by making finance accessible,
guick and simple. Business owners are forward thinkers.
They’re determined. They stand up to make a difference and
work hard to make it happen. They create jobs, support local
communities and drive the economy forward.

That’s why we care about helping them, and why we focus
100% on helping SMEs get the funding they need to win.

Our story so far

£15bn >135,000

fent through our plat- SMEs helped since 2010
form since 2010

£3.7bn #1

foans under SME lending platform
management in the UK




Highlights

A year focused on enabling SMEs

to borrow, pay and spend

- £15.2 billion credit extended to more
than 135,000 SMEs across the UK
and the US since 2010

+ SMEs accessed Funding Circle
finance through our loan product,
Marketplace offering and, in the UX,
our new product FlexiPay
Continued to support SMEs through
uncertain economic environment

We continued to deliver an

unrivalled customer experience

powered by data and technology

+ 70% of applications in the UK
receiving instant decisions

+ Application in six minutes, decision in
as little as nine seconds and money
in borrower’s account in 24 hours

+  Strong customer satisfaction with
Group NP at 77 for 2022

Early execution against the three

strategic pillars of our plan

»  Afttract more businesses — through
the launch of Lending as a Service
("l.aaS") in the US with twa partners

+  Say yes 1o more businesses — by
introducing super prime loans in the
US to serve lower risk customers,
and short-term leans in the UK for
younger bysinesses

+ Become #1in new products —
by expanding our new product,
FlexiPay, including the beta launch
of the FlexiPay card feature to help
solve more SME problems

Our performance

Operational
Originations

£1.5bn

2021: £2.3bn

Statutory financial
Total income

£148.7m

2021 £206.9m

Resilient funding and
loan performance

.

Continued institutional investor
demand to fund loans — with new
forward flow agreementsin the
UK and US

Loan returns remain robust

and attractive

2022 financial performance in
line with expectations

Group: £6.8 millicn AEBITDA,
£(147) million operating loss

UK Loans: £11.7 million AFRITDA,
£{3.7) million operating loss

US Loans: £(3.7) million AEBITDA,
£(9.7) million operating loss

Other Loans: £2.8 million AEBITDA,
£2.7 million operating profit
FlexiPay: £(4.0) million AEBITDA,
£(4.0) million operating loss

Culture and diversity are
fundamental to our success

87% of Circlers would recommend
Funding Circle as a great place

to work

We maintained our highest-ever
employee engagement score of
73% in aur annual employee survey
92% of Circlers believe

Funding Circle demonstrates

it values diversity

We launched our new valug —
Obsess Over The Customer —
reinforcing our focus on the
customer across the organisation

Loans under management

£3.7bn

2021: £4.5bn

(Loss)/profit befare tax

£(12 9)m

2021: £64.1m

Alternative performance measures (APM)

AEBITDA

£6.8m

2021: £91.8m

The Strategic Report was approved by the Board on 2 March 2023.

-

Lisa Jacobs
Chief Executive Officer . 1 .-
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Funding Circle at a glance

Helping power
SMEs’ growth

Our mission is 1o build the place where small businesses get
the funding they need to win

We do this by delivering an unrivalled customer experience
powered by data and technology. Over the past decade,

we've built a technology platform that is revolutionising

SME lending. Thanks to our instant decision capabilities,
SMEs in the UK can complete a lending application in minutes
and receive alending decision in seconds, accessing funding
quickly and at an affordable rate.

To date we've helped over 135,000 SMEs access more than
£15 billion. This finance is helping to create jobs and power
the economy.

Our flywheel for growth

Our technology platform enables us to test, learn and adapt
ta pravide better finance solutions for SMEs and help salve
more small business problems. We innovate and iterate

in a continuous feedback loop, committed to driving
improvements in machine learning, technology and data.

New products
(Funding Circle
& Marketplace)

Attract more
borrowers

Greater
operating
leverage

Accumulate
more data

Say yves to

. Develop better
more businesses A .
. machine learning
{increased
models

conversion)

02 Funding Cwcle Holdings plc

“We’ve taken out three term
loans with Funding Circle
and had a fantastic
experience. The funding
really helped us grow the
business, the application
process 1s quick and easy.
and since they introduced
us to FlexiPay, we love
using it.”

Nikola Southern,
Founder, Grace & Thorn

We deliver an unrivalled
experience for small
businesses, powered

by data and technology

>2bn

data points in data
lake (Group)

3X

better risk discrimination
than bureau scores

6 min

application time (UK loans)

70%

instant decision (UK Joans)

77

customer NPS (Group)

4.6

Trustpilot score (UK)




What we do

We enable small

Borrow
Longer term

businesses to borrow,
pay and spend

/‘

Thousands of
small businesses

Direct
Partner
Broker

Laa$s

.

\

Our channels

Direct

Customers come direct to
Funding Circle via our website

Partner

Customers are introduced to
Funding Circle by a third party

Broker

Customers are introduced to
Funding Circle by a broker
who manages their client’s
relationship with us

Lending as a Service
Fartners leverage our lending
propoesition to offer ioans to
their customers

Spend
Daily

\.

come to
Funding Circle

Technology platform
Data advantage
Institutional capital aggregaticon

Customer experience

Where we operate

/

-

United Kingdom

Founded in the UK in 2010,

Funding Circle is now the
leading lending platform
for SMEs

We've helped more than

80,000 businesses access

over £11 billion in finance

™

\_

United States
Having entered the US
market in 2013, Funding
Circle has a material and
growing presence

» We've helped more than

40,000 businesses access

over $4 billion in finance

L/

Pay
Monthly

‘\
to get the funding

they need to win

Super prime loans
Prime loans
Near prime loans

FlexiPay

L Marketplace

Our products

Prime loans

Business leans from £10,000
to £500,000 available from
six manths to six years

Super prime loans
A superior pricing proposition for
lower risk customers in the US

Near prime loans

Available to businesses that have
been trading for one year or
more in the UK

FlexiPay
CQur new line of credit product
inthe UK

Marketplace

Connecting borrowers with
lenders in the market offering
products beyond our range
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Why Funding Circle?

What makes
Funding Circle unique?

Funding Circle is a lending platform
where SMEs come to borrow and
institutional investors come 1o lend.

SMEs are a key driver of communities,
society and economies. Yet access to
the finance they need to support their
aspirations and operations is often
restricted, with SMEs making up around
half of UK and US GDP, but only a fraction
of bank lending (<2% in our markets)

For SME borrowers, Funding Circle
provides a leading-edge customer
experience (Group Net Promoter
Score of 77), from a trusted provider
{Trustpilot score of 4.6), delivered
through its technology, machine

learning, and data science, coupled with
a supportive hurman touch. Our term
loans and flexible credit solutions
continue 1o help customners access the
affordable funding they need to thrive,
both guickly and conveniently.

For banks, asset managers and other
mstitutional funding providers, supporting
SMEs is hard, due largely to the diversity
of SMEs, their wide-ranging and complex
risks, fragmented and unpredictable
data and significant credit exposure
Our platform facilitates access to an
alternative asset ¢lass in an underserved
market, and delivers both robust and
attractive returns, as well as reduced
cast of funding for leveraged investments.

Established in the UK in 2010, and now
the leading lending platform to SMEs,
the Group also has a material and
growng presence in the US. Globally,
Funding Circle has already provided
over £15 billion of loans to ¢ 135,000
businesses. With total addressable
markets for SME lending of >£100 billion
in the UK and >$300 billion in the US, the
opportunity is large.

Financially, we have demonstrated both
resilience and scalability through recent
cycles. We have a fee-based income
model, mainly derived from transaction
fees from barrowers (for loan
originations), servicing fees from
institutional investors {for managing

—

N

\
Our sustainable differentiation comes from our data and technology:
A growing data Helping us to - Leadingto while also Delivering a
lake of over two develop and apply maore instant outperfaorming competitive
billion data ever more accurate lending decisions traditional bureau advantage
points, including madelling, (now (>70%), optimising scores by as much earned from
proprietary data 8th generation borrower access as three times, and over 12 years
from over inthe UK and 5th to finance delivering strong of SME lending
ane millien loan inthe US) and improving loan returns;
applications, and customer demonstrating a
behavioural and experience proven platform
performance and conversion
data from over
190,000 loans
S

77%

Group Net Promoter

Score

4.6

Trustpilot score

c.£15bn

Loans provided globally to date

>£100bn >$300bn

Total addressable market for
SME lending in the UK

04 Funding Circle Holdings plc

Total addressable market for
SME lending in the US




their loans} and FlexiPay fees from customers.
Additionally, we earn investment income frem
mainly legacy investments with our balance sheet
only used within strict guardrails to support our
business development.

The business is at an exciting infiection point.

High operational gearing, through scalability of our
fintech platform, improves profitability and returns
o equity from the strong growth opportunities

for the business. Thig is driven particularly by cur
medium-term strategy, which focuses on three
key areas:

+ Attract more businesses — by extending our
lending distribution channels: including use of
embedded partner solutions and Lending as
a Service;

* Say yes to more businesses — by improving
both SME coverage and borrower conversion:
mncluding use of cur Marketplace for lending
that falls outside our normal parameters; new
customer segments (such as super prime
horrowers in the UUS, and near prime in the UK},
and improvements in process; and

+ #1in new products — leveraging the platferm
through a multi-product approach, inciuding our
FlexiPay product (line of ¢redit and card).

Environmental, sccial and governance (“ESG") and
sustainability are heing further embedded into the
cere of our business. With Board level oversight
and executive level ESG management incentives,
our global ESG framework 1s being driven by efforts
focused on four key areas:

climate change and environment;

diversity, equity and inclusion;

social impact; and
« governance and risk management.
Our strong balance sheet and conservative capital
structure allow us to fully execute our growth
strateqy and to create value for all our stakeholders:
borrowers, institutional investers, communities,

governments and regulators, partners and
suppliers, employees (Circlers) and shareholders.

Building brand
awareness

Our first sports
sponsorship

In 2022, Funding Circle announced its first ever sports
sponsorship with Premiership Rugby to increase brand
awareness and reach more potential borrowers.

The partnership will focus on championing SMEs that

support the rugby clubs and their local communities.

Many Premiership Rugby players ga on to create successful
businesses and the entrepreneurial spirit of the players and
clubs is something that Premiership Rugby celebrates
across the league.

Funding Circle kicked off a two-year sponsorship across all
11 clubs in the league in September 2022. With branding at
over 140 games during the 2022/23 season including those
broadcast live on BT Sport and ITV, our partnership provides
an opportunity to reach more potential borrowers and
increase consideration of Funding Circle as the place for
businesses to get the funding they need to win.

Focusing on how Funding Circle helps businesses get a
competitive edge, our activation will ramp up in 2023 with

a content series showcasing three celebrity player-run
husinesses, fronted by former England rugby union player
David Flatman. There will be competitions throughout the
season for SMEs to win tickets, match hospitality, and three
businesses will win a business growth package including

a £10,000 marketing grant plus pass-through sponsorship

rights at a local fixture.
14.5m 35%
of SMEs more likely to

Expected audience reach
over the 2022/23 season cansider Funding Circle as
a result of the partnership
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Chair’s statement

Continuing to support
SMEs and positioning

ourselves for growth

in 2023

2022 in review

At the time of writing my annual
staterment to shareholders in 2022, we
were iooking forward to the return of
more normalised markets, after a
protracted period of uncertainty created
by Brexit and then the pandemic. At the
same time, | expressed concerm about
the events unfolding in Ukraine; it seerned
that Annual Report writing time had

a habit of coinciding with periods of
pivotal uncertainty for our country or
for the world.

So, while elements of our markets
returned to normal with the winding
down of Covid-19-related government
support for SME financing, geopolitical
tensions instead took centre stage to
strain the macroeconomic outlook
leading to significant rises in the rate of
inflation. SMEs are often disproportionately
impacted by inflation, and their corperate
histaries do not extend back to times
when inflation was the norm. ftis

only natural that the huge economic
uncertainty that largely resulted from
the crisis in Ukraine led to hesitancy
and caution on the part of our
custorners as the year pregressed

In spite of the challenges, our SME
customers continued to demonstrate
ther agility and resilience. In turn,
Funding Circle teams continue to work
hard to suppori our customers This
commiunity of effort and spirt has so
far resulted in low levels of default and
financial stress for our borrowers.

06 Funding Crrele Holdings pic

As aresult, we have continued to
deliver pasitive laan returns on our lean
product, so our institutional investors
continue to support our model and
more are joining the community. | hope
that by the end of this period, our ability
to withstand recessionary periods and
to continue through the cycle to serve
the SMEs, which are so vital to the
sucecess of the economy, is in no doubt.

Progressing our medium-term plan
Last year | referred to our medium-term
plan, and the enhancement of our core
strengths in term loan products through
new products and capabtlities in both
the UK and the US. It is logical that with
our high Net Promoter Score, SMEs
trust and like to use Funding Circle, and
we In turn can offer more solutions to
those customers. It is equally apparent
that customers prefer a range of funding
solutions to address their short-term
needs or longer-term plans. Gur plan,
starting with FlexiPay, will see our
customers not only being able to borrow
on our platform, but pay and spend too,

Ancther key component of our
medium-term plan is the development
of our Lending as a Service ("LaaS")
business in the US. This embeds our
core skills in technology and credit data
into the highly fragmented US banks
sector — combining our skills with the
banks’ customer bases offers huge
potentiai for growih

From a Funding Circle perspective,

these new products will not only enable
us to reach more SMEs, but also to add
incremental paths to grow our business

It is still early days, but | am pleased
with the progress we have made to
date, in particular with FlexiPay, and am
cenfident that the Board is steering our
new product growth with an appropriate
balance of caution and ambition.

Thanks to the team

2022 saw a return to office life, for
some of our team for the first time

i their careers! In a difficult external
environment, my thanks go to all of our
Circlers who have helped to deliver this
set of results. Our people have shown
flexibility, creativity and resilience. They
are all dedicated and passionate about
the customer base that we support and
this dedication has again been much

in evidence threugh these challenging
economic times.

Our new CEO and the Board

This has been Lisa Jacobs' first year

at the helm as CEQ. Since the beginning
of the year there have been a number of
changes at the senicr leadership levels
as Lisa has built a team around her,
including experienced new leaders of
our FlexaPay, Technology, US Loans and
Capital Markets teams. This whole
process has been one of evolution
rather than revolution and | commend
Lisa for the seamless and successful
transition that marked her first year

as CEQ.

Samir Desal has stepped back from the
role of CEQ and the Board welcomed
him as a Non-Executive Director. AS one
would expect, Samir's contribution has
been thoughtful and engaged — we have
been fortunate to draw on his expertise
and his pergpectives encourage
productive discussion,



Another exciting year ahead

This is the first time since Funding
Circle went public when there are no
obvious new "known unknowns” in
the air.

The “knowns”, however, will be
challenging, especially in the UK market,
which is still forecast to be in recession
for much of the year ahead. We have
therefore prepared and planned for a
period of subdued economic activity
and we may even be in a place where
we are surprised on the upside in 2023.

| remain very optimistic in spite of the
obvious economic challenges. As we
enter a tough year for the economy, we
are in many ways stronger than ever
before. We have proven with our term
lpans product that even through tough
times in the cycle it is attractive to both
borrowers and lenders. And we enter
2023 with a balanced and exciting mix
of an established, prefitable business
in the UK alongside two businesses, in
FlexiPay and US Loans, which are really
well positioned for exciting growth.

We have a truly inspiring medium-term
plan and | am confident that 2023 will
see us continue to deliver on that plan.

Andrew Learoyd
Chair
2 March 2023

Supporting businesses

History in the baking

Anna Tyler and Felix Harkness
ANNA Cake Couture

Business partners Anna and Felix opened their first cake shop
and cafe in 2015. A Funding Circle loan is now helping them take
their business up a tier.

Anna Tyler started her career as a wedding cake designer, before
joining forces with Felix Harkness to open a cake shop and cafe
in Bristol in 2015. They wanted 1o offer the Cliftan community hot
drinks and sweet treats, and at the same time give customers the
chance to watch wedding cakes being made before their eyes.

After five successful years, and despite the challenges faced
by the hospitality industry during the pandemic, they seized the
opportunity to pivot the business online in 2020. Launching

an online platform, they began offering luxury gifts such as
cookies, macarons and cupcakes, and expanded the

business nationwide.

The pair's success can be seen in the numbers, with turnover
expected to increase from c¢.£400k in 2020, to a projected £850k
during 2023; meanwhile the team has grown from 15 to 25 staff.
To grow the business further, the duo recently came to Funding
Circle to secure a term loan to expand their kitchen, create more
jobs and open a new office. 2023 is expected to be history in the
baking for ANNA Cake Couture — watch this space!
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Chief Executive Officer’s statement

We’re stronger than
ever before, and the
best is yet to come

20272 was my first year as Chief
Executive Officer of Funding Circle.
Having joined a decade ago (as Circler
number 42}, I've been part of the team
of committed and passionate Circlers
building Funding Cicle from a fintech
start-up to a company that has helped
more than 135,000 SMEs with over

£15 billion in lending. While the business
has evolved, our mission remains the
same. We exist to help small businesses
get the funding they need to win. We do
this by delivering an unrivalled customer
experience powered by data and
technology. This has a big impact in
terms of job creation, economic growth
and tax receipts. This was why | joined
Funding Circle, and why our team of
Circlers are proud to come to wark
every day.

But we're just getting started. There are
thousands more SMEs that remain
underserved by the traditional financial
services market. In 2022, we set aut

an ambitious medium-term growth
strategy, expanding the number of ways
we help small businesses win We are
diversifying and expanding our products
anad distribution channels beyond our
term loan and direct distribution. This
will enable SMEs to borrow, pay and
spend wherever they are — through
direct, intermediated and embedded
distribution channels.

Financial and operational overview
2022 was a challenging year given

the broader economic environment,
We've been agile in responding —
ensuring that we are serving our SMEs
respeonsibly and delivering robust loan
returns. Importantly, we delivered
resilient loan returns and continued

to see demand to fund laans.

08 Funding Crrcle Haldings ple

In September, we set cut our
expectation that Group income would
be in the range of £140--£155 million,
with positive AEBITDA. For 2022, we
reported total income of £149 million
and AEBITDA of £6.8 million. As expected,
total income was lower year on year due
to the economic environment and the
unwinding of the various government
loan schemes, which we supported
during the pandemic. Lower total income
level translated into an operating loss

of £14.7 million. We ended the year with
net assets and cash of £284 million and
£178 million, respectively

Market-leading technology
continues to deliver a superior
customer experience

Cver the Iast 12 years we have innovated,
built and honed a platform to revolutionise
SME lending through cur data and
technology. Our nsk models are three
times better at discriminating risk than
standard bureau scores, and 70% of
our UK applications receijve an instant
decision. Our speed of lending decisions,
tailored customer propositions and
superior customer experience lead to
strong satisfaction scores and high
repeat rateés among borrowers

I've continued to enjoy spending time
with our borrowers this year and seeing
the impact our leans have on their
businesses. In the summer | met

David Cohen, a repeat Funding Circle
borrower and founder of FlowerStation,
which celebrated its 20th anniversary
in 2022; having grown from one store
to multiple locations across Londen
Before Christmas, | also visited Pure
Caffe — a coffee and coffee equipment
wholesaler — to learn more about the
business, and do a bit of Christmas

shopping' | continue to be enthralled by
their stories of entrepreneurship, creativity
and resilience. Qur credit products play
a small but very important part in their
stories ~ the fuel to their fire — whether
that is enabling their growth, or helping
them to manage their cash flow through
FlexiPay. I'd like to thank them for all
their support.

An exciting inflection point

Looking ahead, we will continue to
support the credit needs of the SMEs
we serve, through an expanded product
set, increased engagement and more
distribution channels in pursuit of

our mission

Qur medium-term plan is focused around
growth through three strategic pillars:

Attract more businesses:
strengthening existing distribution
channels and expanding into new
embedded and intermediated
channels {o enable more businesses
10 reach us;

+  Say yes to more businesses: serving
more businesses through an expanded
set of personalised Funding Circle
products and further integration with
third party ienders; and

Be #1 in new products: using
our capabilities to enter new
markets where we can develop
market-leading products.

Wwe've already made good progress
executing against this strategy:

Attract more husinesses - in the

US we have launched Lending as a
Service with two financial services
partners, helping us reach new audiences;
in the UK, we signed our first sports
sponsorship deal with Premiership



Rugby, tc increase our brand awareness
and reach more petential borrowers.

Say yes to more businesses - in the
us, we're offering a super prime product
for more established businesses; in the
UK, we now offer a near prime loan
product that alsn snpports younger
businesses. We've also expanded our
Marketplace to refer businesses to other
third party lenders.

Be #1 in new products - following a
beta launch in Q4 2021, we've expanded
FlexiPay to new customer segments.
Engagement has been high and it

has heen used to make over 20,000
payments to date. At the end of 2022,
we beta launched our FlexiPay card,
which will enable SMEs to meet their
daily expenditure needs.

Thriving through economic
uncertainty

We expect the economic uncertainty
to persist into 2023. Whilst this brings
challenges for us and the SMEs that
we serve, it also brings opportunities.
We will continue to navigate this period
with agility to take advantage of

those opportunities

Our loan performance continues to be
stable and attractive. Both last year and
during the pandemic, we saw our SMEs
demonstrate incredible resilience. | am
confident that they will do 50 again

We will maintain our core focys on
executing our medium-term strategy,
transforming our business ints
something that is more important in
our customers’ lives and more valuable
for our shareholders.

It's been quite the adventure for Funding
Circle so far, but there is s0 much more
to come. We'e just getting started.
Thank you to all our Circlers for making
it happen!

Lisa Jacobs
Chief Executive Officer
2 March 2023

Supporting businesses

Business in bloom

Nikola Southern
Grace & Thorn

Grace & Thorn opened its flagship store in Hackney in 2011 with a
vision to help people see flowers differently. Today, a third Funding
Circle loan, together with a FlexiPay line of credit, is helping the
business flourish.

Business owner Nik was mesmerised by flowers and plants from a young
age. Her love for flowers began with a fiddle-leaf fig tree in the front room
of her grandparents’ home. Growing up in the city, Nik was in awe of how
a tree existed within the walls of a house rather than in a park. Tired of
seeing uninspiring rows of houseplants in plastic brown pots next to
flowers forced into tight houquets struggling to breathe, Nik wanted

to bring out the best in plants, and in 2011, Grace & Thorn was horn.

The business initially kicked off in Nik's living room, followed hy a
shared studio space, which it eventually outgrew. Today, alongside the
main shop in Hackney, Nik also manages her studio in London Fields.
The business has become an established community staple, one that is
renowned for its off-beat approach to floral and plant styling. The florists
offer the community unusual, wild and abundant floral arrangements,
fresh and dried flowers, houseplants, pots and lifestyle products for

all occasions.

In 2017, Nik wanted to give customers the opportunity to create their

own unique bouquets. This is when she first came to Funding Circle and
secured aterm loan to launch a range of workshops at Grace & Thorn's
studio. She also branched out into offering ready-to-wear wedding flowers
alongside small and large-scale event services.

Grace & Thorn's relationship with Funding Circle has since strengthened
and in 2022 the business secured a third loan to acquire a new studio.
Nik was also one of the first customers to use a FlexiPay line of credit to
support the business’ cash flow. This has allowed Grace & Thorn to plan
for events and workshops in advance, without worrying about upfront
financing. FlexiPay has also enabled the business to

focus on creative development, as the

team has more time to plan

efficiently and, ultimately, to

generate more revenue.
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QOur market

Small businesses are
more resilient following
the pandemic

Small businesses have emerged from the pandemic with increased resilience,

and because of this are well-placed to navigate today’s challenging economic
environment. While for now many SMEs are adopting a wait and see approach with
regards to their immediate investment intentions, over the medium term, growth
ambitions remain largely intact.

UK market

SMEs: an important driver

of the economy

Our customers may be small at the
individual level, but as a collective,
SMEs make a vital contribution te the
UK economy. Based on the results of
our 2027 UK SME survey, we estimate
Funding Circle’s outstanding lending
contributed £6.9 hillion to UK gross
domestic product (GDP), supported
106,000 jobs and generated £1.4 billion
In tax receipts Extrapolate these
numbers to include the wider SME
lending sector, and SMEs' importance to
the UK economy is clear.

2022: a new set of economic challenges

The challenges of the pandemic provided
impertant lessons for UK SMEs, with
58% of SMEs reporting their experience
has made their businesses more resilient.
This tallies with data from the ONS
Business Insights and Conditicns Survey
(BICS), which shows that businesses’
confidence of survival was ten percentage
points higher compared to H2 2021,

As the year progressed, 2022 presented
a new test for SMFEs, including one that
has supplanted the pandemic as the
primary concern of smaller businesses
—increasing costs. in Q2 2022, 40%

of SMEs reported rising prices were a
major barrier to their businesses. The
impact of these challenges on SMEs
and their response to the threat they
pose can be broadly categorised using
the same three behaviour groups that
emerged during the pandemic:

10 Funding Circle Holdings plc

«  Survivors — those most
negatively impacted by the
economic environment;

= Hedgers - those focused on
precautionary measures, such
as building up or maintaining
cash reserves, and

*  Thrivers - those which continued to
adapt, invest and grow their businesses.

These groups continued to respond to
2027's chailenges in different ways.

Survivors, Hedgers and Thrivers

SMEs have generally seen an
improvernent in their income as the
effects of the pandemic have waned
However, growing revenues for survivors
have largely been offset by rising costs.
This has meant some businesses,
particularly those at the smalter end of the
SME spectrum, are beginning 1o run their
savings down. Despite this, cash holdings
across the general SME population remain
high compared to pre-pandemic levels.
According to the ONS BICS Survey,

42% of SMEs were holding at least six
months’ cash reserves by the end of
2022, an increase of 2% from H2 2021

Hedgers have typically delayed pressing
ahead with near-term investrment activity
in response to the challenging economic
conditions, preferring instead to maintain
eievated cash balances and adopt a
wait-and-see approach with regards

to how the economy develops before
taking action Based on our survey
findings, 50% of SMEs said they had
paused, delayed or cancelled a business
investment in 7022 due to the macro

envirgnment, This was mirrored by a
fall in the share of SMEs expecting to
increase investment ievels in the short
termto 22.7% in Q2 2022, down from
32.5%in Q4 2021,

As with the pandemic, a core cohort of
Thrivers remain committed to growing
their business, and mediurm-term
growth ambitions have remained stable.
Research by the Federation of Small
Businesses estimates two thirds of
SMEs were planning to invest in their
businesses by 2024, suggesting any
reining-in of short-term investment
activity will likely be temporary.

Overall, 2022 saw a thriver-to-hedger shift
in UK SME behaviour in response to the
economic conditions. As these pressures
recede and economic conditions

improve, this shift is likely to reverse.

SME credit conditions tightened
in the second half of 2022

As the Bank of England base rate
increased throughout the year, SME
lenders tightened their iending criteria in
response to the economic environment.
Funding Circle was no different, with
rising interest rates and a prudent
approach to originatiens resulting in
fewer loans originated through the
platform than during the peak of
Government lending schemes. Even
with this, mare than £1 billion of vital
funding was provided through Funding
Circle’s platform to SMEs located in
every corner of the UK, including
businesses located in each one of the
UK's 650 parliamentary constituencies.




US market

American small business

remain optimistic in the face

of market challenges

The US economy rebounded in 2021 as
the pandemic subsided and restrictions
lifted, with GDP exceeding pre-pandemic
levels. The recovering economy has
presented US SMEs with several
challenges, including supply chain
disruptions, labour shortages, and rising
costs. Despite these tests, 2022 has
seen a record number of new US SMEs
created. This growth has been driven
mostly by businesses in transportation
and warehousing, accommodation and
food services, health care and social
assistance, and retail trade’.

While the interest rate outlook remains
uncertain, 2023 has started with strong
consumer demand, historically low
unemployment and easing supply
chains. While hiring remains a challenge,
SMEs are optimistic

The rising interest rate environment has
seen some small business lenders exit
the market, and a general tightening of
credit criteria Despite this, US borrower
demand for Funding Circle loans remains
strong and credit performance is stable.
Research suggests this demand is set
to continue; 89% of US SMEs feel
underserved by their primary bank and
are considering changing providers to a
digital alternative?, while 53% have
unmet funding needs”.

1 Ecancmic innovatian Group

2 Capgermini
3 fed3mall Business

Supporting businesses

Funding good karma

Jeff Treichel
PaperKarma

Jeff taok on US mobile app business PaperKarma in 2017.
A Funding Circle term loan helped the company survive and
thrive through the pandemic and beyond.

PaperKarma is a mobile app that automatically and continuously
unsubscribes users from junk and unwanted catalogues. With over

1 million subscribers, users upload a picture of their unwanted mailer
to the app, and image recognition technology will identify the distributor
and remove them from the mailing list. The app helps users take back
control of their mailbox and cut clutter, while saving trees and positively
impacting the environment too.

Denver-based CEQ Jeff acquired the business in 2017 and by February
2020, he wanted to secure financing to help the business launch new
features and redesign the app to drive greater conversion and revenue.
PaperKarma was introduced to Funding Circle through one of our
Marketplace partners and secured a term loan, just weeks before
pandemic lockdowns began in the US.

PaperKarma was able to continue to build and plan through uncertain
times, retaining its technology and product team threughout, and
with the funding laying the groundwork for continued success today.
Over 8 million opt-out requests have been sent by the app which has
a five-star rating. Big plans continue at pace, and we can't wait to see
what's next for PaperKarmal!
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Technology and data

Technology and data
are at the heart of our
SME lending platform

Our technology and data
have reinvented SME
lending. Thanks to our
platform, SMEs have been
able to secure the funding
they need to win. But we
can do more. That’s why
our platform is constantly
evolving so that it
delivers more solutions

to SMEs more guickly
and more seamlessly.

A platform that has revelutionised
the SME lending market

Since Funding Circle was established

in 2010, we've helped over 135,000
SMEs secure term loans. In total, over
£15 billion has been lent through our
platform and we've processed more
than one million applcations None of
this would have been possible were it
not for our focus on data and technology

The above figures demonstrate the level
of demand there is among SMEs for
our lending solutions, highlighting

how SMEs have historically been
underserved by traditional lenders.

It is easy to see why this has been the
case. The number of SMEs is large.
Their business activities are diverse
Their funding needs are varied.

The avaifable dataset upon which to
understand these businesses Is alsc
fragmented. This can make it difficult
to assess the risks involved and to build
medels that are predictive and accurate

The result? Banks tend to focus their
lending on larger businesses, those that
aperate in specific areas and/or on their
existing customers

Therefore, SMEs tend to experience
lengthy and bureaucratic application
processes, high decline rates and imited
ioan sizes. In short, SMEs have found it
difficult to get funding.

That 1s until we taunched our platform.
Combining technology, data and machine
learning, our platform overcomes the
issues that have historically held back
both the SME lending market and the
SMEs themselves

Our unique capabilities are shaped by:

£15bn lent
to SMEs

12+ years of
experience

12 Funding Circle Holdings ple

29m
>1m businesses
applications in our
data lake

77 NPS

across the UK and the US

Our data lake

29m

businesses
data points
8th
2bn data generation
points UK risk
models



How our 4D system works

Data accumulation

We continue to gather a
proportion of our data from
publicly available sources.
What has changed over the
years is the ever-increasing
amaount of bespoke data we
callect from our own analysis
and from our engagement
with customers. Put these two
sources tegether and our data
provides unique insights into
customer behavicurs over

the entire life cycle of a

loan - from application

to repayment.

Data Data
accumulation engineering
Decision Data
engine science

Data engineering

We're not just data gatherers,
however. We put our data to
work so that our predictive
maodels can make accurate
risk decisions. All this data
therefore needs to be cleaned,
managed and maintained.
This is where cur data
enginegering tools and teams
comein.

Incoming data is absorbed
into our data lake in real time.
We use inputs gained from a
variety of sources such as
bank statements, financial
results and balance sheets.
The eutput is a digital and
structured database that is
in a workable format for our
data scientists.

Data science

The database is then
leveraged by our data
scientists who crunch the
numbers looking for patterns
and cther insights that drive
our platforrm’s learning
capabilites and further
improves the accuracy of
our statistical and predictive
maodels. As part of this
process, scenario simulation
is undertaken along with
back-testing, validation

and monitoring.

Our fatest generation models
are so advanced that they
have the capability to predict
whether a customer will
accept or reject a loan offer.

This is not just a "nice to have”

functionality, it informs

Decision engine:

Powered by the data, the
medels and the machine
learning, the decision enging
enables not only lending
decisions to be optimised

in real time but also the
experience of the borrower

to be enhanced by generating
a customer journey that is
hased around guestions and
data that are specific to them.

customer targeting initiatives.
Above all, however, the models
feed the decision engine,
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Technology and data continued

Together, these
processes and
components lead to:

Marketing optimisation

Predictive models lead to accurate
targeting and relevant offers; this
ensures our marketing is effective
and efficient, so we don't waste
time, energy or money.

Increased conversion rates

Targeted offers, informed by
predictive analysis, mean we can
say yes to more businesses.

Strong loan returns

Through careful customer
selection and tight risk parameters,
we're able to ensure a good return
on investment.

Long-term customer engagement

By personalising the customer
experience, we increase the
likelihood of repeat borrowing and
product use, leading to deeper and
longer-term relationships.

UK loan applications

70%

of our applications receive
an instant decision

6 mins

application time

O secs

decision time

14 Funding Circle Holdings plc

What our technology does

Today, we have the capabiiity for SMEs
in the UK to receive an instant lending
decision. More than 70% of our UK
loan applications receive this instant
decision. Loan applications can be
made in as little as six minutes, a
decision can be received in as little as
nine seconds, and borrowers are able
1o access funds within 24 hours.

Of course, it wasn't always like this.
when we first started, we had to rely on
publicly available data. We too deployed
manual processes, But over time our
data pool has increased - today there
are 29 million businesses and over 2
billion data points in our data lake, giving
us one of the most established datasets
for a platform lender. Our technology
has evolved and grown toe so that our
platform has become the increasingly
automated offering it is today, one that
is easy, fast and flexible for our custormers.

We recognise, however, that there may
be applications that are more complex
than others or borrowers that may want
to discuss aspects of their apphcaticn.
So, we have teams in place who add the
human touch — which when combined
with our powerful technology, data and
rmachine learning helps us say yes ¢ as
many businesses as possible.

Data gathering is just the start

Data accumulation; data erigineering;
data science; dacision engine — our 4D"
systemn is the enabier behind the Funding
Circle platform which, in a little over a
decade, has revolutionised SME lending.

it is a system that is centred around the
continual expansion of our decision
making capabilities. The more data
points we gather and the more our
technology manages and leverages the
data, the more our models learn. The
more our models learn, the more
accurate and predictive they become,
which enables us to innovate ang
improve our offering further. This not
only helps attract more borrowers and
institutional investors to our platform,
but also expands our data and increases
our competitive advantage. This is what
we call the Funding Circle Flywheel.

Today, our UK platform is using 8th
generation risk madels. Borrowers
benefit from having an easy, fast and
flexible experience, as evidenced by

the strong customer satisfaction scares
and high repeat rates we consistently

see Institutional investors benefit from
the positive and secure returns they
receive. Funding Circle benefits because
both borrowers and institutional investors
continue to come to us, enabling us to
grow as we help more SMEs.

And thanks to the ever-improving quality
of our data, alongside the development of
our new product capabilities, the Funding
Circle Flywheel is not only getting faster,
it is getting kigger and enabling us to
meet more borrower needs,

A platform that is evolving
to deliver more

We have achieved a lot, but there is
much maore we can and wan!t to do. In
addition 1o rolling out new iterations of
our risk models that are more powerful
and predictive than what came before,
we want to offer SMEs more products
that solve more of the problems they
face. We also want to continue to
improve the custormer experience and
deliver the benefits of our solutions to
SMEs more guickly.

S0, while 2022 saw our engineers enabie
and support the roll cut of our expanding
suite of FlexiPay rew product features,
they also focused on projects that play
a key role in realising the full patential
of our platform. Projects undertaken
during the year, such as making

more use of established cloud-based
applications and Saa$ providers, have
been designed 1o free up the time and
resources of our engineers so that they
can concentrate on further developing
our proprietary technology and software
delivery. The overarching aim is to
speed up the time it takes for the value
we create to reach our customers.

Putting mare in the cloud offers ather
benefits too — costs and security for
example. It allows us to be mare agiie sa
that we are able to respond more quickly
when needed. But above all, it helps us
to focus on what we do best, delivering
proprietary technologies and solutrons
to more and more SMEs.



New products and capabilities

Introducing

Lending as

‘a Service
(“LaaS”)

What is Lending as a Service?

Funding Circle’s offering allows financial institutions to give their
customers a fully integrated, digital end-to-end borrowing experience
without the significant investment and resources required to build or
buy their own platform. By leveraging Funding Circle’s technaology and
expertise, financial instituttons can quickly and easily enter the digital
landing market, offer loans to their business customers and earn

attractive interest and fee revenue.

Why institutions choose us:

More than a decade’s experience originating SME lending

Technology-enabled product delivers superior customer experience
with loan offers in <24 hours after decument submission

Minimal upfront cost or investment to launch a pilot
+  Revenue share model drives profitability
+  Assimple as a turnkey solution to full integration

Our end-to-end SME lending solution for
partners is unique to the market

Customers

Key: ®Funding Circle
® Financial institution

O Services other

providers offer

Marketing
- Data analytics

+ Design support to identify target
market segments to drive customer
engagement through email, direct
mail. embedded application, landing
page, co-marketing and third party
customer contact

Di

gital application
Co-branded or white-labelled digitat
application accessible via dedicated
landing page
6 minutes for borrower to complete

Optional third party AP! integrations to

seamlessly augrment customer data

Sales

™~

Customers provided a
dedicated Funding Circle
account manager
One-on-one support provided
throughout the process
Market leader in

customer satisfaction

_/

-

Operations

and recoveries

Automatic financial
statement parsing

-

Optional in-house coliections

Underwriting

Ten-year credit model performance

delivering attractive returns

Advanced underwriting technology combines
risk models and expert human judgement

+  Predicting future loan performance more
accurately than conventional credit scoring

I

Loan offer and fulfilment Funding

Customers receive funding
in as litte as 48 hours
after application approval +  Customers have access to online
portal for self-gervicing

Fully digital foan document
delivery and execution

Partners generate attractive
revenue via interest income

Servicing
+  Funding Circle can retain servicing
for a low fixed fee

Market leader in customer satisfaction
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New products and capabilities continued

Transforming into a

multi-product lending platform

for small businesses

We've had great success as a primarily single-product category
company offering term loans — serving more than 135,000 SMEs over
the years. We want to do the same as a multi-product company, by
solving more of the funding challenges faced by SMEs and meeting
more of their needs. To do this, we need to add new products to our
offering and we made great progress in 2022 with FlexiPay.

FlexiPay is our new line of credit
product that helps SMEs spread costs
and manage their short-term cash flow
needs. At the end of 2021, we beta
faunched FlexiPay to select customers,
allowing them to pay invoices, bills and
other business costs and repay over
three months. During 2022 we opened
up FlexiPay to a much broader base of
existing and new customers, and at the
end of the year we went on to beta
launch our FlexiPay card. The card is
another way for customers to use their
FlexiPay line of credit, helping them to
pay for everyday business expenses
and make purchases.

Funding Circle is hecoming the
multi-product company we set out to
build, one that enables businesses to
not only borrow, but pay and spend as
well. Our term loan product covers the
borrow element in our Borrow-Pay-Spend
ambition, for SMEs that are looking to
make a longer-term investment in their
business. FlexiPay now gives customers
the ability to access credit to pay and
spend too.

16 Funding Circle Holdings pic

Introducing FlexiPay

FlexiPay is a line of credit that allows
businesses to make purchases and
then spread the cost over three
months, paying back in three equal
monthly instalments. It's designed to
give businesses access to short-term
cash flow when it's needed, allowing
them to seize growth opportunities,
deal with late payments or supply
chain delays, or spread quarterly
costs out monthly.

Customers can apply in minutes and
receive an instant decision, with credit
limits of £2,000 to £250,000. With

no set-up or annual fees, customers
only pay when they use it. We charge
na interest, just a simpie flat fee

on each transaction, giving them
flexitiility while being able to plan

with confidence.

An easy, fast, fiexible product, FlexiPay
gnhances our reputation for designing
finance products around the needs of
SMEs. FlexiPay customers now have
access to credit to pay, and during
2023 we'll enable more customers to
use FlexiPay to spend as we expand
our FlexiPay card beta trial too.



Helping businesses
manage their cash flow

FlexiPay solves one of our
customers’ biggest pain points

We saw strong traction and growth with FlexiPay
in 2022 From H1 2022 to H2 2022 we more than
tripled the value of cumulative transactions made,
with a growing base of both repeat and new
customer transactions. Through 2022, we saw
£60 million of FlexiPay transactions and we grew
the customer base to more than 2,000 active
accounts by the end of the year.

FlexiPay has now been used to make more than
20,000 transactions with 1.4 transactions per month
for an active customer.

Looking ahead, we know that SME business-fc-business
payments represent a huge market opportunity and

67%

of SMEs say
cash flow is their
biggest issue

Bacs research

FlexiPay enables SMEs to manage
their cash flow by spreading the
cost of payments

1H0dIY 2HDIIVUHLS
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we see significant growth opportunity in this space.
We will continue to scale FlexiPay in 2023 — including
investment in new product features and the
expansion of our FlexiPay card beta trial.

How does it work?

1 Apply enline: instant decision

Get an approved line of credit
for business payments

“FlexiPay 1s a brilliant idea which
will help bridge the gap between 3
supplier payments and allow me to
negotiate better with my suppliers.
The application was simple and easy.”

FlexiPay: pay supplier now

Repay over three months with
0% interest and a flat fee

Carl Whetstone-Veitch, Director of Advanced Joinery

Embedded finance and partnerships

To help attract more businesses to Funding Circle, we launched our embedded finance selution, via an API, enabling
partners to offer our loans within their platforms. In the UK during 2022, we established partnerships with Funding
Options and Tide. We also partnered with Handepay, which directs customers to Funding Circle via a partner landing
page. Momentum continues to build in early 2023, and we have launched partnerships with PayPoint, Tungsten, and
Sage. inthe US, we onboarded several new partners in 2022 including Lending Tree which launched at the end of the
year. Lending Tree is one of the |argest and longest serving digital marketplaces in the US.
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Our strategy

An exciting

inflection point

We are driven by our purpose to help SMEs win, because we believe

they make a big difference to people, communities and the economy.

Yet when it comes to accessing finance, a key growth enabler, they

are underserved. Our mission is to build the place where SMEs get the
funding they need to win. In 2022, to support our mission and growth
strategy we launched a new medium-term plan focused on transforming
our business into one which enables businesses to borrow, pay and spend.

Since we launched in 2010, we have
revolutionised SME lending. But we're
still just getting started. We know that
so far we've just been scratching the
surface, and we have attractive
medium-term growth opportunities.
Our medium-term plan is focused on
delivering on these through a defined
set of three strategic pillars and three
core foundations.

Three strategic pillars

Attract more businesses:
strengthening existing distribution
channels and expanding into new
embedded and intermediated
channels to enable more
businesses to reach us.

Say yes to more businesses:
serving more businesses through
an expanded set of personalised
Funding Circle products and further
integration with third party lenders.

We are in a strong position

Consistently 70% of UK
strong customer applications
satisfaction with receiving

high NP§
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instant decisions

#1in new preducts: using

our capabilities to enter new
markets where we can develop
market-leading products.

Three core foundations

Technology and data to enable
innovation at pace: investing in our
technology and ever-expanding data
lake to deliver superior customer
service and better meet the needs
of SMEs.

Scalable products and processes:
serving more businesses through
an expanded set of personalised
Funding Circle products and further
integration with third party lenders.

High-performing teams executing
brilliantly: investing in our people
and our culture to make our
business stronger and deliver

on qur strategy.

Market leadership
position in the UK

Attract more businesses

Inthe US, we launched our Lending as

a Service (“LaaS") proposition. This
enables our financial services partners
to leverage our lending proposition to
offer their own customers, Over a third
of US SMEs have their primary banking
relationship with one of the thousands of
regiona! and community banks in the US,
but many of these institutions are unable
to offer SME loans.

Laa$ enables us to partner with

these financial institutions. Our
partners gain a capability with high
ease of implementation, and we gain
a new distribution channel. Partners
choose us for cur end-to-end,
technology-enabled capabilities, with
robust and attractive returns and ease
of implementation. We have rolled out
Laa$S with initia! partners and will grow
the proposition with new partners in
the coming years.

Increase in online Strong and
adoption and new diverse funding
data sources relationships

{Open Banking)



In the UK, we've launched an AP
which enables partners to seamlessly
integrate Funding Circle Inans within
their cwn website. We also launched
our first sports sponsarship with
Premiership Rugby. Focusing on
championing SMEs which work
alongside cr behind the scenes of the
league’s clubs, we will increase cur
brand awareness and consideration.

Say yes to more businesses

We attract lots of businesses and want
to help as many as possible secure
funding. In 2022, we identified pockets
of businesses we could better serve and
created products to meet their needs

In the UK, we launched a near prime
product that also supports younger
businesses We also expanded our
Marketplace offering — which connects
our borrowers with cther lenders in the
market — to deliver products beyond our
current range. In the US, we launched
super prime ioans, with a superior pricing
proposition for lower risk customers.

We will continue to Identify opportunities
to serve more businesses through
product expansion and personalisation,
and third party integrations to meet
borrower needs beyond our current
range — such as larger loans, agset
finance and invoice finance.

We continue to attract new institutional
investors to the platform, delivering
sustainable sources of capital to
finance future lending. We continue

to extend these relationships to

an increasingly diversified pool

of institutional investors, who we

are able to call upon as market
situations change.

#1 in new products

In 2022, FlexiPay, our new line of credit
product that empowers SMEs to pay
and spend, continued to grow strongly
UK customers used FlexiPay to make
£60 million of transactions as we
expanded into new customer segments.
We beta launched our FlexiPay card
feature in Q4 2022.

We have seen strong engagement

and custormer satisfaction from our
customers so far, and we know that
SME business-to-business payments
represents a huge market opportunity.
We will continue to scale FlexiPay in
2023 — including investment in new
product features and the expansion
of our FlexiPay card beta trial.

Technology and data to enable
innovation at pace

Technoloyy and data are at the heart
of Funding Circle. Through ongoing
investment in technology, we aim to
continually improve our capacity to
develop high-quality products, at pace,
and execute our strategic priorities.

we will also continue to develop our
data-centric culture and invest in the
right tooling for advanced analytics.

Simultanecusly, we will enhance cur
automation by increasing support for
data producers and analysts, ensuring
they can curate and leverage data to
optimise value for customers.

Scalable products and processes
Our aim is to lend, service, partner and
innovate at scale for our custormers.
Wwe will continue to focus on putting
the right processes and capabhilities in
place, so that we can deliver our core
product at scale efficientiy, while
remaining agile to deliver new products
that celight customers.

These efforts will ensure we deliver our
medium-term plan with improved cost
management, increased operational
agility, enhanced predictability and greater,
more efficient scaling potential.

High-performing teams that
execute brilliantly

Our Circlers are our business; they are
what makes the business stronger
every day. We value our mission-led,
values-driven culture at Funding Circle;
we believe it is crucial fo atiract, retain
and develop diverse high-performing
teams that have the knowledge, skilis
and capabilities to execute against our
strategy and serve our customers.,

We have three core areas of focus:

+  Building for the future: ensuring our
organisational structure works and
supports our multi-product model,

Building skills for success: defining,
acquiring and growing the right
skills and capahilities to deliver
our business requirements; and

+  Building the incredible; evolving our
compelling Circler proposition to
ensure we successfully compete for
and retain top talent, with a team that
is as diverse as the borrowers and
instituticnal investors that we serve.
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Key performance indicators

How we measure
our performance

Financial | Statutory

Total income (£m)

£148.7m

{Loss)/profit before tax (Em)

(£12.9m)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (p)

(2.0p)

[2020 "] 2220 2020 [ ] poen jz2020 | ] @312
[2071 | 2089 | 2021 2021
(2022 1487 | 2022 L] (129 | 2022 ] 20
Definition Definition Definition

The Group generates total income
principally from: transaction fees earned
from originating foans with borrowers,
servicing fees from servicing of loans
under management; and investment
mcome net of investment expense.

Links to strategy:

OOE®

Operational

{Loss)/profit before tax is defined as
net incame after taking into account
all operating expenses and finance
income, costs and share of(lass)/profit
of associates,

Links to strategy:

0000

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is
defined as the(loss)/profit for the year
attributable to ordinary equity haolders
of the Parent Company divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

Links to strategy:

00100

Originations (€m)

£1,481m

Loans under Management (£m)

£3,743m

Marketing costs (%)

2 9% of operating income

[2020 | 2742 | [2020 ] 4214 | [2020 ] 30
[2021 2296 | [2021 | 44357 | {2021 ] 28
1481 | [2022 ] 3743 | [2022 | 29
Pefinition Definition Definition

This represents the monetary value

of loans originated through the Group's
platform or through Marketplace
referrals in any given year. This is a

key driver of both transaction fees and
future expected servicing fees and
loans under management,

Links to strategy:

OOEEE
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This represents the total value of
outstanding principal and interest
to borrowers. It includes amounts
that are overdue but excludes loans
that have defaulted and loans
originated through Marketplace
referrais to other lenders.

Links to strategy:

0]0]0]0,

This represents the total cost of
third party marketing expenditure
in any particular year divided by
the operating income earned in
that year.

Links to strategy:

01O



Financial | Alternative performance measures (“APMs”)

Adjusted EBITDA (£m)

£6.8m

Free cash flow (Em)

(£14.4m)

2020 [ ] (63.8)

2020 [ ] 15.4

| 5]
2022 [] 68 | 2022 [_] (14.4)
Definition Definition

Adjusted EBITDA represents the
operating profit/(loss) hefore
depreciation and amoertisation, share-
based payments and associated social
security costs, foreign exchange gains/
(losses) and exceptional items. This is
the principal profit measure used by
the Directers in assessing financial
performance in the Group's

four segments.

Links tg strategy:

OOE®

Focus areas relevant to our KPIs

Free cash flow represents the net
cash flows from operating activities
less the cost of purchasing intangible
assels, property, plant and equipment,
lease payments and interest received.
It excludes the warehouse and
securitisation financing and funding
cash flows and lines of credit cash
flows. The Directors view this as a key
liquidity measure as it represents the
net amount of cash used or generated
to operate and develop the Group's
platform each year.

Links to strategy:

OOO®

@ Attract more businesses and say yes to more businesses

@ #1 in new products

@ Technology and data to enable innovation at pace

@ Secalable products and processes and high-performing teams that execute brilliantly
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STRATEGIC REPORT

QOur business model

Creating value

throughout the cycle

Key inputs

Small business borrower needs

T -

Access to affordable finance

+ SMES access to finance can be restricted
SMEs account for ~60% of GDP
but «2% bank lending

Fast, convenient applications
Instant automated decision in the UK for

70% of applications (six minute application;
decision in nine seconds; funding in 24 hours)

Easy online applications in the US (six minute
application; decision in 24 hours; funding in
48 hours)

Supportive customer experience

+ 77 Group net promoter score

Institutional investor needs

Access to hard-to-reach asset class through
diversified loan beok of multiple smaller loans

- Diverse SME population
Wide-ranging and complex risks
Significant credit exposure
Fragmented and unpredictable data

Robust and attractive returns

- 4-7% loan returns track record

Higher future returns targeted (higher base
rate environment)

- Active monitoring to ensure institutional
investor diversification and performance

22 Funding Circle Holdings ple

New products
{Funding Circle
& Marketplace)

Attract more
bhorrowers

Greater
operating
leverage

Accumulate
more data

Say yes to

s Develop better
more businesses . .
) machine learning
(increased
models

conversion)




Our values

Obsess over the customer

Start with the customer: work hard to
serve them, create great experiences,
and build a trusting partnership.

Think smart

Find a better way: challenge
assumptions, seek insights, and make
informed decisions.

Make it happen

Take small steps fast and deliver: be
ambitious, take accountability, see it
through with grit.

Be open

Buiid trust through transparency and
integrity: be honest, seek feadback,
and communicate clearly.

Stand together

We win and lose as one team: celebrate
diversity, listen actively, and support
each other.

Live the adventure

Champion our culture: show curiosity,
embrace change, and bring your
passion every day.

-------------- diasemvssiseTisararEEi e asanrraten

Stakeholder value created

Borrowers
Access to fast, flexible, affordable finance with an amazing,
supportive customer experience.

Institutional investors

Exposure to an attractive, hard-to-access asset class
of strategic importance to ecenomies.

Communities

We can make a difference to people, communities and the
economy through our support of small businesses, advocacy
of charitable causes and issues related to social impact and
community engagement.

Government and regulators

A trusted and reputable company, working alongside
regulators, industry and institutions to ensure best practice.
Partners and suppliers

A dependable customer, working in partnership

wherever possible.

Employees {Circlers)

A culture of diversity, equity, inclusion and opportunity;
dedicated to learning and personal growth.

Shareholders

An attractive opportunity for sustainable shareholder
value creation.

........................... PR T P LR L L L L L L T E E N L T PP
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Our people

Incredible people,
working together

Building an incredible place

to work and learn together

During a year of continued uncertainty,
one which saw us emerge from the
restrictions imposed by Covid-19 over
the past two years only to be confronted
by a challenging and volatile economic
climate, our people and culture have
remained central to everything we da at
Funding Circle. As we learned during the
pandemic, we came to re-define woark
as no longer just a place we go to, but a
part of our day-to-day lives. Qur culture
has remained central to our success,
particularly as we embraced a hybrid
working environment.

Hybrid model, embracing flexibility

As a largely office-based company prior
to the pandermic, our ways of working
underwent a huge and significant
transformation during lockdown. While
we embraced a hybrid approach following
the end of restrictions, there was equally
some uncertainty as to how successful

Circkers visning Funding Circle pom-owe”, Grace & Thon
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this would he for us. We formally
launched our "best of both” hybrid
working madel in September 2021, and
just over a year later we can Say with
some certainty it is a model that works
well for our Company, and maore
importantly for our Circlers.

Ermpowerment has been at the heart of
the model, with individual teams setting
the appropriate cadence and working
pattern that makes most sense for
them. Moreover, while Circlers have
consistently told us they really enjoy the
greater flexibility hybrid working brings,
we continue 1o see healthy week-10-week
attendance in our offices.

Physical workspaces and in-person
collaboration remain a key tenet to

our success at Funding Circle, and we
helieve we are indeed taking forward
the "best of both” from the experience
of the last few years. We also recognise
there's more to do, and we'll continue
10 learn and adapt our model as we
move forward

investing in cur people

During 2022, we continued to Invest in
our people — growing and embedding
our learning culiure across the
arganisation; however, with the onset of
economic uncertainty earler in the year,
we placed an emphasis on ensuring the
proposition we offer Circlers is as
comprehensive as possible

Anticipating the rising cost of living, we
doubled our budget for salary increases (o
try and help offset rising costs. In addition,
we undertook a comprehensive benefits
review, repfacing our existing private
health insurance with a superior offering
We introduced several initiatives, including
enhanced care leave, a new electric car
scheme and the opportunity for Circlers
10 buy additionat holiday. We also ensure
all Circlers whe work at Funding Circle
earn at least the Real Living Wage
Finally, to recognise the efforts of all our
Circlers across the organisation and to
support aur people during what is an
expensive time of the year, we awarded
an end-of-year bonus tojunior Circlers
globally of up to £1,000.

A new value

Our values represent how we do things
at Funding Circle. They are the linchpin
that enables us to push for more. They
are how we challenge ourselves, and
how we hold ourgelves and each other
to account, as we achieve our missicn
They are firmly part of our DNA. However,
we recognise that, as we evolve, our
values need to evolve with us. Therefore
in 2022, we ran a series of focus groups
to ask our Circlers what our values
meant to them and how they saw the
values showing up in day-to-day life at
Funding Circle.

The end result was refreshed definitions
for aur existing values, and the introduction
of a new customer-focused value —
Obsess Over The Customer. Almost
everything we do at Funding Circle
starts with the customer.



Our values

Obsess over the customer

Start with the customer: work hard to
serve them, create great experiences,
and build a trusting partnership.

Think smart

Find a better way: challenge
assumptions, seek insights, and
make informed decisions.

Make it happen

Take small steps fast and deliver:
be ambitious, take accountability
and see it through with grit.

Stand together

We win and lose as one team:
celebrate diversity, listen actively,
and support each other.

Be open

Build trust through transparency and
integrity: be honest, seek feedback,
and communicate clearly.

Live the adventure

Champion our culture: show
curiosity, embrace change, and
bring your passion every day.

“My visit to Grace

& Thorn provided
real insight into the
journey of an SME
borrower, helping us
build better products
to meet their needs.”

Thomas Andrews,
Product Manager at Funding Circle

It therefore made sense to all of us to
bring this to life through a new value.

To celebrate, we launched a new series
of borrower visits -~ where a small group
of Circlers visit Funding Circle borrowers
to learn more gbout their business.

Diversity, Equity & Inclusion (DEI)
We continue to make progress on DEI
and are incredibly proud of our Circler-led
strategy. This year saw the establishment
of another Circler-led group, focused on
neurodiversity. We were also pleased
to report v highest ever scores for
DEl at Funding Circle. 87% of Circlers
recommend Funding Circle as a great
place ta work; 92% believe Funding
Circle demonstrates it values diversity;
and 87% feel they can bring their whole
selves to work and feel respected at
Funding Circle. We also maintained

our engagement score at 73% this year
(in line with last year and the highest
recorded at Funding Circle).

Cur employment policy and philosophy
is to provide equal opportunities for all,
including any applications from disabled
persons, and 1o help individuals develop
skills and secure roles relevant for them
and their career ambitions. This includes
making reasonable adjustments to

the workplace to support our Circlers,
both new and existing Qur recruitment
process ensures all applications, including
those from disabled persans, are
treated equally and fairly.

DEI statement

We'e here to build the incredible at
Funding Circle. We know we can only
achieve this through an inclusive and
diverse culture where Circlers of all
backgrounds feel canfident in bringing
their whole selves to work, can contribute
their ideas, and have opportunities to

be successful and to have their talents
nurtured. Through emaowering our
people we are nct only building something
incredible for our customers, but an
incredible place to work too.

We live by our Company values and
cherish our diversity, be that culture,
gender, race or ethnicity, sexual
orientation, gender identity or expression,
disability, mantal status, age, nationality,
religion, cr diversity of thought, belief,
experience or expression. We Stand
Together, as one.

Gender breakdown
as at 31 December 2022

All Circlers

2021

44% Female

@ Female 40%
® Male  60%

Global Leadership Team

2027
38% Female

@ Female 29%
® Male 71%

Group Board

2027

30% Female

@ Female 70%
@ Male  30%

Gender pay gap
%

Mean pay gap

Median pay gap

2022 l | 30.5%
2021 I | 271%
Women in senior leadership

2022 I | 33%
2021 l I 34%
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Our people continued

Our Circler groups

Parents @ FC

Providing a supportive space and
a network for working parents

In August, we welcomed 30+ hittle Circlers to our
UK office for a "bring your kids to work” day and
teddy bears’ picnic during the schoo! surnmer
holidays. Children were entertained with party
games, painting and crafting, singing and dancing,
and plenty of foad. Parents enjoyed the opportunity
to connect and meet each other's "mini-mes” and
little Circlers had lots of fun and got to see where
their parents go to work

26 Funding Circle Holdings plc

Women @ FC

Building a community where women
connect, thrive and win

We strive to Tmprove women's representation
across all levels in the business by spothghting
women's successes and challenges and bullding
a tight group of ambassadors and chairs who help
us drive progress and engage the wider business,
In 2022, to support and empower warmen, we
started tracking representation of female
presenters at all Company events and improved
from 29% of wornen presenters to 47% at the
Company's bi-annual all-hands event in the UK

Neurodiversity @ FC

Spearheading the discussion on how
neurodifferences add value, and building
the infrastructure for an equitable and
accessible workplace

In 2022 we set up this new global group to foster
a supportive space, advocate on relevant issues in
the workplace, and provide resources to educate
the wider Funding Circle commurity. We marked
the launch with an impactful introductory video
showcasing what neurodiversity is all about and
featuring neurodivergent famous faces. We have
since focused on building a repository of content
for Circlers to refer to including information on
ADHD, GCD, dyslexia and dyspraxia, including
personal Circler stories,



Circle of Pride

Championing inclusion for all
through an LGBTQIA+ lens by
building an open community and
celebrating LGBTQIA+ contributions

We welcormed a lot of new starters to the
group last year, and so to celebrate we
hosted one of our biggest events in June
— a Pride Month picnic. This created an
opportunity for many people in our
community and other Circlers to meet in
person for the first time and get to know
each other better The sun was shining
and there was lots of delicious food,
music and fun —including a pub quiz to
test our LGBTQIA+ knowledge.

We welcomed a lot of new starters to the
group last year, and so to celebrate we
hosted one of our biggest events in June
— a Prige Month picnic. This created an
opportunity for many people in our
community and other Circlers o meet in
person for the first time and get to know
each other better. The sun was shining
and there was lots of delicious food,
music and fun — including a pub quiz to
test our LGBTQIA+ knowledge.

Let’s Talk About Race

Educating on the experiences of minorities,
celebrating racial diversity, and creating a
safe space to continue engaging in dialogue

Every October, cur Let's Talk About Race group
celebrates Black History Month. Every Monday
through the month we shared two spotlights -
one abaut an Incredible Circler we look up to and
another about a black culture we celebrate in
British history. We also hosted a Black History
Month "Sip n Paint” event where we invited talented
young artists to teach Circlers to recreate artwork
that was inspired by African culture. We also
enjoyed lots of delicious Afro-Caribbean focd and
drink whilst fearning about Black History Month

in a more creative way.

FC Impact

Coming together and giving back
to communities in need, raising
awareness for worthy causes, and
making an impact through charity
and volunteering projects

In 2022, we wanted to make a positive
change for those in need by launching
volunteering opportunities with the
first UK-based Sikh charity, Nishkam
SWAT, which serve free meals to
disadvantaged communities.

Circlers volunteered on a maonthly
basis and helped serve food, replenish
supplies, clean and hand cut ¢clothes.
Circlers volunteered across seven
sessions throughout the year and we
raised over £32k for the charity through
a variety cf internal initiatives
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Environment, social and governance (“ESG”)

Delivering on
our commitments

Our core mission is to help small businesses win. In delivering this mission we

want to have a positive impact in our communities and on the environment, not
only through the lending we provide to our small business customers that often
struggle to find financing, but also through sound ESG practices that are key to
achieving our mission and strategic objectives.

ESG framework

Our ESG framework has three pillars: 1. Diversity, Equity and Inclusion ("DEI") and social impact, 2. environment and climate change,
and 3. governance and risk management. In 2022 we primarily focused on refining our strategic approach and priorities,

in particular with respect to social impact and the environment and climate change. Our approach to DEl is detailed in "Our
People — Diversity, Equity & Inclusion” on page 25.

DEI and social impact

Qur vision and level
of our commitment

To be bestin class in supporting a
diverse SME customer base: creating
jobs, fostering financial inclusion,

having a pasitive impact and providing

opportunities, whilst having a
multiplicative effect on the

wider community

To be bestin class and live by our DEI
statement to build an inclusive and
diverse culture

Achievements in 2022

Partnership with Halch to support
underserved social entrepreneaurs
and promote employee volunteering
and mentoring

SME survey to assess areas of need
faor support

Build and launch of ESG landing page
on corporate website

See "0ur People — Diversity, Equity
& Inclusion” on page 25 for

DE! highlights

Climate change
and environment

QOur vision and level
of our commitment

To support key environmental
initiatives where we can have

meaningful impact, that make sense
for Funding Circle and its customers,

and achieve a good standard of
positive environmental impact
and progress towards net zero

Achievements in 2022
Achieved carbon neutrality for
US &and UK operatiens for 2021,
and on track for 2022
First measurement of Scope 3
financed emissions of US &and UK
loan books and engaged industry
expert to begin wider Scope 3
measurement in 2023

+ Co-funded a “tiny forest” project in
Peckham, UK, through Tiny Forest
powered by Earthwatch Europe for
planting in Q1 2023

Governance and
risk management

Qur vision and level
of our commitment

To meet shareholder and investor
expectations, and be viewed positively
in the market

Achievements in 2022

Updated £86G framework, and ESG
Committee ("ESGC”) and Board Risk
and Compliance Committee ["RCC")
Terms of Reference 1o explain
ownership of strategic initiatives
and fisk management more clearly
Improved governance and ownership
of medern stavery compliance
Conducted annual risk and centrol
assessment review of ESG risks

Identified climate risk training for ESGC
to be completed in 2023

Goals and roadmap for 2023 Goals and roadmap for 2023 Goals and roadmap for 2023

28

Define SME facing objectives,
approach and timeframe on social
impact initiatives in line with

SME feedback

Goal of 100 volunteers and 150
volunteer hours through carporate
engagement parinerships

See “Our People — Diversity, Equity &
Inclusion” on page 25 for DEl strategy.

Funding Circle Holdings plc

Achieve carbon neutrality recertification
for 2022 emissions for Scope 1 and 2
and limited Scope 3 GHG emissions,
including Qualifying Explanatory
Staternent (baseline year 2021)

Begin to integrate full Scope 3
emissions into foolprint measurement

Begin process to consider setting
science-based targets, aligning with
the Science Based Targets initiative
("SBTi") guidance

Our first UNGC Communication

on Pragress report will be 2023
Deliver training 1o Board and senior
management teams on key ESG topics
{including climate-related risks)

Review requirements arcund
climate-related risk scenario analysis
in accordance with Task Force on
Climate-related Firancial Disclosures
{"TCFD") guidelines and conduct
such analysis if deemed appropriate
Develop climate-related risks and
opportunities metrics and targets

for TCFD repatting



ESG governance More information p72

on governance

Our ESG governance framework has been structured to address risks related to
ESG issues, and also those ESG opportunities associated with the wider strategic
ambitions that we see when engaging with our diverse stakeholders. Please also

see "Risk Management” on page 55 and "Corporate Governance” on page 72 of More information p55

this Annual Report for more detail on our various risk and governance committees. on risk

' 7y
Global Head of Legal leads delivery of ESG framework, working with local
teams to support varivus Board, management and local ESG initiatives
. Y ™
FCH PLC
Maintains overall responsibility and oversight for ESG matters,
including climate-related risks and oppartunities
Board
Risk and Compliance Environment, Social and Governance
Committee (“RCC") Committee (“ESGC”)
Responsible for oversight and Responsible for ESG strategy, voluntary
management of ESG risks, commitments, stakeholder engagement
including climate-related risks and climate-relaied opportunities
. AN vy
- hYd Y4 I
GLT
Responsible for establishment, implementation
and management of ESG strategy
Management Risk
Committee (“MRC")
Management Responsible for
implementation and Grou
. P
management of risk Gl'ffup CRO Group CEO GC/CPO
Executive owner of . ;
. Executive owner Executive sponsor
ESG risk
of ESG strategy of ESG programme,
management . .
implementation
o / L AN vy
4 N hYd )
Regulation, .
Reputation and Operational
Conduct Risk Risk Committee
Committee Credit Risk Management (“ORC™)
Business (“RepCon”) Committee {(“CRMC”) Management
un‘it Management forum Managemenjc forL{m for governance forum for
committees for governance of of credit risks, including those goverlnance of
reputation and related to ESG qperah_onal risks,
conduct risks, including those
including those related to ESG
related to ESG
\ BN N )
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Environment, social and governance (“ESG”) continued

Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”)

Compliance statement

This statement of compliance and the
information provided below have been
prepared on the basis of cur materiality
assessment of climate-related risks and
oppartunities to the business over the
short, medium and long term, which
generally has assessed these risks and
opportunities as nat being materiai to
the business. Further details are provided
in the following table. This assessment
will remain subject to annual review
given the complexity of the issues, the
availabllity and guality of data, the evolving
practices in this area, the longer-term
implications of climate change on

our custormers and business and our
strategic approach to climate-related
risks and opportunities. Currently, the
risk assessment process is undertaken
on an annual basis with a half-yearly
review. The conclusions based on this
assessment are subject to change

as more and bhetter information and
understanding become available. The
Company has made climate-related
financial disclosures consistent with the
TCFD recommendations for the current
reporting year, or as explained
ctherwise, in the following areas:

Governance: all
recommended disclosures;

»  Strategy (@) all recommended
disclosures; and

Risk Management: all
recommended disclosures.
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The Company has made disclosures
that are partially consistent with the
TCFD recommendations, in the
following areas:

Strategy: (b) limited disclosures are
currently provided based upon our
materiality assessment and strategic
ohjectives, as set forth in more detall
in the following table; and (c), certain
limited gualitative assessments in
respect of this item are disclosed,
but based on our materiality
assessment and current data
availability, we have not fully
implemented the TCFD
recommendaticns regarding
scenario analysis at this time; and

Metrics and Targets: (a), (b) and (c}
disclosures that are partially
consistent with the TCFD
recormmendations in respect of items
(a) and (b) have been provided as set
forth in the following table. In respect
of itemm (c) additional work is necessary
to improve data availability and
accuracy to measure these risks,

and more understanding is required
regarding methods and approaches
to manage these risks in the medium
tolonger term. In the short term,

we do not believe these rnisks and
opportunities are materiat and

no metrics or targets have been
established in this regard, as set forth
in more detail in the following table.

See the following table for more
information on our plan and expected
timings to address items where only
partial disglosures have been provided,
and please see "Risk management —
Principal risks and uncertainties” on
page 59 for a descripticn of those risks
which we believe are material.

The Company has considered the TCFD's
Implementing the Recommendations

of the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (2021 update),
Guidance for All Sectors and Supplemental
Guidance for the Financial Sector (in this
regard we considered the Supplemental
Guidance for Banks in regard 1o lending
activity, noting, however, that Funding
Circle 1s not a bank and does not share
many of the risks that may arise in larger
banking institutions), as well as the
Financial Conduct Authority’s Review

of TCFD-aligned Disclosures by Premium
Listed Commercial Companies and the
Financial Reporting Council's CRR
Thematic Review of TCFD Disclosures
and Climate in the Financial Statements



Governance

Disclosure

Cross reference

Disclosure
level

(a) Descrihe the
board’s oversight of
climate-related risks
and opportunities

The Board rctaing ultimate respungibility for providing the strategic focus, suppert
and oversight for the implementation of the Group's ESG strategy, including
climate-related risks and opportunities. The Board delegates certain matters related
ta climate-related nsks and opportunities to two Committees

«  the ESGC is responsible for oversight of the Group's overall ESG strategy,
including climate-related opportunities and voluntary commitments, and

- the Risk and Complance Committee is responsible for oversight of risk
management related to ESG risks, including climate-related risks

To date, climate-related risks have been deemed as not material in the short term.
Generally, climate-related matters do not form a significant area of censideration for
the Company at this tirme and have not been a regular item of consideration for the
Board. Nonetheless, given the complexity, stakeholder interest, regulatory focus and
longer-term implications ot the TCFD recommendations and climate change more
hroadly, the Board has nominated a champion for climate-related initiatives 1o work
with the Global Leadership Team and other senior leaders in the business to progress
the Group's efforts on climate-related activities. Matthew King 1s the Board champion
in connection with our envirenment and climate change initiatives, and brings
experience as @ Non-Executive Director of other more resource-intensive industries
where climate change is of critical focus. More generally, the Board and the ESG
Committee have substantial and varied experience with ESG-related issues, and
clirmate change in particular. Within the wider Board, Eric Daniels has been an the
Advisory Board of the Smithsonian Trapical Research Institute ("STRI") for the past ten
years. STRI is recognised as one of the premier scientific institutions in the fields of
rropical life sciences and sustainability. Enic Daniels has also been an active supporter
of the Atkinson Center for Sustainability at Cornell University. Geeta Gopalan also
currently serves as Non-Executive Director and Chair of the risk committee for Virgin
Money plc where she has gained substantial experience in respect of ESG-related risk
management, including climate-related risk in the banking sector,

To further support the Board, we have sought expert advice on our environment and
climate change strategy, provided internal and external presentations to the ESG
Cormmittee 1o increase the members' awareness and understanding of our carbon
strategy and have propased additional training for the Board specifically focused on
climate-risks and TCFD matters to be implemented in 2023. The Board bas reviewed and
approved our ESG framework and our approach to climate change and the environment

Please also sec the
"Report of the ESG
Committee” on page 98
and the “Report of the
Risk and Compliance
Committee” on page 96
for more information on
oversight of climate-
related risks and
opportunities

Full
disclosure

{b) Describe
management’s role in
assessing and managing
climate-related risks
and opportunities

The GLT 1s responsible for implementing our ESG framework’s climate-related actions,
including strategy related to oppartunities and chimate-risk rmanagement in line with
our Enterprise Risk Management Framework ("ERMF™). Overall executive responsibility
for ESG-related matters, including climate-related risks and opportunities, is held by
our CEQ, with GLT responsibility for strategy held by the CECQ and for risk management
held by the Chief Risk Officer, Day-to-day management responsibility for climate-related
risk management and strategy execution related tc opportunities sits with the Global
Head of Legal and Regulatory. Any matenial climate-related risk issues can be escalated
to the Chief Risk Officer, the Management Risk Committee and the RCC, as applicable
For most projects, reporting and implementation of TCFD recommendations are
handled by subject matter experts and function managers. For example, implementation
of our overall ESG programme, as well as carbon neutrality, net zerc and emissions
offsets and reporting, sits with the Global Head of Legal and Regulatory, while
implementation of any climate-related risk initatives and reporting sits with the Global
Head of Enterprise Risk. See the table titled "ESG governance” for more information.

Given the assessment of limited materiality of climate-related risks and opportunities
identified in the short term, and also the limited size and complexity of the business,
there 1s currently limited formalised reporting to the GLT or the Board specifically in
respect of climate-related risks and apportunities. Generally, senior managers leading
various projects have reported to the GLT periodically to set strategy, maintain
alignment on goals, report on progress and identfy areas of importance. GLT rmembers
and senior managers also periodically report progress and provide updates to the ESG
Committee, local leadership teams and the wider business. To date, climate-related
matters have not formed a significant part of financial management, and have largely
been limited to costs related to reporting, carbon footprinting and carbon offsetung.

Climate-related risks are assessed in line with our ERMF, and reviewed on an annual
basis. As described in more detall throughout this table, climate-related risks and
opportunities are currently not considered material in the short term. In ight of this,
there has been imited subject matter for consideration by the MRC, the RCC or other
entity risk committees; however, we expect this to evalve over time Climate-related
opportunitics have been cansidered through a strategic review carried out in 2022 to
establish areas of focus, level of commitrment and priorities. The outcome of this review
was subject to approval of the GLT and ESGC We continue to explore some limited
commercial strategies in respect of cimate-related oppor tunities to gain mare insights
inte customer preferences around green finance for our SME segment in the UK

Please see also

"Risk management

— Envirenimental, social
and governance risk”
on page 61

Full
disclosure
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STRATEGIC REPCRT

Environment, social and governance (“ESG”) continued

Disclosure
Strategy Disclosure Cross reference level
(a) Describe the The Company does not consider climate-related risks and opporturities to be material
climate-related risks ta the business, strategy and financial planning, In particular given the typical duration of
and apportunities the our loans and the nature of our business as set forth In more detail in (¢) below. We have
organisation has nonetheless identified relevant climate-related risks and opportunities over the short
identified over the short, (one year or less), medium {ore to five years) and long {maore than five years) terms with Full
medium, and longterm  aview to transparency and establishing a practice for such disclosure as these issues disclosure

cvolve and mature These time penods are consistent with those used in respect of other
risks identified pursuant to our ERMF and our approach to strategic planning and given our
relatively short-term praducts This materizlity assessment has been largely qualitative,
and has been informed by a variety of Information sources in consideration of both risks
and oppartunities, including customer feedback, competitive landscape assessment,
feedback from internal product teams, and risk assessments in ine with our ERMF,

Generally, the transition to a low-carbon economy likely presents more significant risks
and opportunities for Funding Circle, as compared to the physical risks of climate change
over the short to mediurn term We are yet to engage meaningfully with the longer-term
implications of climate change. In addition, although there are clearly certain differences
in respect of climate-related impacts as between the US and UK, we have not separately
|dentified risks and opportunities by geography in respect of our SME custormers and loan
investor impacts,

While we believe our disclosure in respect of this iterm is consistent with the TGFD
recommendations, we believe that we can deepen our understanding on this item and
mare work is needed to better understand the risk and apportunity Impacts in respect
of our SME customers over the medium to long term There is currently very limited data
and sigrificant 1ssues with data quality related to climate-relatad impacts in respect of
SMEs to support more detailed quantitative analysis in respect of climate-related risks
related to our lending products Qver the coming two to three years, we will continue to
explore ways to improve data quality and avaifability, and aiso continue to work with
experts and policymakers to consider good practices in this arga which s still 2t a very
early stage of development,

Examples of potential climate-related risks and opportunities faced by Funding Circle
include the following.

Transition risks
Reputation: short to medium-term failure to comply with climate change-related
regulations or 1o achieve goals may negatively impact aur public perception,
increase stakeholder concern or negative stakeholder feedback

Strategic: short to medium-term lack of SME climate-related data or changes in
customer demand for green finance products, or increases In carbon offset costs,
climate reporting and regulatory compliance costs of transition Costs may
adversely impact the busingss

+ Funding: medium to long-term changing investor demand or available capital as
a result of climate-related policies may impact platfarm liquidity.

Credit: medium to long-term impact on higher carbon-emitting industries due to
climate-related regulations, carbon taxes, carbon pricing or transition costs, or
inadeguate climate-related stress testing.

Policy and legal: medium to long-termimposition of new climate-related
regulations or more oncrous reporting obligations on our business, our customers,
or our products

Potential financial impacts

- Reduced revenue due to lower demand for products and services, ar higher
regulatory compliance cost

Reduced customer demand due to shift in customer preferences or increased
aperating costs.

Reduced revenue due to lower demand for producis and services from SMEs of
institutianal investors

write-offs, asset impairment, and early retirement of existing assats due to policy
changes or repricing of assets (e g. loan valuations)

» Increased operating costs (e g higher compliance costs)

32 Funding Circle Holdings plc



Disclosure
Strategy continued Disclosure Cross reference level
{a) Describe the Physical risks
climate-related risks - Credit: short to medium term, risk of acute physicalimpacts from climate-related
and opportunities the weather events, and leng-term climate change-related environmental damage may
. organisation has impact SME borrowers’ operational and credit performance, or availabiity of
identified over the short, financing to SMEs more generally
medium, and lang term . .
continued Funding: long-term investor demand may be impacted acutely or more generally
in respect of risk appetite regarding borrawers being potentially significantly
impacted by physical effects of cimate change, and overall investor liquidity may
be impacted by acute or chronic adverse environmental events.
Potential financial impact
- Reduced revenue from decreased borrower aredit quality (for example,
deteriorating credit quality)
+  Reduced revenue due to lower demand for products and services, write-offs and
early retiremnent of existing assets (for example, impacted borrowers and loan
assets in "high-risk” locations).
Opportunities (short to medium term)
Strategic: green finance products to help to finance SME transition
+  Funding: institutional iInvestor demand for green or sustainable loan portfolios
Potential financial impacts
+  Increased revenue through access to new and ermerging markets,
Increased access to capital and guidity, and increased revenue through new
products and services related to ensuring resilience or adaptation.
{(b) Describe the impact  To date, the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on our business and See also "Viability
of climate-related risks  strategy has been limited and our efforts in this regard are at an early stage and staterncnt” on page
and opportunities on limited in scope. In the short to medium term, the Company does not consider 70 regarding our
the organisation’s chimate-related risks and opportunities to be matertal to the business, strategy or assessment of the
businesses, strategy, financial planning, To date we have ot quant fied the potential short, medium or impact of environmental Partial (1/2)
and financial planning long-term financial impacts in respect of transition or physical risks associated with  stress relative to
clirmate change, and we currently do not have any matenial strategic opportunities other stresses and
related to climate change that are part of our strategic or financial plan. therr impact on the

Group in the near to

The current financial impact on our business from climate-related risks and medium term

opportunities has been primarily imited to fees and costs Inked to carbon footprinting
and verification, neutrality certification, the purchase of carbon offsets and reporting.
These costs are likely to increase in future, however, we do not believe they will ba
material in the short to medium term and we have yet to carry out a detatled
forecasting of these costs.

In 2022, we completed a comrercial strategy assessment in respect of chmate-
related opportunities, pursuant to which we determined such opportunities are not
considerad to be a matenal opportunity or pricrity in respect of business strategy
or financial planning, and we do not expect such opportunities to form a material
component of the business strategy in the short to medium term. This assessment
will be reviewed annually.

Inrespect of our general business operations, our priorities are developing a carbon
transition plan, including metrics and targets in respect of our own operations’ emissions
and reductions plan during the course of 2023. [Uis lkely 1o take significantly longer
to understand strategies aimed at reductions in Scope 3 emissions, In particular
financed emissions related to our lending products.

To move towards full consistency with the TCFD recommendations in regard to this
itern, more work 1s needed 1o better understand the strategic environment and the
related risk and opportunity over the medium to long term in respect of our SME
customers and institutional investors, and any associated financial planning impact
from a change in strategy, if any, that such understanding might give rise to. Qver the
coming two to threc years, we will continue to explore the strategic landscape, and
also continue to wark with experts and poticymakers to consider good practices in
this area which is still at a very early stage of development
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Environment, social and governance (“ESG”) continued

Strategy continued

Disclosure

Cross reference

Disclosure
level

(c) Describe the
resilience of the
organisation's strategy,
taking into cansideration
different climate-related
scenarios, including a
2°C or lower scenatio

we have not yel carried out a detaled guantitative ¢imate-related scenano analysis

In the short to medium term, the Company does not consider chimate-related risks and
opportunitios to be material to the business, strategy or financial planning i particular
relative to other nisks applied under existing stressed assumptions and strategic
objectives over these time periods. We have started to engage with cxternal advisers
regarding market practice and standards related to such scenario analysis and will
continue to revicw this on an annual basis

Qualitatively, we believe our strategy should be resilient under different chmate-related
scenarios over the short to medium term, including a 2°C or lower scenario, Given the
nature of our busmess, we believe that the longer-term risks identified in connection
with more severe climate-related risk scenarios are not currently material
considerations for the business in light of our relatively short to medium-term time
horizoens This conclusion will of course be subject to change as the transitional and
physical risks of climate change become mere immediate, including any government
responses to climate change, and as customer and stakeholder attitudes change;
however, as of the time of this Annual Report, we helieve our current strategic
approach s sufficient. As an online platform business, we have a limited physical
presence and we have very limited capiial goods exposed to chmate-related risks. In
respect of our loan products, our relatively short-term and data-driven products allow
us to Implement changes to our products, credit strategy, marketing and contractual
terms relatively guickly. This means we can adapt to shifts resulting from climate
change and rapidly shift out of, or assist in the transition of, impacted industries

Our lean products are relatively short in duration (with @ maximum term of up to six
years and, given the effects of portfolio compasition by term, loan size, defaults and
prepayments, our portfolio of loans under management has a weighted average hfe of
approximately 10 to 24 manths, varying by product type and vintage year of onigination)
in addition, our lean products are unsecured, therefore, we do not currently facus on
certain longer-term climate-related risks, including physical risks that could adversely
affect various forms of security, such as real estate, or which arc currently beyond our
strategic or nsk planning time horizon.

Our SME customer base is comprised of a large number of borrowers, that are broadly
distributed by industry sector and geography across the US and UK, and with loans of
relatively small size (i.c. is highly granular) Given this lack of concentration risk, except
in extreme scenarios, our overall borrower portfolic should be resilient to transition
risks, such as increased costs or regulatian, or the localised or regional impacts of
physical risks. We have recently worked with a third party expert to complete an initial
measuring of the Scope 3 financed emissions of our loan book (GHG Protacol
Category 15) under the Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials ('PCAF”)
methodologics. We have much more learning to do related to this exercise and the
data quality and data availahility are quite low; therefore, itis oo early to draw ary
meaningful conclusions from this data For example, while we can identfy, segment
and quantfy borrawers by industry sector using assumptions to categorise borrowers,
in principle, Into higher or lower emitting industries, we cannot identify if an individual
business is In fact higher or lower ermitting, as we do not currently collect direct emissions
data from borrowers {and there currently Is no industry standard or requirement for
businesses to measure, calculate or report this infermation) We also do not have any
information on the relative risks or opportunities pesed to these businesses by climate
change gven the products or services offered by these borrowers 1n a given industry
Lastly, in respect of loan funding and platform hquidity, we draw on a diverse pool of
institutional investors te fund our loan products and we arc able to adapt quickly to
changing investor needs, which improves our funding resilicnce. To date, loan investors
have not required any eligibility criteria or reporting refated to emissions ansing from
lending activitics, nar has this been an active area of discussion among our mvestors
more generaily We expect this area to evolve over time as banks, asset managers and
other asset owners become subject to more reporting and regulatory reguisermnents
related to ther investment pract.ces.

As part of our wider ESG strategy we have voluntarly set a number of strategic
ambitions in connection with our environmental iMpact, Including in connection with
net zero, which are ‘argely aimed at satisfying what we believe are evoiving stakeholder
expectations on these matters and potential reputational risks associated with not
taking a proactve approach. Given the complexity and long-term nature of these
Issues, we also believe 1L1s prudent to start our journey 1o better uncerstand cur
impacts and our place within the climate crisis, even though we view cimate-related
risks as being not material in terms of rsks and opportunities to the business in the
short to medium term

Ta move towards full consistency with the TCED recormmendations inregard 10 this
itern, maore work 15 needed to better understand the strategic environment and the
related nisk and opportunity over the medium to longer term in respect of our SME
customers and investors, and any associated financial planning impact, taking into
cons:deration various scenarios associaled with climate-related impacts. Over the
coming two lo three years, we will continue to explore the strategic landscape, and
also continue to work with experts and policymakers to consider good practices in
this area which is still at a very early stage of development
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Risk management

Disclosure Cross reference

Disclosure
level

(a) Describe the
organisation’s
processes for identifying
and assessing
climate-related risks

Qur ERMF deseribes our risk managerment approach and supports clear accountability - See “Risk Management”

for managing risk across the Company, To date, climate-related risks are not considered for more information on
as standalone principal risks by the Company; however, certain climate-related risks  our risk management
have been incorporated under other principal risks and are assessed inine with our  practices and "Principal
FRMF and reviewsd on an annual basis Climate-related risk is included as a strategic  risks and uncertainties”
risk, with responsibility and accountability for its management held by the CEQ for more information
We review our risk appetite statement regarding climate-related nsks on an annual about those risks we
basis, and perform a risk and control self-assessment on an annual and half-yearly deem more material
baslis in accordance with the ERMF. We have identified certain imited climate-reiated

nsks as lower pricrity risks within other principal risk areas, primarily related to

funding, strategy, reputation, and credit sk

We assess the materiahty of climate-related impacts 1o Funding Circle using a nsk
classification matrix to pricrntise, classify and escalste risks and issues. This risk and
control self-assessment process assesses and rates the inherent likelhood of a given
nsk oceurring, ranging from unlikely {meaning an occurrence of once every two to
five years) 1o frequent {meaning an occurrence of datly to weekly) and the impact of a
glven risk on the business, based upaon both financial iImpacts (ranging frem “critical”
impacts defined as a financial impact of equal to or greater than £5,000.000 to
"minor’ impacts defined as financial impacts of less than or equal to £250,000), and
non-financia! factors such as scope of impacts on gquantity and type of customer or
product, reputation impacts such as media coverage, regulatory Impacts ranging
from increased engagement to enforcement actions, legal impacts such as increased
Iitigation, operational impacts such as technology or business continuity impacts
causing business stoppages across varying time horizans. Controls are assessed by
evaluating design and effectiveness. The classification matrix is applicable to all risk
types and issues with a detailed methodology for the score computation Ultimately,
risk exposure is sufficiently reduced by the control such that residual risk is considered
to be within risk appetite, This methodology ensures a consistent approach to rating
and prioritising key risk exposures across the Company. We applied a rating of low,
medium or high in regard to materiality, impact and likelihood to cause an actual or
potential negative impact on Funding Circle’s financial performance or reputation.

To date, our materiality assessment of climate-related risks and opportunities has
been a qualitative assessment based on anecdotal observation rather than a
guantitative assessment based on data metrics. We have also considered the nature
of the business and the factors noted in our quatitative scenario analysis above to help
inform our assessments. We currantly review climate-related risks on an annual basis,
which we believe is in ing with our materiality assessment of these risks and also
reflects the limited availability of data. The primary areas of uncertainty for the
business associated with climate-related matters are primarily related to the impasition
of regulations and reporting obligations, including with respect to cur SME customers
and institutional investors, and customer preferences regarding our products

and services

While we Delieve our disclosure in respect of this item is consistent with the TCFD
recommendations, during 2023 we intend to review TCFD climate-related risk
integration through our ERMF {including through the nisk statement, risk taxonomy
and metrics), develop a short to medium-term rcadmap for ESG risk management
and begin to review embedding ESG-related elements into first-line teams. for
exampie into new product and change management processes

Please see the following table for a summary diagram of the risk and control self-
assessment matrix retated to ESG risk, including chmate-related risks Our ESG nisk

and control self-assessment does not look at climate-related risks in 1solation Instead,
climate-related nisks are aggregated with other risks associated with our ESG framework.

Full
disclosure
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Environment, social and governance (“ESG”) continued

Risk & control self-assessment

Funding Circle strategic risk appetite statement

Funding Circle wili make efficient use of its available resources to buiid a sustainable,
diversified and profitable business that can successfully adapt to environment changes.

ESG risk assessment

Level 1 risk ‘Level 1 Level 2 risk Definition _Level 2
risk owner risk owner
An environment, social or
i overnance event events or
Chief _ g a ent, or events Global Head
Executive ESG — climate- circumstances, that, if it occurs,
Strategy ) . of Legal and
Officer, Lisa related risk could cause an acute or potential
. ) : Regulatory
Jacobs material negative financial or
reputational impact on the Company
ESG risk ratings as of Q4 2022 (inclusive of climate-related risks)
Level 1 and 2 risk: Environment, social and governance
Inherent Inherent Inherent Residual Residual Residual risk en\f':i?:r‘;:tlant
likelihood impact risk rating likelihood impact rating assessment

3 2 2 1 1 1 Satisfactory

Likely Moderate Low-medium Unlikely Minor Low

Inherent risk rating rationale

Likelihood

Likely: meaning potential occurrence at icast quarterly to half-yearly — this rating is based on various ESG areas that are
subject to reputational risk or formally regulated, for example cimate-related reporting pursuant to the TCFD
framework, or sulyect talegal nsk, for example related to risks associated with discriminatary practices which fall under
DEl risks (these are censidered to have a higher potential frequency as compared to climate-related risks which are not
axpected to be likely in the short to medium term).

Impact

Moderate: based on potential financial impacts of £250,000—£500,000 in 2 12-month pencd or the regulatory, legal,
reputational or gperational risks noted above. The moderate rating 15 driven more by the potential Impact or penalty of
not having a suitable culture, or Internal communications, and any reputational impact that would have a financial cost
taremedy Inrespect of chmate-related impacts, the assessment reflects the impacts related to regulatory reporting
obligations and the associated costs ta comphance

Control environment rationale

Residual risk rating rationale

Satisfactory: the main controls being internal legal and regulatory review, management and risk oversight and contross
(RCC and ESGC, and RepCon/ORC/CRMC/MRC), third party review and internal audit review, and internal policies and
practices and internal comphiance mantaring and testing

Likelihood Unlikely: meaning an occurrence of at least once every two to five years — controls in place very much reduce the risk
to very unlikely — risks are relatively simple to mitigate and stisrelatively simple to implement contrals to adequately
manage risk.

Impact Minor: based on potential financial impacts of £0- £250,000 10 3 12-rmenth peried or the regulatory, legal, reputational

or operational risks noted above These risks are not particalarly systemic, automated or high frequency, nor are they
inherentiy high impact ar h.gh severity
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Risk management Disclosure
continued Disclosure Cross reference level
(b) Describe the W are at a relatively early stage in our management of climate-related risks, and as
organisation’s proc described throughout this table, these risks have been determined to be not matenial
for managing in the short to medium term, and largely are not a significant current prionty for the
climate-related risks busimess As an initial step, we have formalised Board ownership of the overall ESG
nsk agenda, including chmate-related risks, and clarified ownershio of climate-related Fuil
risk management through our ERMF, RCC and MRC. disclosure
As part of our ERMF review, we identified a nurmber of areas for further development,
which we intend to progress starting in 2023 including.
review TCFD climate-related risk integration through the ERMF,
«  develop a short to medium-term roadmap for ESG risk management, including
climate-related risks;
- begin review for embedding FSG-related elements inta now product and
procurement processes approval forms as deemed appropriate,
- review requirements arocund climate-related nisk scenarioc analysis in accardance
with TCFD guidelines, and conduct such a scenario analysis if deemed
approprlate; and
- develop climate-related risks and oppertunities metrics and targets for TCFD reporting.
We review climate-related risks and opportunities on an annual basis and the risk and
contrai self-assessment process is undertaken on an annual basis with a half-yearly
review The conclusions based on this assessment are subject to change as more and
better nformation and understanding become available,
(c} Describe how We incorporate a limited number of chmate-related risks inte our ERMF, with a view to See "Risk management”
processes for dentifying, measuring and monitoring these risks within our business. The Enterprise  for more information
identifying, assessing, Risk Management team reports to the Board and GLT on this subject in line withthe  an our risk
and managing process identified in our ERMF. Additional work is needed to integrate climate-related management practices
climate-related risks risk management inte our first- and second-line teams, for example by embedding Full
are integrated into the  climate-related risks into our product development, strategy and traning, and disclosure

organisation’s overall
risk management

developing clearer metrics and targets to facilitate more frequent engagement to
review these risks and opportunities effectively. We intend to continue to make
progress on further integration in 2023 and over time in line with our averall materiality
assessment Currently, we review climate-related risks and opportunities on an annuat
hasis and they are generally not considered a significant priority for the business in
the short to medium term.

while we believe cur disclosure in respect of this item is consistent with the TCFD
recommendations, we believe more work 1s needed for us to better understand what
additional nsk management practices may be applicable over the medium 1o longer
term as this area develops over time. Over the coming two to three years, we will
continue ta explore the climate-related risks and opportunities, and also continue 1o
work with experts and policymakers to consider good practices in this area which is
still at a very early stage of development.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Environment, social and governance (“ESG”) continued

Metrics and targets

Disclosure Cross reference

Disclosure
level

{a) Disclose the metrics
used by the organisation
to assess climate-related
risks and opportunities
inline with its

strategy and risk
management process

We have imited available metrics to assess climate-related nsks and opportunitics,
and as we have determined that these risks and opportunities are not matenal in
terms of strategy or nisk management in the short to medium term, we do not
currently engage with these metrics on a frequent basis, typically only on an annual
basis. We have begun to explore data that would afford us more opportunities to
review metrics related to our Inans under management, for example by sector
classification code and our recent measurement of Scope 3 financed emissions
(GHG Protocol Category 15) as per the PCAF methodaology. However, this provides
anly imited information and requires further work for us to improve data quality and to
derive more decision-useful Information. it 1s too early for us to draw any meaningful
conclusians from this data, but we believe it will help to infornt our understanding of
climate-related risks and opportunities as data availabilty and quality improve. We do
expect 1o continue to develop further metnics to monitor climate-related risks and
appartunities in respect of our loans under management; however, we believe this will
be part of a longer-term process.

In respect of our general business aperations, we anticipate developing further
metrics and targets in respect of our operational emissions and reductions plans
during the course of 2023 (in particular in connection with our carbon transition pian)
and in respect of our Scope 3 financed emissions (GHG Protocoi Categary 15),in
order 1o move towards greater consistency with the TCFD recommendations, in
particular the relevant aspects of the Supplemental Guidance for Banks, we plan to
continue ta develop our understanding of the climate-related data availabllity, data
quality and methodologres to support those recommendations over the next one to
WO years,

Partial (1/4)

(b) Disclose Scope 1,
Scope 2, apd, if
appropriate, Scope 3
greenhouse gas ("GHG")
emissions, and the
related risks

Our 2022 Scope 1and 2, and hmited Scope 3 (business travel and waste gencrated n - See "Our climate
operations} GHG emissions are disclosed on pages 39-40 As noted above, we have  impact” on page
made progress on measuring our Scope 3 financed emissions for the first tme and 39 for our

we expect to better understand this area during 2023, with a view to being able to emissions information

disclose these emissions in future peniods We anticipate starting to measure our
wider Scope 3 emissions during 2023

{c) Describe the targets
used by the organisation
to manage climate-related
risks and cpportunities
and performance
against targets

Full
disclosure

Currently, our targets are more gualitative than gquantitative, We have not yot set See "Our climate

specific targets related to climate-related risks and opportumties, and more wark (s impact” and "Net zerg”
required to set metrics and targets in connection with our carbon transition planand  on pages 39 and 42

our net zero ambition, in particular in regard to Scope 3 financed emissions where we  respectively for more
are at a very carly stage infarmation about our
emissions and progress

tn 2022, we had hoped to begin to set more specific targets around reducing emissions,
improving our data collection, and engaging with more strategic initiatives, however,
we did not make meaningful progress on this We did make significant progress on
measuring our Scope 3 financed emissions for the first ime and we expect 1o better
understand this area during 2023, with a view to being able to discloge these
emissians in future periods

toward net zeto

Funding Circle's ESG framework sets out the following short, medium and long-term
goals related to managing certain climate-refated risks and opportunities:

- ambition of net zero by 2050 in ine with the UK government’s commitment, while
setting a stretch target to reach net zero by 2030 far our operatonal emigsions,

- achieve carbon neutrality recertification for 2022 emissions for Scope 1 and 2 and
hrmited Scope 3 GHG emissions by 31 Decernber 2023, including Qualifying
Explanatory Staterment (baseline year 2021),

+  beginto integrate other matenal Scope 3 GHG emissions categeres
(incl Category 15/ investments) into footprint measurement in 2022—2023,
develop a plan to better understand Scope 3 financed emissions and improve data
availability and data quaiity by 31 December 2023;
review ciimate-related risks and opportunities, and develop metrics and targets
as appheable for reporting by 31 December 2023, and

- consider a commitment to set science-hased targets by 2024, in line with the
SBT's guidance for financial institutions
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QOur climate impact

This section includes our mandatory
reporting of greenhouse gas emissions
{"GHG") in line with The Companies Act
2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’
Report) Regulations 2013 and the
Streamlined Energy and Carbon
Reporting (*SECR") under the
Companies (Directors’ Report) and
Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy
and Carbon Report) Regulations 2018
To satisfy the requirement to show an
intensity ratio, we have determined that
the most appropriate for our business is
tonnes of CO, equivalent ("tCO_e") per
£m of total income, Our GHG emissions
reporting peried is 1 January to

31 December and is aligned with

our financial reporting year.

The GHG accounting follows the
rmethodology set out by the WRI/
WBCSD Greenhouse Gas Protocol

We have used the UK government
canversion factors for company
reporting (published by BEIS) in our
calculations. For US Scope 2 emissions,
we have used regional data from
Environmenta! Protection Agency
e-Grid. For Scope 3 Category 6 we have
also used Environmentally Extended
Input-Output (EEIQ) Emission Factors.
The selected boundary includes
Funding Circle’s Scope 1 and Scope 2
emissions, and limited Scope 3 categories
covering waste generated in operations
and business travel. In accordance with
the SECR, we report our emissions data
using an operational control approach
to define cur crganisational boundary.
In line with cur envircnmental reporting
criteria, we report on all significant
sources of GHG emissions from our
business that are under our operational
control. Cur emissions disclosure
rmethodology remains largely consistent
with 2021, We did not undertake any
specific measures t¢ reduce our emissions
during 2022. Cur 2021 footprint is the
chosen baseline for our carbon
neutrality commitment.

Total emissions (market based) by geography
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#® Business travel (1C0O,¢)
® Waste: Energy from waste generated in operations (1CC &)
® Waste: Recycling generated in operations (t1CO e)
® Waste: Landfill generated in operations ({CO,e)
® Steam emissions
® Flectricity (Market Based)
® Refrigerants (tCOe)
® Natural gas {tC0,¢e)

Total emissions {(market based) by Scope 1, 2 and limited 3

® Scope
® Scope 2
® Scope 3 - Waste
® Scope 4 — Travel
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Environment, social and governance (“ESG”) continued

Qur climate impact continued

Global GHG emissions data for period 2022 2091 2020 5019
1 January to 31 December 1C0,e 1Co,et 1C0e” 1C0,e*
Scope 1° 85 128 132 147
Scope 22 - lacation based 314 340 378 493
Scope 2% - market based 240 41 437 —
Scope 3 {business travel and waste)? 231 116 222 -
Total gross emissions (Scope 1 and 2) ~ location based 399 469 509 640
— market based 325 540 569 -
Total gross emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3) - location based 630 585 731 -
— market based 556 656 790 —
Fuli-time employee (“FTE") (average over the applicable reporting period) 1,035 929 1,002 -
Total income (£m) 148.7 206.9 222 1773
Intensity ratio (Scope 1 and 2):1CO &/FTE -~ location based 0.39 0.50 0.57 -
— market based 0.31 0.58 0.57 —
Intensity ratio (Scope 1 and 2):1CQ,e/fm — location based’ 2.68 2.27 2.29 3.67
— market based’ 219 2.61 2 56 -
Intensity ratio (Scope 1, 2 and 3): 1CO,e/FTE  ~ jocation based 0.61 063 0.73 -
— market based 0.54 071 0.78 -
Intensity ratio (Scope 1, 2 and 3): tCO,e/Em  ~ location based” 4.24 2.83 329 -
— market based’ 3.74 317 3.56 -

Scooe 1 1ncluges compastion of fuels and operation of facilites, pancipally natural gas related 1o our leased office space

Scope 2 Inclides electricity and steam purchased for use in connection with our leased office space In “espect of steam -elated emissions, tne 2021 calcatations nave been
restated o nglude emissions data for steam, whict was sreviously 1ot available at tne time of *edorting Steam related ermissions are not included for 2013 and 2020

Scape 3 Includes naginess travel and waste generated i1 opergtions Waste data for our San Francisco office was oreviously not included bit 1as now been included from 2021

we nave updated some of the 2021 data to reflect data quality and calculatien improvements, as relates 1o Scode 2 stearn data and Scope 3 business travet data, whicn has
increased reported total 20271 ermissians by 7% {market based)

Following a review of our erssions data and calculation methadalogies 1n 2021, we identrfied a smali numbe- of inaccuracies inthe data provided or calculations apphed to the
data in our 2020 annaal Repo-t, which we have uodated in tne figures show~in this report, and woich we do 1ot believe are matenial to t1e ove-all:nformation provided

. Limited emissions data was collected and reparted onor to 2020; nformation for 2019 has been prowided far compansan ta the most recent iegorting peniod nat subject to

Cowd-12mbdacts

We are requi‘ed to show a1 Intensity ratio and "ave determined that the mest azaradriate fo7 our growing business s tonnes of C0O, equivalent {"tCO &7} 2er £m of total ncome

Regional breakdown of energy consumption data for period 1 January to 31 December

Scope 1 Scope 2

(Kilowatt-hour

equivalent — KWhe) 2022 2021 20202 2019! 2022 2021 2020% 2019'
Region

UK 417,998 554,366 348,552 380719 402,758 359,638 326315 954,078
us: - 79,469 295,981 421,159 545,219 643,284 686,193 855662
CE {Germany and Netherlands)* N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 72132 132,506
Total 417,998 633835 645,533 801,878 947977 1002922 1084640 1942246

1

w

timited emissions data was callected and reparted priar to 2022, Informat o1 for 2019 nas peer prov ded for compansan lo the most recent repo-ting period net sabject to
Cowvid-19 imoacts

Following a review of aur errissions data and calcalation metnedalogies 112027 we identfied a small numoes of viaccaracies 11 tne data rrovided o calcalatons apaned
to tne data in gur 2020 Araual Report and wch we Fave updatec in the figures shownn this -eport, which we da nat believe are matenal tg the averali ™2 %ormatior arovided

L1119 2021, we moved to srraller office snace i1 Sa1 Franeisco and the 1ew Jremsas do not nave any Scooe 1 gas Jsage Inaddiian stearn ysage data hecame avalaole
Inthe caurse of 2027 for our Denver ¢ fice arc has "ow ncen incluaed fraom 2021

Info-mation was not availasle in 2019 and 2020, a71d we ceased to nald office space 1n Germany fram tne end of 2020 and 1% 11e Netherlanas duning 2027 (altnsogh the off ce
was Jnococuhed fo- all of 2027)
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In 2022, we continued to engage with industry
experts to accurately measure and verify our
in-boundary emissions and to develop strategies to
reduce or offset these emnigsions. We are working
with a leading climate change advisory firm to
measure and verify our 2022 Scope 1 and Scope 2
emissions, as well as limited Scope 3 emissions
{related to waste and business travel) in accordance
with the GHG Protocol and 1ISQ 14064, in order to
support the recertification of our carbon neutrality
statement in respect of our cperational boundary
{excluding our wider Scape 3 emissions), which we
hope to complete in Q2 2023. Similar to 2021, we
expect 10 reach carbon neutrality through the
purchase of guality carbon offsets. We acknowledge
that there is ongoing debate regarding the use and
efficacy of carbon offsets and we will continue to
explore routes to emission reductions

We saw a year-on-year reduction in our Scope 1
and 2 emissions, largely as a result of renewable
energy supplier certificates applied tc UK electricity
under a market-hased approach, as well as downsizing
our US offices during 2021. Qverall reported
market-based emissions for 2022 were lower as a
result, although Scope 3 emnissions increased year
on year, driven by a continued return of business
travel to gre-pandemic levels. We have used 2021
as our bageline year for carbon neutrality and net
zero commitments; however, during 2021 Covid-19
pandemic restrictions led to a substantial reduction
in the use of our offices, resulting in overall lower
carben emissions for the business compared to
the immediate pre-pandemic period. Circlers
gradually returned to the office in early 2022, but
with typically limited numbers of days in the office.
We have not yet measured employee home-warking
within our Scope 3 emissions, which we intend to
undertake in 2023 (one year later than previously
stated in our 2021 Annual Report). Overall,
notwithstanding some improvements, data quality
available in respect of our GHG calculations 1s
relatively low reflecting a lack of standardised
processes to capture this data from third party
suppliers or in respect of office space where we
cemprise a small portion of a given building

#fc-impact-uk volunteers

Funding Circle
partners with
Hatch Enterprise

In 2022 Funding Circle and charity Hatch Enterprise joined
forces with the mission to empower underrepresented
entrepreneurs to imagine, launch and grow sustainable and
impactful businesses through tailored support, community
and partnerships.

During the 12-month partnership, volunteers from Funding
Circle will frain and mentor start-up businesses in learning
skills to help them launch, grow or scale their businesses.
Funding Circle has also donated £40,000, encouraging
entrepreneurs to tackle their challenges in constructive,
supportive and personalised ways as part of the 2022—2023
Hatch programme.

Underrepresentation for SMEs in the UK is an ongoing issue
with a distinct lack of support, business skills and access
to networks available.

In 2014, Hatch launched in Brixton, Landon, with the goal

to build a fairer scciety and to drive solutions to the issues
faced by underrepresented businesses. It has now increased
its reach across the United Kingdom. To date, the charity has
supported over 6,700 UK entrepreneurs through its fiexible
community-based support and tailored programmes. Today,
over 80% of Hatch graduates are women or from another
marginalised gender, 71% of its cohort participants are
black or from another ethnic minority group, and 90% of

its business founders have some social or environmental
impact element to their business.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Environment, social and governance (“ESG”) continued

Net zero

We are commutted to reducing cur
impact on the natural environment.
Inour 2021 Annual Report, we disclosed
a commitment to be net zero by 2030.
The interpretation of net zero for disclosure
purposes continues to evolve with the
development of available standards and
methodologies to define and understand
the term. In line with this evolution, we
have now reviewed our climate goals
towards more precise and realistic
objectives. Qur ambition is now to reach
net zere by 2050 in line with the UK
government’s commitment, while
setting a stretch target to reach net zero
by 2030 for cur operaticnal emissions
wWe define our operational emissions

as Scope 1 and 2, as well as Scope 3
categories which are under our operaticnal
control, such as business travel and
waste from operations As an interim
step, we have a commitment to carbon
neutrality (PAS 2060) for cur operational
carban emissions, which we achleved
for 2021 and intend to achieve for 2022
through the purchase of quality carbon
offset projects We have not yet developed
an annual carbon transition plan or

set science-based targets to map our
journey to net zero by 2050 but we
continue 1o progress our carbon
strategy, with support from climate and
industry experts who are helping us to
understand and manage our full carbon
footprint. We are at an early stage of
understanding our largest sources of
Scope 3 emissions arising from our
financed emissions {(GHG Protocot
Category 15), which we measured for
the first time in 2022 under the Partnership
for Carbon Accounting Financials
methodclogy. Similar to other asset
classes, there are a number of challenges
to measuring and meaningfully addressing
reductions in financed emissions for
SME lending. We recognise thisis a
challenging task, and that the standards,
capabilities and expectations in this
area are evolving. We will seek to follow
best practice o reach this goal in a way
that is proporticnate to our business
and the urgency that climate action
requires. We will avoid greenwashing
and witl look to deliver accurate and
transparent information on our impacts
and our progress towards our carbon
neutrality commitment and net zero
ambitions as this subject matter and
our husiness mature.
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Social impact

In 2022, we completed a review of our
social impact strategy to identify ways
ta continue to support Circler-led
initiatives and also explore areas where
we can contribute positively as a
business in our communities. Social
impact forms a core component of our
ESG framework, with Board ownership
and oversight through the ESG
Committee. In 2022, we conducted an
SME survey to better understand drivers
to borrower engagement and to inform
our social impact programme, and we
started to add social impact and
climate-related content to our regular
online SME newsletters as a channel for
awareness raising. We also entered inte
an arrangement with Hatch Enterprise
to support underrepresented sacial
entrepreneurs through which Circlers
volunteer their time to mentor or provide
other forms of support. See page 41 for
more information about Hatch. in 2022,
we also partnered with Tiny Forest to
co-sponsaor a micro-forest project in
Peckham in South London Tiny Forest
brings the benefits of a forest into cities
and urban spaces across the UK.
Through its programme of planting
small forests in ecologically deprived
areas It reconnects people with nature,
enhances wellbeing, helps mitigate the
impacts of climate change and provides
nature-rich habitat patches to support
urban wildlife.

In addition to the positive econcmic
impact our SME lending contributes to
jobs and economic growth, we continue
to engage in corporate £5G inttiatives
to support SMEs and cur communities,
and our employees are also working

to drive mare positive social cutcomes
through a wide variety of initiatives,
groups and events. We continue to offer
Circlers two paid volunteer “Impact
Days” a year so that they can positively
contribute to issues they feel passionately
about. And we continue to progress our
DEl initiatives as set out In more detall in
"Our people - Diversity, Equity & Inclusion”
on page 25.

Public policy and responsible lending

Ouwr aim is for Funding Circle to continue
to be a trusted and reputable company,
working with governments, regulaters
and industry to uphold the highest
industry standards. To this end, we
actively engage with local, naticnal,
federal and supra-national government
agencies, legislators, policymakers and
industry groups. This engagement helps
us develop insight and policy leadership
on issues affecting SMEs, institutional
investors and the wider fintech

industry. We also submit position
papers and participate in expert
hearings, consultations and other

forms of policy engagement.

In both the UK and US, Funding Circle
supported businesses during the
pandemic by providing loans through
government SME guarantee programmes
and a variety of forbearance measures.
In the UK, we continued our membership
with UK Finance, the trade association
for the financial services sector, and the
Confederation of British Industry, a
broader business advocacy group.
Through our membership of industry
body Innovate Finance, we also helped
to amplify the important role fintech
plays in the UK.

in the US, Funding Circle is a member
of the Responsible Business Lending
Coalition ("RBLC"), a network of
non-profit and for-profit lenders, investors
and SME advocates. Members of the
Coalition share a commitment to
innovation and responsible behaviour
in SME lending. We are also a signatory
to the Smali Business Borrowers' Bifl of
Rights ("BBOR"}, the first cross-sector
consortium supporting the rights of
SMEs, and we are a member of the
Innovative Lending Platform Association
{“ILPA"). We have also been appointed
to the US Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau ("CFPB”) Small
Business Regulatory Enforcement
Fairness Act advisory review panel,



Financial inclusion and other commitments

As part of our broader commitments as
a responsible company, we have made a
number of voluntary commitrments and

take a stand on the following issues:

UN Global Compact: we have joined
the UN Global Compact to formalise
our alignment with its Ten Principles
on human rights, labour, the
environment and anti-corruption.
We look forward ta integrating the
UNGC principles into our ESG
programme and leveraging thig
framework to help guide our efforts
inthe future. Qur first Communication
on Progress report will be in 2023.

Principles for Responsible
Investment: we are a signatory to the
Principles for Responsible Investment
("PR1"}, which we believe is an
irmportant signal to our investors and
shareholders and we hope will drive
positive engagement and outcomes
with these and cther stakeholders.
The PRI reporting obligations had
heen extended during the Covid-19
pandemic, and the timing for
reporting is currently still under
review; as such we have not yet
reported under the PRI framework.

SME Finance Charter {UK).
Borrower Bill of Rights (US)

Responsible Business Lending
Coalition (US).

HM Treasury Women in Finance
Charter: Funding Circle UK is a
signatory to the UK government’s
Women in Finance Charter, and

is committed to supporting the
progression of women into senior
roles in the financial services sector.
Our DEI strategy outlines our goals
and targets in this area.

The Investing in Women Code:
Funding Circle UK is a signatory to
HM Treasury’s Investing in Women
Code, and is committed to a culture
of inclusion and to advancing access
to capital for female entrepreneurs.

UK gender pay gap reporting (UK).

Human rights

We respect and promote human
rights through our empleyment
policies and practices.

We apply these policies and
commitments equally to everyone
who works at, or is part of,
Funding Circle.

Modern slavery

We have a zero tolerance

approach to modern slavery

and human trafficking.

wWe have published a Modern Slavery
Act Transparency Statement in
compliance with section 54 of the
Modern Slavery Act.

As part of our procurement process
we ask suppliers for their Modern
Slavery Statement.

In 2023 we will include training on
Modern Slavery as part of our
financial crimes training modules.

Code of Conduct

We are dedicated to implementing
and maintaining the highest
standards of behaviour, ethics and
integrity among our workforce.

We have created a culture where
adherence to these standards is
recognised and rewarded.

Our Code of Conduct establishes
these standards and addresses
subjects such as integrity, conflicts
of interest and non-discrimination
Employees are trained annually on
our Code of Conduct rules.

We have whistleblowing policies
and procedures and dedicated
whistleblowing officers in each
of our geographies.

Anti-money laundering, anti-corruption
and anti-bribery

.

We recognise that our reputation
forintegrity and trustworthiness is
critical to our success.

We uphold all laws relevant to
countering bribery and corruption in
each of our jurisdictions in accordance
with our global anti-bribery and
corruption policy

Circlers are trained and evaluated
annually on bribery, money
laundering and corruption risks.

Data protection and
information security

As an online lending platform,

we understand the importance of
data protection, data privacy and

information security, and we seek
to comply with all applicable data
protection laws.

All employees complete data
nrotection, data privacy and
informaticn security training at least
once a year, and extra training may
be required for people who handle
data more frequently or handle more
sensitive data

Procurement

We request significant suppliers to
share their environmental policies
or targets and their approach to
corporate social responsibility with
responses factored into the overall
supplier rating.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Engaging our stakeholders

We actively engage with
all our stakeholders

Our shared mission with borrowers, institutional investors, shareholders
and our people is to ensure that a vital, historically underserved part of
our economy can access the funding it needs to win. We are committed
to building open and constructive relationships with all our stakeholders.

In 2022, we engaged with our stakeholders in a variety of ways to ensure
they continued to feel connected and supported at all times.

Borrowers

SMEs are the growth engine of the ecanomy, and it is our
mission to help them fulfil their ambitions with access to
fast, hassle-free finance,

How we engage

- Constant monitoring of real-time custormer insight from
data, and customer feedback from social media and
satisfaction surveys at every stage of applications

- Regular focus groups with existing and prospective SME
customers around product changes and new marketing
campaigns, alongside Circler visits to meet borrowers
The Beard reviews strategy and monitors performance in
light of customer feedback, with the airm of meeting the
needs of borrowers more effectively

+  We provide regular email updates and communications,
including on the launch of our new products, changes to
government schemes and continued service
improvements and resources for borrowers

Qutcomes of engagement
We achieved an NPS of 77 and 78 for borrowers in the UK
and US respectively

- We introduced super prime loans in the US and near prime
loans in the UK
We launched a new partnership with Premiership Rugby to
attract more businesses and increase brand awareness
We launched our new campaign platform, Lending Hands,
with strong levels of customer engagement
We were recognised as Unsecured Funder of the Year and
Socially Responsihble Lender of the Year at the NACFB
Patron Awards

44 Funding Circle Haldings plc

Institutional investors

Providing stable and attractive returns to a diverse range
of institutional investors is a central part of our strategy.

How we engage
We actively engage with all types of institutional investors
- for example asset managers, banks, insurance companies,
and pension funds — 10 share details of our products and
services. This includes a tailored institutional investor
website, a dedicated statistics webpage, presence at key
global conferences, investor roadshows and
bespoke meetings
We provide information and support 1o existing institutional
investors in a range of accessible formats, including
rmonthly and daily reporting on their investments

Qutcomes of engagement

- We onboarded a number of new, and re-signed a number
of existing, instituticnal investors, further diversifying our
funding investor base and funding sources
Continued institutional investor demand to fund loans —
with an active forward-pipeline in the UK and US



Section 172(1) statement

The Directors recognise that they have a duty to promate the success of the Company In accordance with 5.172(7) of the
Companies Act 2006. Further details on how the Board operates and the way in which it reaches decisions, including the
matters discussed and debated during the year, are set out in the Governance section on pages 73 to 87 Some examples of
how the Directors have had regard to the factors set out in section 172(1){a)—{f) when discharging their duties are on pages

78and 79.

Shareholders

We maintain transparent and open engagement with our
shareholders. This enables the Board to clearly
communicate its strategy, provide updates on our
performance and receive regular feedback.

How we engage

- Regular shareholder communications such as full and
half-year results, and ad-hoc regulatory news
service announcements

Analyst and investor meetings and presentations/
roadshows, as well as ad-hoc meetings and events
with shareholders and prospective shareholders

+ The 2022 AGM was once again open to shareholders,
as we returned to in-person, business-as-usual
shareholder engagement

= The Chair, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer
and Director of investor Relations regularly communicate
with shareholders and analysts as required and provide
regular reports to the Board on shareholder interactions

Outcomes of engagement

+ Incorperated our shareholders’ opinions throughout the
year inta the shaping of Company strategy and cther
key developments

Circlers

Our people are our business. We are committed to creating
a culture where Circlers thrive and share in our mission,
values and ambition.

How we engage

Regular all-hands meetings and our bi-annual Full and
Half Circle events. These pravide an opportunity to share
information and interact with senior management

Regular meetings with Helen Beck, our workforce
engagement Non-Executive Directer, and employee

groups and subsequent feedback loops with the Board

Six Circler-led groups (Women @ FC, Let's Talk About Race,
Circle of Pride, FC Impact, Parents @ FG and Neurodiversity
@ FC) that empower our people to deliver initiatives
important to them and our DEI agenda

Regular engagement surveys, with resuits shared with the
Board, along with diversity reports and updates on diversity
and inclusion initiatives

Outcomes of engagement

Further embedded our Circler promise, Build the Incradible

Maintained our highest ever employee engagement score
of 73% in cur 2022 employee survey

Launched our new value, Gbsess Over The Customer,
introduced following Circler feedback to reinforce our focus
on the customer across the organisation

New Circler group, Neurodiversity @ FC, created to help
understand how different pecople think, process and
perceive Information

inthe UK, our partner leave policy change was recognised
as the Diversity & Inclusion Initiative of the Year at the AltFi
Awards; and in the US, Funding Circle was named as one
of Built In"s Inaugural LGBTQIA+ Advocacy Award Winners
and in its 2022 Best Places to Work Awards
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Engaging our stakeholders continued

Communities

The SMEs we serve are at the centre of our communities.
We are passionate advocates of chatitable causes and

issues related to social impact and community engagement.

How we engage
Continual development and implementation of our ESG
strategy. This process includes shaping cur understanding
of, and priorities for, engagement with our
various stakeholders

Regutar meetings with investors including discussions
regarding their ESG investrnent criteria as they apply
tO our loans and loan-backed investment products

+  Circler group FC Impact ce-ordinates our internal
velunteering and charity initiatives

Outcomes of engagement

+  Progressed our ESG strategy, which sets out a formal
framework for operating as a responsible business and
Is overseen by our ESG Committee

- Further developed our carbon strategy, with support from
climate and industry experts. We have a carbon neutrality
commitrment for our operational emissions, and are
developing an annual transition plan to map our ambition
10 net zero by 2050

Raised £32,000 during 2022 for our charity of the year,
Nishkam SWAT, and continued to provide regular
volunteering activities for Circlers in support of a range
of good causes

+  Supported wider social initiatives by partnering with
charities, such as Hatch Enterpnse which empowers
underrepresented entrepreneurs to launch and grow their
businesses. This partnership involves volunteers from
Funding Circle mentoring start-up businesses
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Government and regulators

Our goal is for Funding Circle to always be known as a trusted
and reputable company, and to work with regulators and
industry to ensure best practice.

How we engage
Engagement with local, national, federal and supra-nationat
government agencies, including regulators, legislators,
policy makers and industry groups. These interactions
provide insight and leadership on policy and rulemaking
related to issues affecting SME borrowers, institutional
investors or lending in the fintech industry

»  Contnbution to the discourse and debate on industry
issues, including submitting poesition papers and
participating in expert hearings, consultations, forums
and other policy engagement initiatives

The Board ensures it uses the results of the above
engagement, as well as key legal and regulatory
changes affecting the business, to inform its strategy
and decision making

Outcomes of engagement

- Inthe UK: Continued to work closely with the British
Business Bank as a provider of government-backed lending
during the pandemic; engaged with industry groups on
improvements to Open Banking; highlighted Funding
Circle's role in levelling up communities to the APPG for
Financial Markets and Services; and became a signatory
to the Investing in Women Code

I the US: Supported the Philadelphia Federal Reserve and
Bank for International Settlements study into the impact
of fintech lending on credit access for US businesses by
providing proprietary data. The study showed that fintech
SME lending platforms increase access to capital at a
lower cost for borrowers who are less likely to receive
credit from traditional banks



Financial review

A solid year
responding well to
evolving conditions

Overview of the year ended

31 December 2022

Against a backdrop of an increasingly
challenging UK economic environment,
our overall performance in 2022 was in
line with our expectations. It followed a
very strong prior year when cur markets
were distorted by the continued

availability of various government-
guaranteed loan schemes in both the
UK and US which brought forward and
exaggerated demand for loans by SMEs
inH1 2021 This led to a drop in demand
for loans when these government
schemes concluded, with a gradual
recavery in demand evident through H2

2021 and H1 2022. In mid-2022,
through ow proaclive monitoring, we
noticed increasing signs of stress in the
market and we therefore adjusted and
tightened our credit criteria accordingly.
This tightening is noticeable in the UK
originations profile below.

Originations
2022 2021
H1 H2 FY H1 H2? FY
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Loans

United Kingdom 641 454 1,095 1.381 591 1972
United States 145 182 327 247 69 316
Other? - - - 7 1 8
786 636 1,422 1,635 661 2,266
FiexiPay? 17 42 59 - - -
Total 803 678 1,481 1,635 66 2,266

1 Other represents the previously oresented Developing Markels segment As this business has beer closed and)s inwind-down it has been renamed Other for

segmental purposes.

2 Glven the size, FlexiPay loans of £4m were rot oresented in 2021

In the UK, the government-guaranteed
Recovery Loan Scheme ("RLS") was
introduced in April 2027 and operated
until May 2022. We continued to offer
our commercial lcans alongside the
RLS, transitioning to operate solely our
commercial lending from June 2022
onwards, We now also offer our
commetcial lcans to near prime
businesses In the pricr year, we offered
government-guaranteed CBILS loans
untit the processing of those loans
finished in June 2021. CBILS had
particularly high levels of demand, due
to the favourable terms for borrowers,
driving peak originations in H1 2027,

In the US, we have continued 1o

offer aur commercial loan product,
expanding our offering 1o also serve
super prime businesses. In the first

half of 2021, we operated the

Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP”)
government-guaranteed loan scheme
through the Small Business Administration
("SBA") which closed in May 2021.

During 2022, we have continued to grow
originations via our Marketplace, which
connects borrowers with other lenders
in the market, providing further products
beyond what Funding Circle currently
offers, such as larger loans, asset
finance and invoice finance, and we see
this growing further in the coming year.

Our new line of credit product offering,
FlexiPay, has been launched in the
market and continues to gain traction.
FlexiPay card is now in beta testing and
we will continue to expand this during
2023. We remain very excited about the
huge market opportunity for FlexiPay to
support SMEs with their shorter-term
financial needs.
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Financial review continued

Overview of the year ended 31 December 2022 continued

Loans under Management ("LuM")

31 December 31 December
2022 2021 !

£m £m

Loans
United Kingdom 3,311 3944
United States 375 425
Other 39 88
3,725 4,457
FlexiPay’ 18 _
Total 3,743 4,457

1 Gven the size, FlexiPay loans of £2rm were not presented in 2021

Loans under management declined
during the year by 16% to £3,743 million
This was principally driven by:

+  Early repayments on CBILS foans
which were expected as there were
ne principal payments required in the
first year and the government was
paying the interest. As the first
borrower payments became due,
some borrowers repald the lpans
in fuil.

- Reduction in PPP loans as they were
fargiven by the US government,
provided certain borrower conditions
on usage were satisfied. No servicing
fees are charged on PPP loans. PPP
leans totalled £125 million at
31 December 2027 reducing to
£28 million by 31 December 2022
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+  FlexiPay loans under management
continued to grow. Currently the
product features a revolving three-
rmonth line of credit facility.

Funding Circle uses its balance sheet
where it makes the business stronger.
This has been through securitisation
programmes and private funds in
2019/20, co-investing as required by the
gavernment-guaranteed loan schemes,
short-term funding as we onboard new
investors, and in funding the early
stages of FlexiPay. At 31 December
2022, Funding Circle’s equity invested in
the above Loans under Management
was ¢.2.5% at £97 million (31 December
2021:¢.1.5% at £70 million). This is
described in further detail on page 53

Characteristics of government
loan schemes

The lcans under each of the
government schemes have different
characteristics, and therefare the
income that Funding Circle earns on
them is different:

« CBILS - for loans issued under this
scheme, the British Business Bank
("BBB"} provided an 80% guarantee
to lenders, should the loan default, in
exchange for a fee from the funding
investors The BBB paid the origination
fees (transaction fees) on behalf of
borrowers together with the interest
due on the leans for the first year No
principal repayments were reguired in
the first year. Thereafter borrowers pay
the interest and principal repayments.
Funding investors continue to pay
servicing fees.



RLS — for loans under this scheme,

the BBB continued to pravide a
guarantee 10 lenders to ensure that there
was sufficient availability from lenders to
support SMEs, again in exchange for a
fee from the funding investars (which in
Funding Circle’s case, as with CBILS, was
shared proportionately among Funding
Circle and its applicable funding
investors, with Funding Circle’s share

of both the lean amounts and fees being
approximately 1% of the total) The loans
then had characteristics similar to our
core commercial lean producl will
borrowers paying the crigination fees,
interest and repayments and funding
investors payinyg the servicing fees
However, the borrower, not the BBB, pays
the fees and interest in the first year.

PPP - the loans issued under the PPP
scheme have very different
characteristics to those under CBILS or
RLS. Under this scheme, Funding Circle
earns an origination fee, paid by the
SBA, but there are no servicing fees
associated with the [oans. This is
because borrowers are allowed to apply
for the loans 1o be forgiven by the SBA
if the funds are used to pay eligible
expenses such as payroll costs

of employees.

Supporting businesses

Vikentijs Gubskis
8 Rocks Deli & Wine

Since 2017, 8 Rocks Deli & Wine has been offering the local
community food and fine wines under one roof. FlexiPay is
helping founder Vik to stay one step ahead.

Vik moved to the UK from Latvia in 2004 and spent 12 years working
his way up the career ladder in the hospitality sector. However, Vik
always wanted to run his own business and in 2017, 8 Rocks opened in
Loughton, tssex.

Starting with just sandwiches, the cafe soon became a deli by day and
a wine bar by evening, fuelled by Vik's enthusiasm to bring fine wine to
the local community. However, as the business got into its stride, the
pandemic brought challenges to the hospitality sector. While initially
closed for six weeks, Vik seized the opportunity to introduce takeaway
and delivery services, and hehind the scenes he refurbished the shop
to create a new space for the community. He has now begun inviting
artists for live performances and holding wine tastings — most of

8 Rocks' events are fully booked months in advance.

Having initially received a government-backed RLS loan from Funding
Circle during the pandemic, Vik learned about new product FlexiPay
from his Funding Circle Account Manager, and in April 2022 was one
of the early tranche of customers to be approved for a line of credit.

8 Rocks has used FlexiPay to help set the business up for success in
the future by being better able to pian ahead. Vik has used the approved
line of credit to buy stock, such as wine, in bulk in advance of upcoming
events. This enables him to negotiate better prices from suppliers and
he typically secures around a 10% discount. Vik has also been able to
purchase much-needed equipment, spreading the cost into three
instalments rather than having to pay everything upfront.

As a result of Vik's ongoing investment in the business, 8 Rocks
continues to grow and develop as a multi-functional community space.
When the shop is closed, Vik offers the space for private events, team
bonding exercises and more. He has recently hired a marketing team
to take 8 Rocks to the next level and the husiness is already reaping the
benefits with footfall into 8 Rocks on the up once again. It's going to be
a wine-derful 2023!
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Financial review continued

Segmental highlights
31 December 2022 31 Decemnber 2021
Loans FiexiPay Total Loans FlexiFay Total
United United United United United Uruted
Kingdom States Other  Kingdom Kingdom States Other  Kingdom

Net income/(loss) £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Operating income 107.2 211 1.6 1.5 131.4 1377 257 27 — 1655
Net investrment income 9.8 7.5 - - 17.3 217 19.7 - - 414
Total income 117.0 28.6 1.6 1.5 148.7 159.4 44.8 27 - 2069
Fair value {losses)/gains {2.4) 7.2 - - 4.8 105 18.1 - - 286
MNet income 114.6 35.8 1.6 1.5 153.5 169.9 62.9 27 - 235.5
Segment profit

Adjusted EBITDA 1.7 3.7) 2.8 (4.0) 6.8 619 284 1.5 - 91.8

Depreciation and amortisation (11.7) (5.2) 0.1) - (17.0) @7 @ (0 - (13.9)

Share-based payments and

social security costs (3.9 (0.8) - - 4.7) (7 6) 1.3) — - 89

Foreign exchange gains/{losses) 0.2 — — - 0.2 (0.3} (0.6) — - 09

Exceptional items - - - - - - 39) - - {39)
Operating (loss)/profit (3.7) (9.7) 27 (4.0) (14.7) 44.3 18.5 1.4 - 642
Operating AEBITDA? 4.3 (18.4) 2.8 (4.0 (15.3) 297 (9.4) 15 - 218
investment AEBITDA’ 7.4 14.7 - - 221 322 378 - - 70.0

1 Investment AEBITDA is defined as investment mcome, mvestment expense and far value adjustments and operating AEBITDA epresents AEBI T DA excluding investment AEBLI DA,

United Kingdom

During the year we continued to originate
loans under RLS until the scheme ended
in June 2022 as well as providing
commercial loans throughout the year.
As expected, we experienced slower
initial demand when the RLS scheme
ended, consistent with CBILS ending,

as both schemes brought forward the
appetite for SMEs to take out loans,

Demand has largely returned, although
general credit quality has weakened and
accordingly our conversion levels are
lower than they were before the pandemic.
With the increasing economic uncertainty
in the UK, we tightened our credit
criteria in July 2022 and introduced
interest rate increases on our lcans
{which are all fixed rate) to align with
increasing base rates

Throughout 2022 there remained strong
appetite from institutional investors 1o
invest in both the RLS and commercial
leans. Four forward flow agreements
were signed totalling £2 4 billion and

an additionai material forward flow
agreement was signed in January 2023.

As previously reported, investment from
retail funders was closed at the start of
the pandemic as they were not allowed
1o participate in the government loan
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schemes. We closed the retail platform
to new investment altogether in March
2022 and retail investors now represent
only 2% of the overall LuM.

The UK delivered total income of
£1170 million (20217 £158.4 million)
with operating income of £107.2 million
(20271: £137 7 mulhon) and net
investment income of £9 & miilion
(2021: £21 7 million).

The reduction in operating inCome
was largely driven by lower volumes

of originations, partially offset by higher
servicing fees (reflecting higher LuM
experienced during the peak of CBILS
lending in early 2021).

The reduction in net investment income
resulted from a reduction in the SME
loans held on balance sheet. This was
driven by the exit of the UK warehouse
in Navember 2021, loans continuing to
be paid down, and the wind down and
subsequent sale in 2022 of the majority of
loans held in the UK securitisation vehicle

The UK generated operating AEBITDA of
£4 3 million, lower than the £297 million of
the prior year when CBILS was operating.
Total AEBITDA was £11.7 million (2021:
£619 million) with an AEBITDA margin
of 10%. Operating loss was £3.7 million
(2021 profit of £44.3 million)

The reduction in both total AEBITDA and
operating profit was driven by the lower
levels of income generated post-CBILS
and reduced investment AEBITDA

United States

The US transitioned away from
government-guaranteed loans in May
2021, We restarted commercial lending in
July 2021, and although demand started
at a low level this has gradually and
consistently increased month on month.

We also see continued demand from
institutional investors ic fend although,
with increasing macro uncertainty and
rising base rates, concluding funding
deals with institutions is taking longer.
We anticipate adding further new
institutional investors during 2023

In H2 2022, we funded ¢.£20 million of
originations directly whilst concluding
a major funding deal which was signed
shortly after the year end. The majority of
these loans were sold in February 2023

Onginations for the year were £327 millicn
in 2022 {2027 £316 million).Originations
have continued to grow since PPP ceased
in May 2021 with H2 2022 oniginations
of £182 million (H? 2022, £145 million;
H2 2021: £69 million).



Total income for the US was £28 & millian
(2027: £44.8 million) comprising
operating income of £21.1 million

(2021: £25.1 million) and net investment
income of £7.5 million (2021: £19.7 million).
Yields on PPP loans were nearly 40%
higher than thogse on commercial loans,
driving the fall in operating income
relative to originations year on year.

Similar to the UK, the reduction in
investment income reflects the

Finance review
Overview

amortising nature of the investment

in SME loans held on balance sheet.
Additionally, 2021 benefited from six
months of interest on the US warehouse
which was sold in June 2021

Operating AEBITOA was negative

£78.4 million (2027: negative £9.4 million).
Investrment AEBITDA was £14.7 million
(2021 £37.8 million) principally
reflecting the amortising loan book and
warehouse sold in June 2021 together

with large fair value gains in 2021
following the investments delivering
strong returns, lower levels of default
and an improved economic outlock at
that tme.

Total AEBITDA was negative £3.7 million
(2021 positive £28.4 million) and
operating loss was negative £9.7 million
(2021, profit of £18.5 million).

Group total income was £148 7 million (2021: £206.9 miillion), down 28%, and net income was £153 5 million {2021: £235.5 million).

Net income is total income plus fair value movements on SME leans held for sale and investments in trusts. The fair value gain in
2021 reflected a strong performance from the consolidated SME loans with lower defaults and higher recoveries than expected

The Group's operating loss was £14.7 million for the year {2027: profit of £64.2 million).

Profit and loss

31 December 2022

31 December 2021

Before
oxceptional Exceptional

Total items items Total

£m £m £m £m

Transaction fees 77.5 115.0 - 115.0
Servicing fees 479 47.0 - 470

Interest income 1.9 - - -
Qther fees 41 35 - 35
QOperating income 131.4 165.5 - 165.5
Investment income 22.0 537 — 537
Investment expense 4.7) (12.3) - (12.3)
Total income 148.7 2068 - 2069
Fair value gains 4.8 28.6 - 286
Net income 153.5 2355 - 2355
People costs (85.9) (777 - (777)
Marketing costs (38.4) (46.9) - (46.9)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment {17.0) (13.9) (3.9) (17.8)
Credit/{provision) for expected credit losses 1.5 (1.2) - (1.2)
Other costs (28.4) (277) - (277}
Operating expenses (168.2) (167.4) (3.9) (171.3)
Operating {loss)/profit (14.7) 681 (39 6472

Operating income includes transaction
fees, servicing fees, interest income
from loans held at amortised cost and
other fees and was £131 4 million
{2021 £165.5 million).

Transaction fees, representing fees
earned on originations, decreased to
£77.5 million (2021: £115.0 million).
The overall decrease in transaction
fees was driven by lower trading
velumes as the Group transitioned
away from the government-guaranteed
loan schemes in the UK and the US.

In line with increasing base rates,
our average yields grew in the UK to
¢.5.5% (2021: 47%); yields on CBILS
loans in the prior year were fixed at
4.75%. Yields in the US averaged
4.6% with varying but higher vields
experienced in the prior year as PPP
loans had higher yields on small
loan amaounts.
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Financial review continued

Finance review continued

Profit and loss continued
Servicing fees, representing income
for servicing Loans under
Management, were £479 miillion
(20271: £47.0 million). Whilst Loans
under Management have fallen in
20272, it peaked at the end of the

CBILS tending in June 2027 and, with
vietds on CBILS, RLS and commercial

ioans at ¢.1.25% (higher than the
¢ 1.0% of older loan cohorts), servicing

fees remained similar to 2021 levels.

There is no servicing fee earned on
PPP loans.

Interest income represents interest
earned on loans held at amortised
cost. This predominantly relates to
FlexiPay, where we charged a flat
3% fee in 2022 which is spread
over three months, In line with
borrower repayments.

Operating expenses

Other fees arose principally from
collection fees we recovered on
defaulted loans and from fee
premiums we received from certain
institutionat investors in the year

in respect of buying back certain
defauited (bans under a historical
loan purchase commitment.

Net investment income represents the
investment Income, less investment
expense, on loans within Funding
Circle's investment vehicles and was
£17 3 million {2021: £41 4 million).
This decline followed the sale of

US and UK warehouses in June 2021
and November 2027 respectively,
together with the effect of continued
amortisation on the remaining
consolidated loans.

The Group tock the opportunity to
simplify the balance sheet and wound
up the UK securitisation (SBOLT-19} in
June 2022, subsequently selling the
majority of remaining loans in October
2022. Additionally, we wound up one

of the US securitisations (SBIZ-19A) in
October 2022 and anticipate doing the
same for the remaining US securitisation
vehicle (SBIZ-20A) during 2023

Net income, defined as total income
after fair value adjustments, was

£153.5 million (2021: £235.5 million).
This reflects the reduction in operating
income from the higher levels in 2021
when CBILS was operating together with
a reduction in net investment income.

The fair value gain in 2021 reflected

a strong performance from the
consohdated SME loans with an
improved economic outlook, lower
defaults and higher recoveries than
expected. The consolidated SME loans
have continued to perfarm well, and
ahead of our expectations in 2022,
however, due to the amortising nature
of the remaining loan book, loan sales
that have occurred and higher discount
rates {(affected by higher base rates)
utilised in valuations, the total fair vaiue
gains are much lower than 2021.

At an overall level, operating expenses were in line with 2021, with increased peopie costs (driven by increased headcount and
inflation) being largely offset by reduced marketing spend (driven particularly by the effect of reduced originations on broker

commission levels).

People costs (including contractors), which represent the Group's largest ongoing operating cost, increased during the year
by 15% to £98.4 million (2021, £85.9 million), before the capitalisation of development spend. This was driven by an overall
headcaount rise of 10%, largely due to increased investment in the technology and FlexiPay teams, and wage inflation.

The share-based payment charge for the year, included in people costs, was £4.7 million (2021: £8.9 million) with the reducticn
driven predominantly by lapses of share awards from leavers.

31 December 31 December

2022 2021 Change

£m Em k)

People costs 98.4 859 15
Less capitalised development spend ("CDS") (12.5) (8.2) 52
People costs net of CDS 85.9 777 1
Average headcount {incl. contractors) 1,035 929 11
Year-end headcount (incl. contractors) 1,075 979 10

Marketing costs reduced in the year to

£38 4 million (2021: £46.9 million) driven

by lower broker commissions from
reduced crigination volumes, together
with strong cost control from spend
optmisation. Marketing spend overall
was 29% of operating income (2027
28%) with the Group investing more
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in above the line marketing channels
(direct mail and online} which were
required less when the government
schemes were cperating.

Depreciation, amortisation and
impairment costs of £17.0 million
{2021: £17.8 million) largely represent

the amortisation of the cost of the
Group's capitalised technology
development and the depreciation and
impairment of right-of-use assets related
to the Group's office leases. The Group
incurred a write down of £1.8 million
(2021: £3.9 million) on 1ts San Francisco
office and associated assets.



Balance sheet and investments

The Group's net equity was £284 million at 31 December 2022 {31 December 2021: £288 million). This reduction reflects the
Group's operating logses and the purchase of own shiares by the Employee Benefit Trust ("EBT") offset by foreign exchange gains

on its US business and the recognition of deferred tax assets.

The majarity of the Group’s balance sheet is represented hy cash and equity invested as shown below. The equity invested is in

certain SME loans, either directly or through investment vehicles, and in the FlexiPay fines of credit

31 December

31 December 2022 2021
Operating business Investment business
Trading Securitisation Securitisation  US funding CBILS/RLS/ Private
business' FlexiPay SPVs loan buyout loans? Commercial funds Total Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
SME loans 248 16.0 27.3 18.5 19.8 32.2 2.7 141.3 2738
Cash and cash
equivalents 174.9 - 2.8 - - - - 1777 2240
Other assets/
{liabilities) — - 0.9 - - - - 0.9 (0.5)
Borrawings/bonds (22.6) - {23.7) - - - - (46.3) (213 5)
Cash and net 1771 16.0 7.3 18.5 19.8 32.2 2.7 2736 2838
investments
Other assets 64.1 - - - - - - 641 679
Other liabilities (53.7) - - - - - - (53.7) (63.7)
Equity 187.5 16.0 7.3 18.5 19.8 32.2 2.7 284.0 2880

1 Trading business iIncludes £22 4 milhon of PPP loans togetner with the associated Federal Reserve borrowings which we expect will both reduce as the remaining PPP loans

are forgiven.

2 UStunding loans includes £19 8 million of loans funded temporacily wailst it was onboarding a new 1mvestor The majonty of these were sold 11 February 2023

The tabie below provides a further breakdown of Funding Circle’s net equity invested in products and vehicles:

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

£m £m

1. Securitisation SPVS' 7 21
2. CBILS/RLS/Commercial! 32 39
3. Seturitisation foan buyout 19 -
4. Private funds 3 8
5.US funding loans 20 -
Net investment equity 81 68
6. FlexiPay 16 2
Total net equity 97 70

1 These vehicles are banksuplcy remate

1. Securitisation SPVs ~ This relates to the investment in securitisation vehicles. During 2022, the Group called options to wind
down UK (SBOLT-19A} and US (SBIZ-19A) securitisations and bought out the remaining bondholders. The Group retains legacy

securitisation loans of £19 million, and these are presented in "3. Securitisation loan buyout” above.,

2. CBILS/RLS/Commercial — As part of our participation in the CBILS and RLS UK government loan schemes, we were reguired
to co-invest ¢.1% alongside institutional investors. As the underlying CBILS and RLS SME loans are 70-80% guaranteed, our
expaosure is limited However, where some of the investment is via warehouses, the increase in base rates have increased
borrowing costs in combination with a revision to default stress expectations growing graduaily and being fenger lasting

have impacted projecled returns through these structures in the period and resulted in a fair value loss.

3. Securitisation loan buyout — This relates to toans held following the closure of certain consolidated securitisation SPVs

of £1g million.

4 Private funds - There are a small amount of other loans, comprising seed investments in private funds held as associates.

«

a funding deal. The majority of these loans were sald in February 2023.

6. FlexiPay - This relates to FlexiPay drawn lines of credit.

US funding loans — £20 million of loans in the US where we directly funded the foans for a brief period whilst finalising
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Financial review continued

Finance review continued
Cash flow

At 31 December 2022, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of £1777 million (31 December 2021 £224.0 million). Of this
balance £165.6 million (31 December 2021 £199.4 miflion) is unrestricted in its use.

Total cash has reduced by £46.3 million. £27.0 million of this decrease was driven by increased equity investment. The remainder
of the reduction was due largely to the funding of our US and FlexiPay operations and the purchase of own shares by the EBT,
offset by foreign exchange gains on cash held in the US business.

Free cash flow, which is an alternative performance measure, renresents the net cash flows from operating activities less the cost
of purchasing intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, lease payments and interest received. It exciudes the investment
vehicle financing and funding cash flows tagether with TlexiPay lines of credit. The Directors view this as a key liquidity measure
and itis the net amount of cagh used or generated to operate and develop the Group's platform each year.

Free cash flow reduced in 2022 due ta lower AEBITDA and large working capital moavements associated with CBILS where
£27 million of fees were received early in 2021 relating to 2020 originations.

The table below shows how the Group’s cash has been utilised

2022 2021

£m £m

Adjusted EBITDA 6.8 918
Fair value adjustments (4.8) {28.6)
Purchase of tangible and intangible assets (13.9) (9.4)
Payment of lease liabilities {6.1} {7.9)
Working capital/other 3.6 369
Free cash flow (14.4) 828
Net distributions from associates 5.4 39
Net moyvement in trusts and co-investments 3.6 12 8)
Net originations of lines of credit {16.0) (1.6)
Net movement in other SME Ipans (22.4) (0.4)
Net movement in warehouses and securitisation vehicles = 53.4
Purchase of own shares 8.7} —
Cther 2.4 0.5
Effect of foreign exchange 3.8 09
Movement in the year (46.3) 1207
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 224.0 103.3
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 177.7 2240
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Risk management

Managing through a
volatile environment
to deliver superior

risk-adjusted returns

Belkacem Krimi
Global Chief Risk Officer

At the beginning of 2022 the consensus
among economists was for a year of
recovery post-pandemic. This was
expected 10 generate more opportunities
for SMEs after two years of reduced
consumption as well as short-term
inflation shocks due to backlogged
demand and cluttered supply chains.
Unfortunately, this cutlook did not last
long. Events in Ukraine in February led
o an energy cost crisis that rendered
the inflationary pressure unsustainzble,
thereby forcing central banks to act at a
pace never seen before. This resulted in
the quick ergsion of confidence and a
slowdown in investment, which was
further exacerbated in the UK by a political
crisis within the governing party. The
overall result has been a significant
revision downwards of growth prospects
n most major economies, with the UK
being more adversely impacted than the
US. 2023 is glready being seen as a
transitional year during which inflation
is expected to stabilise in the latter part
of the year.

Despite this environment, Funding Circle
posted a strong credit performance in
2022 with a robust repayment profile in
both the UK and US. On the back of this
performance, we have revised our return
expectations upwards over the course
of 2022 and maintained a strong outlock
to date. This reflects the remarkable
resilience and integrity of SMEs
entreprenelrs, the credit quality of the
loan portfolio and the effectiveness

of our collections activities.

Since Funding Circle’s inception, we
have always sought to maximise the
adaptability of our credit capabilities

so that we are able to deploy change

at pace in volatile environments. It is
for this reason that we continue to
make the necessary investments in

our technology and our people. Our
capability to set and implement credit
and underwriting strategies, our ongoing
engagement with our investors, and the
review of the risk/reward of our loans in
relation to changes in the risk-free rate all
enable us to support SMEs continuously
through the cycle while continuing to
generate relatively superior rewards

for our investors. Throughout 2022,

we maintained strong pricing discipline
for our loans in the UK and US, and we
also diversified our product range with
shorter-term, lower-value loans for
those businesses with different risk
profiles or those seeking shorter
repayment periods. We also recognised
the more negative econcmic outlock

in the UK, which led to a more prudent
approach for originations, as announced
in September 2022.

All of this demonstrates not only the
granularity of our monitoring, but also
how our risk models and fraud defences
continue to perform and adapt through
periods of heightened volatility and how
our change management and testing
capabilities are effective.

The credit environment is likely to
remain uncertain and volatile in 2023,
although our two geographies will be
impacted differently. From an economic
risk perspective, the consensus is

that we are moving into a shallow but
prolonged recession, with unemployment
gradually going up but stabilising and
improving as we move towards 2024

Investment and demand for foans may
therefere remain subdued for some time.
However, we are well placed to navigate
such an environment given the quality of
our monitoring, the learning pace of our
credit models and our flexibility. We aim
to maintain a very focused and prudent
approach to credit risk management.
Furthermore, with the learnings from
the Covid-1§ crisis, we remain confident
that our products and processes are
resilient and adequate to continuously
support SMEs through 2023, and in the
process help the economy as it moves
towards a full recovery.

In addition to managing credit risk, we
have also been able to make further
progress with the strengthening of our
broader risk management and control
environment in 2022, notably:

- the overall performance of our
government-guaranteed origination
is well within expectations and we
maintained a strong compliance
track record with only one guarantee
claim rejected 1o date;

+  we continued to evolve FlexiPay
following its beta launch in 2027,
and we continuously optimised our
data driven strategies around credit
risk and operational capabilities
(for example underwriting models
including banking data or collection
propensity modeis);

- we continued to strengthen our
defences against cyberattacks
and ransomware,
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Risk management continued

we continued to progress the
implementation of new reconciliation
software, AutoRek, which will automate
and strengthen cur client meney
controls, with the system intended

to go live in H2 2023;

+we continued to monitor and
strengthen financial crime controls
and ensured compliance with
anti-money laundering and sanctions
regulation; and

+ we continued to implement
cur ESG strategy, identifying,
evaluating and monitoring ESG
risk within our Enterprise Risk
Management Framework

Overall, we are proud of the good work
accomplished in 2022 across the
organisation to keep our employees,
borrowers and investors safe and at
the same time contribute to supporting
society and the economy. The near
future remains uncertain, but we are
confident we have the right tools and
the determination to navigate the
uncertain environment successfully.

Three Lines of Defence

Risk management overview

Risk management sits at the heart of
our business. We recognise that effective
management af all key risks is critical to
meeting our strategic objectives and to
achieving sustainable long-term growth
These key risks need to be identified,
understood and appropriately addressed
to protect our Company, shareholders,
customers, Circlers, community and
the environment.

At Funding Circle ali employees,
regardiess of their position, play their
part in managing risk within the
business. A strong risk culture enables
us to rmanage the risks inherent in cur
business activities seamlessly, every
day, through the active participation of
all. Qur Enterprise Risk Management
Framework ("ERMF") defines a common
approach to risk management, with
clear roles and responsibilities, and
provides the foundaticns for a strong
control environment.

Our approach to risk management
consists of:

putting our culture at the heart
of everything we do;

+ investing in robust risk capabilities,
including advanced data and risk
analytics; and

+ doing the right thing for our
customers, shareholders
and employees.

As part of the second line of defence,
the Risk team oversees rnisk management
across the Company, in conjunction
with the Legal and Compliance teams.
We also support our first line of defence
employees in their risk management
activities — for example by providing
training and expert support for centralised
risk information management or complex
credit analysis.

Rigk culture

At Funding Circle, we believe that an open
and strong risk culture encourages ethical
behaviour and professicnal conduct. We
promote our risk culture as part of our
ongoing effort to reinforce our Company
values and encourage all our Circlers to
"De the Right Thing” every day for our
customers, employees, enviranment,
community and other stakeholders
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Board role

The Board is responsible for setting the
strategy, corporate objectives and risk
appetite. The Board has delegated
responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the risk management
framewark to the Board Risk and
Compliance Committee ("RCC") On the
advice of the RCC, the Board approves
the leve| of risk acceptable under each
princigal risk category, whilst providing
oversight to ensure there is an adequate
framework in place for reporting and
managing those risks.

Chief Risk Officer and the
Risk function

Qur Global Chief Risk Officer {CRQ")
leads the Risk function, which is
independent of the business and has a
direct reporting line o the Board. He is
responsible for developing, maintaining
and implementing the ERMF. He is also
respornigible for providing assurance to
the Board that the principal risks are
appropriately managed and that Funding
Circle is operating within risk appetite.

Risk governance structure

Risk management policies

We have formalised and implemented
risk management policies defining
mandatory requirements to mitigate the
principal risks that we face, with clear
risk hmits and requirements {0 maonitor
risks and adherence to limits. The Risk
and Compliance teams regularly review
these policies and controls to verify
compliance and to adapt to changes

in the business environment.

Risk appetite

Qur risk appetite is defined as the level of
risk thal we, as a company, are prepared
to accept whilst pursuing our core
business strategy, recognising a range
of possible outcomes as business plans
are implemented The Board sets the
risk appetite and reviews the Company
risk profile against risk appetite. Risk
appetite provides a guideline for shaping
business strategies and defining the
level of controls needed. It also provides
a basis for ongeing dialogue between
management and the Board with
respect to Funding Circle's current and
evolving risk profile, allowing strategic
and financial decisions to be made on
an informed basis.

Risk governance

Funding Circle has a risk governance
framework that 1s documented in the
ERMF. Responsibility for defining and
approving the ERMF lies with the Board.
The risk governance framework includes
delegations of authoerity from the Group
Board, the UK Board and Principal Risk
Commitiees as appropriate.

We operate a Three Lines of Defence
model across all markets in which we
operate Funding Circle’s Three Lines

of Defence model and risk governance
structure have been designed to manage
our principal risks in a consistent manner
across the Group.

The Board Risk and Compliance
Committee ("RCC") is supported by
the Executive Risk Commitige ("ERC"),
comprising the members of the Global
l_eadership Team The ERC has
sub-committees focused on each
principal risk, as set out belaw.

Board Committees

Funding Circle Holdings Board

Board
Audit Committee

Board
Risk and Compliance Committee

Board
Disclosure Committee

[

]

Group Committees
I

Balance Sheet

Management Risk Committee

Management Committee

]

Business Unit Committees

| T

]

Credit Risk
Management Committee

Regulatory, Reputation and
Conduct Risk Committee

Operational
Risk Committee

Technology Security and
Risk Sub-Committee
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Risk management continued

Risk culture continued
Management Risk Committee

The MRC reviews all principal risks
across the Group. Strategic rnsks and
environment, sacial and governance
risks are managed by the leadership
team of each Business Unit and
reviewed at the MRC.

Balance Sheet

Management Committee

The Balance Sheet Management
Committee is responsible for oversight
of Group balance sheet risk.

Credit Risk Management Committee
The Credit Risk Management
Committee’s focus is on ensuring that
the credit risk of each Business Unit's
loan portfolic is adequately managed.

Regulatory, Reputation and Conduct
Risk Committee

The Regulatory, Reputation and
Conduct Risk Committee focuses

on the management of regulatory,
reputation and conduct risks, and
oversees new product approvals

Operational Risk Committee

The Operational Risk Committee’s focus
is to ensure that operational controls are
effective and that operational and
financial crime rigks are adequately
managed N each Business Unit.

Technology Security and

Risk Sub-Committee

The focus of the Technology Security
and Risk Sub-Committee is to ensure
effective governance and controls are

in place for the ongoing management of
risks that could impact the performance,
stability, informaticn security and
resilience of the technology infrastructure
and operations that support our key
business and compliance processes.

58 Funding Circle Holdings plc

Risk assessment framework

A standard risk assessment framework is used to evaluate risks at both the Business
Unit and Group levels, enabling consistent measurement. Risk assessments are
carried out by those individuals, tearms and departments that are best piaced to
identify and assess potential risks. They are supported in this process by our Risk and

Compliance tearms.

We typicaily follow the evaluate/respond/monitar methodology: !

Enterprise risk

management

Evaluate

As part of its responsibilities under the
ERMF the Board has formally recognised
a series of risks that are continuously
present at Funding Circie and can
materially affect the achievernent of
Funding Circle's objectives. These risks
have been organised under a consistent
and simple taxonomy with a hierarchy
of risk categories, which facilitates

risk management and aversight. The
management of these risks 1$ agsigned
to designated business owners who
formally assess on a regular basis

the level of these risks, the adequacy

of controls and the need for

further mitigations.

Respond

The appropriate risk response ensures
that risks are within appetite. At Funding
Circle we have four types of possible
risk responses.

accept the risk;

- take mitigation actions (such as
additional ngk contrals) to reduce
the risk;

1. Evaluate
Identify key risks
Setrisk appetite
Assess adequacy
of existing cantrols
Estimate residual risk

2. Respond
Design contral improvement plans

Pricritise remediation wark and
assign responsibilities

3. Monitor

Track business performance v
r1sk appetite

Report, analyse and escalate
rigk incidents

Identify new or emerging rnisks

Track delivery of agreed
control Improvements

+ stop the existing activity/do not start
the proposed activity to remove the
risk; or

+ continue the activity and transfer the |
risk to another party (e.g. insurance).

Monitor

Moanitoring and reperting on Funding
Circle’s risk exposures are undertaken
through risk governance structures. The
RCC receives a consolidated risk report
no less than three times a year detailing
the risks facing the Group and mitigation
plans, as well as risk putlook. The RCC
is also provided with metrics and regular
reports about the activities of the Risk
and Compliance functions

Risk assurance

Assurance on the management of

nisk 1s provided by the Three Lines of
Defence model including the Internal
Audit function. We also execute external
annual controls assurance reports (e g
United Kingdom ISAE 3402 and US Soc
1 Type 2) certified by auditors.



Principal risks and uncertainties

The Board confirms that throughout 2022 a robust assessment of the
principal risks facing Funding Circle was completed. A comprehensive

list of Group-wide risks and emerging risks was reviewed and monitored
throughout the year. The most significant risks and uncertainties faced by
Funding Circle are listed in the table below, categorised by principal risk:

Strategic risk

Strategic risk is defined as the failure to build a sustainable, diversified and profitable business that can successfully adapt
to environment changes due to the inefficient use of Funding Circle’s available resources.

Risk appetite Funding Circle wiil make efficient use of its available resources to build a sustainable, diversified and profitable
business that can successfully engage with and manage environmental, secial and governance {"ESG") issues including climate
change risks.

Key risks Management of risk Change in risk in year

Strategic risk

The risk that Funding The Global Leadership Team ("GLT") manages the /l

Circle does not achieve strategic planning process based an risk appetite,

its key business financial considerations, strategic themes and Strategic risk continues to be high given
objectives and maintain  economic assumptions. At Funding Circle, we the current macroeconomic climate, and
its competitive advantage manage strategic risk by its impact on SMEs. This is likely to lead
and business operations. to fluctuations in borrower and investor

performing an in-depth business strategy
review at least once a year;

demand over the near to mid-term. There
is also material uncertainty in the interest

reviewing financials, strategic plans for rate environment and from inflation,
new products/initiatives, and other which continue to affect loan return
management information; expectations and the oreing of
reviewing the strategic risk implications of Funding Circle loans.

new products, business expansion, and other

2 Funding Circle has also launched new
Company initiatives; and

products such as FlexiPay for which
the Board providing cversight of strategic risk and  performance and demand may be
approving business strategic plans at least annually  yncertain until they reach scale.

Funding Circle is monitoring these trends
carefully and is continuously adjusting
product offerings to fit market conditions
and meet evolving demand.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Strategic risk continued

Key risks Management of risk Change in risk in year

Economic environment

Financial risk that We continually monitor the health of our loan /|

is associated with portfolios and perform stress lest simulations to

macroeconomic or help ensure that loan returns remain resilient in the  After a short-lived post-Caovid-19 fast
political factors that context of risk volatility. Key mitigating actions recovery, most of the world economies
may affect Funding include {but are not imited to): entered a cycle of high inflation
Circle’s financial and/or exacerbated by the Ukraine war and the

+ annual stress testing of loan portfelios in

following energy shock. Thig led to a fast
each market,

deteriorating economic cutlook as central
+ resilient credit strategy and continuous tuning of  hanks went onto muitiple increases of
risk and pricing parameters to correct for possible  interest rates to tame the inflationary

credit performance.

deviations in returns; pressure, with moderate success so far
independent validation and continucus monitoring  Although we have started to see
of the performance of credit risk models; stabilisation and potential improvement

in the US with divergences about the
probability of a recession, the economic
outlogk for the UK remains recessionary
for 2023 and 2024, exacerbated by other
factors such as political turmeil and Brexit.

+  monthly monitoring of internal and external
signals as part of the Credit Risk Managerment
Committee meetings;
agile capability to rapidly deploy pricing and credit
strategy adjustments deemed necessary, and

In this context, we are continuously

adjusting our credit strategies to ensure

that returns meet investors’ hurdles in an
environment of increasing risk-free rates
and constantly monitor credit
performance to adjust our underwriting
framewaork and models as needed

experienced in-house collections and recoveries
capabilities with built-in scalability.

We are doing so tactically, taking into
account the risk dynamics of our different
products and the different dynamics
between the US and the UK.
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Strategic risk continued

Key risks

Management of risk

Environmental, social and governance risk

Environment, social and/
or governance events or
circumstances could
cause an actual or
potential materjal
negative impact on
Funding Circle's financial

performance or reputation.

- Qur ESG framework oLtlines our approach to
ESG and is approved by the Board.

+ The Board retains ultimate responsibility for
providing the strategic focus, suppert and
oversight for the implementation of the Group’s
ESG strategy, including for climate-related risks
and opportunities. The Board delegates certain
matters related to climate-refated risks and
opportunities to two Committees:

+ the ESG Committee is responsible for
oversight of the Group's overall ESG strategy.
inciuding climate-related opportunities and
voluntary commitments; and

the Risk and Compliance Committee
is responsible for oversight of risk
management related to ESG risks,
including climate-related risks.

Climate change risk

Funding Circle is committed to managing the
transition and physical risks of climate change,

and making progress an our strategic commitment
to align to net zero.

The Board has reviewed and appreved our strategy
related to climate change and the environment.

Qur ambition is to reach net zero by 2050 in line with
the UK government’s commitment, while setting a
stretch target to reach net zero by 2030 for our
operational emissions. We have not yet developed
an annual transition plan or set science-based
targets but we continue to progress our strategy
with support from climate and industry experts,
including for our Scope 3 financed emissions (GHG
Protacol Category 15) We will avoid greenwashing
and will look to deliver accurate and transparent
information on our impacts and progress (including
through our TCFD disclosure).

Change inrisk in year

—>

We continue to integrate ESG risks as
part of our ERMF and mature our
ESG framework.

We continue to assess our ESG risks
and gpportunities and to further embed
them into day-to-day practices and
first-line teams.

In 2021 we disclosed a commitment tc
be net zero by 2030. The interpretation

of net zero for disclosure purposes
continues to evolve with the development
of available standards and methodologies
to define and understand the term. In line
with this evolution, we have now reviewed
our climate goals towards more precise
and realistic objectives.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Funding and balance sheet risk

Funding and balance sheet risk is defined as the risks associated with platform funding (matching borrower demand and
supply of funding), capital commitments and corporate liquidity through normal and stress scenarios.

Risk appetite Funding Circle will make efficient use of its balance sheet and optimise and diversify funding and liguidity sources
to enable a balanced funding strategy whilst limiting downside risk.

Key risks
Funding risk

The risk that demand
from borrowers for loans
cannot be fulfilled when
and where they fall due
or can only be met at

an uneconomic price.
This risk varies with the
economic attractiveness
of Funding Circle loans as
an investment, the level
of diversification of
funding sources and the
level of resilience of
these funding sources
through economic cycles.

Management of risk

Funding Circle’s business model is to be a lending
platform that efficiently matches the supply of
capital to the demand of SME borrowers.

We carefully manage this matching by:

building long-term relationships with investors
and developing a forward-looking pipeline of
new investors:

« actively managing concentration risk and
diversifying sources of funding;

- managing Funding Circle’s lending activities
whether through direct lending capacity,
securitisation capacity or investrment fund
lending vehicles;

- monitoring a broad range of management
inforrmation and key perfarmance indicators
at the Balance Sheet Management Committee,
RCC and Board level; and

+ leveraging a seasoned team for capital markets
sales and transactions structuring.

Change inrisk in year

Vs

In the UK in 2022, we returned 1o non-
government-guaranteed lending following
the end of the RLS scheme. This coincided
with a matenal downturn in the economic
environment as the risk of a recession
increased, while inflation resulted in &
sharp increase in market interest rates.

Despite this worsening environment, we
experienced dernand from institutional
investors to fund new loans. This
demanstrates the trust our funding
partners place in the soundness of our risk
management, and the experience they had
with previous investments that delivered
positive returns despite the Covid-19 crisis,
but it did result in FC requiring te raise
rates to maintain loan returns, transactions
taking longer ta execute, and investors
requesting increased protection.

We have onboarded new investors,
continuing the trend from the previous
years, with new assei managers, and we
have strong institutional relationships
providing a good basis for our future
funding needs.

Similar to the UK, the US has been
navigating a deteriorating economic
environment and a challenging rate
environment. In addition, increased
reguiatory scrutiny of bank and fintech
relationships has created a number of
challenges for a subset of mvestors.

Despite the above, new investors
continued 1o be added to the platiorm
aver the course of 2022, although
commitments were lower than initially
expected, In early H2 institutional
INvestors were increasingly cautious
of the short and medium-term outlack.
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Funding and balance sheet risk continued

Key rigks
Balance sheet risk

The risk that Funding
Circle investment
positions reduce in value
or cannot be exited at

an economically

viable price.

The risk that Funding
Circle liabilities cannot
be met when and where
they fall due or can
only be met at an
uneconomic price.

Management of risk

We carefully manage this risk by:

setting clear guardrails for Funding Circle balance
sheet exposures and following a set of agreed
Investrment principles to guide capital allocation;
maintaining a prudent level of liquidity to cover
unexpected outflows to ensure that we are able
to meet financial commitments for an extended
petiod, including under stress scenarios;
cansidering a broad range of management
information and key perfermance indicators at
the Balance Sheet Management Commitiee and
RCC level; and

leveraging a dedicated and experienced Balance
Sheet Management team.

Change inrisk in year

—>

Cur cverall approach to having @ robust
balance sheet and prudent management
of liquidity remains unchanged.

We have simplified our balance sheet in
the year and successfully unwound two
of our consolidated sceouritisation vehicles,
cne in the UK and cne in the US, resulting
in us holding SME loans directly instead
of higher risk residual tranches of junior
bonds. We have sold the majority of the
related UK SME loans (securitised) at a
viable price and expect quick amortisation
or opportunities for sale of the related

US loans

We have temporarily utilised our balance
sheet to originate SME loans to ensure
continuity of funding while onboarding
new investors, We sold the majority of
these loans in February 2023

We have sufficient disposable cash to
cover our liquidity needs, including when
tested against stressed liguidity scenarios,
and to fund cur medium-term plan

going forwards.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to an investor should any borrower fail to fulfil their contractual repayment obligations.
Credit risk management is the sum of activities necessary to deiiver a risk profile at portfolio level in line with Funding Circle
management's expectations, in terms of net loss rate, risk-adjusted rate of return and its volatility through economic cycles.

Risk appetite Whether or not Funding Circle owns any credit risk, credit risk of loans will be managed with the utmoest care and
attention to deliver credit performance and returns in line with expectations.

Key risks
Credit risk

Borrower acquisition
Credit performance and
returns of new loans can
deviate from expectations
due to several factors:
changes in credit quality
of incoming applications,
calibration of risk models
or strategy parameters,
and control gaps

in processing

{oan applications.

Portfolio risk
management

Credit performance

and returns of existing
portfolio can deviate
from expectations due
to several factors:
deterioration of credit
environment, increased
competition driving
higher prepayment rates,
effectiveness of portfolio
moenitering, collections
and recoveries,

Management of risk

Funding Circle’s aim is for well balanced loan
portfolios that generate positive returns for investors
through the economic cycle

We are actively managing credit risk by:

formulating credit risk policies (covering credit
assessment and risk grading, portfolio monitoring
and reporting, collections and recoveries) and
ensuring adherence to these policies;

+ recruiting, training and managing expert risk
professionals with the adequate skills, objectives
and capacity;
establishing the formal mandates and
authorisation structure for setting risk
parameters and approving loans;

performing independent quality control of
credit decisions;

+ limiting concentration risk to counterparties
and industries,

+  actively monitoring the performance of the
loan pertfolios and the market trends that could
affect performance;
implementing adequate procedures and controls
for madel risk {including the independent validation
and manitoring of credit scoring models);

+  performing annual stress tests with high-quality
standards; and

+  with regards to government programmes, tightly
controlling adherence to eligibility critera.

Change in risk in year

/

Whilst our portfolios in the US and UK

are shawing resilience and generally
performing better than expectations —
with returns expectations improving —

we do take the economic environment with
its inflationary pressure as a significant
challenge to our borrowers and are adopting
a more prudent approach to credit risk and
more intense monitoring of our existing
lending volumes.

Funding Circle is entering 2023 in a streng
positian from & credit risk standpoint,
capitalising on our data and experience
since our inception. Our credit risk
approach involves:

adequately staffed and well trained
Collections and Recaveries department;

- forbearance tools and policies
fully integrated in the customer life
cyclie management;

+ constant portfolio monitoring with credit
insights fed into the underwriting policies/
models and flexible decisioning
infrastructure; and
regular pricing reviews to ensure adequate
risk-adjusted returns for our investors in
a higher interest rate environment.
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Regulatory, reputation and conduct risk

Regulatory, reputation and conduct risk is defined as engaging in activities that detract from Funding Circle’s goal of being
a trusted and reputable company with products, services and processes designed for customer success and delivered ina
way that will not cause customer detriment or requlatory censure.

Risk appetite Funding Circle will not engage in activities that detract from its goal of being a trusted and reputable financial
services company with products, services and processes designed for customer success and delivered in a way that will not
cause custorner detriment or regulatory censure.

Key risks
Regulatory risk

The risk that Funding
Circle’s ahility to
effectively manage its
regulatory relationships
is compromised or
diminished, that the
Group's governance
and controls framework
is not satisfactory given
business grawth, or
that there is business
interruption by reason
of non-compliance with
regulation or the
introduction of business-
impacting regulation.

Management of risk

We remain vigilant to proposed changes affecting
our business and we engage with poticy makers
where relevant. We have continued to invest time
and resources in external relations, including
educating policy makers, regulatcrs and other
influencers on the features, benefits and impact
of platform lending.

We continue to implement and maintain business
practices and controls focused on regulatory risk,
including controls designed to comply with the
Senior Managers and Certification Regime.

We continue to focus ¢n governance and controls
and train all employees in such matters as are
relevant to their role.

We have increased our focus on ESG-related
risks, including TCFD regulatory disclosure;

we continue to work with service providers ta
assist with emissions measurement, verification
and disclosure,

Change inrisk in year

—

In the UK, there is continued regulatory
attention regarding the viability of firms and
the possible consumer harm in the event of
firm failure. The amortisation of the UK
retail invegtor product has reduced this risk
materially, although the persistent level of
client money held continues to be of
interest to regulators.

ESG-related risk is an area of expected
increased regulation, for example in the
form of mandatory disclosures (including
on net zero transition plans reporiing by
companies or ESG-related investment
product labels). Proactive monitoring
continues as this area evolves.

In the US, an increase in regulatory scrutiny
in connection with the occurrence of fraud
inthe legacy Payment Protection Pregram
may pose arisk of greater regulatory focus;
however, Funding Circle does not believe
this poses a material risk as we maintained
our standard fraud risk management
practices in respect of the PPP and the
incidence of fraud experienced by Funding
Circle during the PPP was broadly in line
with expectations and materially lower than
some other participants that have received
maost altention.

In addition, various bank regulators in the
US have expressed concern with regard

to bank risk management practices in
connaction with partnerships with fintechs.
While this concern is focused on the banks
themselves rather than fintechs individually,
this increased scrutiny may result in
changes to bank practices and increased
operational requirements and burdens in
relation to their fintech partnerships.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Regulatory, reputation and conduct risk continued

Key risks Management of risk

Reputation risk

Operational or We continue to implement and maintain business
performance failures practices and controls focused on reputation
could lead to negative management, including:

publicity that could

ensuring RCC consideration of new or iterated

adversely affect our o
versely alle products and initiatives;

brand, business, results,

operations, financial + engaging futly with regulators when required, and

condition or prospects. external advisers in relation to any new or iterated
praducts and inttiatives that might impact on
customer outcomes;

+ undertaking specific projects to address
identified risk topics and issues, including
retrospective reviews, internal audit reviews and
monitoring and tésting programmes; and
updating and refining our approach to issue and
risk identification and management.

Conduct risk/treating customers fairly

Funding Circle’s activities - We perform regular guality assurance reviews at
(or the failure to a product level, conduct monitering and testing
satisfactorily perform its periodically in regard to compliance with specific
activities) could impact regulatory requirements, and undertake regular
the delivery of fair management reporting to identify potential
customer outcomes, performance weaknesses and customer impacts

for review by senior management for oversight
through various risk committees.

+ Conduct rules training has been developed and
rolled out across the UK business.

Compliance Monitoring and Testing and

Internal Audit functions continue to test to
provide assurance that Funding Circle’s activities
and processes are designed to deliver far
customer outcomes.

*  We have a dedicated Business Support Team

incorporating our Complaints Handling Team and
a specific team focused on vulnerable customers,

Change in risk in year

-

The introduction of the FlexiPay product in
the UK will add additional complexity and
risks related to operations and performance
as the product scales. We are closely
monrioring the operational and product
performance as it scales However, further
improvement and iteration may be required
as the preduct matures.

—

Complying with applicable laws and
regulations and ensuring positive customer
outcomes continue to be fundamental
priorities for Funding Circle.

Despite the challenges cf oversight and
monitoring of emplaoyees and controls in a
hybrid environment, we do not consider this
risk to have increased
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Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from

external events,

Risk appetite Funding Circle will operate weil managed processes with relizble performance and effective controls preventing
significant and non-anticipated operational risk losses.

Key risks
Process risk

Failure to ariginate and
service loans in line with
Funding Circle internal
policies, investor
guidelines and third party
loan guarantees (e.g. the
British Business Bank
and Small Business
Administration) may
result in Funding Circle
repurchasing loans

from investors.

The risk of operational
incident could impact the
ability to originate new
loans or the ability to
service loans through
collections from
borrowers and retusn

of money to investors.

Management of risk

We actively manage process risk by:

-

comntinuing to autamate key controls;

performing robust first-line quality assurance
and secondary checks on manual processes;

monitoring and testing of key controls;
reviewing key risk indicators as part of the
Business Unit Operational Risk Committee;
reporting, reviewing and resolving

operational errors;

performing independent quality control checks
and ensuring mghlighted issues are resolved;
implementing adequate policies and procedures;
providing training and education on risk culture
and risk management; and

performing supplier due diligence and
undertaking ongeing performance monitoring
of key suppliers.

Change inrisk in year

—

We continued to actively manage process
risk with robust first {ine of defence
controls which is refiected in fewer loan
repurchases from investors, upheld
complaints and operational errors

We have robust controls in pface, as well
as independent guality checks to ensure
that all loans arniginated (unsecured and
government schemes) are compliant with
lcan eligibility requirements.

The forecasted growth in Funding Circle's
FlexiPay product potentially increases
operational rigk and there is also a higher
intrinsic risk of the product relative to
SME lcans.

In 2022, we piloted a controls library to
manage FC key controls, which we will
continue to mature as part of our internal
control environment.

we also perform external agsurance over
our internal controls with satisfactory
reports for FY 2022

- United Kingdom — PwC tested internal
controls over the loan servicing
processes of Funding Circle Lid ("FCL")
in accordance with the International
Standard on Assurance Engagements
{ISAE 3402) Control Report; and

+  United States — Grant Thornton tested
internal controls over the loan
servicing processes of Funding Circle
USA ("FCUS") in accordance with the
Service Organisations Controf
Assurance (SOC 1 Type 2) Repart.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Operational risk centinued

Key risks

Information security

Failure to protect the
confidential information
af Funding Circle's
borrowers, investors
and IT systems may
lead to financial loss,
reputational damage
and regulatory censure.

Technology risk

Failure of the technology
platform could have a
material adverse impact
on Funding Circle’s
business, results of
operations, financial
condition or prospects.

Data risk

Failure in our ability to
acquire, use, secure and
transform our data assets
could result in adverse
material impacts across
Funding Circle.

Managemeni of risk

Our Director of Information Security is

responsible for managing information security by:
identifying threats and protecting Funding Circle
client information and assets; detecting security
threats before they disrupt operations, responding
to alerts; and ensuring we have the ability 1o

recover from incidents.
Information security is a priority for Funding

Circle as a technology-driven company. As such
we maintain in-depth defence with a multi-layered
cantrol infrastructure,

Information security has a direct line of sight to
the Board via the Technology Security and Risk
Sub-Committee, Operational Risk Committee and
Executive Risk Commiittee which feed into the

Board Risk and Compliance Committee.

We have robust nsk governance structures in

place with direct aversight for technology risk 1
ensure that they are within risk appetite — Board
Risk and Compliance Committee, Executive Risk

Committee, Operational Risk Committee and

Technoiogy Security and Risk Sub-Committee.
We continue to make significant investments

in cur technology platform to ensure that the
platform is resilient and scalabie to support
business growth.

Qur data risk management framework is aligned

to the Funding Circle ERMF

Data risks are appropriately managed based on
materiality and are escalated to the Business Unit

Operational Risk Committee as appropriate,

Change in risk in year

~

in 2022, we continued o see improvements
in our informaticon security infrastructure
with a strong focus by the FCH Board.

We impraoved our incident response
preparedness by testing our triage and
reaction 1o cyber incidents at various
points during the year. Further improving
cur information security controls will
remain a key focus as the threat
environment continues to evolve.

in addition, we achieved a 2% failure rate
for phishing tests for the Company
compared to the industry global average
failure rate of 4%.

—>

Technology risk and technical resilience
continue to improve with more robust
testing capabilities in place to support
changes before production implementation.

We have also improved our technology
automation, alerting and incident response
capability to maintain a stable platform to
enable business growth, scalable products
and services,

—>

We continue to mature and embed

our data governance framewark and
organisational structure to manage data
risk including the implementation of
new taols to maintain the standards

of documentatian, clarity and integrity
of our data

Protecting our custoemer and employee
data, in particular Pl is a high priority for
Funding Circle, and we take appropriate
measures to prevent loss or breach of data.
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Operational risk continued

Key tisks
Financial crime

Risk of regulatory breach,
financial loss or
reputational damage
arising from a failure

to adequately manage

or prevent money
laundering, terrorist
financing, bribery and
corruption, aor to comply
with sanctions regulations.

Client money risk

Failure of Funding Circle
to adequately protect and
segregate client money
may lead to financial loss,
reputational damage and
regulatory censure.

Management of risk

.

Complying with the laws and regulations
designed to counter money faundering, terrorist
financing, corruption and bribery is fundamental
to Funding Circle’s operations.

The Board has adopted pclicies tc address
financial crimes that have been implemented
by Business Units through formal standards
and procedures.

We have a dedicated Financial Crime Operations
team within the first line of defence that is
advised, challenged and monitored by the
second-line Financial Crime Compliance team.

Funding Circle holds funds for retail and institutional
investors in segregated client money bank accounts
in line with the Financial Conduct Authority's CASS

regulations. We continue to manage the risk through:

a monthly CASS governance sub-committee
focused on providing oversight and challenge
regarding the effectiveness of client money
controls, making decisions in relation to client
money and reviewing management information
and reguiatery returns, as well as reviewing risks
and mitigating cantrols when introducing new
product cash flows into client money framework;

oversight from the Funding Circle Ltd Board
including an Annual Report and quarterly
management information, prepared for and
approved by the Senior Manager with
respensibility for the firm’'s compliance with
CASS, that reviews client money arrangements
and highlights key risks and steps to mitigate;

specific compliance monitoring activity,
pericdic internal audit reviews covering
governance and control over client assets; and
annual CASS external audit providing an opinion
on compliance with the CASS rules.

Change inrisk in year

—

In the UK, the introduction of the FlexiPay
product will add additional ccmplexity
and risks related to money laundering ard
fraud as the product scales. We continue
to undertake rigorous fraud, anti-money
laundering and Know Your Customer
checks as part of our processes, however,
further improvement and iteration may be
required as the product matures. We
continue to closely monitor the incidence
of fraud with this product so that we may
implement additional controls if required.

™~

In 2022, we have maintained a robust
contrel environment in relation to payment
creation, payment authorisation,
reconciliation review and monthly reporting.

The controls created for the money flows
related to trust structures needed to
participate in the UK government schemes
(CBILS, BBLS and RLS) are embedded in the
control envircnment alongside the controls
for non-government-guaranteed lending.
Funding Circle returned to commercial
lending foliowing the end of the participation
in the RLS scheme in 2022.

Funding Circle centinued to enhance its
forbearance offering for borrowers, building
the capability to process partial payments
from borrowers whose loan moved into late
status. New controls were implemented for
the late payment money flow Monitoring of
controls for partial payments from borrowers
on payment plans and in late status continued
throughout the period to ensure controls
were operating as expected and fully
embedded within the contro! environment.

The FCA's increased focus on client assets
continued during 2022 and the considerations
given to the published "Dear CEQ” letter in
2020, addressing the increased client money
halances, continued to be monitored by the
UK Board. Proactive contact continued to
be made with our retail investors to create
awareness of funds available to withdraw
and we have seen the balance held continue
to reduce throughout 2022.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Viability statement

In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”),
the Directors have assessed the future prospects and viability of

the Group for a period significantly longer than 12 months from the
approval of the financial statements.

Assessment of prospects

The Directors have determined that 2
three-year period to 31 December 2025
constitutes an appropriate period over
which ta perform the assessment as:

it 13 consistent with the Group's
medium-term planning process,
+ itrepresents a period over which
there is a reasonable degree of
confidence in the reliability and
accuracy of forecasts; and

periods beyond this point in a
high-growth business like Funding
Circle are significantly harder to
predict accurately.

The Group's overall strateqy and
business model, as sei out on pages 18
1019, and 22 to 23, are fundamental in
driving the growth of the business and
therefore its future prospects. The key
factors that are likely to affect the future
prospects of the Group, aside from
macroeconomic factors, include the
ability to:
» develop and introduce new
lending products;
grow awareness of the Funding
Circle brand in order to attract more
businesses 1G our platforms;
diversify and increase funding from a
variety of investors in order to meet
future borrower demand; ana
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continue to invest in data analytics

and technology leading to innovation,

expanded datasets, enhanced credit
models, better customer experience
and a greatier conversion rate

of applicants.

Funding Circle’s future prospects are
assessed through the Group’s strategic
planning process. The strategic
planning process involves a detailed
review of the medium-term plan by the
CEQ and CFO. This is done in
conjunction with the Global Leadership
Team, consisting of regional and
functional feaders, together with a
review and discussion by the Board.

The strategic plan starts with the
Group's 2023 annual budget which is
subject to reforecasting periodically
through the year. The budget is
extended into the second and third year
of the plan using the Greup's various
drivers and expected growth rates
experienced across the Group.

Progress against the financial budgat
and forecasts is thert reviewed each
mornth by the Global Leadership Team
and reported to, and challenged by,
the Board

Key assumptions

The key assumptions underpinning
the strategic plan (before severe but
pfausible scenarnios) include:

+ there s sufficient investor funding
in place to support projected growth
in originations,
levels of marketing spend, the
number of applcations, conversion
rates, average loan sizes and mix
of product channels which drive
onginations and loans under
rmanagement {{LuM™,

levels of repayments, prepaymenis,
defaults and recoveries which drive
maovements in LuM;

expected yields on loans originated
and service fee charges which drive
fee income;

interest income receipts and interest
expenses related to our investment
vehicles which drive net investment
income;

costs across gecgraphies with
specific fecus on fixed costs and
those that fluctuate with income
such as marketing costs;

headcount consideration across
functions and departments given
it is the Groun's largest cost;

an assumption of continued
investment in the Group's IT
infrastructure and its product set

but with the expectation of no
fundamental breakdown in the IT
infrastructure or major data 1oss, and
review in the context of indicative
market share in each geography.

Following the disruption to all SMEs
caused by various macroeconomic
events such as the warin Ukraine,
energy prices and inflation, we expect
that the economy and SMEs do recover
from the current market conditions but
not starting until in 2024,

We have not assumed further
government stimulus packages over the
medium term

Assessment of viability

The output of the medium-term plan
reflects the Directors’ best assessmeént
of the future prospects of the Group
over the next three years

As part of this assessment, the
Directors have considered and carriad
out a robust assessment of the principal



risks as sel oul on pages 59 to 9.

They have glso considered the potential
impact of the risks on the viability of the
Group with specific focus on shorter-term
liquidity needs and its availability,
including liguidity currently tied up in
investment products. The Group currently
holds £166 million of unrestricted cash
together with £97 million equity
invested in loans.

The financial plan was subject to differing
scenarios to assess those risks and
guantify the financial impact on the
Group. The Group also operates liquidity
and capital guardrails that it monitors
which are of particular importance in
the shorter term.

The scenario that represented the most
severe but plausible scenario was
modelled as described below. This
sensitivity took intc account the likely
mitigating actions to the operations
The scenario is hypothetical and severe
but designed to stress the business
model and the viability of the Group.

Severe but plausible scenario
Under a severe downturm it is
expected that:

there would be a short-term period
in year one where there would be
significantly reduced transaction
fees earned, gradually normalising
over the medium-term;

following a further severe global
downturn there would be a
significant increase in the number of
borrowers defaulting impacting LuM
and our invested capital cash flows:

the returns for investors would be
negatively affected resulting ina
withdrawal of funding; and

« this in turn would reduce the level
of originations unless higher incentives
were offered to investors to
continue funding.

A further subset of nsks, including the
reduction in trust from beoth borrowers
and investors, has also been considered
within this scenario. We considered
whether environmental stress would
materially impact the Group but
consider the existing stresses above
would be more material to the near to
medium term.

The mitigating actions that wouid be
taken by management include a
reduction in the overall marketing and
salary spend, a tightening of the credit
maodels to improve the levels of return
for investors and increased costs of
borrowing for SMEs. Our medium-term
plan assumes we continue to be the
sole equity funder of FlexiPay.

In a stressed scenarig, a further
managerment action is that we would
curtail the growth of FlexiPay and this
would reduce the level of investment
required by Funding Circle.

Links to principal risks and
uncertainties

Strategic risk
+ Creditrisk
Liquidity risk

Going concern and viability

The stress testing confirmed that the
Group's forecast net cash position
remained positive and that none of the
scenarios would threaten the viability of
the Group over the assessment period
or the Group's financial covenants and
regulatory capital requirements.

In all cases including the severe but
piausible scenaric above, with
appropriate management actions, the
scenarios were controllable to mitigate
the impact on the Group's liquidity for
the broader assessment of the
Group's viability.

The shorter term projections within the
Group's strategic plan are also used to
assess the Group's ability to operate as
a going concern. As at 31 December
2022, the Group had net assets of £284
million, together with unrestricted cash
of £166 milfion and £97 million of
invested capital, some of which could
be monetised if liquidity needs arise.

At alltimes during the assessment,

and after stress scenarios are modelled,
the Group retains sufficient

financial resources.

The Group has financial covenants with
institutional investors for servicing
agreements for which there are
unrestricted cash, tangible net worth
and debt to tangible net worth ratios.
At all times through the forecast period,
and after stress scenarios, the Group
remains within the reguired levels

Based on this assessment, the Directors
have a reasonable expectation that the
Group will be able to continue in
operation and meet its liabilities and
cbligations as they fall due over the
period to 31 December 2025 as well

as far at least the next 12-maonth period
from the date of this Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Introduction
from the Chair

I am delighted to introduce Funding Circle’s Corporate Governance
Report for the tinancial year ended 31 December 2022,

As | have written in the Strategic Report, this coming year

will not be easy given the headwinds in our core UK economy.
As a Board, we know that a key element to navigating through
uncertainty is a strong and resilient corporate governance
foundation that ensures Funding Circle is a successful,
sustainable business that benefits all our stakeholders over
the long term:.

We have refreshed our Corporate Governance Report this

year 10 explain how we have applied the principles of the UK
Corporate Governance Cade 2018 (the "Code”) and the reasons
for any non-compliance.

You will find rmore information in this report on how we have
used statute, regulation, the Code and our values to ensure we
have good governance that demonstrates the right behaviours
and culture that we wish to see throughout the organisation.
The work of all aur Committees is key to that so | encourage
you to read the Committee reports on pages 88 to 100

Our Committees do much of the heavy lifting to ensure that we
are applying high standards of corporate governance at Funding
Circle. Qur reputation, our sustainability and our impact depend on
arobust system of oversight and contrals across all areas of risk,
compliance, regulation, financial controls, people and environment
The Committees are responsible for this oversight; they report

to the Board and enable the Board to focus mare of its time on
strategic direction.

Andrew Learoyd
Chair
2 March 2023

Andrew Learoyd
Chair

“We know that a key
element to navigating
through uncertainty is
a strong and resilient
corporate governance
foundation that
ensures Funding
Circle is a successful,
sustainable business”
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board of Directors

11

1. Andrew Learoyd
Chair of the Board

®rE®b>

Term of office: Appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Directar in
February 2010 and became Charr of the Board in May 2016

Independent: On appointment.

Skills and experience: Andrew spent 23 years working ininvestment
hanking as a research analyst, in corporate finance, In equity capital
markets and finally as Chief Operating Gfficer of the Equities Division

in Europe of Galdman Sachs He retired as a Managinig Cirector of
Goldman Sachs in 2006. Andrew has heen involved as an angel investor,
Non-Executive Director and consultant to several start-up businesses,

External appointments; Andrew is alsg an independent Non-Executive
Director of Funding Circle Ltd He 1s currently a Non-Executive Director

of Threshold Sperts Limited, which creates and delivers outdoor events for
the public, corparate and charity sectors, Andrew is alsa a Director of WLG
Learmng Ltd which provides educational services for children with special
learning disabilities

3. Samir Desai CBE
Founder, Non-Executive Director

Term of office: Samir co-founded Funding Cirele in 2070 and was
previously Chief Executive Officer He transitioned to a Non-Executive
Director role in January 2022

Independent: No.

Skills and experience: Prior to founding Funding Circle, Samir was
a Management Consultant at the Boston Cansulting Group and an
tnvestmaenit Executive at Olivant, a private equity firm that invests
in financial services businesses in Europe, the Middle East and Asia
In 2015, Samir was awarded a CBE for services ta financial services.

External appointments: Samir is the CEOQ and Founder of Super Payments
Holdings and Super Payments Ltd

2. Lisa Jacobs D
Chief Executive Officer

Term of office: Lisa was appointed to the Board as Chief Executive Qfficer
on 1 January 2022,

Independent: Nat applicable

Skills and experience: Lisa joned Funding Circle in 2012 and was
previously UK Managing Director and Chief Strategy Officer Prior

ta Funding Circle, Lisa worked as a Management Consultant, both
independently and for the Boston Consulting Group, where she

had a financial services focus She has had rales In NGOs 1a

Tanzania and India.

External appointments: None
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4. Oliver White D
Chief Financial Officer

Term of office: Oliver was appainted to the Board as Chief Finanaial
Officer on 15 June 2020

Independent: Nat applicable

Skills and experience: Oliver has spent the majority of his 30 years’
experience working in financial services, payments and fending He joinad
from Vanguis Bank where he served as Chief Financial Qfficer He was
formerly the Chief Financial Officer at Barclaycard, where he managed

a global business with combined assets of £40 billion, £5 bitlion of revenues
and £1 6 billien of prafits Oliver 1$ 3 chartered management accountant
and holds an MBA from Warwick Business School

External appointments: None



&9 a

Term of office: Eric was appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive
Director in September 2016. He became Chair of the Risk and Compliance
Committee in September 2018.

5. Eric Daniels
Non-Executive Director

Independent: Yes

Skills and experience: Eric was previously Group Chief Executive Officer
of the Lloyds Banking Group, the FTSE 100 listed hanking group, retiring in
2011 Prior to joming Lloyds in 2001, he spent 25 years with Citigroup in a
range of management positions

Fric holds a Master of Science in Management fram the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology and a Bachelor of Arts in History from
Carnell University.

External appointments: Eric currently holds a range of appointrmenis
which include as a Non-Executive Director of Russell Reynolds Associates
and membership on the Advisory Board of the Smithsonian Tropical
Research Institute. He also advises on a number of private companies.

@RCND

Term of office: Geeta was appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive
Director in November 2018, She becare Chair of the Audit Committles

in Navember 2018, Geeta was appainted as Senior Independent Director in
May 2021.

Independent: Yes

Skills and experience: Geeta has over 25 years of experience of financial
services and retall banking, particularly payments and digital innovaticn
Geeta was formerly Executive Chair of Monitise Europe. Among the many
roles in her career, Geeta was Director of Payment Services with HBOS plc
and previously Managing Director, LUK Retail Bank and Business
Developrment Head EME at Citigraup. She is a chartered accountant.

External appointments: Geeta serves as Nan-Executive Director

of Virgin Money UK PLC {formerly CYBG plc) (where she is Chair of
the risk committee) and serves as a Non-Executive Director of Dechra
Pharmaceuticals Geeta s also a Trustee for the Old Vic Theatre.

6. Geeta Gopalan
Senior Independent Director

7. Hendrik Nelis
Non-Executive Director

Term of office: Hendrik was appainted to the Board as a Non-Executive
Director in September 2013.

Independent: Na.

Skills and experience: Hendrik joined Accel in 2004 and focuses on
software, fintech and consumer internet companies He led Accel's
investments in KAYAK (NASDAQ: KYAK, acquired by Priceline),
Showroomprive (EPA- SRP), Funding Circle (LON- FCH}, Callsign,
Celonis, CHECK 24, Instana, Miro and Zepz.

Hendrik started his career in Silicon Valley as an engineer at Hewlett-Packard
before founding a venture-backed software company Heis from the
Metherlands and graduated fram Harvard Business School and Delft
University of Technology.

External appointments: Hendrik serves as Manager, Partner Director and/

or Member at a number of Accel entities, as well as a Director or
supervisary board member of several other companies.

8. Neil Rimer E
Non-Executive Director

Term of office: Nell was appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive
Director In March 2011,

Independent: No.

Skills and experience: Nell is a Ca-Founder and Partner of Index Ventures
Before starting Index Yentures, he spent faur years with Montgomery
Securities in San Francisco. Nell was previously a Director of Photobox
Holdco Limited, Supercell Oy and The Climate Corporation

External appointments: Neil is currently a Director on varous boards

of companies based in the UK, Europe, the Cayman lslands and the

US including Raisin GmbH, Nexthink SA, Pitch Software GmbH, Sofia
Holdings Limited, Taxfix GmbH and Typeform S L He is also the Co-Chair
of Human Rights Watch

9. Helen Beck
Non-Executive Director

® N E

Term of office: Helen was appointed to the Board as a Nan-Executive
Director in June 2021

Independent: Yes

Skills and experience: Helen has over 25 years of expenence in

financial services, particularly in remuneration design, regulation and
human resources. Helen was formerly a Partner at Deloitte and, among her
previous roles in her career, Helen was Global Head of Reward at Standard
Bank and Head of McLagan Europe (part of Aon) and held roles in human
resources at Fidelity International

External appointments: Helen serves as Nan-Executive Director of
Ashmore Group PLC {where she is Chair of the remuneration committes),
Non-Executive Director of Irwin Mitchell, Governor of the University of
Bedrordshire and indapendent member of the remuneratian cormmmittee
for The British Olympic Asscciation,

10. Matthew King A E
Non-Executive Director

Term of office: Matthew was appointed to the Board as & Non-Executive
Director in May 2021

Independent: Yes.

Skills and experience: Matthew has over 36 years of experience in
financial services Hawving qualified as a solicitor with Slaughter and May,
Matthew held a number of risk management positions with HSBC aver

2 15-year period across Asia, Australia, the Americas and Curope.

External appointments: Matthew is also the Chair of Funding Circle Ltd's
Board Matthew is currently a Non-Executive Chair of Savannah
Resources ple, an AlM-listed mining and exploration campany.

11. Lucy Vernall @

Company Secretary, General Counsel
and Chief People Officer

Term of office: Lucy was appointed Company Secretary in July 20714,
Independent: Not applicabie

Skills and experience; Lucy is respansible for the Peaple, Legal and
Compliance functions of the business, in addition to being Company
Secretary Prior to joining Funding Circle in 20174, Lucy was one of the
founder mernbers of Kemp Little LLP, a technology focused City law
firm She was Managing Partner of the firm from 2009 until 2011,
when she became Wonga's first General Counsel

External appointments; Lucy serves on the board of the charities Bardhan
Research and Education Trust of Rotherham and The Emerson Trust.

Board Committees

A Audit Committee E [ESG Committee

D Market Disclosure
Committee

R Remuneration Committee

N Nomination Committee

RC Risk and Compliance Committee Chair

Committee
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance report

Key Board activity

Attendance and schedule of meetings for 2022/23

Our Board meetings are planned around key events in the corporate calendar which include the half-year and full-year results, the
Annual General Meeting {"AGM") and a full day strategy meeting. The Beard alsa receives a monthly management financial report.
The Chair and Non-Executive Directors have had the opportunity to have regular discussions without Executive Directors present.

The table below sets cut attendance at Board meetings in 2022 There were seven Board meetings in total held throughout 2022
which included the strategy meeting held in October. The Company Secretary attended all of the Board meetings in 2022,
Attendance for the Committee meetings can be found in each of the Committee reports on pages 88 to 100.

Director No of meetings Attendance
Andrew Learoyd W7 100%
Lisa Jacobs 7 100%
Oliver White e 100%
Eric Daniels 77 100%
Geeta Gopalan 77 100%
Hendrik Nelis 5/7 71%
Neil Rimer 6/7 86%
Helen Beck 77 100%
Matthew King 7/7 100%
Samir Desai 77 100%

There are seven scheduled Board meetings for 2023 which follow the same cadence as 2022 The Board schedule remains
flexible with additional meetings scheduled as and when required.

Matters reserved for the Board

The Board has adopted a formal schedule of matters reserved for its approval and delegated other specific responsibilities to the
Committees. Each Board Committee has written Terms of Reference which define the rale and responsibilities of the Committee
and these are reviewed, along with the schedule of matters reserved for the Board, annually to ensure they are fit for purpose. In
2022, for example, the Terms of Reference for both the Risk and Compliance Committee and the ESG Committee were updated
to further define the Committees’ responsibilities for monitoring ESG risk. The schedule of matters reserved for the Board and
the Terms of Reference for all our committees can be found here: https://corporate fundingcircle com/investors/governance.
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Our corporate governance framework

Our corporate governance framework is designed 1o provide the Funding Circle Group with a robust and resilient framework
through which it can be effectively directed and controlled. The Global Leadership Team ("GLT") provides leadership in the
day-to-day management and implements the strategy approved by the Board. It is supported by a number of executive
committees which provide consistent reporting on key areas of the business. The Beard has delegated scme responsibilities to
its Committees, more information on this can be found on pages 88 to 100. There s a flow of information bath ways between
executive committees and the GLT and the Board of directors and its Committees

Activities of the Board

Q1 2022 (January - March):
Full-year resuits announcement
+  Review of Annual Report and Accounts
- tnvestor relations update
Review of key policies
- US strategy
- Retail platform discussion
- FlexiPay

Standing agenda
items at all Board
meetings include:

+ Governance

+  Committee reports

Q2 2022 (April - June):
UK business deep dive
Corporate strategy and M&A review
Investor relations update

- ESG Committee Terms of Reference review

Risk and Compliance Committee Terms
of Reference review

+  AGM

<« CEO report including

trading updates
» Financial and

operational review

Q3 2022 {July - September):
Half-year results (including reforecast)
GLT update
FlexiPay
Contingency planning
+  EBT share purchases

Q4 2022 (October - December):
+ Strategy "off-site”

Investor refations update

Medium-term plan discussion and approval
+ 2023 budgetand plan

People update

Technalogy update

Risk and credit deep dive

2022 Board evaluation
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance report continued

The role of our Committees

vou can find all the information you need about the role and activities of our Committees including their governance,
key objectives and principal responsibilities in the respective Committee reports as follows

«  Audit Committee on page 971;
Risk and Compliance Committee on page 96;
Remuneration Committee ¢n page 100;
Nomination Committee on page 88; and
ESG Committee on page 98.

Market Disclosure Committee

In addition to aur other Committees, we alsg have a Market Disclosure Committee. The Board has delegated to this Commitiee
the responsibility for overseeing the disclosure of information by the Company to meet its obligations under the Market Abuse
Regulation, the Financial Conduct Autherity’s Listing Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules. The Market Disclosure
Committee is chaired by the Company Secretary and comprises the Chair of the Board, the Charr of the Audit Committee, the
CEO, the CFO and the CRO. The Committee has at least three scheduled meetings a year and ad-hoc meetings when required.
In 2022, the Commitiee met five times

Division of responsibilities

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board and the GLT and the responsibilities of the Chair, CEQ, and Senior
independent Directar are set out in writing, reviewed and approved by the Board annually. The responsibilities of our key roles
can be found on our website: https://corporate.fundingcircle.com/who-we-are/corporate-governance/board-responsibilities

Board decision making and section 172(1) duties

In our Strategic Report, we identify our key stakeholder groups and what they mean to us and set out our Section 172(1)
Statement (pages 44 to 46). The Directors are fully aware of their section 172 duties (and receive training on their duties on an
annual basis). In discharging these duties, the Directors have regard to the factors set out in section 172(1)(a)-{f} of the
Companies Act 2006, as well as to other factors which they consider relevant to the decision being made (for example, the views
of regulators). The Board carefully considers the Company’s purpose, mission and values together with its strategic priorities as
part of its process for decision making with an aim to ensuring that decisions are consistent. Below are some examples of how
the Directors have had regard to the matters set out in section 172(1)(a)-(f) when discharging their duties during the year.

Principal Stakeholders
decision considered Board's decision making precess
To permanently  Borrowers This year the Board made the decision to permanently close the retail platform. This was
close the Retail investors  a difficult decision but was taken following very careful censideration. The retall platform
retail platfarm Institutional had been paused for lending since April 2020 as a result, initially, of risk uncertainty and
investors with the launch of government-backed lending schemes in which retail investors were not
Shareholders permitted by the government to participate. With some majer changes within the industry
Circlers including the closure of other peer to peer lending platforms, proposed regulatory
changes and broader market dynamics the Board made the difficult decision to close the
retail platform.

whilst the Board was proud that Funding Circle had been the first platform to open up

SME loans to retall investors and had delivered strong returns, the decision to close the

platform was in the best, long-term interests of the Company and its wider stakeholders.

The consideration of stakeholders in this decision was as follows:

Re-starting or investing in the retail praduct would have required significant technolgy
resources that were already focused on delivering the borrower roadmap and investing
in new borrewer products such as FlexiPay and Marketplace.

+ Sources of funding across non-retail lenders had been significantly diversified
providing the Board with confidence that there would be sufficient liquidity to deliver
the medium term-plan and beyond without retail.

EBT share Shareholders The Board approved the Trustee of the Emplayee Benefit Trust ("EBT"} to purchase shares
purchases Circlers 30 that they held no more than 5% of the issued share capital in the Company. The Board

approved the proposal on the basis that it mitigated the dilutive impact on shareholders of
the Company’s employee share plans and was a good and efficient use of cash in ight of
the share price value providing an opportunity to satisfy existing employee equity awards
from the EBT. Shareholiders and Circlers were thus a major consideration in the raticnale
for making this decision
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Principal Stakeholders

decision considered Board's decision making process

Review of ESG Borrowers Following the successful establishment of our ESG Committee which completed its first
Committee Invesicrs full year cycle of meetings in 2021, further consideration and review of the division of roles
and Risk and Shareholders between the ESG Committee and the Risk and Compliance Committee particularly on ESG
Compliance Circlers related risk was discussed by both Committees and a recommendaticn made to the Board
Committee Government to update the Terms of Reference. Amendments to the Terms of Reference of the two
Terms of and regulators Committees were proposed to reflect changes which highlighted maore executive focus on
Reference Communities ESG matters at the ESG Committee

The Board is committed to ensuring the impact of the Company’s operations on the
community and the environment is a positive cne and the review and amendment to the
Committees’ Terms of Reference ensured each Committee’s remit covered the appropriate
scope of work. For more information on the work of the ESG Committee see page 98 and
for the Risk and Compliance Committee see page 96.

Appointment
of new GLT
members

Borrowers
Investors
Shareholders
Circlers

Greig McEwan was appointed as Chief Technology Officer, bringing a wealth of experience in
innovation and delivering superior customer experience. The Board agreed that Greig would
be the right person to support the next phase of growth, building scale and transforming

the business.

Jerome Fernandez was appointed as MD, FlexiPay, bringing financial services and fintech
experience together with broad strategic and creative thinking which the Board felt made
him the stand out candidate to help develop and scale FlexiPay as a core part of the
medium-term plan.

Steve Alloca was appointed as US MD bringing significant experience in fintech and & passion
for helping SMEs win. The Board considered him o be the stand out candidate to grow the
significant apportunity in the US market.

All appointments were made following an in-depth search process and were considered to be
in the long-term interests of the Company, taking into account custormers, suppliers,
sharehoiders and Circlers.

FlexiPay

Borrowers
Invesiors
Shareholders
Circlers and
Communities

The Board has closety monitored the development of aur FlexiPay line of credit product
which enables us to help SMEs spread costs and manage their cash flow. The Board's
decisions around FlexiPay have been made with the aim of transforming Funding Circle
intc a multi-product lending platform for SMEs that can solve more of the funding
chalienges faced by our customers and meet more of their needs. The FlexiPay journey
has required consideration of all our stakeholders but in particular our borrowers, as we
enable them to spend and pay as well borrow longer term with our term loan product; our
Circlers, who are key to the development, implementation and management of the product,
and our communities which rely on the SMEs that get their funding through us to win.

FlexiPay plays a vital role in fulfilling our purpose, mission and strategy and achieving the
strategic pillars of our medium-term plan so the decisions around how to progress and
develop this new praduct have been made with all our stakeholders in mind. For further
detail on FlexiPay, please see the New Products and Capabilities section in the Strategic
Report on page 16.

Monitoring
effects of
the external
environment

Borrowers
investors
Shareholders
Circlers
Government
and regulators
Communities

2022 has been a difficult year with market volatility and uncertainty generated by a
challenging econornic environment. The Board has closely monitored the effects of the
external environment throughout the year through regular reports cn the impact of the
decisions made in regard to the direction of the business on its customers and Circlers.
For example, ensuring a continued focus on the health and wellbeing of Circlers remained
of critical importance to the Board as the macro-environment continues to impact the
personal lives of Circlers across the Group. Supportive customer service is even more
important in challenging economic times. We have a dedicated business support team
Incarporating our complaints handling team and a specific team focused on vulnerable
customers We have also been able to serve more borrowers responsibly by introducing
a shorter term lending product in the UK specifically focused an younger businesses.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance report continued

The UK Corporate Governance Code 2018

As a premium listed company, the Company applies the principles and provisions of the UK Corperate Governance Code 2018
(the "Code"} which can be found, in full, at www.frc.org.uk. As part of this Corporate Governance Repcit, we have laid out how
the Board applies each of the principles of the Code at Funding Circle. The Board lakes seriously the need for high standards of
governance and aims to implement a robust corporate governance framework that works for the Campany, enabling it to achieve
long-term sustainable success and its wider objectives. With this in mind, the Company was compliant with all the provisions of
the Code, except for Provisions 10, 11 and 19

Provisions 10 and 19 provide that the Chair should not remain in post beyond nine years from the date of their first appointment
to the Board. Andrew Learoyd has served on the Board for more than nine years from the date of his initial appeintment in 2070
and therefare does not qualify, for the purposes of the Code, as independent. The Board has always been of the opinion, as
mentioned in previous annual reports, that Andrew’s tenure reset on (PO in 2078, Furthermore, the Directors are of the opinion
that, despite his tehure on the Board, Andrew continues to provide critical stability of leadership and support which 1s much
needed by the Company with the current macro economic environment and the delivery of the medium-term plan. The
Nomination Commitiee has commenced the search process for Andrew’s successor with & view to appointing a new Chair

by 2024/25 so that the new leadership of the Board can coincide with the development of the future strategic vision. Andrew
will cantinue as Chair until at least the end of 2024 to facilitate effective succession planning. Further detall on the Chair's
performance and tenure and successian planning can be found in the Nomination Committee Report on page 88.

Pravision 11 requires that at least half the Board, excluding the Chair, should be Non-Executive Directors whom the Board
considers to be independent. For the duration of 2022, and as mentioned in our 2021 report, the Board was not compliant

with this provision as Samir Desai transitioned to a non-executive role and Lisa Jacobs was appointed Chief Executive Officer.
As a result of these changes, anly 40% of the Board is considered by it to be independent. The Nomination Committee believes
the current composition of the Board is appropriate in the current environment and necessary to suppaort the continuity of
leadership. The existing non-independent Non-Executive Directors continue to bring significant knowledge and expertise to the
Board which is positive for both the Company and its stakeholders. With the CEO transition complete, the Nomination Committee
has turned its focus to the composition of the Board to engure that it complies with the Code as soon as reascnably poessible.
Please see the Nomination Committee Report on page 88 for additional details.

In this year's Annual Report we have explained how our purpase, values and culture are underpinned by our approach to the
application of the principles of the Code. Without a rebust corperate governance framework, we would be unable to fulfil our
mission to help SMEs win so the inextricable link between how we do business, what our stakeholders mean te us, our values
and the importance of good, strong governance is demonstrated in the fallowing pages as we explain how we have applied the
principles of the Code
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Application of the principles of the Code

Board leadership and company purpose

Principle A.

A successful company is led by an
effective and entrepreneurial board,
whose role is to promote the long-term
sustainable success of the company,
generating value for shareholders and
contributing to wider society.

Funding Circle’s purpose is to help SMEs win which is underpinned by several
values including ‘Make it Happen' and 'Live the Adventure’ which ask Circlers
to embrace the founding entrepreneurial spirit with which Funding Circle was
established. The Board embraces these values as part of its decision making
process which is always in the long-term sustainable interests of the Company
to generate value for shareholders and the wider society. The decision to pivot
from its roots as a peer to peer lending platform is one such example of the
entrepreneurial spirit of the Board.

Principle B.

The board should establish the
company's purpose, values and
strategy, and satisfy itself that these
and its culture are aligned. All directors
must act with integrity, lead by example
and promote the desired cuiture.

Information on the Company’s purpose, values and strategy are set out in the
Strategic Report on page 18 and 25.

Funding Circle is dedicated to implementing and maintaining the highest standards
of behaviour, ethics and integrity among its workforce, and to creating a culture
where adherence to these standards is recognised and rewarded. All Directors
on the Board, along with all Circlers, sign up to the FC Code of Conduct which
outlines these standards. The Code of Conduct supports our missicn and
complements cur values against which performance is appraised, providing
guidance on the conduct expected of each individual.

Principle C.

The board should ensure that the
necessary resources are in place for
the company to meet its objectives and
measure performance against them.
The board should also establish a
framework of prudent and effective
controls, which enable risk to be
assessed and managed.

The Board delegates oversight and management of risk to the Risk and Compliance
Committee which regularly reviews the ERMF. Further infarmation on the
assessment and management of risk can be found on page 55.

The Board is comfortable that sufficient resources are in place for the Company
to meet its objectives and measure performance against them. As the Company
grows and seeks to achieve its medium-term plan, the Board continues o
support the GLT with the implementation of objectives and key results {"OKRs")
across the whole business.

Principle D.

In order for the company to meet its
responsibilities to shareholders and
stakeholders, the board should ensure
effective engagement with, and
encourage participation from,

these parties.

Funding Circle has a wide and varied group of internal and external stakeholders
which the Board keeps in mind during all discussions. More information about
Funding Circle's stakehclders and our newest value, 'Obsess over the Customer’
can be found on page 25.

Our dedicated investor relations team supports the Beard with continuous
engagement with shareholders.

The Directors have full regard to their duties set out under section 172 of the
Companies Act 2006 when making decisions. Our Section 172 Statement can be
found in the Strategic Report on page 45 and detail on Board decision making can
be found on page 78.

Principle E.

The board should ensure that
workforce policies and practices are
consistent with the company’s values
and support its long-term sustainable
success. The workforce should be able
to raise any matters of concern.

Wworkforce policies and practices are regularly reviewed by the Board and
Commitiees and the Board Is satisfied that they are consistent with the
Company’s values and support its long-term sustainable success.

Helen Beck is our dedicated Non-Executive Director for the workforce providing
a vital connection between the Board and Circlers. Further information on Helen's
activities on waorkforce engagement can be found on page 99.

As part of our 'Be Open’ value, we want to ensure we foster an environment where
Circlers are encouraged and feel safe to freely raise issues of concern. We have

a dedicated whistleblowing process which provides channels for Circlers to
communicate and report issues of concern. Cur Audit Committee receives
regular whistleblowing updates. Further information can be found in the Audit
Committee Report on page 94.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance report continued

Division of responsibilities

Principle F.

The chair leads the board and is
responsible forits overali effectiveness
in directing the company. They should
demonstrate objective judgement
throughout their tenure and promote

a culture of openness and debate.

In addition, the chair facilitates
constructive board relations and

the effective contribution of all
non-executive directors, and ensures
that directors receive accurate, timely
and clear information.

The Board's annual effectiveness review asks members of the Board to rate the
guality of the Chair’s leadership and how he facilitates good challenge and déebate
in the boardroom. Andrew consistently receives high praise from fellow Board
members and continues to demonstrate effective leadership and objective
judgement, promoting a culture of openness and debate, by giving each Director
an opportunity 10 voice their opinicn

The Senior Independent Director also leads an annual review of the Chair's
performance and tenure on hehalf of the Board which concluded that Andrew
continues to provide exceptional leadership, and is effectively steering the Board
through a challenging economic environment.

Principle G.

The board should include an
appropriate combination of executive
and non-executive (and, in particular,
independent non-executive) directors,
such that no one individual or small
group of individuals dominates the
board’s decision-making.

There should be a clear division of
responsibilities between the leadership
of the beard and the executive
leadership of the company’s business.

The Board is comprised of twa Executive Directors and seven Non-Executive
Directors which provides a good balance between the Executives and Non-
Executives on the Board.

As mentioned earlier in this report, the composition of the Beard from an
independence perspective does not currently comply with the Code but the Board
is confident that the current compaosition is appropriate for the present needs of
the Company.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the executive leadership and
Board leadership. The responsibilities of our key roles can be found on our
website: https //corporate fundingcircle. com/who-we-are/corporate-governance/
board-responsibilities

Principle H.

Non-executive directors should have
sufficient time to meet their board
responsibilities. They should provide
constructive challenge, strategic
guidance, offer specialist advice

and hold management to account.

The attendance of Board members can be found on page 76 and Committee
attendance as part of the Committee reports on pages 88 to 100.

The Normination Committee will review any external appointments when
considering a new Director for the Board and when a Director wishes to take on
an external appointment, the Board will assess how much of that Director’s time
the new appointment wauld take before approving any appointment.

The Nomination Committee reviews whether Non-Executive Directors continue
to provide constructive challenge and strategic guidance, offer specialist advice
and hold management to account, when reviewing the composition of the Board.

Principle I.

The board, supported by the company
secretary, should ensure that it has the
policias, processes, information, time
and resources it needs in order to
function effectively and efficiently.

Every member of the Board has access to the Company Secretary, who provides
support and advice to the Board on all governance matters.

The Company Secretary waorks with the Chair to set the appropriate number

of Board meetings held in the year to discharge its responsibilities effectively.
The Company Secretary also ensures the Board has the appropriate information
presented and the resources it needs to function effectively and efficiently.

Policies are reviewed annually by the Board and/or its Committees as appropriate
and in the spirit of our value Think Smart’, the team regularly reviews existing
processes to ensure they are fit for purpose and suppart the smooth functioning
of the Board
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Composition, succession and evaluation

Principle J.

Appointments to the board should
be subject to a formal, rigorous
and transparent procedure, and an
effective succession plan should
be maintained for board and
senior management.

Both appointments and succession
plans should be based on merit and
objective criteria and, within this
context, should promote diversity of
gender, social and ethnic backgrounds,
cognitive and personal strengths.

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure, size and composition of the
Board, to maintain and develop a robust sucgession plan for the Board and GLT.
The Nomination Committee engages with external search agencies when
searching for candidates for the Board or the GLT.

The Company's policy is that no individual should be discriminated against on any
of the grounds of race, ethnicity, religious belief, political affiliation, gender, age,
sexual orientation, gender assignment, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy
and maternity or disability. This extends to Board appointments.

t unding Circle’s ‘Stand Together’ value cements our commitment to creating and
sustaining a diverse workforce and inclusive environment. Mare information on
our approach to diversity, equity and inclusion can be found on page 25.

Principle K.

The board and its committees
should have a combination of skills,
experience and knowledge.

Consideration should be given to
the length of service of the board
as a whole and membership
regularly refreshed.

The Nomination Committee uses a skills and experience matrix to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board and its Committees, taking into
account the skills and experience, length of service and time cammitment.

The Nomination Committee concluded in 2022 that the compaosition of the Board
included the right mix of skill, experience and knowledge, working effectively as
a diverse team to promote the iong-term success of the Company.

For further infarmation on the work ¢f the Nomination Committee please see
page 88.

Principle L.

Annual evaluation of the board should
consider its composition, diversity
and how effectively members work
together to achieve ohjectives.
Individual evaluation should
demonstrate whether each director
continues to contribute effectively.

The Board completes an annual evaluation which comprehensively evaluates
the composition of the Beard including whether the combination of skills and
experience on the Board is fit for purpose.

The evaluation also reviews how members work together to meel the objectives
set for the Board. Details of the results of the Board evaluation can be found on
page 86

Performance of each Director is evaluated as part of the succession planning

process and an evaluation of the Chair is carried out by the Senior Independent
Director, details of which can be found in the Nomination Committee Report on

page 9C.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance report continued

Audit, risk and internal contral

Principle M.

The board should establish forma! and
transparent policies and procedures to
ensure independence and effectiveness
of internal and external audit functions
and satisfy itself on the integrity of
financial and narrative statements.

The Board has formal and transparent procedures in place to ensure the
independence and effectiveness of the internal and external audit functions.

An effectiveness review of both the internal and external audit functions was
completed during the year which included an evaluation of professional integrity
and independence. Further details of the evaluations can be found in the

Audit Committee Report on page 94

The Board delegates responsibility for ensuring the integrity of the financial and
narrative staternents to the Audit Committee Further detail can be found on pages
G210 93.

Principle N.

The board should present a fair,
balanced and understandable
assessment of the company’s
position and prospects.

The Board has delegated to the Audit Commitiee responsibility for overseeing the
financial and corporate reporting and internal financial controls of the Company
and its subsidiaries. This includes reviewing the content of the Annual Report and
Accounts and advising the Board on whether, taken as a whole, it is fair, balanced
and understandable. Details of this process and the focus of the review and of the
Audit Committee's role, activities and relationship with the external auditors are
on pages 97 to 95 of the Report of the Audit Committee.

An explanation from the Directors about their responsibility for preparing
the financial staterments can also be found in the Statement of Directors’
Respaonsibilities on page 3119. The Company's external auditors explain their
responsibilities on pages 121 to 127

Principle Q.

The board should establish precedures
to manage risk, oversee the internal
control framework, and determine

the nature and extent of the principal
risks the company is willing to take

in arder ta achieve its long term
strategic objectives.

The Board retains ultimate responsibifity for the Group’s systems of internal
control and risk management but has delegated in-depth monitoring of the
establishment and operation of prudent and effective controls in order to assess
and manage risks associated with the Group's operations to the Risk and
Compliance and Audit Committees. The Risk and Compliance Committee also
monitars compliance with the ERMF. More information on the ERMF is pravided
on page 58.

Members of the GLT are responsible for the application of the ERMF, for implementing
and monitoring the operation of the systems of internal control and for providing
assurance to the Board and its relevant Committees.

The Internal Audit function provides independent and objective assessment on
the robustness of the ERMF and the appropriateness and effectiveness of internal
controls to the Board and its refevant Committees. Maore information on the
Internal Audit function is set out in the Audit Committee Report on page 93
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Remuneration

Principle P.

Remuneration policies and practices
should be designed to support strategy
and promote long-term sustainable
success. Executive remuneration
should be aligned to company purpose
and values, and be clearly linked to the
successful delivery of the company’s
long-term strategy.

Our Remuneration Policy applies to the roles of Chair, Executive Directors and
Non-Executive Directors and was designed to support strategy and premote the
long-term sustainable success of the Company. The policy was approved at the
2027 AGM, and will apply for a maximum of three years. A full version of the
Remuneration Policy can be found in the 2020 Annual Report and Accounts
available on our website at’ hitps://corporate. fundingcircle.comy/investors/
results-reports-presentations.

Further information an cur remuneration policies and practices can be found in
the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 102 and in the 2021 Directors’ Report
on Remuneration on page 106 explaining how the remuneration is aligned to our
values, culture and strategy.

Principle Q.

A formal and transparent procedure
for develaping policy on executive
remuneration and determining director
and senior management remuneration
should be established. No director
should be involved in deciding their
own remuneration gutcome.

The Board has delegated its responsibility to the Remuneration Committee for
setting the remuneration for the Executive Directors, the Chair and those on the
GLT. No individual is present in the meeting, or segment of the meeting, that
discusses their remuneration. Please see the Directors Remuneration Report
on page 104 for more detail.

Principle R.

Directors should exercise independent
judgement and discretion when
authorising remuneration outcomes,
taking account of company and
individual performance, and

wider circumstances.

The Board has delegated the responsibility for recommending remuneration
outcomes to the Remuneration Committee. All decisions relating to remuneration
outcomes take account of Company and individual performance as well as wider
circumstances such as ESG targets and initiatives. Details of how the Remuneration
Committee exercised its discretion in the year can be found in the Directors’
Rernuneration Report on page 100
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Corporate governance report continued

Board effectiveness performance evaluation

The Board takes 1ts continuous improvernent and development very seriously and, at the end of 2022, conducted an internal
effectiveness review which built on the evaluation that was carried out in 2021, The questionnaire from 2021 was refreshed to
ensure the questions were relevant to 2022 and distributed to all Directors on the Board and the Company Secretary. The core
topics covered by the guestionnatre from 2021 were maintained so that the outcomes could be clearly tracked against the 2021
results. As the neutral party, the Company Secretarial team oversaw the process of collecting responses and analysing and
presenting the outcomes. Effectiveness reviews for the Committees of the Board were aiso conducted and details of these
evaluations are provided in the Committee reports as follows: Nomination Committee on page 90, Remuneration Committee
on page 104, Audit Committee on page 95, ESG Committee on page 99 and Risk and Compliance Committee on page 97.

In compliance with the Code, the evaluation asked respondents to consider the Board's composition and diversity and how
effectively members of the Board work together to achieve objectives. Qverall, the questionnaire was developed to comprise eight
sections. A summary of the question content covered by each section and the outcomes agreed by the Board can be found below:

Section 1 - The past 12 months

This section required respondents 1o provide comments regarding the Board's learning from the past 12 months and to
reflect on how the Beard could use the experience of the past 12 months to Improve effectivengss.

Section 2 - Leadership and purpose

The guestions in this section asked respondents to evaluate how the Board complies with statutory obligations in regard to
section 172 of the Companias Act 2006, the effectiveness of the existing combination of Executive and Non-Executive Directors,
the effectiveness of the Chair's leadership, the commitment of Board members to their roles and challenge in the boardroom.

Section 3 - Division of responsibility and composition

This section asked respondents to assess the composition of the Board in relation to whether it reflects sufficient diversity
of gender, social and ethnic backgrounds and cognitive and persanal strengths. The combination of skills, experience and
knowledge of Board members was also evaluated.

Section 4 - Meeting process

Questions addressed the quality and timeliness of information received by the Board, the appropriateness of the length
of Board meetings to discuss substantive matters and the quality of debate and the effectiveness of existing processes
to Inform the Board of material matters between meetings.

Section 5 - Board behaviours

Respondents were asked to evaluate boardroom behaviours which included rating the extent to which the Board embodies the
purpose, vision, values and desired culture of Funding Circle and whether individual Board members arrive prepared for meetings.

Section 6 — Board development and support

This section reviewed the quality of support provided by the Company Secretary and the quality of reporting from
Committees up 1o the Board. Non-Executive Directors were also asked to evaluate the support and training opportunities
provided to them and whether this was sufficient for them to carry out their roles.

Section 7 - Risk and controls

Questions intentionally addressed the requirement of Principle O of the Code and asked Board members to evaluate the
appropriateness of the Beard's focus on risk and risk management, the framework of controls used by the Board to assess
and manage risk and the Board's strategy far dealing with and reporting on principal and emerging risks.

Section 8 — Stakeholders and culture

This section evaluated the extent to which the Board understood the views of the Company’s stakeholders, the consideration
of ESG issues, workforce policies and practice and whether the Company’s mission, values and strategy were aligned with the
Company's culture.
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Outcomes

Ratings were good across all sections of the evaluation but there was some slight variation in scores since 2021 with some
arcas scoring lower and some areas improving on the score Lhey had achieved the previous year The evaluation outcomes were
discussed at length by the Board. The Board was confident that the outcomes demonstrated that, overall, it continued to wark
effectively. The evaluation highlighted that performance was particularly strong in the following areas: oversight of risk management,
stakeholder engagement and stakeholder considerations in Board decision making, alignment of the Group's missicn, values
and strategy with wider Funding Circle culture and effective communication between the GLT and the Board. As part of the 2021
evaluation outcomes, the Board committed to identifying actions that it could take 1o improve engagement with all stakeholders
and the Directors were pleased that the scares in this area had improved in 2022.

Some of the areas identified for improvement which the Board has committed to address in 2023, include but are nat limited 1o
the fallowing.

- Reducing the length of Board papers including simglification of the presentation of data to pramote higher quality discussions.

- Agreeing in advance an expected agenda for the 2023 Board meetings (in addition t¢ ad hoc meeting agenda items), which
ensures a deep dive review of essential areas of our business, including technology, products, people and customers.

+ Scheduling time on the agenda for the warkfarce engagement Non-Executive Director to provide mare substantial updates on
their work with Circlers. Whilst the Board's work engaging with all stakeholders has improved, it could be elevated even further
by bringing the voice of Circlers more prominently into the boardroom.

Establishing an effective way of managing the Board’s annual agenda plan by scheduling shorter, mare focused Board
meelings for approval of half year and full year rasults and longer meetings for in-depth reviews of the key elements of our
business model and strategic direction.

+ Improve the tracking and reporting on a range of agreed KPls and milestanes by better building this into Board papers on at
least a quarterly basis so that the Board has a range of metrics and a timetable of delivery for monitoring of management’s
delivery of the agreed medium-term plan and strategic direction.

External evaluation

The Board discussed the value of an externally facilitated evaluation at length including the recommendation in Provision 21 of
the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 and the value of an external evaluation from the perspective of stakeholders. The Board
decided that it was not needed at this time as the internal evaluation was rigorous with full engagement and candid responses
from Board members. Areas of improvement were identified which the Board was fully committed to working on in 2023,
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Report of the
Nomination Committee

Members and attendance

Member Meetings  Attendance
Andrew

Learoyd (Chair) 2/2 100%
Geeta Gopalan 2/2 100%
Helen Beck 272 100%

Introduction from the Chair

On behalf of the Board, | am

pleased to present the Nomination
Committee's Report for the year ended
371 December 2022.

The Committee met twice in 2022
which enabled us to cover all our duties
and responsibilities. With several new
appointments to the Global Leadership
Team, the Committee has focused
particularly on succession planning
inrelation ta the executive leadership
needs of the Company as well as
succession planning for my role as
Chair of the Board.

In this report, we have provided
information on the activities of the
Committee in 2022 as well as the
Committee's work on Board cornpasition,
succession planning, diversity and
evaluation. Where we have diverted
fram the UK Corporate Governance
Code 2018, we have provided a clear
explanation as to why this Is the best
approach for Funding Circle at this time.

The Committee’s role and key
responsibilities are clearly defined in sts
Terms of Reference which can be found
on our website at corporate.fundingeircle.
com/who-we-are/corporate-governance/
board-committees/.
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2022 Nomination Committee activity
February
Committee Terms of Reference review

+ Succession planning for the Board
and Committees

+  Director conflicts and NED time
commitment review

GLT succession planning
Recommendation for Director
re-election at AGM

+ Culture and Diversity, Equity and
Inclusion ("DEI") update

June

Update and discussion on GLT
changes proposed and agreed

Sucecession planning for the Board
and Committees

Board composition including review
of proxy adviser comments post-AGM

Key activities for 2023
Drive forward the process of
succession planning for the Chair of
the Board and begin the process of
succession planning for the recently
appointed members of the Global
Leadership Team

+ Continue to assess and evaluate the
composition of the Board including
consideration of whether the
tenure, independence and diversity
of the Board meets the needs of
the Company

Andrew Learoyd
Chair

Board composition

In reviewing the composition of the Board,
and as part of its role in succession
planning, the Committee is mindful of
the importance of ensuring the Board's
diversity in the broadest sense which
includes taking into account merit and
objective criteria as well as promoting
diversity of gender, social and ethnic
backgrounds, cognitive and personal
strengths. With this in mind, the Board
cansiders the guidance published by the
Parker Review on ethnic diversity in the
boardroom, the FTSE Women Leaders
Review (formerly the Hampton-Alexander
Review) on gender divergity in the
boardroom and the requirements of the
Code in relation to compaosition and
succession of the Board. The Board is
pleased that it exceeds the target of the
Parker Review on ethnic diversity and
applies all the Principles of the Code.
Furthermore, in response to the new
recommendations published by the
FTSE Women Leaders Review in
February 2022, the Board is delighted
that it meets the recommendation to
have at least one woman in the Chair

or Senior Independent Director {"SID")
role and/or one woman in the Chief
Executive or Finance Director role with
Geeta Gopalan holding our SID role

and Lisa Jacobs holding the CEQ role
respectively. For further details relating
to gender diversity on the Board and
more widely at Funding Circle please
see page 25 of the Strategic Repaort.



Group diversity statistics

DEI 15 a priority at Funding Circle which
extends across the Company at all
levels to ensure all individuals feel
represented, treated fairly with eguality
of opportunity and included. DEl is a key
component part of our ESG framework
whigh is overseen by our ESG Commitiee
which warks closely with the Nomination
Committee 1o support and oversee the
implementation of diversity goals across
the Group including at Board level.
Further information on DEl can be found
throughout this report including in the
Strategic Report on page 25 and in the
ESG Committee Report on page 99.

Diversity statistics for the Funding Circle
Group can be found in the Strategic
Report on page 25. The Committee
received an extensive update on the
Company's DEl approach and initiatives
this year. The Nomination Committee
recognises that there is still work to be
done at a senior leadership level and
discussed extensively the work being
done to improve diversity at recruitment
by the People team (see page 25) as
well as continue to embed a female
empowerment programme and
emerging leaders programme to
provide support to the talent coming
through the Company.

Skills and experience

The Nomination Committee maintains
a skills and experience matrix which
helps to review the current skills and
experience of the Board and identify
any gaps that may need filling.

The skills and experience of the directors
on the Board were evaluated as part

of the annual effectiveness review and

it was determined that the Board, as

it currently stands, has the right mix

of skills and experience amongst its
Directors The Committee recognises
that, as the business continues to evolve,
there may be a need for additional skilis
and expertise on the Board which it will
review on an ongoing basis and may be
met through recruitment of additional
Non-Executive Directors or consultation
with external advisers

Succession planning
Board succession

There have been no changes to our
Board since the Annual General Meeting
in 2022 where the sharehclders approved
Lisa Jacobs election as Director of the
Board following her appcintment as
Chief Executive Officer by the Board
on 1 January 2022. Samir Desai was
re-elected by the shareholders as

a Director but transitioned to a
non-independent non-executive rola
on 1 January 2022. Whilst the changes
that took place on the Board affected
the independence of the Beard, the
Committee has discussed in depth the
composition of the Board in respect

of independence and tenure and will
continue to do so in 2023 (please see
the Corporate Governance Report on
page 80 which explains why we do not
comply with Provision 11 of the Code).
The Committee believes that the
current compaosition of the Board is
appropriate to provide consistency

and support to the management team
which saw a number of changes in
2022 and considers that the Board
offers significant knowledge and
expertise which is positive for the
Company and its stakeholders.

Appointment

As mentioned above, there have been
no further appointments to the Board
since those disclosed in our 2021
Annual Report and Accounts, When it

is identified that the Board requires
additional Directors, the Committee
ieads a formal, rigorous and transparent
process for appeintments. The Committee
is responsible for preparing the role
description which includes defining the
specific skills required and expected
time commitment of the role. The
Committee may engage the services of
external advisers to facilitate the search
for a candidate and always insists on

a diverse pool of candidates for review.
The Committee follows a clear process
for meeting with short-listed candidates
for both Non-Executive and Executive
Director roles and decides whether a
candidate may be recommended 1o the
Board for appointment.

Induction

Director induction programmes to the
Funding Circle Board are facilitated by
the Company Secretarial team and
overseen by the Nomination Committee.
They are designed to provide Directors
with a mixture of written material
(through a dedicated Board portal) and
face to face interaction with key Circlers.
The Committee, with the support of
the Company Secretary, consigers the
development areas and training needs
of Directors that are relevant to the
business, including those that arise

out of the year-end evaluations.

Senior management succession

Part of the Committee’s responsibilities
include making recommendations to
the Board for orderly succession for
appointments to senior management
and keeping the executive leadership
needs of the Company and its Group
under review, with a view to ensuring
they continue to compete effectively in
the marketplace. The Committee has
been busy this year evolving succession
planning for seniar leadership roles due
to a number of new appointments on
the GLT including the appomtment of a
new Chief Technology Officer, Managing
Director of FlexiPay and Managing
Director of the US business.

Annual Report and Accounts 2022 89

140434 D1931YH1S

JONVNHIAOD ILVHOLHOD

SINIWILVLS TVIONVYNI4



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Nomination Committee continued

Chair performance and tenure
“The Committee is conscious that
there is non-compliance with
Provision 19 of the Code which
provides that the Chair should
not remain in post beyond nine
years from the date of their
first appointment to the Board.
An explanation as to why the
Board does not currently comply
with this Provision of the Code
can be found in the Corporate
Governance Report on page 80.

The matter of Andrew’s tenure on
the Board was discussed at length
by the Committee and, with
several executive management
changes in 2022, the Cormnmittee
and the Board unanimously agree
that Andrew continues to provide
critical stability of leadership and
support. The Committee has
commenced the search process
for Andrew’s successor with

the appointment of an external
adviser and plans to appoint a
new Chair in the next two years,
The Committee intends to have a
smooth transition between Chair
roles to ensure the right level of
support and stability of leadership
is maintained throughout.”

Geeta Gopalan
Senior Independent Director

90 Funding Circle Holdings plc

Group Board evaluation outcomes
Full details about the methodology
and outcomes of the internal Board
effectiveness performance evaluation
can be found on page 86 The following
recommendations for the Nomination
Committee arose as part of the
outcomes of the evaluation:

+  The Nomination Committee should
continue to review the composition
of the Board and its successicn
planning in particular the balance of
independent and non-independent
Directors to reflect the requirements
of the Code

»  The Nomination Committee should
review the skills, experience and
knowledge on the Board including
whether 1t would be useful to have
Directors with more technology
experience or whether individuals
should be invited to present to the
Baard from an advisary perspective
on specific topics where a subject
matter expert may be beneficial to
the decision making process

Nomination Committee effectiveness
performance evaluation

The Company Secretarial team
facilitated an effectiveness review of the
Nomination Committee at the end of
2022 A comprehensive guestionnaire
was distributed to all the Committee
members covering the following topics
constitution, composition and set-up;
process including support from the
Company Secretary and external
consultants; work of the Committee
including rigour of the process of Board
appointments, succession planning

for the Baard and senior management,
and composition of the Board and the
Committee’s role n setting and meeting
diversity objectives Allmembers of
the Committee responded to the
guestionnaire and engaged with the
evaluation process.

Conclusion and recommendations

Overall, scores were good across all
elements of the questicnnaire but
particular strengths highlighted were
as follows:

The Committee 1s well constituted
with clear Terms of Reference

Committee members participate
fully and effectively at meetings and
are well prepared.

- Papers are of high quality and
circulated in plenty of time with
good support from the Company
Secretanal team

The Committee members have
the right mix of experiences,
competencies and professional
backgrounds to carry out the
Committee's work effectively

The evaluation highlighted some areas
for development and actions geing
forward into 2023 which included,

but were not limited to, the following:

The Committee needs to spend
further time reviewing the length
of service of Board members and
establish a clear plan for rotating
Directors off the Board

Committee members should spend
some time in 2023 meeting with
direct reports of the GLT.

A proactive plan for the Chair's
succession should be further
developed and carried forward in 2023.

Re-election

The position of each Board member
was closely reviewed during the year as
part of the consideration of succession
arrangements and the Board and
Committee evaluation precess. The
Committee I1s satisfied that there 1s a
good balance of skills and experience
on the Board to support the Company's
future development and, accordingly,
recommended to the Board that each
Director stand fer election at the
forthcoming AGM.

Andrew Learoyd
Chair of the Nomination Committee
2 March 2023



Report of the
Audit Committee

Members and attendance

Member Meetings  Attendance

Geeta Gopalan

{Chair) 4/4 100%
Eric Daniels 4/4 100%
Matthew King 4/4 100%

On behaif of the Board, | am pleased
to present the Report of the Audit
Committee for the year ended

31 December 2022.

20272 was a time of change and
progression in the role of the Audit
Commiittee, as it adjusted to increasing
demands for assurance within both
financial and non-financial reporting.
The Committee remains satisfied that
the Company hag appropriate controls,
systems and processes in place and
continues to be managed well through an
evolving macro economic environment.

The Committee met four times
completing & wide scope of activity
inciuding, but not limited to the following:

Key highlights 2022

-+ Reviewing the integrity of the
half-year and full-year financial
statements, ensuring they were fair,
balanced and understandable,
considering significant accounting

Judgerments, estimates and disclosures,

the impact of the macro economic
environment and the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern,
together with its viability disclosures.

Challenging, monitoring and evaluating
the Company from an internal and
external audit perspective.

+ Receiving regular whistleblowing
updates, and continuing to review
arrangements avallable to Circlers
to raise concerns

Monitoring the outcome of the BEIS
consultation on ‘Audit and Financial
Reporting Governance' reform and
the implementation of any required
changes to the Group’s practices
and reporting.

Completing in-depth evaluations on
the effectiveness of the Internal Audit
team and external auditors as well

as the Committee itself.

Recommending to the Board the
approval of external auditors’ fees.

2023 priorities

+ Continue to assess accounting
judgements and estimates,
particularly in relation to valuations
of loans which are heavily impacted
by the macro economic environment.

+ Continue to review the Group’s
internal financial controls and
nternal control systems to ensure
they continue to develop in line with
the Group's business.

Continue to monitor and oversee
the performance and independence
of bath Internal and External

Audit teams.

Committee composition, skills
and experience

The membership of the Committee
complies with Pravision 24 of the Code
requiring a minimum membership of
two independent Non-Executive Directors
not including the Chair of the Board.
For more information on the roles and
responsibilities of the Committee,
please see ocur Terms of Reference at
https://corporate. fundingcircle.com/
who-we-are/corporate-governance/
board-commitiees.

All members of the Committee

have relevant financial experience
across banking and financial services,
demonstrating competency relevant to the
sector in which Funding Circle operates.

Geeta Gopalan
Chair of the Audit Committee

We build into every Committee agenda

the opportunity for Committee members

to privately discuss matters with the
external and internal auditors, who
attended all our meetings in 2022,
without management present.

As Funding Circle Ltd ("FCL) Is
authorised and regulated by the
Financial Conduct Authority, it has its
own Audit Committee, chaired by the
Chair of the FCL Board, Matthew King.
The FCL Audit Committee meets at
the same time as the Committee and
Matthew King attends in his capacity
as both member of the Committee
and Chair of the FCL Audit Committee.

The following report details the
Committee’s activities throughout
the year.
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Report of the Audit Committee continued

Significant issues considered in relation to the financial statements

The Committee assessed the quality and appropriateness of, and adherence to, the Group’s accounting policies and principles.
It reviewed whether the accounting estimates and judgements made by management were appropriate. The significant issues
and accounting judgements congidered by the Committee in respect of the half year ended 30 June 2022 and year ended

31 December 2022 are set cut below.

Reporting issue Audit Committee action

Going concern and viability The Committee reviewed reparts from management that set out its
The periad over which the Directors have determined  View on both the shorterterm geing concern and longer-term viability
the viability assessment is three years While the of the Group. These included:

impact of Covid-19 on the macro economic environment . peyiewing the Group's principal risks as set out on pages 59 1o 69,
has receded over the year, inflationary pressures and

supply chain disruption have emerged, exacerbated by
the events in Ukraine and the uncertainty that these
have created.

Assessing and reviewing the adherence to the risk appetite set by the
Risk and Compliance Commmittee to track the Group's capital, liquidity
and exposures of its funding products;

Reviewing the Group's short and medium-term plan, its cash, capital
and liquidity;

Reviewing the outcomes of stress testing after applying a severe

but plausible scenario aligned to the principal risks ; and

Reviewing the risk, going concern and viability disclosures for clarity
on scenarios, uncertainties, sensitivities and management actions
considering macroecanomic risks in particular.

Having challenged and considered the outcomes of management’s
assessment, the Committee recommended the Viability Statement

to the Board for approval and considered that related disclosures were
sufficiently clear and transparent.

Vaiuation of financial instruments The Committee received and reviewed the assumptions and
The Group holds financial Instruments at fair value on ~ methodologies used to velue the financial instruments together
its balance sheet. These instruments are valued using ~ with the Jevel of sensitivity to those assumptions

valuation estimation techniques including discounting  the commitiee also considered the views of the external auditors on

cash flow analysis and valuation models These values e yajuation approach and the assumptions, including benchmarking

are sensitive to the assumptions underpinning the the assumptions with the external suditors’ valuations team. The

cash flows leading to increased estimation uncertainty.  commitiee considered the disclosures within the Annual Report and
after due challenge concluded that the valuations were reasonable
and the disclosures were appropriate.

Carrying value of investments in the Parent Company The Committee reviewed papers from management during the year

The Group evaluated the carrying values of the which set cut the key assumptions underpinning the impairment
investments in subsidiaries held in the Parent reversal assessment and the sensitivity to those assumptions, the
Company for indicators of impairment. financial projections of which were based on the medium-term plan

_ ) presented to the Board as part of the 2022 budget process.
In 2020, following a strategic reset of the US business,
along with an update to the Group's income and cost 1 he Group’s external auditors provided their view of the assessment

forecasts, the underlying projected cash flows of the to the Committee, including their challenge of the discount rates and
US business cash-generating unit were insufficient to  management’s medium-term plan assumptions.

cover the carrying value of the Parent Company's After due challenge and discussicn, the Committee was comfortable that
investment in the US and it was significantly impaired. e remained suficient levels of certainty over the projected cash flows
Following the restructuring, the cash flow forecasts to partially reverse the impairment in relation to the US business and that
of the US business have improved and transfer pricing the remaining carrying value of investments in the Parent Company
arrangements have been implemented that provide accounts were supportable

additional certainty to the performance of the US
business. The Parent Company’s iInvestment in the
US business was assessed and a decision to partially
reverse the impairment was made
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Reporting issue Audit Committee action
Fair, balanced and understandable reporting and At the request of the Board, the Committee has assessed the
Alternative Performance Measures (APMs) information contaied within the Annual Report. This assessment

included discussicns with management on the underlying financial
processes, and confirmation from the management team of their
review of the Annual Report being fair balanced and understandable.

The Board is reguired to report as to whether the
contents of the 2022 Annual Report and Accounts,
when taken as a whole, is fair, balanced

and understandable. The Group uses APMs in its The Committee also discussed the contenis of the Annual Report
reporting of adjusted EBITDA for the Group. These with the external auditors.

Measures are Used to provide insight into the In addition, the Committee alsc considered the use of various APMs
underlying performance of the business. They also and olher measures Used by the Group and agreed that these supported
provide a close approximation ta cash generation the understanding of the financial performance cf the Group and
which is key 10 the business. These measures are facilitated a better understanding of the business. The Committee was
defined within the segmental ntormation note on satisfied that there was sufficient disclosures of the same with the
page 147 and an page 190. appropriate halance and reconciliation between these and statutory

measures in the accounts.

Having considered all of the available information including previously
published information about the business and press releases through
the year the Committee has concluded that, in its judgement, the 2022
Annual Report and Accounts, when taken as a whole, is fair, balanced
and understandable.

Internal controls

Throughout the year the Committee has monitored and reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's internal
controls, by receiving reqular reparts from management, Internal Audit and External Audit on matters in relation to control
effectiveness, manitoring and testing, discussing and challenging the same.

The Committee receives updates on the findings of Internal Audit's investigations at each meeting.
Internal audit

The internal audit team continued to enhance its capabilities during the year and successfully completed an ambitious audit

plan. Throughout the year, the plan was regularly assessed to ensure it remained focused on the Group's key risks and priorities,

All proposed audit plan adjustments were reviewed, challenged and approved by the Committee. Areas reviewed by the Internal
Audit team during 2022 included:
Business resilience;
+ Enterprise Rigk Management Framework review and maturity assessment;
UK and US AML framewarks;
Oversight of outsourced US loan servicer; and
Pragress of the implementation of the ESG framework.
The internal audit plan for 2023 was approved by the Committee in December 2022 and aligns to areas of highest inherent risk
and continued strategic, operational and regulatary focus, including:
«  Credit strategy, model bulld, test and ongoing validation;
+  Technclogy function;
+  FlexiPay aperational scaling and control;
- Cyber security; and
+  Procurement and supplier management.
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Report of the Audit Committee continued

Internal Audit effectiveness review

An effecliveness review was conducted
by the Commiitee to evaluate the
perfarmance of the Internal Audit team
using the same questionnaire as the
previous year so that the results could
be compared and contrasted with the
prior results.

The review evaluated the overall
effectiveness of the internal Audit team
including: understanding of the business,
governance processes, risk envircnment
and internal control framework; quality
of reporting; interaction with the
Committee and other areas of the
business; support of strategic priorities;
and independence and objectivity.

The outcormes of the evaluation overall
were very good with high scores
demonstrating that the Internal Audit
team remained independent, abjective
and effective, with sufficient resources
available tG provide the necessary
assurance across the Group. There
were a small number of areas
highlighted for further enhancement
that will be appropriately progressed
during 2023.

External auditors*

External auditors: PwC
Length of tenure. 8 years
(appointed

in2015)

Lead audit partner: Nick Morrison

Lead audit partner tenure: 4 years
Total audit fees payable to
auditors in the year: £804,800

*  This datals cor-ect as at 2 Mach 2023

External auditors
effectiveness review

The annual effectiveness review
comprised of a questicnnaire designed
to evaluate the knowledge and skilis of
the External Audit team, the accessibility
of the lead audit partner; independence
and objectivity; openness, integrity and
professionalism; the quality of reporting;
the audit plan; communication between
external auditors and the Commiittee
and constryctive challenge

94 Funding Circle Holdings plc

Surnmary recommendations were
made and discussed by the Committee
which included, but were not limited to,
the following:

Continuously review the audit plan
throughout the year to maintain
flexibility and consider emerging
areas that may need focus; and

Assess the balance between reliance
on management and internal audit
testing and more substantive testing
by the External Audit team.

The Committee recommends that PwC
be reappointed as the Company’s
external auditors for the financial year
ending 31 December 2023. A resolution
recommending the appointment of PwC
as external auditors of the Campany will
be put to shareholders at the Company's
AGM In May 2023. The external audit
contract will be put out to tender at least
every ten years post-IPO in accordance
with the Competition and Markets
Authority order and EU legislation.

The Committee confirms that the Group
is in compliance with The Statutory
Audit Services for Large Companies
Market [nvestigation (Mandatory Use

of Competitive Tender Processes and
Audit Committee Responsibilities)
Qrder 2014

Non-audit services

The engagement of the external audit
firm to provide non-audit services to the
Group can impact on the independence
assessment and the Company has,
therefore, adopted a policy which
requires Committee approval for
non-audit services. This policy is in line
with PwC's internal policies and the
FRC's Revised Fthical Standard, and
gives me, as Chair of the Committee,
delegated authority from the Committee
to approve Individual non-audit services
itermns of up to £50,000 per service.

All fees paid to PwC for non-audit
services have been approved

{in accordance with the non-audit
services policy), with a summary of
all non-audit services being provided
at each Committee meeting.

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
PwC were engaged to provide non-audit
services relating to the following.

Description £000
Interim review of half-year

results announcement 1161
CASS reporting 1327
ISAE 3402

controls assurance 136 3
Qther 29
Total 388.0

The Audit Committee concluded that it
was in the best interests of the Group to
purchase these services from PwC on
the basis that they were independent
and were considered 1o be the right
provider for the services required

{or, in some cases, they were required to
be performed by the external auditors).

Pw( are prohibited from providing
certain non-audit services to safeguard
auditor ohjectivity and independence,
including but not limited to internal
audit work, valuations work and
tax-related work

Audit fees payable to PwC for
the year ended 31 December 2022
were £804,800.

PwC have confirmed to the Committee
that they remained independent during
the year,

Whistleblowing

The Company takes whistleblowing
very seriously and wants all employees
to feel able to raise concerns when they
arise. This1s emphasised in the Code

of Conduct for all employees which is
reviewed annually. The Committee
reviewed the adequacy and security of
the Group’s whistleblowing arrangements
which included additicnal signposts to
Circlers highlighting the importance

of speaking up and speaking cut and
receved regular whistleblowing updates
providing reports to the Board

where appropriate.

The whistleblowing process is well
advertised to all employees, whao are
made aware of the importance of it
There was cne potential whistleblowing
incident that was investigated in 2022
and it was concluded that there were
no areas of regulatory violation that
required reporting.



As part of the Committee’'s commitment
to ensuring the whistleblowing process
and handling of potential incidents are
of the highest standards, the Committee
plans tc complete a deep dive as part

of its 2023 agenda.

Committee effectiveness

The Committee completed an
effectiveness review for 2022 using
the same questionnaire as the previous
year so that the cutcomes could be
compared and contrasted 1o track
progress made and identify any gaps
that required further improvement,

The guestionnaire addressed the
composition and set-up of the Committee,
the timeliness and quality of the papers,
the work of the Committee and whether
it sufficiently reviews and challenges
the activities and findings of the internal
and external auditors. The questionnaire
also assessed whether the Committee
sufficiently safeguarded auditor
independence and objectivity.

Overall, the results of the evaluation
were positive with the Committee
agreeing that the compaosition and
set-up of the Committee and meetings
were satisfactory and there was good
support from the Company Secretarial
tearr. The Committee agreed that,
amongst cther things, it would give
further focus te resilience and
contingency planning in 2023.

Geeta Gopalan
Chair of the Audit Committee
? March 2023
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Report of the Risk and

Compliance Committee

Members and attendance

Member Meetings  Attendance
Eric Daniels

(Chain) 3/3 100%
Geeta Gopalan 3/3 100%
Helen Beck

(appointed

8 March 2022) 2/2 100%
Hendrik Nelis

(resigned

8 March 2022) 1/1 100%

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased
to present the Report of the Risk and
Compliance Committee for the year
ended 37 December 2022,

The Committee met three times in 2022
to carry out its rele of monitoring and
reviewing risk for the Group inciuding
the nature and extent of principal and
emerging risks against an uncertain
macro envirenment. In addition to
formal meetings, the Committee also
received regular reports and updates on
averall credit performance and FlexiPay
credit performance. For in-depth
information relating to the Group’s
approach to risk and identification of
principal and emerging risks for 2022,
please refer to the Strategic Report on
pages 55 to 69.
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The unpredictability of the macro
environment in 2022, which wili
continue into 2023, posed many
chailenges for us The Committee's
work was varied and included, but was
not limited te, the following:

- Overseeing a more prudent
approach to originatians, particularly
in the UK, and agreeing to changes
in credit strategy to enahle fast and
effective change in an increasingly
volatile environment.

+  Receiving regular updates and
closely manitoring the external
environment to look ahead at
indicators of major change and
assessing risk in relation to inflation
and rising interest rates, including
the impact of inflation on SMEs.

« Undertaking a review and update to
the ERMF to reflect a change in the
way ESG risk is monitored which
included a review of the Terms of
Reference of the Committee to
ensure that the roles of this Committee
and the ESG Committee are clearin
relation to ESG risk.

Applying scrutiny to information
security and technology risk, ensuring
vuinerabilities were flagged and
prioritised accordingly.

- Focusing on people risk with a
robust discussion on the proactive
steps being taken to mitigate
attrition. This included recognising
talent that was critical to Funding
Circie’s success and supporting
Circlers taking into account inflation
and the higher cost of living

Receiving an update from the
Collections and Recoveries team in
November, which took intc account
the current macro environment
and what it meant to our borrowers
and what we were doing for
vulnerable borrowers.

Eric Daniels
Chair of the Risk and
Compliance Committee

Monitaring the risks associated with
FlexiPay as a new product.

Reviewing the controls in place to
mitigate barrower fraud rigk, following
press coverage about the epidemic
of Covid-19 {oan fraud in both the UK
and US.

Receiving a report on the
implernentation of the controls
library pilot which completed in
October 2022. The pilot provided
new information on the Company’s
control environment through the
improved and structured data which
was avallable for is controls.

Approving amendments to the
Group risk appetite which included
the treatment of credit risk so that

it would work more effectively for
guaranteed loans and core products

All of the Committee’s work this year
has been against an economic backdrop
that could, If not menitored carefully,
impact the execution of our strategy so
our work has been extremely focused

to enable us to support the Board and
ensure commitment to the strategic
plan whitst remaining mindful of increased
need for agility and precisicn when
identifying, managing and mitigating risks
that affect our business. In particular,

| am happy with the strong credit
perfarmance of both the UK and US loan
hocoks throughout 2022, notwithstanding
the challenging macro, our proven ahility
to deploy fast and effective change to
our credit strategy 1o navigate a volatile
environment and the attention to our
borrowers demonstrated by our
collections team.



In summary, | have been pleased with
the continued develcpment of the
Group's risk management capabilities
and overall controls and remain confident
and optimistic about the Group's ability
to successfully navigate a continued
uncertain and volatile economic
environment in 2023.

Key activities for 2023

The Committee will continue to
review the Company’s key and
emerging risks, paying close
attention to the macro environment
in a more volatile environment than
originally anticipated for 2023, with
continued focus on inflation, interest
rates and geopclitical tension.

The Committee will continue to
review the ERMF, and ensure it
remains appropriate and effective
for all stages of development of the
Group's business

+  The Committee will continue to
closely monitar operational risks,
particularly in relation to technolegy,
datz and information security.

The Committee will continue to keep
a close monitoring of the funding
autlook of the business, in particular
for the US platform, with attention

to the cost and the diversity of the
funding sources.

+ Asthe Group continues to embrace
new products and increased
automation, the Cammitiee will
monitor the associated risks as
they scale as well as the execution
risk as the business moves from a
focus on one product to a number
of different products.

People and talent management will
continue to be closely monitored by
the Committee.

Role of the Committee
For information regarding the

Committee's role and key responsibilities,

please see the Terms of Reference on
our website at corporate fundingcircle.
com/who-we-are/corparate-
governance/board-committees/

Committee effectiveness evaluation

An effectiveness review of the
Committee’s performance was
completed at the end of the year.

The review comprised an extensive
questionnaire that evaluated the
Committee’s overall performance,
composition and set-up and, importantly,
the work of the Committee including its
role in reviewing and challenging the
Group's control, risk management and
compliance systems and appetite for
risk. The questionnaire was completed by
members of the Committee and the CRO,

Qverall the scores were positive. The
section of the guestionnaire which
addressed process of the Committee
and included evaluation of the timeliness
and quality of papers prompted a
recommendation for the Committee

to provide continual feedback to
management on how the quality and
length of papers could be improved.
The evaluation also identified the need
for the Cormmittee to ensure discussions
and agenda items were able to flex and
adapt to the evolving environment and
for the Committee to continue to review
and challenge the Company’s control,
risk management and compliance
systems to support the Company

in achieving its long-term strategic
objectives. Additional agenda items of
note for the next 12 months (that would
require more in-depth monitering and
review) included funding risks and the
impact of the new FCA Consumer Duty.

In addition to the Committee’s own
effectiveness review, the Board also
evaluated its oversight of risk as part of
its effectiveness review. All members of
the Board were satisfied that the Board
has sufficient focus on risk and risk
management as It pertains to the Group's
strategy and that a framework of prudent
and effective controls was in pface which
enabled risk to be assessed and managed
appropriately. For further information on
the outcomes of the annual Board
evaluation please see page 87,

Eric Daniels

Chair of the Risk and Compliance
Committee

2 March 2023
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Report of the
ESG Committee

Members and attendance

Member Meetings  Attendance
Andrew

Learoyd (Chair) 3/3 100%
Matthew King 3/3 100%
Neil Rimer 3/3 100%
Helen Beck 3/3 100%

On behaif of the Board, | am pleased
to present the ESG Committee's Report
for the year ended 31 December 2022,

2021 was largely a year of scoping,
imagining and planning by the ESG
Committee and the past 12 months
have seen initial implementation of the
plan that emerged from 2021, Across all
three key pillars — Environmental, Social
and Qiversity Equity & Inclusion (DEI) —
we have made significant progress in
setting our objectives, simplifying the
chosen methods to achleve them and
Initiating the steps on that path. Mare
detail an our progress in each of these
areas is outlined below.

In terms of its role, the Committee has
focused on clarifying responsibility for
the gavernance of ESG related risk to
ensure identification and risk monitering
is properly managed.

We also received our first internal audit
report in 2022 which evaluated the
progress made on the implementation
of the ESG framework. This was heipful
in highlighting our strengths and areas
that require further development
Notably, improvements were observed
in relation to governance, reporting and
risk integration.
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The Committee met three times this
year and, to ensure mormentum
continues with ESG matters, the
Committee has agreed to maintain the
same cadence of meetings in 2023. The
Committee will also receive quarterly
reports to more closely track progress
of ESG activities across the year

For more detailed information on

the Group's ESG framework, TCFD
disclosures and environmental impact
please see the Environment, social and
governance section of our Strategic
Report on page 28

Key activities for 2023
Achieve carbon neutrality
recertification for 2022 and continue
to progress environmental strategy
towards net zero ambition by 2050
and stretch target of operational net
zero by 2030.

+  {ontinue to incorporate and embed
ESG risk and apportunities into the
Group's leadership team work.

Environmental

In 2022 the Committee continued to
oversee the progress made on the Group's
environmental strategy in partnership with
an external climate change consultant
and spent considerable time focusing
an reperting in line with the Task Force
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
("TCFD") recommendations. The Group’s
TCFD Report can be found in the
Environment, social and governance
section on page 30.

| am pleased that we have continued to
advance our environmental strategy to
achieve carbon neutrality certification
ahead of scheduie in the first part of
the year and completed our carbon foot
printing verification for Scope 1 and 2
and part of Scope 3 emissions for
business travel and waste generated

in operations

Andrew Learoyd
Chair of the ESG Committee

We continue to drive forward our aim to
reduce our carbon emissiens year on
year and are focusing on recertification
to achieve carbon neutrality for 2022 in
early 2023,

It's important to the Committee that the
Group has scierice-based targets to
achieve our long-term goal of being net
zero by 2060 and work continues in this
regard. Progress in this area was made
through an initial exercise to estimate
the financed emissions from our
lending activities.

Social

As reported in our 2021 report, the
Committee allocated budget ang resource
to further develop the approach to
social impact as it was identified as an
area requiring additional focus and
strategy. In 2022, social imeact and
community engagement were driven
separately in the UK and US with
approaches that met the needs of each
local community whilst also leveraging
the Company's USP on social inclugion
to support entrepreneurship In 2022,
the Company launched a partnership
with Hatch (an organisation supporting
under represented entrepreneurs) in
the UK and through our Circler group,
FC Impact, a number of Circler led
volunteering opportunities were
launched, more details of which are
set out on page 27.

The team has also engaged with our
borrowers with social impact related
questions In a recent SME survey to
understand areas where Funding Circle
could add more value. This will belp

to infarm where we should focus our
efforts in 2023



Diversity, equity and inclusion
{“DEI”)

In our 2021 report, we explained what
DEl means at Funding Circle and set out
to obtain better data to measure our
diversity. In 2022 we were pleased to
see greal progress achieved towards
our objectives on DEl as demonstrated
by the very high DE! scares in cur Circler
engagement survey (see page 25 for
mgore detail}.

The governance of DEI has included
maximising the role of Circler-led
groups and integrating DEl-focused
commitments into the FC Code of
Conduct and existing policies.

The Committee took a deeper dive

into diversity at senior levels of the
Company and continues to challenge
senior management to identify where
improvements can be made to improve
it at these levels, For further information
on Funding Circle's approach to DEI,
please see our People section on

page 25.

Governance

The Committee has made great
progress on governance using its
delegated authority from the Board

to provide leadership cn the ethical
conduct of the business and approach
to good corperate behaviour in
connection with ESG-related matters

Work in this area was focused on
resolving the governance of ESG related
risk in collaboration with the Risk and
Compliance Committee to ensure the
responsiility for risk identification and
monitoring fell into the remit of the Risk
and Compliance Committee while the
ESG Committee held responsibility for
ESG strategy across the Group. For
further information relating to the duties
and responsibilities of each Committee,
a copy of the Terms of Reference

can be found on our website here.
https://corporate fundingcircle.com/
who-we-are/corporate-governance/
board-committees/

In addition to the work on the Committee’s
Terms of Reference, the Committee
changed the roles of individual Committee
members who had originafly been
allocated an area of focus to support
the early set up of the Committee and
its work With significant progress made
on social and governance, the Committee
decided that Matthew King would retain
his focus on environmental strategy and
Helen Beck would retain her role as
Workforce Engagement Director.

To ensure knowledge and training

was up to date, and in particular the
awareness of TCFD as it relates to
obligations on climate change related
disciosures, the Commitiee introduced
ESG specific training modules which will
be completed by Directors in early 2023.

Helen Beck continued with her role as
Workforce Engagement Non-Executive
Director to fulfil the requirements

of Provision 5 of the UK Corporate
Governance Code and engaged with
Circlers across the Group on a number
of projects throughout the year
including informal lunch and coffee
events. These provided an open forum
to gain Circler insight on strategy,
organisational design around new
products, the iImpact of the economic
environment and other issues of
impartance to Circlers, which Helen
then fed back to the Roard. Helen has
been impressed with the passion and
openness of the Circlers she has spent
time with and the value that their insight
has brought to Board discussions.

ESG Committee effectiveness
performance evaluation

The Company Secretarial team
facilitated an effectiveness review at
the end of 2022 which evaluated the
constitution, composition and set up

of the Committee and its work including
progress made an the Group's ESG
objectives, ensuring the ESG strategy
and framework remained fit for

purpose, measuring the impact of the
Group's strategy on employees, and
identification and execution of ESG
opportunities. Scores were generally
high with a number of strengths
highlighted and some areas for
development identified which are due to
be carried forward as acticns into 2023.

Andrew Learoyd
Chair of the ESG Committee
2 March 2023
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Directors’ remuneration report

Directors’

remuneration report

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased

1o present the Directors’ Remuneration
Report for the year ended 371 December
2022. ! want to thank Geeta Gopalan, who
stepped down from the Remuneration
Caommittee on & March 20272, for her
service on the Committee. I'd also like
1o thank the other Commitiee members,
Andrew Learoyd and Matthew King
{who joined on 8 March 2022, replacing
Geeta), and the Circlers who have
supported the Committee this year

Review of 2022 and Executive
Directors’ Remuneration

As Andrew refers to in the Chair’s
Staternent on page 6, 2022 was a
difficult year financially with economic
and political uncertainty, particularly
in the UK, impacting SMEs and the
finangial performance of Funding Circle
in ways unanticipated when we set
stretching targets in December 2021
for the 2022 incentives. Despite the
challenging economic environment,
the tearn has achieved positive
financial results In line with market
expectations and made good progress
against our three strategic pillars In
her first year as CEQ, Lisa Jacobs has
laud the foundations to achieve the
medium-term plan and paved the way
for future growth by diversifying our
product range.

For the annual banus, the 2022 AEBITDA
outcome was just below target but the
Total Income measure was missed as a
result of the tougher market conditions
However, performance against the
strategic/non-financial elements of the
annual bonus was significantly above
target. In addition to transitioning the
business away from government-backed
funding, the team made good progress
towards achieving its medium-term ptan,
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expanding FlexiPay to new customer
segments and beta-launching FlexiPay
card in the UK as well as introducing

a shorter-term lending product and
expanding the Marketplace offering to
say yes ta more businegses. In the US,
the team launched Lending as a Service
and a super prime product for more
established businesses Loan returns
have remained robust and attractive,
demonstrating Funding Circle’'s
responsible lending and a prudent
approach to credit risk, Employee
engagement is at 1ts highest ever level
of 73% far the second year in a row, with
87% of Circlers recommending Funding
Circle as a place 10 work

In this overall performance context, the
Committee determined bonus payouts
equal to 45.0% of maximum for the
CEO and for the CFO. The Committee
did not adjust the 2022 financial targets
for the annual bonus nor apply any
upwards discretion. 40% of the bonus
payout will be deferred into shares

for three years, in keeping with our
Remuneration Policy.

The Committee did not adjust the
2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan "LTIP"
vesting for Oliver White to reflect the
challenging economic environment
nor apply any upwards disgretion. No
nil-cost options vested under the LTIP
ac neither EPS nor Fee Incoame (argets
(setin a very different environment in
2020) were achieved.

The Committee approved a ane-off
allowance for Qliver White, who took on
additional responsibilities as intenm US
Managing Director for a period of just
over three months The allowanceisin
line with our Policy, practice throughout
the Group and market practice.

Heien Beck
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Executive Director remuneration
arrangements for 2023

The Committee has determined a
salary increase for Lisa Jacobs of 3.5%
taking her salary from £400,000 to
£414,000. in approving the increase,
which is below the Circler salary review
pot of 5% for 2023, the Committee tocok
Into account several factors, including
internal relativities and external
comparative data (her salary being
lower guartile vs. the FTSE SmallCap).
The Committee will continue to keep
Lisa's salary under review and may
increase it {at a rate higher than the
Circler average) if it considers this to
be justified and aligned with Funding
Circle’s remuneration principles,
recognising the need to retain and
incentivise a highly-talented individual
in a competitive markat.

Oliver White's salary was set at
£400,000 when he joined in 2020 and
has been unchanged since then, For
2023, the Committee has determined
that his salary will increase by 2.5%,
which the Committee considered
appropriate for a high-calibre CFQ with
the experience required for the scale
and complexity of the business.

The annual bonus measures will
remain 2 combination of financial and
non-financial, but given the strategic
importance of FlexiPay, in ine with our
palicy, will move to financial measures
being 60% and strategic/non-financial
heing 40% we feel this provides a
mare appropriate alignment with our
mecdhium-term plan

In accordance with our Policy the
same number of Restricted Shares
will be granted to the Executive
Directors in 2023 as was granted in
207217 and 20722, being 358,177 and



269,306 Restricted Shares for the CEQ
and CFO respectively. As shown in

our "INustraticn of the application of
Remuneration Policy in 2023" charts,
the grant date face value of 2023
Restricted Share awards will be ¢ 25%
lower compared to 2022 Restricted
Share awards.

Vesting of the Restricted Shares will
cantinue be subject to a financial
underpin based on Total Income as well
as qualitative underpins. The financial
underpin has been set such that annual
Total Income must be on average

£130 million aver the period of three
years 2023 to 2025. The Committee
retains the discretion to make any
adjustments to vesting it deems
necessary to maintain an appropriate
pay/performance relationship as with
the 2021 and 2022 grants.

Remuneration arrangements
for Circlers

During 2022, we continued to focus on

the Circler reward proposition. In March,

we increased the budget avatlable

for salary increases in anticipation of
centinued rising inflation and we also
did a comprehensive benefits review,
further details of which are set out in
our people section on page 24. 1 wish to
thark all of our Circlers for once again
delivering in difficult and trying times.
The Group annual bonus for 2022 is
being awarded in full to eligible Circlers,
with payment being based on AEBITDA
performance. Our People section at
pages 24 to 27 sets out how Funding
Circle has responded to the changing
employment environment following

the pandemic.

Teo recognise junior Circlers for their
continued effort during 2022 we paid

a bonus of up to £1,000 in December
20272 In addition, we increased the
salary of any Circlers whose salary was
below the updated "Real Living Wage”
in September 2022.

Remuneration Policy review in 2023

As 2023 is the last year of the
Remuneration Policy approved at

the 2021 AGM, the Committee is
undertaking a review and aims to
ensure that the new Policy, which will be
put to shareholders at the 2024 AGM,
supports both the short- and iong-term
objectives of the business and aligns
with its Board-approved strategy.

The Committee's view is that the

current Policy has not given us sufficient
flexibility to reward and incentivise our
Executive Directors in line with their
performance, particulariy since we no
longer have a founder CEO.

We will aim for the new Remuneration
Policy to include greater flexibility to
allow the Committee to appropriately
reward the Executive Directars, as well
as aligning with shareholder interests.
We will take into account market practice
and best practice, whilst making sure
that the Policy is fit-for-purpose for
Funding Circle

As in the previous Remuneration

Policy review, we will be reaching out

to our shareholders to consult on our
proposals in the second half of the

year The Committee is also conducting
a review of its advisers 1o ensure we
continue to receive appropriate advice
and a robust challenge where warranted.
The adviser review will be concluded
before we slart our Policy review.

Conclusion

0On behalf of the Remuneration Committee,
| would like to thank our shareholders
for their support in 2022. We were
delighted with the support received
from shareholders for our Annual
Report on Remuneration at the 2022
AGM. We hope to continue to receive
your support at our 2023 AGM, where
I wilt be avallable to respond to any
guestions on this report cr in relation
to any of the Committee's activities.

Helen Beck
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
2 March 2023
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Remuneration Policy

A fuli version of the Remuneration Palicy can be found in the 2020 Annual Report and Accounts avallable on our website at:
https://corporate fundingcircle.corm/investors/results-reports-presentations. The Remuneration Policy was approved with 98%
support by a binding shareholder vote at the 2027 AGM, and will apply for a maximum of three years. Whilst the full Palicy is not
reproduced in this report, the Committee believes that 1t 1s helpful to sharehalders to publist: an updated illustration of the potential
value of the proposed applicaticn of the Remuneration Palicy in 2023 to the Executive Directors in different performance scenarios.
These charts are provided below:

[1lustrations of the application of the Remuneration Policy in 2023

£1,400k CEO £1,400k CFO
1,254
£1,200k 1165 £1,200k
% 1,049
15.3% 21.3% 982
£1,000k 850 £1,000k .
197% 19.2%
£800k 20.1% £800k 775
47.3% 439% 17.3%
£600k 30.9% £600k 42.1% 39.4%
436 ‘ 434 26.7%
£400k £400k
£200k 100% 49.0% 37 4% 34.8% E200k 100% 56.0% 44.2% 47 4%
Minirmum Target Maximurm Maximum + 9 Minmum Targe! Maximum Maximum +
50% share price 50% share price
InGrease increase
(O Fixed O Annual Bonus (O Restricted shares
Illustration assumptions
Maximum + 50% share
Etement of pay Minemum Target Maxirnurm price appreciation
Fixed remuneration:
Base salary — effective 1 March 2023
- Benefits — in line with the value of 2022 benefits disclosed in the single figure table
- Pension — 5% of salary
Annual bonus No payout 50% of maximum Maximum payout
(target payout}
Restricted shares No vesting. Assumes Grant value vests: 358,177 shares for the CEQ Grant value multiplied by 1.5

the underpin is not met and 269,306 for the CFQ. Assumes share price
of £0.498, which was the three-month average
share price ta 31 December 2022
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Remuneration Policy for Circlers

The Commitlee receives regular updates on overall pay and conditions in the Group, and pay and employment conditions
generally in the Group are taken into account when setting Executive Directors’ remuneration.

The approach to annual salary reviews is consistent across the Group, with consideration given to the level of experience,
responsibility, individual performance and salary levels in comparable companies.

Nearly 60% of Circlers are eligible for either the annual borus plan or other bonus arrangements. Opportunities vary by
organisational level and function. From inception, a key element of the remuneration philosophy has been Lo support share
ownership across the business. This has historically been achieved through making equity incentives available to Circlers

to encourage them to behave as owners — taking decisions that balance long-term value creation with achieving shorter-term
strategic priorities. The Remuneration Policy for Circlers is reviewed annually ensure it's aligned with our strategy, valued by Circlers,
and provides value for money. Following feedback from Circlers, in 2023 we are removing the free shares that are granted to all
Circlers and replacing them with a cash banus for junior Circlers, and enhancing the matching ratio of our Share Incentive Plan

for UK. Circlers from 1.1 to 271

The key elements to the incentive arrangements in 2023 are:

The Global Leadership Team and cther senior management and senicr specialist roles participate in a discretionary
share-based LTIP with grant size increasing with seniority. The grants for Circlers in leadership roles include a multiplier
for achieving significant share price growth.

+  The leadership team, managers and specialists parficipate in an annual bonus plan (and the majority of Circlers participate
in either the annual bonus plan or another form of bonus). The Committee agreed a change to the Group annual bonus plan
for 2023 to include an element of Circlers’ individual performance as well as Funding Circle financial performance to align
with our strategic pillar of High Performing Teams Executing Britharitly.

All UK-based Circlers are eligible to participate in our Share Incentive Plan where, far every "Partnership share’ thatis
purchased, two "Matching shares” are awarded.

+ Junicr Circlers are eligible to receive a cash bonus each year, the size of which depends on their length of service and affordability.

Equity awarded to Circlers, including the existing Glabal Leadership Team (other than the Executive Directors), is subject

to continued employment for the two years following the grant date but is not otherwise normally subject to performance
conditions. Qur warkforce engagement Director (Helen Beck) frequently holds engagement sessions with Circlers. A range of
fopics are discussed including Executive remuneration. Feedback from workforce engagement sessions in 2020 was taken into
account when developing our Policy.

Alignment between Executive and Circlers’ remuneration

The Executive Directors’ Policy was designed to align Circler and Executive pay. We introduced an annual bonus plan for the
Global Leadership Team, managers and specialists in 2020 and then intreduced an annual benus for Executive Directors in 20217.
The introducticon of Restricted Share awards for the Executive Directors also matches the introduction of equity schemes for
Circlers which are based on continued employment only. The main differences between how Executive Directors and Circlers are
remunerated are the longer time periads {vesting, holding and deferral), tougher performance criteria, and there being no share
price multiplier on the Restricted Share awards made to Executive Directors.
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Annual report on remuneration

This part of the report sets out how the Remuneration Policy has been applied in 2022 and how the Committes intends to apply the
Remuneration Policy in 2023 This part of the report will be subject to an advisory shareholder vote at the 2023 AGM

Role of the Committee

The Committeg’s primary role is to determine the remuneration of the Directors and Giobal Leadership Team and the Remuneration
Policy for the Executive Directors, as well as moenitoring and reviewing its engoing appropriateness and relevance In doing so,
the Committee ensures that the Remuneration Paolicy is aligned with the Company's key remuneration principles as well as
taking into account the principles of clarity, simplicity, risk, predictability, proportionality and alignment to culture set out in the
2018 UK Corporate Governance Code. How our remuneration 1s aligned with the principles of the Code is summarised in cur
20217 Directors’ Report on Remuneration on page 106.

The key responsibilities of the Committee are summarised on page 85 and further detalls on the Committee’s roles and
responsibilities can be found in our Terms of Reference on our cerporate website

Committee composition

Geeta Gopalan stepped down from the Committee on 8 March 2022 and was replaced by Matthew King who joined on 8 March 2022,
None of the members who have served on the Committee during the year had any personal interest in the matters decided by
the Committee and they are all considered to be independent by the Company. The Company Secretary acted as Secretary 10
the Committee.

Cammitiee members Number of meelings attended
Helen Beck, Chair 474
Andrew Learoyd 4/4
Matthew King (appointed on 8 March 2022) 272
Geeta Gopalan, former member 2/2

The Executive Directors, Chief People Officer, other members of the senior management team and our external remuneration
consultantg, Deloitte LLP, were invited to Committee meetings where it was deemed appropriate. No individuals were involved
In decisions relating to their own remuneration

2022 Committee workstreams
determined the payout of the Executive Directors’ 2021 annual bonus;
approved the payout of the 2021 annual bonus for Circlers;
approved the design of the 2022 annual bonus for Circlers and the equity plans;
set the 2022 annual bonus targets for Executive Directors;
set the 2022 Restricted Share Plan underpin and approved the grants for Executive Directors; and
approved reward decisions relating to members of the Global Leadership Team and reviewed Circler compensation

2023 Committee priorities
+  approve the remuneration arrangements for the Global Leadership Team, including their equity grants;
approve the design of the 2023 annual bonus for Circlers and the equity plans;
- setthe 2023 annual bonus targets, ensuring they align with Funding Circle’s strategy as well as its ESG priorities,
+ set the 2023 Restricted Share Plan underpin and approve the grants for Executive Directors;

- conduct a comprehensive review of the Remuneration Policy, which wilt include consultation with our shareholders,
in preparation for its renewal at the 2024 AGM; and

- continue to monitar remuneration practices across the Company as a whole, keeping abreast of current and evolving
market practice.

Committee effectiveness

As noted on page 86, the Committee undertook an effectiveness review during 2022, whereby each Committee member and,
by invitation, the Chief People Officer, completed a tailored questionnaire. The questionnaire covered topics such as the guality
of the remuneration support provided to the Committee and the appropriateness of the remuneration policies and practices
implemented in 2022. The positive scores and comments demonstrated that the Committee is working well. The Committee
agreed to implement the recommendatiens including a review of advisers to ensure the Committee receives approgriate advice
and challenge and a review of below-Board bonuses not forming part of the Group annual bonus.
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External advisers

The Committee is satisfied that the advice 1t has received from its appeinted adviser Deloitte LLP as remuneration consultants
is independent, and that the engagement partner and tearm thal have provided remuneration advice do not have connections
with the Company that might impair their independence. Deloitte was appointed by the Committee in 2019, Deloitte is a founder
member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and, as such, voluntarly operates under its Code of Canduct in relation to
executive remuneration matters in the UK.

The fee paid to Deloitte LLP in 2022 in relation to advice provided to the Committee was £18,650. Deloitte also provided advice
to the Group during 2022 in relation to risk advisory, share plan advisory and corporate tax advisory services.

Letters of appointment and service contracts

Cirector

Coemmencement date
of current term

Cxpiry of current term

Notice period

From Company

Frem Direclor

Exceoutive Directors

Lisa Jacobs 1 January 2022 n/a Twelve months Twelve months
Oliver wWhite 15 June 2020 n/a Six months Six months
Non-Executive Directors

Andrew Learcyd 10 September 2021 10 September 2024  One month One month
Samir Desai 1 January 2022 1 January 2025 One month One month
gDaniels 18 September 2021 18 September 2024  One month One month
Geeta Gopalan 1 November 2021 1 November 2024 One month One month
Hendrik Nelis 5 September 2021 5 September 2024 One month One month
ERimer 5 September 2021 5 September 2024 One month One month
Matthew King 19 May 2021 19 May 2024 One month One month
Helen Beck 1 June 2021 1 June 2024 One month One month

The Executive Directors’ service contracts are on a rolling basis. All Nen-Executive Directors have letters of appointment with
the Company. The appointments of each of the Non-Executive Directors are for an initial term of three years, and have been
extended for those Non-Executive Directors whose ariginal term has since expired. The appointment of each Non-Executive
Director is subject to annual re-election at the AGM.

Shareholder voting

The Committee’s resolutions at the Company's 2021 AGM (in respect of the Remuneration Policy) and the 2022 AGM (in respect of the
Annual Report on Rermuneration) received the following votes from shareholders:

Annual Report on Remuneration

Remuneration Policy

(2022 AGM) 12021 AGM)
Number of votes
Votes cast in favour 242,440,714 99896% 276,078,928 G817%
Votes cast against 89,361 0.04% 3,228,853 1.40%
Votes withheld 9147 000% 977,804 0.43%
Total votes cast {including withheld) 247,539,222 100.00% 230,286,585 100 00%
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Single total figure of remuneration (audited)

The following tables set out the aggregate emoluments earned by the Directors in the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021
respectively.

Salary Taxable Long-term Total Tatal

and fees benefits’ Bonus Pensions? incentives® Total fixed variahle
2022 £000 £080 £608 £660 £000 £008 Other £000 £000
Executive Directors
Lisa Jacobs 400 2 239 20 - 661 - 422 239
Oliver White” 400 3 180 20 - 603 284 451 180
Noh-Executive Directors
Andrew Learoyd 206 - - - ~ 206 - 206 -
Eric Daniels 69 3 - - - 72 - 72 -
Geeta Gopalan 79 - - - -~ 79 - 79 -
Helen Beck 69 - - - - 69 - 69 -
Matthew King 67 - - - - 67 - 67 -
Samir Desai
{appointed 1 January 2022) 55 55 55
Hendrik Nelis® - - - - - - - - -
Neil Rimer® - - - - - - - - -
2021
Executive Directors
Samir Desal? 210 2 A7 - - 629 - 212 N7
Oliver White 400 5 319 20 - 744 — 425 319
Non-Executive Directors
Andrew Learoyd 200 - - - - 200 - 200 =
Ed Wray (stepped down
19 May 2027) 23 - — — - 23 - 23 -
Eric Daniels 655 3 - - - 68 - 68 -
Bob Steel {stepped down 19
May 2021) 33 - - - - 33 - 33 -
Cath Keers (stepped down
18 May 2027) 33 - - = - 33 - 33 -
Geeta Gopalan 71 - - — - 71 — 71 -
Helen Beck (appointed 1
June 2021) 38 — - — - 38 — 38 —
Matthew King (appointed
19 May 2021) 30 - - - - 30 - 30 -
Hendrik Nelis® - - -~ - - - - - -
Neil Rimer® — — — — - — - - -

1 Taxable benefits for Execative Divectors o maipally nclude o vate medical caver and hife assu-ance cove” lasanle senefits for Nan Executive Direclors relate to reimiu-sernent
of travel tn the woknlace Tne Camonany ensures tnat 1e Non-Execulive Directors ate <ept whole 0y setthing '~e exnense and gy "elated tax 11e figares snown aclude the
o8t 6f Ine 1axaote dedefi plus the -elated tax charge

2 Exerunve Brectors were eligible for 2 5% of nase saiaty pe~sion c61tinubon Samu DRsaL 17 WS 278n0Js te 35 CED opted 10F 10 1248 U2 s gal [0 11e 2875160 contnbathion
3 No l-costont:ons vested unde-tmie 2070 LTIP as ~either ERFS "o Fee |ncome tasgets were acnieved Nols-g-ferm incentivas vested inrespect of 2021

4 Oliver White tog< o1 toentenm LS Managing Diresto” role from 21 Santemoe- 2022 inaddiiion to s asda -esaonsibihties Funding Cirele covered the asts of war<ing
11 te US satn a5 accommadansa, fights, and cas re, 1oweves 1e was naid an adaitiona: payment of £27.500 tn comeenaate him for 118 matenal additional werk and
resocnsires Lndesta<en Tis additionial swance i 1 < epg aitt Sa” snarehsides apaqoved Pemanie-anas Palcy Jnder wrch, “Tre Camm.ttes may dete-rmes that
Exer tive Cirectass should receive addihional reasonaole senefits if aoaroonate, 1a«ngints accout tymical masket orachoe and practice trroagnodt the Groud” A one-off
aaymeni (wach s not aensionanle ~o” Boausanie) was arefered to an s2hftin salary doe to tae maluphcative imonact of salary on total -emanetat 61 and the Intesim 1atg’e
of the appointriet

o0

As disclosed intne 2020 Directors Remuneraticn Reont Semir Besan was awasded & sala’y increase om £210 000 to £420 000 effective from 1 Jandary 2021, 1owever
he wasec ‘te mcreasa for 2321 Hhs anncal bonus appartunity and Restricted Share awa™d opportur ity were cetermined Daserd on the ££035,000 salary, which s referred to
in last year's Directors’ Remuqenation Reasrt 85 s refererce salary

6 He~dac Mels and Nell kimar wag are ~nt indesendent Non Execut ve Jrrecio s, Nave waned e antitiement to a fee
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2022 annua] bonus

2022 was the second year that we have cperated an annual bonus for the Executive Directors. The miaximurmi opportunities were
133% of salary for the CFO and 10U% of satary for the CFQ. Two thirds of the annual bonus was based on financial measures
with the remainder based on strategic/non-financial measures The measures were set by the Committee and are in line with
Funding Circle’s strategy. Stretching financial targets were set by the Committee at the start of the year, taking into account our
2022 budget and broker forecasts at the time An on-target bonus could be earned for achieving 2022 budget performance.

Structure of the 2022 bonus

Implied payout

) of element
Threshold Target Maximum _
Element (weighting %) (0% payout) {50% payout}  {100% payout) Outcome CEO CFO
AEBITDA {one third) £Om r88m £176m £6.8m 3R.6%
Total Income (one third) £152.8m £172.8m £192.8m £148.7m 0%
Strategic/non-financial measures (one third) See below 96.3% 963%

Total (% of maximurm) 450% 45.0%
Total (% of salary) 59.8% 450%

Final outcome (Fk) 2342 1799

Strategic/non-financial measures

Category

Performance

Detaifs on objectives assessment

Stakeholders -
Daing the right
thing for our
customers and
shareholders

Customers

Our Net Promater Scare remained strong in 2022 at 77.
Over 2022, Funding Circle dealt with custorner complaints in line with expectations.

Growth

FlexiPay was launched to new and existing borrowers in the UK with more than £60m spent
across more than 17,000 transactions. Beta testing of our FlexiPay card was launched to a
smail number of existing borrowers.

Laa$S was launched with two partners in the US

Super prime loans were introduced in the US to serve lower rigk customers with better rates,
which resuitad in originations of §110m.

Near prime short-term loans were introduced in the UK which enabled Funding Circle to
support younger businesses for the first time, aligning with our strategic pillar to "say ves

to more businesses”.

Shareholders

Funding Circle laid the foundations for improving its shareholder diversification through the
appointment of an experienced Director of Investor Relations and evolving its approach to
prospective shareholder engagement. Of particular note in 2022, Funding Circle received
new equity research coverage from two further brekers.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Annual report on remuneration continued

Performance

Category Detaills on ohjectives asgassment
Circlers — Employees

Building an . Employee engagement remained at an all-time high of 73%, exceeding our target of 70%, in

incredible place addition 10 87% of Circlers recommending Funding Circle as a great place to work, exceeding

to work and learn our target by 7%.

Gender and Diversity
Continued progress was made in 2022 across diversity, equity and inclusion at Funding Circle.
The highest ever inclusion scores were recorded at the Company with 92% of Circlers stating
they believe Funding Circle values diversity, and 88% believing people from all backgrounds
have equal opportunities to succeed. Key highlights of the year included the delivery of a
female empowerment prograrmme to support wormen earher in their career at the Company,
and the establishment of our sixth Circler led support group focused on Neurodiversity.

2022 was a year that Funding Circle was recognised externally for its DEI efforts. In the UK,
our new partner leave policy was recognised as the Diversity & inclusion Initiative of the Year at
the AltFi Awards, as well as Lisa Jacobs winning CEO of the Year. In the US, Funding Circle was
named as one of Buiit Im’s Inaugural LGBTQIA+ Advocacy Award Winners and in its 2022 Best
Places to Work Awards.

Funding Circle has embedded DEI practices throughout the Circler life-cycle, from ensuring
that interview panels are diverse, targeting recruiting efforts in teams with lower diversity
statistics with significant progress in the Capital Markets team, and reviewing our talent with
a DEl lens identifying opportunities to progress Circlers up the business and supporting them
to achieve their potential at Funding Circle.

+  Senior gender diversity is reported at 33%, which is flat to last year however, we continue to
progress towards our stretch goal of 40% representation. Excluding technology roles, we are
now above the 40% target.

Risk and ESG goals

sustainability - . Agthe interpretation of net zero continues to evolve, Funding Circle’s ambition to reach net zero
Building aresilent  has changed to 2050 1n line with the UK government's commitment, with a stretch goal to reach
and sustainable net zero by 2030 for our operational emissions, and good progress has been made on our
business to carbon management plan (we anticipate developing a formal carbon transition plan, including
support all of metrics and targets in respect of our own operations, emissions and reductions plan during
our stakeholders the course of 2023). Most significantly, the first measurement of Scope 3 financed emissions

was completed for the US and UK loan books and a new carbon foot-printing firm was engaged
to begin wider Scope 3 measurement in 2023, both of which are pre-requisite steps 1o target
setting. Scope 3 financed emissions will be Funding Circle’s largest emissions compenent by
far and the most challenging to confront so the progress made on this aspect is excellent

Credit quality/net loan returns of loan cohorts
Credit risk metrics have been assessed as “Green’ for the entire year across both the UK and US
Cur portfolios in the US and UK are showing resilience and generally performing better than
expectations, with returns expectations improving.

Control environment and change management

+ Audits carried out an behalf of British Business Bank and other investors have received positive
feedback and no material issues found; only one guarantee was rejected.
Continued to strengthen defences against cyberattacks and ransomware, and achieved our “road to
amber” plan
Transitioned smoothly from RLS to only core lending, launched other new products including
super prime and near prime lending

Continued to evolve FlexiPay, following its beta launch in 2027, with continuously optimised
data driven strategies around credit nsk and operational capablities

CEO personal In her first full year as CEQ, she has executed well against both the short- and lang-term agenda
performance She has launched a growth and profit-focused medium-term plan and has strengthened the

leadership team with new hires in order to deliver agamst this in the US, FlexiPay and Technology
In a year when the macre environment has been chalienging, she has led the business into

new product areas whilst also ensuring a disciplined approach to risk and cost management.
She leads with authenticity and the overall team engagement scores have been high.
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Performance
Category Detais on objectves asgesgiment
CFO personal The CFO has put clear succession plans in place for the Finance department, has retained
performance key Circlers, and has created a culture that has led to high engagement in the department. He

maintzing a focus on cost management discipline. He has provided calm, thoughtful, open and
transparent leadership, input and challenge to the Board, management team and CEO where
needed. He manages many relationships with shareholders independently. In addition, in 2022,
he stepped in to fill a temporary leadership gap in the US tearn in Q4, relocating temperarily to
Denver. He has also absorbed our Capital Markets team, providing leadership on both a tactical
and strategic basis to the team.

Based on the performance against all of the non-financial objectives and personal performance, the Committee determined that
the CEQ and CFQO wouid receive 96 3% of maximum of the non-financial efement.

Long-term Incentive Plan "LTIP" vesting in respect of 2022

Oliver White was granted z performance based LTIP award on 19 June 2020 with a face value of 200% of salary (equivalent

to an award of 925,390 nil-cost options) under our previcus Remuneration Policy. The vesting was based on performance to

31 December 2022 against a scorecard of measures, as set out below. The Committee did not exercise its discretion 1o amend
the stretching targets set in 2020

Targets

Threshold Target Maximum Actual Vesting

Measure Weighting (25% vestng) (50% vesting)  (100% vesting) performance (% of element)
2022 EPS 50% -1p ap 3p -2p 0%
UK Fee Income CAGR 2020-2022 40% 5% 10% 15% 1% 0%
US Fee Income CAGR 2020-2022 10% 0% 2.5% 7.5% -20% 0%
Total vesting {% of maximum) 0%

Total vesting {no of shares) 0

Total vesting (k) 0

Restricted Share awards granted during 2022
Restricted Share awards were granted to the Executive Directors on 24 March 2022 under our Policy. Details of the awards are
set out below:

Type of award Number of shares Face value at grant' Grant date Vesting date Holding penod

24 March 2025

Lisa Jacobs Nil-cast option 358177 £239,979 24 March 2022 24 March 2025 to 24 March 2027
24 March 2025

Oliver White Nil-cost option 269,306 £180,435 24 March 2022 24 March 2025 1o 24 March 2027

1 Basedonagrant date share price of £0 67

Vesting will be subject to a financial underpin based on Total Income as well as qualitative underpins to ensure that Executive
Directors are not rewarded where the Committee considers there to have been a failure in perfermance, including serious
breaches of regulation, matenal reputational damage or gross misconduct. The financial underpin was set such that annual

Total Income must be on average £181.3m over the periad of three years 2022 to 2024. Prior to vesting, the Committee will
assess whether the actual performance of the Company and Executive Directors warrants the vesting of awards, to guard against
payment for failure or windfall gains. The Committee retains the discretion to rmake any adjustment to vesting it deems necessary
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Annual report on remuneration continued

Directors’ shareholding and share interests (audited)

Table of Directors’ share interests as at 31 December 2022

Unvested Unvested
awards awards
vested but (not subject to {subject to
Benelicially unexercisod performance performance
awned shares’ awards conditions) conditions) Total
Executive Directors
Lisa Jacchs 285,256 589,646 246,302 358,177 1,479,421
Cliver White 257,067 75883 159,664 1,464,002 1,956,611
Non-Executive Directors
Andrew Learoyd 1,688,691 100,000 — - 1,789,991
Samir Desal (appointed 1 January 2022) 16,397,164 1.881,250 461,320 — 18,739,734
Eric Daniels - 383,204 - - 383,204
Geeta Gopalan 33,216 - - - 33,216
Helen Beck 9,235 - - - 9,235
Matthew King 15,400 - — - 15,400
Hendrik Nelis - - - - -
Neil Rimer - = - - -

1 inclades shares owned by connected persons

The Company's share ownership reguirements are that Executive Directors shall (subject to personal circumstances) build and
maintain a shareholding equivalent to at least 200% of salary over five years from their appointment. At the end of the 2022
financial year, the CEQ (who was appointed to the Board on 1 January 2022), held 1,121,244 shares, equal to 139.6% of salary
based on the three-month average share price to 31 December 2022 of 49.8p. The CFO {(who was appointed to the Board on

15 June 2020), held 492,608 shares, equal ta 61.3% of salary based on the three month average share price to 31 December 2022
of 48.8p. Unvested awards subject to performance conditions are not taken into account in the assessment of the shareholding

until such time as they vest.

As an early-stage private company, which did not pay Directors’ fees, the Company historically granted options to certain
Non-Executive Directors under the Company’s pre-IPO share option plan. Although the options granted will continue to be held
by those Non-Executive Directors gaing forward, na further options have or will be granted to Non-Executive Directors post-IPQ
under any of the Company’s share opticn plans. The options held by the relevant Non-Executive Directors are all vested.

110 Funong Crcle Holdings plo



Table of Directors’ vested and unvested share awards (audited)

No of No. of Exercise
awards at Awards Awards Awards Awards awards at Date of price/
1 January granted lapsed vested exercised 31 Decembaer vesting subscription  Market price
Award type! 2022 intheycar in the year intheyear  intheyear 2022 commenced price  Onexercise
Executive Directors
Lisa Jacohs 2018 LTIP 250,000 — - 62,500 - 250,000 11/03/2020 £0.00 n/a
162,500 - - 162,500 - 162,500 12/03/2022 £0.00 n/a
173,642 — - - - 173,642 76/03/2023 £0.00 n/a
Restricted
Shares - 358177 o - - 358,177 24/03/2025 £0 00 n/a
Snare
Incenve Plan 4,646 - - 4,046 - 4,646 15/04/2027 £0.00 n/a
2341 — - — - 2,341 05/05/2023 £0 00 n/a
- 7819 - - — 7,819 20/04/2024 £000 n/a
2011 &M
Share Plan 175,000 — - — {175,000} — 26/09/2016 £0.02 £061
41,000 - - - - 41,000 13/03/2017 £002 n/a
44,000 - - - - 44,000 05/11/2017 £0.02 n/a
Unapproved 150,000 — - - - 150,006 01/03/2022 £0.44 n/a
Oliver White 2018 LTIP 925,390 — - - - 925,390 31/03/2023 £000 n/a
Share
Incentive Plan 4991 - - 4991 - 4991 15/04/2022 £000 n/a
3967 — - - — 3,967 18/01/2023 £000 n/a
- 7.819 - - — 7,819 20/04/2024 £0.00 nsa
2020 nonus
buyout 71,237 — - 71,237 - 71,237 26/03/2022 £0.00 n/a
Restricted
Shares 269,306 - - - - 269,306 19/05/2024 £0.00 n/a
- 269306 - - - 269,306 24/03/2025 £0.00 n/a
2021 Deferred — 147533 - - - 147,533 25/03/2025 £0.00 n/a
bonus plan
Non-Executive Directors
Andrew Learoyd  Unapproved 100,000 - - - - 100,000 18/06/2015 £032 n/a
Samir Desai Unapproved 250,000 - - 537,500 — 2,150,000 01/06/2020 £0O00 n/a
2021 Deterred - 192,570 - - — 192,570 21/04/2025 EC 00 n/a
bonus plan
Eric Daniels
Unaparoved 195,704 - - - - 195,704 22/04/2013 E0 03 n/a
Linaparoved 187,500 - - - - 187,500 01/03/2016 £0 39 n/a

1 Otaer thanin cestain circumstances as set outin the 2021 Directors’ Reaort on Hemuneration on page 102 {e g. on terrmination of emaloyment or change of control}, vested
unapproved cplions can be exercised duning a penod of ten years fram the date of grant,

7 Glve- white 825,306 were g-anted under the 2018 tong-Term incentive plan 01 19th June 2020 and will lapse nazed o1 performance ending i1 tne financial year 2022

Payments for loss of office

There were no payments made for loss of office during the year,

Payments to former Diractors
There were no payments made to former Directors during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Annual report on remuneration continued

Performance graph

The chart below illustrates the Company's TSR performance compared with that of the FTSE AflShare Index. This index has
been chosen as the Company is a constituent and it is considered the most appropriate benchmark against which to assess
the relative performance of the Company. The chart shows the value of £100 invested in Funding Circle at the IPO offer price
of £4.40 per share on 28 September 2078 compared with the value of £100 invested in the FTSE AliShare Index on that date.

£
120 ¢

100 —
80t
&0 [
40

20 F

O 1 1 L J
Sep 2018 Dec 2018 Dec 2019 Dec 2620 Dec 2021

O Funding Circle plc O FTSE Alishare Index

CEQO remuneration table
The table below sets out the CEO’s single figure of total remuneration.

FOQ0 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
CEQ Samir Desai Samir Desai Samir Desai Samir Desai Samir Desai Samir Desai Lisa Jacobs
CEO total remuneration’ 160 204 4,081 2n 201 629 661
Annual bonus payout (% maximum)? n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 78.4% 45.0%
Long-term incentives (% maximum)? n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

1 The 2018 figure includes snare oplicns tat were granted ono- 1o IP0 which were subject to conbinued employment only In 2021 Sarmir Desai warved nis salary increase from
£210,0001ts £400 000

2 IThe CEO -ecerved no bonus from 2016 10 7020

3 Samir Desar did not particivate 11 any fang-term ncentive Lisa Jacoos' first long term incentive onsortanity as CEQ was t1e Resticted Share award made in Margn 2027
The % vesung of this award will oe ~eparted aganst 2C24.1n the refevant Directo s’ Remuneration Report

Relative importance of spend on pay

The table below sets out our relative importance of spend on pay. There have been no dividends paid 1o date

Total Income and Adjusted ERITDA (AEBITDA) have been presented as these are two key performance measures used by the
Directors in assessing Funding Circle’s performance.

2022 2021 % Change
Total Income £148.7m £2069m (28)%
Adjusted EBITDA £6.8m £91.8m (93)%
Employee costs £86.4m £78.3m 10%
Average number of employees 893 804 11%
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FPercentage change 1n Directors’ remuneration compared with employees
The table below sets out the annual percentage change in remuneration from 2019 to 2022 for each individual who was a

Director during 2022, compared Lo Lhal for an average employee Data for former Directors during this timeframe can be found
in the relevant Directers’ Remuneration Reports spanning their tenure.

Salary/fees’ Benefits Annual bonus
2021 to 2020 1o 2019 o 202110 2020 o 2019 to 2021 to 2020 to 2019 to
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
Executive Directors
Lisa Jacobs® n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Samir Desai (CEQ) n/a +5% -5% n/a +33.6%" 0% n/a n/a n/a
Cliver White® — - n/a 22% +8.4% n/a -437% n/a n/a
Non-Cxecutive Directors
Andrew Learoyd +2.9% +5% -5% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Samir Desai (NED) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Eric Daniels +6.4% +5% -5% +21% n/a -100% n/a n/a n/a
Geeta Gopalan +11% +15% -5% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Helen Beck® +6.4% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Matthew King® +39.3% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Hendrik Nelis’ n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Neil Rimer’ n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a nf/a
Average employee® B.7% -13.3% 1.7% -4.0% +8.7% +1.8% +3.3% +171% +61.2%

1 The Board a1d the Global Leadershin Team voluntarily reduced their salaries end fees by 20% over the peniod March to May 2020 Inresponse Lo the Cavid-19 panderme This s
the reason for the enange 1 salaries and fees f-om 2019 to 2021 shown above No Director "ecelved a salary or fee 1nc-ease during 7020 or 2021 Samir Desa), as CED, wawed

hig salary increase for 2027

2 Lisa Jacobs was appointed to the Board on 1 Janua-y 2022,

3 Samir Gesar's benefits did not include a pension contrioution or cash in liew which he waved nis nght to

4 Olwver White was appoited 1o the Board on 15 June 2020,

5 Helen Becx was appointed ta the Board on 1 June 2021 Far the companson of 2021 to 2022, Helen’s 2077 fee has been annualised to permit meaningful companson
Theincrease reported in the table above reflects the increase in 2022 in the additional fee payable for chairing the Rernuneration Committee,

6 Matthew King was aspointed to the Board on 18 May 2021. For the comparison of 2021 to 2022, Matthew's 2021 fee has been annualised to pe-mit meangful companson
The increase reported i the table above reflects the introduction of an additional fee payable for chairing the Boa-d of Funding Cirele tid

7 Hendrni< Melis and Nell Rimer, wno are not independent Non Executive Directors, have waived tneir entitlernent to a fee

8 Theannual percentage cnange of ine average remune-ation of the Company's employees, calculated on a full-time equivalent casis

CEO pay ratio

Funding Circle is committed to remunerating its employees fairly and competitively. We calculate our CEQ pay ratio using the
prescribed Methodology A, as shown in the table below. Methodology A was selected as this is considered the most accurate

approach and is generally the preferred approach by shareholders and proxy agencies.

Year Method 25th percentile pay ratio Median pay ratic 75th percentile pay ratio
2022 Cption A 17.6 1.3 7.0
2021 Cption A 184 1.6 &9
2020 Option A 58 3.8 23
2019 Gption A 6.8 39 2.5

There has been an slight decrease in the CEC pay ratio for 2022 due to Circler pay increasing at a higher rate than the change in
pay between Lisa Jacobs as CEQ in 2022 and Samir Desai as CEQ in 2021, The Board has confirmed that the ratio is consistent

with the Company’s wider policies on employee pay, reward and progression.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Annual report on remuneration continued

Total pay and benefits used to calculate the ratios

The table below sets out the UK employee percentile pay and benefits used to determine the above pay ratios and the salary
compoenent for each figure.

Cro 25th percentile Median 75th percentile
2022
Salary compaonent £400,000 £31.007 £48,271 £81.441
Total pay and benefits £660,542 £37,429 £58,083 £94,385

The CEQ remuneration is the total single figure remuneration for the relevant years and 2021 and 2022 are disclosed on page
106. The UK employege total remuneration has been calculated based on the amount paid or receivable for the relevant years.
The calculations for the UK employees were performed as at the final day of the relevant financial year.

Implementation of the Remuneration Policy for the year ended 31 December 2023
Salary

The table below shows the salaries for the Executive Directors as al 1 March 2023 in comparison to base salary as at 1 March 2022,
The below increases are below the budget for other Circlers of 5%.

1 March 1 January
2023 20227 % change
Lisa Jacobs £414,000 £400,000 +3 5%
Oliver White £470,000 £400,000 +2.5%

Annual bonus

The maximum opportunity for the CEQ is 133% of salary and for the CFO is 100% of salary. The target opportunity for both is
50% of maximum opportunity. The annual bonus measures will be as follows:

2023 measure 2023 measure
AEBITDA 30%
Total Income 30%
FlexiPay {Financial/Strategic) 10%
Strategic/non-financial measures 30%

40% of any bonus earned will be deferred into shares for three years. The Board considers the actual targets for 2023 10 be
commercially sensitive at this time, however, we will provide retrospective disclosure of these targets in next year's report.

The Committee may apply its discretion to amend the bonus payout should any formulaic assessment of performance not
reflect the Committee’s assessment of overall business perfermance, the performance of the indwidual, or the experience
of shareholders or other stakeholders over the performance year.
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Restricted Share awards
tn accordance with our Policy, the number of Restricted Shares granted to Executive Directors in 2023 will be equal to the
number granted in 2021 and 2027.

Accordingly, the CEQ and the CFO will be awarded 358,177 and 269,306 Restricted Shares respectively in 2023. Application of
the Policy means that the face value of the award is formulaically reduced if there has been a fail in the share price, which aligns
with proxy agency guidance. As shown in our "lllustration of the application of Remuneration Policy in 2023" charts, the grant
date face value of 2023 Restricted Share awards would be ¢.25% lower compared to 2022 Resiricted Share awards (assumes a
share price of 49.8p at the time the 2023 Restricted Share awards are granted, which was the three month average share price
to 31 December 2022).

Vesting will be subject to a financial underpin based on Total Income as well as qualitative underpins to ensure that Executive
Directors are not rewarded where the Committee considers there to have been a failure in performance, including serious
breaches of regulation, material reputational damage or gross misconduct. The financial underpin has been set such that annual
{otal Income must be on average £130 million over the pericd of three years from 2023 to 2025, Prior 1o vesting, the Committee
wili assess whether the actual performance of the Company and Executive Directors warrants vesting of the awards, to guard
against payment for failure or windfall gains. The Cammittee retains the discretion to make any adjustment 1o vesting it deems
necessary. Any vested awards will remain subject to a two-year post-vesting holding period.

Benefits and pension contributions

In line with our Policy, the benefits offered to Executive Directors are in line with those available to other employees in the Group.
All Circlers (including Executive Directors) are offered the opportunity to receive Private Medical Insurance, life assurance, dental
insurance, and a health cash plan paid for by Funding Circle. Circlers can upgrade their cover and include family members/
spouses/partners at their own cost The Executive Directors, and all UK Circlers, are eligible to receive a pension contribution

or cash in lieu of 5% of salary.

2022 and 2023 Non-Executive Director and Chair fees
It has been determined that the Non-Executive Director fees will rernain unchanged for 2023, as set out in the table below:

Fee 2022 2023
Chair fee £207,000 £207,000
Non-Executive Director base fee £55,000 £55,000
Senlor Independent Director fee £10,000 £10,000
Committee Chair fees (other than the Nomination Committee) £15,000 £15,000
Chair of Funding Circle Ltd £15,000 £16,000

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies
and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (as amended}, the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code and the UK
Listing Authority’s Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Directors
for the year ended 31 December 2022

The Directors present their report (the "Directors’ Report”) and the Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2022

Information required to be part of the Directors’ Report either by statute, by Listing Rule 9.8 or by the DTRs can be found either in
this section or elsewhere in this document, as indicated in the table below All information located elsewhere in this document is

incorparated into this Directors’ Report by reference:

Secton of Annual Report

Page reference

Information required by LR9.8/DTRs
Corporate Governance Staternent
Going Concern and Viability Statement
Directors’ interests

Long-term incentive schemes

waiver of emoluments

Powers for the Company to buy back its shares

Allotment of shares during the year
Significant shareholders

Related party agreements

Diversity policy

Climate-related financial disclosures

Corporate Governance Statement (page 80)

Risk Management {page 71)

Remuneration Report {page 110) and Directors’ Report {page 116}

Remuneration Report {page 109)
Remuneration Report {pages 106)

Directors’ Report {page 117)

Note 17 to the financial statements

Directors’ Report {page 118)

Note 25 to the financial statements

Strategic Report (page 25}

Environment, social and governance {("ESG") (pages 30 1o 43)

Statutory infermation
Stakeholder engagement

Employee engagement

Policy concerning the employment of disabled persons

Financial instruments
Future developrrients of the business

Strategic Report — Our stakeholders {pages 44 to 46). See also Board decision
making and section 172 duties on pages 78 to 79 of the Corporate

Governance Report.

Strategic Report — Our stakeholders (pages 44 to 46) and Our People
{page 24). See also Board decision making and section 172 duties on
pages 78 to 79 of the Corporate Governance Report.

Strategic Report — Qur people (page 25)

MNote 16 to the financial statements

Strategic Report {pages 1510 17)

Greenhouse gas emissions, energy consumption

and energy efficiency action
Significant agreements
Non-financial reporting

Strategic Report - Environment, social and governance {pages 39 to 41)

Directors’ Report (page 116)
Strategic Report — see below

Management Report

This Directors’ Report, together with the
Strategic Report on pages 1to 71, forms
the Management Report for the purposes
of DTR 4.1.5R.

Strategic Report

Section 414A of the Companies Act
2006 (the “Act’) requires the Directors 1o
present a Strategic Report in the Annual
Report and Accounts. The information

Directors and their interests

can be found on pages 110 71

The Company has chosen, in accordance
with section 414C (11) of the Act and as
noted in this Directors’ Report, to include
certain matters in its Strategic Report
that would otherwise be disclosed in this
Directors’ Report.

Section 414C of the Act requires the
Company to include within its Strategic
Report a non-financial statement

setting out such information as s
required by section 414CB of the Act
Such information is set out in the Qur
people section on pages 24 to 27, the

ESG section on pages 28 tc 43, the Our
business model and Cur strategy sections
on pages 18 to 19 and 22 to 23, our key
perfarmance indicators on page 20, and
the Risk management and Going concern
and Viability statement sections on
pages 55to 71.

Biographies of the Directors currently serving on the Board are set out on page 74 to 75. Our Articles of Association provide that
all our Directors must stand for re-election by shareholders at each AGM

Detalls of Directors’ service cantracts are set aut in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 105, The interests of the
Directors in the shares of the Company are also shown on page 110 of that report. In the peried between 31 December 2022
and 28 February 2023 (being the latest practicable date prior to the date of this report), there were no additional ordinary shares
allotted to Lisa Jacobs or Oliver White under the Company’s Share Incentive Plan.

In line with the requirements of the Act, each Director has notified the Company of any situation in which they have, or could
have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict, with the interests of the Company (a situational confhict).
The Board has formal procedures to deal with Directors’ conflicts of interest

None of the Directors has a matenial interest in any significant contract with the Company or any member of its Group
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Insurance and indemnities

The Company maintains appropriate nsurance to cover Directors’ and Officers’ liability for itself and its subsidiaries. In addition
the Company indemnifies each Director undet & separale deed of indemnity. The Company also indemnifies each Director under
its Articles of Association. Such indemnities are qualifying indemnities for the purposes of, and permitted under, section 234 of
the Act.

Results and dividends
The Group's and the Company's audited financial staterments for the year are set out on pages 128 to 189.

The Directors do not recommend payment of a final dividend for 2022 (2021: £nil).

Authority to allot or purchase the Company’s shares

The Articles permit the Directars ta issue or approve the purchase by the Company of its own shares, subject to obtaining
shareholders’ prior approval. The authority to issue u buy back shares will expire al the 2023 AGM, and 1t will be proposed at the
meeting that the Directors be granted new authorities to issue and buy back shares. The Directors currently have authority to
approve the Company's purchase of up to 35,732,624 of the Company's ordinary shares. The trustee of the Company’s Employee
Benefit Trust made market purchases of 17.660,340 {2021: nil) ordinary shares of nominal value of £0.001 in the Company

from March to August 2022, representing 4.89% of the issued share capital at 31 December 2022, for the purpose of satisfying
employee share option plans. The total cost of the market purchases was £8.7m with the average purchase price of each share
being £0.50. This represents the maximum number of purchased shares held during the year. 1,189,101 of the purchased shares
were utilised during the year to satisfy the exercise of employee share options. As at 28 February 2023, the trustee holds 4.42%

of the Company’s issued share capital.

Share capital

The Company's issued share capital comprises ordinary shares of £0.007, each of which are listed on the London Stock Exchange.
The issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2022 comprises 361,303,143 ordinary shares of £0.007 each.
Further information regarding the Company’s issued share capital can be found on page 168 of the financial statements.

Details of the shares held by the Group's Employee Benefit Trust are disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

Rights attaching to shares

All shares have the same rights {including voting and dividend rights and rights on a return of capital) and restrictions as set
out in the Articles, described below. Except in relation to dividends and rights on a liquidation of the Company, the shareholders
have no rights to share in the profits of the Company. The Campany’s shares are not redeemable. However, following any grant
of authority from shareholders, the Company may purchase or contract to purchase any of the shares on or off market. subject
to the Act and the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Voting rights

Al members who hold ordinary shares are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM. On a show of hands at a general meeting,
every member present in person shall have one vote and on a poll, every member present in person or by proxy shall have one
vate for every share of which he or she is the halder. No shareholder holds ordinary shares carrying special rights refating to the
control of the Company and the Directors are not aware of any agreements between holders of the Company’s shares that may
result Iin restrictions on voting rights.

Shares held by the Company's Employee Benefit Trust rank pari passu with the shares in issue and have no specia! rights.
voting rights and rights of acceptance of any offer relating to shares held in trust rest with the Trustees and are not exercisable
by employees, although the Trustees will exercise such rights arising from allocated shares in accordance with the relevant
participant’s directions.

Restrictions on transfer of securities

The Articles do not contain any restrictions on the transfer of ordinary shares in the Company cther than the usual restrictions
applicable where any amount is unpaid on a share. All issued share capital of the Company at the date of this report is fully paid
Certain restrictions are also imposed by laws and regulations (such as insider dealing and market requirements relating to closed
perods) and requirements of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules, as well as the Company's own dealing cedes,
whereby Directors, persons connected to the Directors and certain employees of the Company require approval to deal in the
Company’s securities.

Change of control

Certain LTIP awards held by members of the GLT {excluding the Executive Directors) and an award made to the CEQ in 2019
contain additional protections in the event of termination of employment dug 1o a takecver bid where such termination is deemed
to be connected wrth the change of control. Save in respect of these awards, there are no agreements between the Company and
its Directors or employees providing for compensation for loss of office or employment {whether through resignation, purported
redundancy or otherwise) because of a takeover bid.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Directors continued

Change of control continued

The Group is party to a limited number of funding and servicing agreements that include change of control provisions which, in
the event of a change of control undertaken not in compliance with the procedural requirements of the relevant arrangement,
could result in the termination of further loan onigination and termination of servicing by the Group under the affected arrangement.
In addition, the Group participates in cne or more lending schemes that benefit from a form of government-backed guarantee
and it is expected that, in the event of a change of control of the Company, the consent of the relevant loan guarantor would be
required to enable the Group’s continued participation in those schemes.

Significant shareholdings

As at 31 December 2022, the Company has been notified pursuant to DTRS.1, or is otherwise aware, of the following significant
interests in the issued ordinary share capital of the Campany:

Number Percentage

of ordinary issucd share

shares as at capital as a1

31 December 31 December

Name of shareholder 2022 2022
Index Ventures 58,618,351 1622
Aktieselskabet af 2.7.2018 46,507936 12 87
Accel London Management 26,906,743 745
T Rowe Price Global Investments 21,567,636 597
Funding Circle Employee Benefit Trust 16,726,515 4.63
DST Managers 16,505,378 4.57
JG Hambro Capital 16,403,932 454
Mr Samir Desal 16,397164 4.54
Capital Group 14,713,073 447

In the period between 31 December 2022 and 28 February 2023 (the latest practicable date pricr to the date of this report), the
Company recewved no further notifications pursuant to DTRS.1.

Research and development

The Group invests in the research and development of technology and software products that enable the Group to achieve its
key performance objective of growing lending to SMEs whilst delivering resilient returns to investors.

Political donations
There were no political donations made during the year or the previous year.

External branches

The Company has subsidiaries in the United Kingdem, the United States of America, Germany, Spain and the Netherlands and
has one UK branch of the Netherlands entity that was set up during the reporting period.

External auditors

PwC have confirmed their willingness to continue as external auditors and a resolution to reappoint them as the Company’s
external auditors, and to authorise the Directors to fix the auditors’ remuneration, will be proposed at the 2023 AGM.

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:
so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's external auditors are unaware; and
+  the Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director in order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Act

2023 AGM
The Company’s AGM will take place at 12:00 on 11 May 2023 at the Company's offices at 71 Queen Victoria Street, London,
ECAV 4AY.

A separate circular, comprising a letter from the Chair of the Board, Nouce of Meeting and explanatory notes on the resolutions
being proposed, has been circulated to shareholders and is avaitable on ocur website, https:// corporate fundingeircle comy
investors/shareholder-meetings
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for
preparing the Annual Report and the
financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Directors
to prepare financia! statements for
each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have prepared the Group
and Company financial statements

n accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards.

Under company law, Directors must not
approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and Company and of the profit

or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing the financial statements,
the Directors are required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies
and then apply them consistently;

state whether applicable UK-adopted
international accounting standards
have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements;

make judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasonzble and
prudent; and

prepare the financial statements on
the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the
Group and Company will continue
in business.

The Directors are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the
Group and Company and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud
and other irreqularities.

| he Directors are also responsible

for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Group's and Company's
transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Group and
Company and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements and the
Directors’ Remuneration Report comply
with the Companies Act 2006.

The Directors are respensible for
the maintenance and integrity of the
Company's website. Legislation in
the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from
legisiation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmations

The Directors consider that the Annual
Report and Accounts, taken as a whole,
is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the informaticn necassary for
shareholders to assess the Group's and
Company's position and performance,
business model and strategy

Each of the Directors, whose names and
functions are listed in the Report of the
Directors confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge:

« the Group and Company financial
statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with
UK-adopted international accounting
standards, give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities and financial
position of the Group and Company,
and of the profit of the Group; and

+ the Strategic Report includes a
fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the
positicn of the Group and Company,
together with a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties that
they face.

In the case of each Director in office
at the date the Directors’ report
is approved:

so far as the Director is aware, there
is no relevant audit information of
which the Group’s and Company’s
auditors are unaware; and

they have taken all the steps that
they ought to have taken as a
Director in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Group’s and
Company’s auditors arc awarc of
thatinformation.

Approved by the Board and signed on
its behalf.

S £
Lisa Jacobs
Chief Executive Officer
2 March 2023
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditors’ report
to the members ¢f Funding Circle Holdings ple

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
in our opinion, Funding Circle Holdings plc’s Group financial statements and Company financial statements (the "financial statements”):

- give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Company's affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of the Group's loss and
the Group’s and Company's cash flows for the year then ended;

+ have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards as appliad in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Accounts (the "Annuzl Report”), which comprise: the
consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 31 December 2022 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity and the consofidated and Company statements of cash flows for the year
then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Our apinion 1$ consistent with our reparting to the Audit Committee

Basis for opinion

We conducted cur audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} ("ISAs (UK}") and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion,

Independence

We remained Independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are refevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical respansibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided.

Other than those disclosed in note 4, we have provided no non-audit services to the Company or its contralled undertakings in the period
under audit

Our audit appreach

Overview

Audit scope

+ Our audit included full scope audits of the UK and US companents. We performed audit procedures over specific balances in respect
of the Funding Circle Central Europe ("FCCE") comgaonent at a Group level which together with the full scope audits accounted far 96%
of the Group's total income and 99% of the Group’s loss before taxation.

+ The scope of the audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures were determined by our risk assessment, the financial
significance of financial statement line items and qualitative factors (including history of misstaternent through fraud or error). In
particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates
that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

Key audit matters
- Valuation of SME leans (securnitised) and investments and co-investments in RLS / CBILs trusts {Group).

+ Carrying value of the Company’s investment in the US subsidiary (Company).

Materiality
- Overall Group materiality: £1,430,000 (2021: £1,800,000) based on 5% of the average of profit/lass before taxation for the previous
three years, adjusted for exceptiona! items and fair value gains and losses

- Qverall Company materiality. £3,840,000 (2021: £3.400,000) based on 1% of total assets.
- Performance materiality: £1,072,500 (2621: £1,350,000) (Group) and £2,888,000 (2021. £2,500,000) {Company}.

The scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Funding Circle Holdings plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements continued

Our audit approach continued

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud)
identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the sllocation of rescurces in the
audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures
thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinicn thereon, and we
do not provide a separate gpinion on these matters.

This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit
The key audit matters below are consistent with last year

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of SME loans (securitised) and investments and  Our audit procedures comprised the fallawing:

co-investments in RLS / CBILS trusts (Group) - We understood and evaluated the design and implementation of controls

Refer to Report of the Audit Committee - Significant issues relating to the valuation of the Group's portfolic of SME loans (securitised)

considered in relation to the financial statements; note 1 and investments and cg-investments in RLS / CBILs trusts.

{accounting palicies); note 2 (critical accounting judgements and }

key sources of estimation uncertainty); nate 12 (investment in - We engaged our valuation experts 10 assess Ihe appropriateness of the

SME loans); and note 16 (financial risk management) of the methadolegy used by management in determining the valuation of the

Group financial statements, investments in SME loans (secur\tlseq) and investments and co-
investments in RLS / CBILs trusts which are held at fair value This

The Group holds portfolios of investments in SME loans included assessing the reasonableness of the significant assumptions

(securitised) and investments and co-investments in RLS / within the valuation models, which we considered to be the discount rate

CBILS trusts and records them on the balance sheet at far value and default rate for the US SME loans (securitised) and the discount rate in

with resultant gains and losses recognised in the income the investments and co-investments in the leveraged RLS / CBILs trusts.

statement. As at the balence sheet date, the Group's investment Our assessment of the reasonableness of the assumptions included

in SME loans {(securitised) and investments and co-investrments comparisan to historical performance and third party data where available.

in RLS / CBILs trusts held at fair value totalled £74.5m ) .
atial « We derived our own independent estimate of the discount rates and

The estimation of the fair value of the SME loans (secuntised) compared these to those used by management.
and investments and co-investrments in RLS / CBILS trusts
requires models which ultilise both ohservable and unobservable
inputs, with reasonable movements In the significant
assurmptions resulting in material changes to fair value. Based on the above procedures performed, and the evidence obtained, we
concluded that the estimated fair value of the SME loans {securitised) and
investments and co-nvestments 1n RLS / CBILS trusts were reasonatble.

« We huilt our own indepandent models to re-calculate the fair value using
management's assumptions.

We performed sensitivity analysis to assess the susceptibility
of changes in key assumptions and identified the discount rate
inthe investments and co-investments in leveraged RLS / CBILS  We evaluated the appropriateness of the related key sources of estimation
trusts and the discount rate and default rates in the U3 SME uncertainty disclosure in note 2 1o the Group financial statements and the
loans (securitised) as the significant assumptions disclosures on financiat instruments innote 12 and note 16 and considered

As a result the valuation of the SME loans (secuntised) and these to be reasonable.

investrments and co-investments in RLS / CBILS trusts has been
an area of focus in our audit.

Carrying value of the Company's investment in the Our audit procedures comprised the following:

US subsidiary (Company) - We understood the controls relating to the Company’s Impairment assessments.
Refer to Report of the Audit Commuttee — Significant issues
cansidered in relation to the financial statements; note 1
accounting policies including key sources of estimation
uncertainty); and note 5 (Investments in subsidiary
undertakings) of the Company financial statements - we agreed the forecast financial information to budgets and forecasts
approved by senior management and the Board, including the
adjustments from the Medium-Term Plan,

We assessed the meathodology used by management against the
requirements of the financial reporting framework and tested the
mathematical accuracy of the modet

The Company halds an investment in the US subisidiary with a
carrying value of £80.5m after the reversal of impairment loss
of £45.3min the year - \We compared the foracast growth rates with those achieved by the

IAS 36 Impairment of Assetg’ requires that investrments are subject USbusiness in the pas:

to animpairment review when there is an indication that an asset

We identified the key drivers in management’s forecasts and assessed

may be impaired or where there may be an impairment reversal, their reasonableness by ceamparing them to histarical results

The main indicators that there may be a reversal of the impairment - We assessed the apprepriateness of the discount rate assumption by

in the carrying value of the investment in the US subsidiary are using our valuation exaerts to derive an independent view on the rate and
the improvement in the forecast performance of the business as cormpared this to the one used by management

well as the net asset value exceeding the carrying value at the

We en X iali o review and assess the reasonablene f
balance sheet date engaged tax specialists t e S50

the Group's transfer pricing policy and arrangements We tested whether
Management perforrmed an impairment assessment and transfer pricing adjustments were consistent with the pelicy and have
estimated the recoverable amount using a value-in-use model been appropriately reflected within the model.

This assessment identified an impairment reversal of £45 3m.
We perfarmed sensitivity analysis to assess the susceptibulity
of change in assumptions and 1dentified the revenue growth
rate, transfer pricing arrangements between the US and the
UK and the discount rate as the key assumptions.

Based on the above procedures performed, and the evidence obtained, we
considered the Directars’ conclusion that there has been an indicator of a
reversal of the impairment in the carrying value and that the carrying value
of the US subaidiary had increased to £80.5m to be reasonable.

We evaluated the appropriateness of the related disclosures in note 1
(significant accounting palicies including key sources of estimation ungertainty)
tothe Company's financial statements and note S {investments in subsidiaries)
and considered these to be reasonable,

Given the magnitude of the carrying value of the investment in
the US subsidiary to the Company this has been an area of focus
in our audit
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Report on the audit of the financial statements continued

Qur audit approach continued

Key audit matters continued

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work 1o be able to give an opinion on the financial statements
as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry
in which they operate,

1) Audit appreach ta Funding Circle's operations: We perfarmed a risk assessment, giving consideration to relevant external and internal
factars, including economic risks, climate change, relevant accounting and regulatory developments, and Funding Circle’s strategy.
We also considered our knowledge and experience obtained in prior year audits. We designed our audit approach for the products and
services that substantially make up Funding Circle's businesses in the UK, US and CE, such as platform lending, markelplace referrals,
lines of credit and the origination of, and investment in, SME loan portfolios. The audit approach was designed by a partner and team
members who are specialists in the relevant areas. The risk assessment and audit appreoach were provided to the US audit team who
confribirted to the Group audit.

2} Audit work for in scape camponents: Through our risk assessment and scoping we identified Funding Circle Limited and the US group
as full scope components due to being financially significant We considered FCCE as a limited scope entity for specific balances
including loan repurchase liability and cash. We instructed our network firm in the US to perform a full scope audit of the US compenent.
The Group audit team perfarmed the audit work for the UK componenits and the specific work over FCCE balances. We assigned
materiality levels to components reflecting the size of their operations. The performance materiality levels ranged from £750,000 to
£1,020,000. We determined the level of involvement we needed 10 have in their audit work to be able to conclude whether sufficient
appropriate audit evidence had been cbtained as a basis for our opinion on the Group financial statements as a whole. This included
active and regular dialogue with the partner and team responsible for the audit of the US eomponent, the issuance of instructions,
reviewing their audit plan and strategy and a review of their audit working papers and their findings in certain areas. Analytical review
procedures were performed over FCCE, a non-significant component with material balances, to mitigate the risk of material misstatement.

3) Audit procedures undertaken at a Group level and on the Company. We ensured that appropriate further work was undertaken for the
Graup and Company Certain account balances were audited centrally by the Group engagernent team, including the Company’s
investment in subsdiary undertakings, investments in associates, valuation of SME loans, capitalisation of development costs, marketplace
fee revenue, operating expenses, leases, share based payments, the consolidation of the Group's results, the preparation of the financial
statements, and certain disclosures within the Directors’ remuneration report and taxation.

4} Using the wark of others: We used the evidence provided by our valuation experts and specialists for our work on certain assumptions
used in the impairment assessment over the Company’s investment in the US subsidiary, the valuation of the SME loans (securitised)
and investments and co-investments in RLS / CBILs trusts recorded at fair value, and the provision for expected credit losses on lines
of credit

The impact of climate risk an our audit

As part of our audit we made enguiries of management to understand the extent of the potential impact of climate risk on the
Group's and Company's financial statements, and we remained alert when performing our audit procedures for any indicators of the
impact of climate risk. Our procedures did not identify any material impact as a result of cimate risk on the Group's and Company’s
financial statements.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain guantitative thresholds for materiality. These,
together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit
procedures on the indwidual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, bath
individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on cur professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Funding Gircle Holdings plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements continued

Our audit approach continued
Materiality continued

Financial statements - Group Financial statements — Company
Overall materiality £7,430,000 (2021: £1,800,000). £3,840,000 {2021: £3,400,000).
How we determined it 5% of the average of profit/loss before taxation for the previous 1% of total assets.
three years, adjusted for exceptional items and fair value gains
and losses.
Rationale for We determined materiality by applying 5% to the average We consider total assets to be the most
benchmark applied consolidated profit/loss before taxation for the previous three appropriate benchmark to apply on the
years after adjusting for exceptional items and fair value gains basis that the Company I1s a non-trading

and losses. We censider profit/loss before taxation to be themost  investment company that holds
appropriate benchmark used in assessing the performance of the  investment in the Group’s subsidiaries.
Group as the business is listed and profit orientated. Given the

volatility in the underlying performance, we consider it appropriate

to take an average of the results of the preceding three years. We

believe that profit/loss before taxation adjusted for exceptional

items and fair value gains and losses is an appropriate measure

as it elirminates the impact of one-off non-recurring items which

significantly impact comparability.

For each component in the scope of our Group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our averall Group materiality. The range
of materiality allocated across components was between £1,000,000 and £1,358,500. Certain components were audited to a local
statutory audit materiality that was also less than our overall Group materiality.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected
misstaterments exceeds averall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope of our audit and the
nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for exampie in determining sample sizes.
Our performance materiality was 75% (2021: 75%) of overall materiality, amounting to £1,072,500 (20271: £1,350,000) for the Group
financial statements and £2,880,000 (2027. £2,500,000) for the Company financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment and
aggreqation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our normal range was appropriate.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £71,500 (Group
audit) (2021: 90,000) and £195,000 (Company audit) {2021: £85,000) as well as misstaternents below those amounts that, in our view,
warranted reporting for qualitative reasons

Conclusions relating to going concern
Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group's and the Company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting included:

performing a risk assessment to identify factors that could impact the going cancern basis of accounting, including the impact of
external risks such as an uncertain economic environment and climate change;

understanding and evaluating management’s financial forecasts and liquidity and reguiatory capital aver the going concern period
including the impact of new products such as FlexiPay and an evaluation of the stress testing performed by management,

review of management’s covenant compliance monitoring and the impact of the stress scenarios on the covenants;
substantiation of financial rescurces available to the Group and Company as at the balance sheet date including the unrestricted cash, and

reading and evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures made in the financial statements in relation to gaing concern.
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Report on the audit of the financial statements continued

Conclusions relating to going concern continued

Based on the wark we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for g period of at
least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appraopriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the Group's and the
Company's ability 1o continue as a going concern,

In relation to the directers’ reporting on how they have applied the UK Corparate Governance Code, we have nothing material to add or
draw attention to in refation to the directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate
to adopt the geing concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of
this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ repart
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other infarmation, which includes reporting based on the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures {TCFD) recommendations Qur opinian on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
accerdingly, we da not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance
thereon

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information 1s materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform
procedures to conclude whether there 1s a material misstaterment of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
infarmation. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these respansibilities

With respect to the Strategic report and Report of the Directors, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions and
matters as described below.

Strategic report and Report of the Directors

In our opinion, based on the wark undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and Report of the
Directors for the year ended 31 December 20272 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did
not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Report of the Directors.

Directors’ remuneration
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been praperly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006

Corporate governance statement

The Listing Rules require us to review the directors’ statements in relation to going concern, longer-term viahility and that part of the
corporate governance statement relating to the Company's compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
specified for our review. Qur additional respansibilities with respect to the corporate governance statement ag other infarmaticn are
described in the Reparting on other infarmation section of this report.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the corporate governance
statement is materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit, and we have nothing
material to add or draw attention to in relation to:

+ the directors’ confirmation that they have carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks;

+ the disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those principal rnisks, what procedures are in place to identify emerging risks and
an explanation of how these are being managed or mitigated;

+ the directors’ statement in the financial stataments about whether they considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting in preparing them, and their identification of any material uncertainties to the Group's and Company’s ability to continue
to do so over a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements;

+ the directors’ explanation as to their assessment of the Group’s and Company’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and
why the period is appropriate; and

- the directors’ statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to continue in operation
and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of its assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any
necessary gualifications or assumptions
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Funding Circle Holdings plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements continued

Corporate governance statement continued

Our review of the directors’ statement regarding the longer-term viability of the Group and Company was substantially less in scape than
an audit and onty consisted of making inquiries and considering the directors’ process supporting their statement; checking that the
statement is in alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code; and considering whether the staternent

is consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit.

In addition, based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the corporate
governance statement is materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit.

the direclors’ staternent that they consider the Annual Report, taken as a whale, is fair, balanced and understandable, and provides the
information necessary for the members to assess the Group's and Company’s positicn, performance, business madel and strategy,

the section f the Annual Report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems; and
the section of the Annual Report describing the work of the Audit Committee.

We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to report when the directars’ statement relating to the Company’s compliance
with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a relevant provision of the Code specified under the Listing Rules for review
by the auditors.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the divectors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framewaork and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal conirol as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the geing concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend ta liquidate the Group or the Company or ta cease cperations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur ohjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditars' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1ISAs (UK} will always detect a material misstaterment when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irreguiarities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, 1o detect material misstataments in respect of irregulanties, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below

Based on our Understanding of the Group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations
related to the Group's provision of regulated products and services under its Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA”) licence, and we considered
the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and
regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006 and corporate tax legisiation. We
evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial staterments {including the risk of
override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were 1elated to bias in accounting estimates and judgments and the posting
of manual journal entries in respect of transactian, marketplace, servicing, interest income and other fees revenue streams. The Group
engagement team shared this risk assessment with the component auditars so that they could include appropriate audit procedures in
response to such risks in their work. Audit procedures performed by the Group engagement team and/or companent auditors included:

review of correspondence with, and reports to, the FCA,
review of customer complaints to identify any indicators of breaches in laws and regulations;
assessing matters reported an the Group's whistleblowing helpline and the results of management's investigation of such matters,

enquiries of the Directors, the Chair of the Audit Comnuttee, the Head of Internal Augit and management, including the Group's
general counsel and the Group's head of fegal and regulatory, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulation and fraud;

- review of internal audit reports issued in the period to identify any indicators of breaches in laws and regulations;

- identifying and testing journal entries and peried end adjustments, including those with unusual account combinations including
entries made in respect of transaction, marketolace, servicing, interest income and other fees revenue streams; and

challenging significant assumptions and judgements made by management in Its accounting estimates, in particular in relation those
used in the determination of the fair value of SME loans {securitised), investments and co-investments in RLS / CBILs trusts, the
provision for expected credit losses ani loars held at amartised cast and the capitalisation of developmaent casts.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to becarne aware of instances of non-compliance
with laws and requlations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
deliberate conceaiment by, for exarnple, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion
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Report on the audit of the financial statements continued

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit continued

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements continued

Qur audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and halances, possibly using data auditing techniques.
However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than testing complete populations. We will often seek
to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to
draw a conclusion about the population from which the sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This deseription forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s mernbers as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these cpinions, accept or assume responsibility for
any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed
by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you If, in our opinion:

+ we have not abtained ali the information and explanaticns we require for our audit; or

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

- certain disclosures of directers’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

- the Cempany financial statements and the part of the Directors' remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns,

We have na exceptions 1o report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the directors on 4 August 2015 to audit the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 and subseguent financial periods. The pericd of total uninterrupted engagement
Is eight years, covering the years ended 31 December 2015 to 31 December 20272,

Other matter

As required by the Financial Conduct Authority Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule 4.1.14R, these financial statements form
part of the ESEF-prepared annual financial report filed on the National Storage Mechanism of the Financial Conduct Authority in accordance
with the ESEF Regulatory Technical Standard (‘ESEF RTS'). This auditors’ report provides no assurance aver whether the annual
financial report has been prepared using the single electronic format specified in the ESEF RTS.

h‘d& L

Nick Morrison (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

2 March 2023
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2022

31 December 31 December 2021 Exceptignal 31 December
2022 Before exceptional items items” 2021
Note £m £m £m £m
Transaction fees 77.5 115.0 - 1150
Servicing fees 479 47.0 - 470
Interest income? 19 — — -
Other fees 41 3.5 — 3.5
Operatihg income 131.4 1655 - 165.5
Investment income 22.0 53.7 - 537
Investment expense 4.7) (12.3) - (12.3)
Total income 148.7 2069 - 206.9
Fair value gains/(losses) 4.8 28.6 - 286
Net income 3 153.5 2355 - 2355
People costs 4,6 (85.9) (77.7) - (777}
Marketing costs 4 (38.4) (46.9) - {46.9)
Depreciation, amaortisation and impairment 4 (17.0) (139) (39) (17.8)
Credit/(provision) for expected credit losses® 4,15,16 1.5 (1.2) - )
Other costs 4 (28.4) (27.7) - (27.7)
Operating expenses 4 (168.2) (167.4) (3.9) (171 3)
Operating (loss)/profit (14.7) 681 3.9) 642
Finance income 7 2.3 a1 - a1
Finance costs 7 (0.9) 1.1) — (1
Share of net profit of associates 29 0.4 09 - 09
(Lass)/profit befaore taxation {12.9) 68.0 (39) G641
Income tax credit/(charge) 8 6.0 (29) - (2.9)
(Loss)/profit for the year (6.9) 651 (39) 61.2
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit and loss:
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations 19 5.8 1.4 - 14
Total comprehensive {loss)/profit for the year (1.1) 665 (3.9) 626
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit attributable to:
Owners of the Parent (1.1) 66.5 (3.9) 62.6
(Loss)/earnings per share
Basic (loss)/earnings per share 9 (2.00p 18 5p 17.4p
Dituted (loss)/earnings per shate g (1.8)p 17p 16 0p

1 Exzeptional iterms are getaled with n note &

2 Interestincsme recagnised an assels Feld at amertisec cas® under e effective intarest rate meroc.

3 Thecomparative year ended 37 Decemnber 2021 has been ra-preserted 10 oresert ‘crecit/iprozision for expected cradit losses” wich was previsusly included within

“ciner costs”

All amounts relate to continuing activities.

The notes on pages 132 to 178 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet

as at 31 December 2022

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 10 28.2 249
Praperty, plant and eguipment 11 10.0 147
Investment in associates 29 2.7 76
Investment in trusts and co-investments 12 28.7 39
SME loans {other} 12 24.8 742
Deferred tax asset 8 6.9 -
Trade and other receivables 13 3.4 41
104.7 164.0
Current assets
SME loans (warehouse) 12 2.4 32
SME loans (securitised) 12 45.8 7481
SME loans (other) 12 209 -
Lines of credit’ 12 16.0 1.6
Trade and other receivables 13 16.5 25.0
Cash and cash equivalents 22 172.7 2240
279.3 4019
Total assets 384.0 5659
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 31.8 36.4
Bonds 16 23.7 1403
Short-term provisions and other ligbilities 15 1.0 3.4
Lease liabilities 1 7.2 6.9
63.7 1870
Noh-current liabilities
Long-term provisions and ather liabilities 15 1.1 0.7
Bank borrowings 16 22.6 7372
Lease liabilities M 12.6 17.0
Total liabilities 100.0 2779
Equity
Share capital 17 0.4 0.4
Share premium account 18 2931 2930
Foreign exchange reserve 19 16.9 111
Share options reserve 222 191
Accumulated losses 20 (48.6) (35.6)
Total equity 284.0 2880
Total equity and liabilities 384.0 5659

1. The comparative year as 2t 31 December 2021 has teenre-presented to present HexiPay drawn lires of ciedit within *I 1es of credit” which was previously included within "SME

laans (ather)”.

The financial statements on pages 128 to 178 were approved by the Beard and authorised for issue on 02 March 2023. They

were signed on behalf of the Board by:
LM
Oliver White

Director
Company registration number 07123934

The notes on pages 132 to 178 form part of these financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2022

(Accumutated

Share Foreign Share losses)/
Share premidm exchange options retained Total
capital account reserve reserve carmings equity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 January 2021 03 292.6 97 13.6 (98.6) 2176
Profit for the year 20 = — - - 612 612
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations 18 - — 14 - - 1.4
Total comprehensive income - — 14 - 61.2 62.6
Transactions with owners
Transfer of share option costs 20 - - - 8 1.8 -
Issue of share capital 17,18 Q.1 0.4 = - — 05
Employee share schemes - - — - 73 - 7.3
value of employee services
Balance at 31 December 2021 0.4 293.0 111 19 (356} 288.0
Loss for the year 20 - — - - 69) (6.9)
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on transiation
of foreign operations 19 - — 5.8 = — 5.8
Total comprehensive income - — 58 - 6.9) (1.1}
Transactions with owners
Transfer of share option costs 20 — — - (2.6) 26 -
Purchase of own shares held
in employee benefit trust - - - - 87 8.7)
issue of share capital 17,18 - o — - - 0.1
Emplayee share schemes — - - - 57 - 57
value of employee services
Balance at 31 December 2022 0.4 2931 16.9 22.2 (48.6) 284.0

The notes on pages 132 to 178 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2022

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
Nete £m £m
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities 22 (10.4) 98.5
Investing activities
Purchase of intangible assats 10 (12.7) {8.6)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 11 (1.2) (0.8)
Originations of SME loans (other)! 16 (24.0) (209 9)
Cash receipts from SME loans (other)' 16 59.5 1617
Cash receipts from SME loans (warehouse phase) 16 2.8 58.6
Proceeds from sate of SME loans (warehouse phase) 16 - 1761
Cash receipts from SME loans (securitised) 14 86.8 150.2
Proceeds from sale of SME loans (securitised) 16 39.5 -
Investment in frusts and co-investments 16 (6.4) {22.1)
Cash receipts from investments in trusts and co-investments 16 10.0 33
Redemption in associates 25,29 51 39
Dividends from associates 25,29 0.3 -
Interest received 7 2.3 01
Net cash inflow from investing activities 162.0 312.5
Financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings 22 - 208.2
Repayment of bank borrowings 22 (57.9) (331.3}
Payment of bond liabilities 22 (129.1) (160.5)
Proceeds from the exercise of share options 01 04
Proceeds from sybleases 1.2 0.2
Purchase of own shares (8.7) -
Payment of lease liabilities 22 (7.3) @®n
Net cash outflow from financing activities (201.7) {291.2)
Met (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (50.1) 1198
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2240 103.3
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 3.8 09
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 22 177.7 2240

1 Asdsclosedinnote 1 Flexiay drawn lines of credit have been re-presented within “origination of /cash receipts frone ings of credit” within cash flows from operating activities
and were previously presented within “arigination of/ cash receipts from SME loars {(other)” in cash flows fram investirg activiies in tne year ended 31 Decernber 2027

The impact of exceptional items on the consolidated statement of cash flows is detailed in note 4.

The notes on pages 132 to 178 form part of these financial statements
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 Decermber 2022

1. Accounting policies

General information

Funding Circle Holdings plc {the "Company”) 15 a public company limited by shares, which is listed en the London Stock
Exchange and is domiciled and incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006 and registered in England
and wWales. The address of its registered office is given on page 196. The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Group” and individually
as "Group entities”)

The principal activities of the Group and the nature of the Group's operations are as a global SME loan platform.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Geing concern

The Group's business activities together with the factors likely to affect its future development and position are set out in the
Strategic Report.

The financial statements are prepared on @ going concern basis as the Directors are satisfied that the Group has the resources
to continue in business for the fareseeable future (which has been taken as at least 12 months from the date of approval of the
financial statements).

The Group made a total comprehensive loss of £171 million during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: profit of £62.6 million).
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net assets of £284.0 million {20271: £288.0 mullion). This includes £177.7 million of cash
and cash equivalents (2021, £224.0 million) of which £12.1 million (2021: £24.6 million) is held within the securitisation vehicles
or for ather specific purposes and is restricted in uge. Additionally, within the net assets, the Group holds £96.5 million

(2021: £69.7 million) of Invested capital, some of which is capable of being monetised if liquidity neads arise.

The Group has prepared detailed cash flow forecasts for the next 15 months and has updated the going concern assessment
to factor in the potential cngoing impact of inflation and related economic stress.

The base case scenario assumes,

+ continued growth in origination of the Group's commercial lending product until June 2024

there remains macroeconomic stress in 2023 from inflation, and supply chair pressures with a peak in defaults, which
gradually de-stress in the following years;

- no extensicns or new government schemes that the Group participated in;
+  the roflout of the new FlexiPay product using the Group's balance sheet to fund it and
costs and headcount grow madestly with the new product and with investment in technology.

Management prepared a severe but plausible downside scenario in which:

+  further macroeconomic volatility continues through the period with increased inflation and interest rates reducing originations
and increasing costs;
investment returns reduce owing to increased funding costs, widening discount rates and deterioration in loan performance,

- an operational event occurs requiring a cash outlay; and

+ adaownside loss scenario is applied to Funding Circle’s an-balance sheet investment in SME loans resulting in higher initial fair
value losses and lower cash flows to the investments it owns.

Management has reviewed financial covenants the Group must adhere to in relation to its servicing agreements. These are with
institutional investors for which there are unrestricted cash, tangible net worth and debt to tangible net worth ratios. Management
has also reviewed regulatory capital requirements. In the downsgide scenario the risk of covenant or capital requirement breach
is considered remote

The Directars have made enguines of management and considered budgets and cash flow forecasts for the Group and have,
at the time of approving these financial statements, a reasonahle expactation that the Campany and the Group have adaquate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foresesable future Further detall is contained in the Strategic Report on
pages 70and 71.

Basis of preparation
The Group presents its annual financial statements in conformity with United Kingdom laws and regulations.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International Accounting Standards in conformity
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and the disclosure guidance and transparency rules sourcebock of the United
Kingdem's Financial Conduct Authaority.
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1. Accounting policies continued
Basis of preparation continued

The financial staterments have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are carned
at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL").

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain accounting estimates. it also requires management to exercise
its judgerment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact
on the financial statements in the year the assumptions changed. Management believes that the underlying assumptions are
appropriate. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2.

Significant changes in the current reporting year

The financial position and performance of the Group were affected by the following events and transactions during the year
ended 31 Decemher 2077

i) Sale of securitised SME loans and unwind of UK and US SPVs (note 16)

in May 2022, Funding Circle exercised the call rights associated with the majerity ownership of the unrated junior residual
tranches of Small Business Qrigination Loan Trust 2019-3's bonds in the UK. The call option became exercisable as the portfolio
and bond liabilities of the SPV had amortised to below a minimurm threshold. Funding Circle and the other junior note holder
purchased the loans from the SPV, in line with their proportional ownership of the note tranches, at fair value. The proceeds,
cash, and other assets of the vehicle were liquidated and used to repay outstanding expenses and interest and principal on the
bond liabilities. As the SPV is consolidated, the net impact on the Group's financial statements was a sale of 49% of the UK
securitised SME loans to the other junior note holder and repayment of the bond liahilities. The bond liabilities held at FVTPL
were repaid at an amount higher than their previous fair value estimate as the cash flows were delivered sooner and at a higher
amount resulting in a fair value loss as set out in note 15. As a result, there are no unrated bond fiabilities remaining for the Group.
Subsequently the Group owned 51% of the securitised SME loans, directly through the subsidiary Funding Circle Ltd. The majority
of the retained loans were sold to a third party with an economic cut off of 30 June 2022 and cash setilement in September 2022
for their fair value, with no gain or loss on sale, and as a result only a smailer portfolic of delinquent and defauited loans was
retained by the Group.

In October 2022, Funding Circle exercised the call rights associated with the ownership of the unrated junior residual tranches of
Small Business Lending Trust 2019-A's bonds in the US. The call option became exercisable as the portfolio and bond liabilities
of the SPV had amartised to below the minimum threshold. Funding Circle purchased the foans from the SPV at fair value.

The proceeds, cash and other assets of the vehicle were liguidated and used to repay outstanding expenses, and interest and
principal on the bond liabilities. As the SPV is consolidated, the net impact on the Group's financial staternents was the repayment
of the bond liabilities of the vehicle. The Group continues ta consalidate 100% of the securitised SME lcans, now owned directly
by the subsidiary FC Marketplace LLC.

The Group continues ta consolidate both the SPVs, which subseguently began a liquidation process, and halds an immaterial
amount of cash and accruals, through exposure to the majority of the variability in any excess cash flows available after the
liquidation is completed.

The loans retained continue to be held at fair value through profit and loss, within SME Loans (securitised), as the Group
continues to hold these with the intention of selling them if, and when, an attractive price can be realised.

i} Scaling up of new products
The Group has continued to invest in the scaling up lending through lines of credit in its FlexiPay product.

Through FlexiPay, borrowers are provided with a facility which can be drawn to pay invoices and expenses, and are subsequently
repaid over three months. A fee of 3% was charged in the year on the drawn amount which is recognised over the three-month
life of the drawdown in interest income under the effective interest rate method. The accounting policy regarding FlexiPay is
outlined later in this note,

As outlined later, the loans are measured at amortised cost. As FlexiPay will continue to become a larger part of the Group's
business, this has been disclosed as a separate segment within note 3. As a result the Group has presented FlexiPay under
“lines of credit” on the balance sheet and reclassified the comparative which was previously presentad in "investment in SME
lcans {other)” and cash flows have been re-presented within “origination of/cash receipts from lines of credit” within cash flows
from operating activities and were previously presented within “origination of/ cash receipts from SME Ioans (other)’ in cash
flows from investing activities in the year ended 31 December 2021.

iii} Redemption of investment in associate

In July 2022 an agreerment was signed by Funding Circle European Private Fund DAC | to sell the loans held by the fund as part of
its strategy 1o return capital to shareholders in a cost effective manner. The Group received £2.6 million in cash in August 2022 as
a final capital distribution and the corresponding investment in agsociate held by the Group was reduced by this distribution to nil
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting policies continued
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRSs and interpretations from 1 January 2022 on a full retrospective basis.

Apphcabte for financial

Standard/interpretation Content years beginning on/after
Amendments to IFRS 3 — Reference to the Conceptual Business combinaticns 1 January 2022
Framework

Amendments to |AS 16 — Praperty, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipment 1 January 2022

Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments 1o IAS 37 — Onerous Contracts — Costs of Provisions — onerous contracts T January 2022
Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments and interpretations listed above did not materially affect the current year and are not expected to materially
affect future years

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2022
reporting years and have not been eariy adopted by the Group as follows:

Apphcabie for financial
Standard/interpretation Content years beginning an/after

Amendments to |1AS 1 - Classification of Liahilities as Current Presentation of financial staternents 1 January 2023
or Non-current

Armendments to {AS 8 — Definition of Accounting Estimates Accounting policies, changes in 1 January 2023
accounting estimates

Amendments to 1AS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 — Accounting policies T January 2023
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Deferred tax 1 January 2023
Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction

These standards are not expected to have a material impact on the Group in the current or future reporting years or on foreseeable
future transactions

Summary of new and amended accounting policies

FlexiPay: Lines of credit

Lending through the FlexiPay product is recognised on the balance sheet within lines of credit. This represents the drawn amount
of the facilities. The contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest ("SPPI") and the business model
under which they are held is in order to collect the cantractual cash flows resulting in the lines of credit being measured initially
at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost. The Group has presented FlexiPay under “lines cf credit” in the balance sheet
and reclassified the comparative which was previously presented in “investrment In SME loans (other)” where they were also
measured at amortised cost. The crigination fee associated with FlexiPay is recognised under IFRS 9 within interest income at
the effective interest rate in the consclidated staterment of comprehensive income and is recognised over the contractual term
of the draw down.

Cash flows have been re-presented within "Origination of/cash receipts fram lines of credit” within cash flows from operating
activities and were previously presented within "Origination of/ cash receipts from SME loans (other)” in cash flows from
Investing activities in the year ended 31 Decemnber 2027,

The FlexiPay lines of credit are held net of expected credit [oss allowances under IFRS 9, the methadology and definitions of
which align to the existing Group accounting policy on impairment of financial assets held at amortised cost with the exception
of being assessed at the avallable line of credit level, estimating the utilisation of the line of credit to the estimated paint of
default and are detailed further within note 16. Additionally, the Group assesses the expected credit loss allowance in relation

1o undrawn lines of credit, estimating the probability of default, loss given default and exposure at default in relation to these lines
of credit were they to be drawn. This has resuited in a £0.3 million (2021: £nil) loss allowance recognised within other liabilities in
note 15.

134 Funding Circle Haldings plc




1. Accounting policies continued

SME loans (securitised), SME loans (warehouse) and SME loans (other)

Following the call option being exercised on the UK and one of the US securitisation vehicles and the repayment of the
warehouse borrowings in 2027 and 2022, some of the SME loans were purchased from the vehicles and are held directly in
Funding Circle Limited and Funding Circle Marketplace LLC. These loans continue to be held at FVTPL as the business model
under which they are held remains to seli the loans. They continue to be presented within SME loans (securitised) and SME loans
(warehouse} representing the legacy nature of the loans.

Certain SME loans are originated by the Group under the business model of selling onwards, and are therefore measured initially
and subsequently at FVTPL. These loans are presented within SME loans {other) alongside loans held at amortised cost and can
be distinguished in note 16.

Summary of existing accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

Where the Group has control over an investee, it is classified as a subsidiary. The Group contrals an investee if all three of the
following elements are present: power over the investae, exposure to variable returns from the investee, and the ability of the
investor to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that
there may be a change in any of these elements of control.

Structured entities are entities that are designed so that their activities are not governed by voting rights. In assessing whether
the Group has power over such entities, the Group considers factors such as the purpose and design of the entity; its practical
ahility to direct the relevant activities of the entity, the nature of the relationship with the entity; and the size of its exposure to
the variability of returns of the entity.

The consolidated financial statements present the results of the Company and its subsidiaries as if they formed a single entity.
Intercompany transactions and halances between Group companies are therefore eliminated in full.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. In the consolidated baiance sheet, the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liahilities and contingent liabilities are initially recognised at their fair values at the acquisition

date. Acquisition-related costs are recegnised in profit or loss as incurred. The results of acquired operations are included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income fram the date an which control is obtained. They are deconsolidated from the
date on which control ceases.

Foreign currency translation

Transactions entered into by Group entities in a currency other than the currency of the primary economic environment in which
they operate (their “functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the prevailing rate at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of unsettled monetary assets and habilities are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences recognised in the foreign exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are transferred to the consolidated statemeant of comprehensive income as part of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in GBP sterling, which is the Group's presentation currency.

All assets and liabilities of overseas operations, including goadwill ansing on the acquisition of those operaticns, are translated
at the prevailing rate at the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that year, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising an the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the prevailing rate at the reporting date.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in the manner consistent with the internal reporting provided te the chief operating decision
maker. The chief aperating decision maker, which is the function responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance
aof the operating segments, has been identified as the Global Leadership Teamn that makes strategic decisions For each identified
operating segment, the Group has disclosed infermation for the key performance indicators that are assessed internally to
review and steer performance in the Strategic Report.

Transactions between segmeénts are on an arm'’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties

Exceptional items

Exceptional items are the items of income or expense that the Group considers are material, one-off in nature and of such
significance that they merit separate presentation in order to aid the reader’s understanding of the Group’s financial performance.
Such items would include profits or losses on disposal of businesses, transaction costs; acquisitions and disposals; major
restructuring programmes; significant goodwill or other asset impairments; and other particularly significant or unusual items
(see note 5).
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 371 December 2022

1, Accounting policies continued I
Income recognition

Fee income is recognised in line with IFRS 15 which pravides a single, principles-based five-step model 1o be applied to all

contracts with customers:

1) identify the contrast with the customer;

2) identify the performance cbligations in the contract, introducing the new concept of “distinct”;

3) determine the transaction price;

4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts, on a relative stand-alone selling price basis; and

5} recognise income when (or as) the entity satisfies its performance obligation.

Fee income earmned for the arrangement of loans is classified as transaction fees and is a cost of the borrower except for
government-guaranteed CBILS loans which were a cost to the government. The contract signed by the borrower and related
terms are clearly identifiable. The performance obligation in the contract is considered to be the funding of the loan through the
platform and the transaction price is clearly stated in the borrower’s contract. Fees are recognised immediately once loans are
fully funded and after the loans are accepted by the borrowers. At this point the performance abligation has been met, there are
no clawback provisions and the fee is recognised. Such fees are automatically deducted from the amount borrowed (or
subsequently invoiced in the case of government-guaranteed CBILS loans).

Fee income earned from referrals to partner institutions is classified as transaction fees and is a cost to the partner institution
There are contracts in place with partner institutions with clearly identifiable terms. The performance obligation in the contract is
considered to be the referral by the Group and subsequent funding of the referred loan by the partner institution and the transaction
price is clearly stated in the referral agreement. Fees are recagnised once the referred loan has been funded by the partner
institution and accepted by the referred borrower. At this point the performance obligation has been met and there are no
significant clawback provisions.

Fee income eamned from servicing third party loans is classified as servicing fees and is a cost of the investor, except in the case
of the first year of servicing fees related to CBILS loans, where the government paid the cost. It comprises an annualised fee
representing a percentage of outstanding principal. The contractual basis for the servicing fee and transaction price s based

on the terms and conditions agreed by investors to the lending platform. The performance obligation is servicing the loans and
allocating repayments of the loan parts to the respective lenders, The transaction price is allocated as a percentage of the
outstanding principal balance, representing the cutstanding performance abligation. Fees are recagnised on a monthly basis
upen repayment of loan parts. Due 1o the conditions of the loans, there are no partially completed contracts at the balance sheet
date and no advance payments from customers.

Other fees inciude excess premium earned from arrangements to buy back defaulted loans from certain institutional investors
and income earned on certain bought back loans. Other fees also includes income from collections charges levied on the
successful recavery of defaulted loans. These are recognised as services are performed.

Net income includes the followng elements under which the recognition criteria of IFRS 9 and not IFRS 15 are applied.
Interest income includes:
+ interest income recognised on assets held at amortised cost under the effective interest rate method including FlexiPay.

Investment iIncome includes:
interest incorne from SME loans and investments in trusts that the Group haolds on balance sheet.

Investment expense includes:
interest payable on funds borrowed to finance the acquisition of underlying loan investments,
interest payable on bond liabilities held on balance sheet;

- amoaortisation of costs associated with the issuing of bonds and the credit facility, and

+ gains/losses from changes in fair value of interest hedging instruments.

Fair value gains/losses includes:
gains/losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets and liahilities held on balance sheet

Net income recorded in the financial statements is generated in the UK, the US, Germany and the Netherlands. All fees are
calculated based an the above income recognition policy.
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1. Accounting policies continued
Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses are recognised as an expense In the staterment of comprehensive income in the period in which they are
incurred on an accruals basis.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a nurnber of equity-settied share-based compensation plans, under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments {options and shares) of the Company. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options and shares is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the options and shares granted:

including any market performance conditions (for example, an entity’s share price),

+ excluding the impact of any service and non-market perfarmance vesting conditions (for example, net income, earnings per
share and remaining an employee of the Group over a specified time pericd); and

including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirermnent for employees to save).

Nan-market vesting cenditions are included in assumptions about the number of options and shares that are expecied to vest.
The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are
to be salisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of options and shares that are
expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any,
in the income statement, with a coarresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares or utilises shares that have been purchased in the market.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium when the options are exercised

The grant by the Company of options and shares over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the
Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase in investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding
credit to equity in the Parent entity (the "Company”) accounts.

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution pension schemne for employees in the UK and US. The schemes are pension plans under
which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current
and prior years. Contributions payable ta the Group's pension schemie are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in
the year to which they relate. The Group has no further payment abligations once the contributions have been paid

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid

(or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date in the
countries where the Campany and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax reguiation is subject to interpretation. The Group
has established transfer pricing policies and ensures mechanisms are in place in ensuring subsidiaries receive an appropriate
tax rate and base. It establishes provisions, where appropriate, hased on amounts expected 10 be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred 1ax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred 1ax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint arrangements only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference will reverse in the future and there is sufficient
taxable prefit available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Deferred tax labilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates and
jaint arrangements, except for any deferred tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 1s a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
gither the same taxable entity or different taxable entities and there is an intention ta settle the balances on a net basis.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or lability in a transaction other than a business eombination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the year-end date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. Deferred tax balances are
not discounted.
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FINANC{AL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting policies continued
Dividends
Dividends are recognised when they become legally payable, in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives and
amortisation methods are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, or more frequently when there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired, with the effect of any changes accounted for on a prospective basis. Amortisation
commences when the intangible asset is available for use. The residual value of intangible assets is assumed to be zero.

Computer software licences

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised over the licence period, which is up to five years as at 31 December 2022.

Capitalised development costs

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recagnised as an expense as incurred. Development costs
that are directly attributable to the design, build and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group
are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

+ itis technically feasible to complete the build of the piatform products so that they will be available for use,
management intends to complete the build of the platform products for use within the Group;

-+ thereis an ability to use the platform products;

+ it can be demonstrated how the platfarm products will generate probable future economic benefits;

adequate technical, financial and other rescurces to complete the development and to use the platform products are
available; and

the expenditure attributable to the platform products during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software development employee and
contractor costs. The capitalisation of employee costs is based on the amount of time spent on specific projects which meet the
criteria as a proportion of their total time, and this proportion of their salary-related costs is atiributed to the applicable projects.

Other development expenditure that does not meet these criteria is recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs
previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subseguent period.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for
use over their estimated useful fives, ranging from three to five years.

Other intangibles

Other intangibles relate to the technology platform and customer relationship (representing fees due on contracted loans
expected to be realised in the fareseeable future) acquired on a business combination. These costs are amortised over their
estimated useful lives, which do not exceed three years.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangitle fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation and any provision for impairment. Depreciation is provided on all
tangible fixed assets, at rates calculated to write off the cost less estimated residual value of each asset on a straight-ine basis
over its expected useful life, as follows:

Computer equipment 1-3 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-5years

Leasehold improvements that qualify for recognition as an asset are measured at cost and are presented as part of property,
plant and eguipment in the non-current assets section on the balance sheet Cepreciation on leasehold improvements is
calculated using the straight-line method over the lease term.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to amorusation and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Animpairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount s the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset {or
CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive iIncome

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed enly if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If this was the case, the carrying amount of the asset
for CGUY is increased to the revised estimate of its recaverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amaount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset {or CGU)

in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether or not a contract is, or containg, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. When
alease is recognised in a contract the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement
date.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the initial measurement of the lease liability, less any lease
incentives. Subsequently, right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses, and are adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. Depreciation is caleulated on a straight-line
basis over the length of the lease.

Liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:

-+ fixed paymentls less any lease incentives recelvable;

variable lease payments based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date; and
+ amounts expected 0 be payable by the Group under residual value guarantee.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's
incremental borrowing rate is used, which is the rate that the Group would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to cbtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

- where possible, uses recent third party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted te reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received,

uses an approach taking the risk-free interest rate adjusted far credit risk for leases held by Funding Circle Holdings ple; and
+ makes adjustments specific to the lease for term, country and currency.
Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the carrying amount to refiect interest on the lease liability and

reducing it by the lease payments made. The lease liability and right-of-use asset are remeasured when there is a lease
maodification.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period s0 as 1o produce a constant periodic rate of interast on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included
in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease
liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset

Extension and termination gpticns are included in a number of property leases in the Group. Managernent considers the facts
and circumstances that may create an economic incentive to exercise an extension or termination option in order to determine
whether the lease term should include or exclude such options. Extension or termination options are only included within the
lease term if they are reagonably certain to be exercised in the case of extension options and not exercised in the case of
termination options.

Considerations include:

+ ifleasehold iImprovements are expected to have significant value at the end of the lease term;
expected costs or business disruption as a resutt of replacing a lease; and
significant penalties incurred in order to terminate.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting policies continued
Leases continued

Lease terms are reassessed if the option is exercised or if a significant event occurs which impacts the assessment af
reasonable certainty

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption tc its short-term feases of machinery and equipment (i.e. those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do net contain a purchase option). It also
applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption 1o leases of office equipment that are considered of low value.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, entering into a sublease, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease separately.
The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease,
Rental income from operaling leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term and the Group retains the
right-of-use asset deriving from the head lease and the lease liability on the balance sheet.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables equivalent to the Group’s net investment in the
lease and the nght-of-use asset from the head lease is derecognised. Any difference resulting from the derecognition of the
right-of-use asset and recognition of the net investment in the sublease is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. The head lease liability remains on the balance sheet and interest expense continues to be recognised,
while interest income is recognised from the sublease.

Consolidation of special purpose vehicles (“SPVs")

Subsidiaries are those entities, including structured vehicles, over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when it 1s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvernent with the entity and has the ability 1o affect those returns
through its power over the investee. The Group has power aver an entity when it has existing rights that give it the current ability
to direct the activities that most significantly affect the entity's returns. Power may be determined on the basis of vating rights or,
in the case of structured enlities, other contractual arrangements.

The Group assesses whether it controls SPVs and the requirement to consolidate them under the criteria of IFRS 10, Control is
determined to exist if the Group has the power 10 direct the activities of each entity {for example, managing the perfermance of
the underlying assets and raising debt on those assets which is used to fund the Group) and uses this control to obtain a variable
return (for example, retaining the residual risk on the assets). Structures that do not meet these criteria are not treated as
subsidiaries and the assels are derecognised when they are sold.

Where the Group manages the administration of its securitised assets and is exposed to the risks and rewards of the underlying
assets through its continued investment or where the Group does not retain a direct ownership interest in an SPE, but the
Directors have determined that the Group controls those entities, they are treated as subsidiaries and are consolidated.

Investmeant in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating palicy decisions of the investee, but is nat control or joint control over those policies. The considerations
made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary 1o determine control over subsidiaries.
The Group's investment in itg agsociate is accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost. This is adjusted thereafter 10 recognise
the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in the consolidated staternent of comprehensive
income. The Group's share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee is recognised in other comprehensive
income. Dividends received or receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group's share of logses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any
other unsecured long-term recevables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the ather entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest
in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recagnise an impairment loss on its
investment In its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is an indication that the investment
in the associate is impaired. (f there is such an indication, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference

hetween the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss within the statement

of comprehensive income

Upen lass of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair
value Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence or jaint control and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Financial instruments

Financial assets

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. The requirements of [FRS 9 for classification

and subsequent measurement are applied, which require financial assets to be classified based on the Group's business model

for managing the asset and the contractual cash fiow characteristics of the asset:
financial agsets are measured at amartised cost if they are held within a business model, the objective of which is to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, and their contractual cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest;

- financial assets are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVTQOCI") if they are held within the
business model defined as "held to collect and sell’, the objective of which is achieved by toth collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets, and their contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest; and
lnarnicial @ssels that do nol rmeel Lhe crileria to be amortised cost or FYTOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss
{"FVTPL™. In addition, the Group may, at initial recognition, designate a financial asset as measured at FVTPL if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

when financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The purchase of any credit-impaired assets is also at fair value after
any impairment.

Except for certain investments in SME loans as described below, the Group does not recognise on its balance sheet loans
arranged between barrowers and investors as it Is not a principal party 1o the contracts and is not exposed to the risks and
rewards of these loans.

With the exception of investment in trusts and ce-investments, SME loans (warehouse), certain SME loans {other) and SME loans
(securitised), all financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flows.

The five types of SME foans held are as follows:

1) SME loans {warehause)

During the warehouse phase of the securitisation programme, the SME loans originated using both the Group's cash and
amounts borrowed under credit facilities were held on the Group's balance sheet. In 2021 these were transferred into other FC
entities and the credit facilities repaid and continue to be presented as SME toans (warehouse) to represent their legacy nature.
These SME loans have been classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss because all such loans are acquired
principally for selling in the short term and the collection of interest is incidental. They are initially measured at fair value on the
balance sheet with the subsequent measurement at fair value with all gains and losses being recognised in the consciidated
statement of comprehensive income.

i} SME loans (securitised)
Under risk retention regulations the Group is required to retain at least 5% of the bonds issued by the securitisation SPV.

Retaining a significant proportion of the residual

Whilst the Group is required to retain 5% of the overall bond issuance, where the Group holds a significant proportion of the
unrated bonds (referred to as the "residual’}, the Group consolidates the securitisation SPV as it considers that the risks and
rewards of ownership continue to reside with the Group. As a result the underlying SME loan book held in the SPV is recognised
on halance sheet alang with the bond liabilities to third parties. They are initially measured at fair value on the balance sheet
with the subsequent measurement at fair value with all gains and losses being recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Selling a significant portion of the residual

Where the Graup sells a significant portion of the residual, the Group may no longer be deemed to retain the majority of the

risks and rewards of ownership and the Group would deconsolidate the securitisation SPV. The Group would subsequently apply
the derecognition rules af IFRS 9 to the investment in SME loans. Cash on the sale of the Group's investment in the residual is
treated as an investing activity.

Exercising call rights associated with the residual

In certain vehicles the residual comes with call rights attached that becorne exercisable as the portfolio and bond liabilities of
the SPY amortise to below a minimum threshald The calling of the vehicle allows the residual holder to purchase the remaining
loans from the SPV and use the proceeds and the remaining assets of the vehicle to repay bond liahilities. When the Group has
exercised its call rights and purchased loans from and SPV, subsequently held directly by subsidiaries of the Group, these loans
continue to be referred to as SME loans (securitised) based on the legacy nature of the loans.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting policies continued

Financial instruments continued

Financial assets continued

iil) SME loans (other)

The Group has originated PPP loans using the SBA's PPPLF facility which are held on balance sheet. Additionally the Group holds
investments in certain SME business foans as a result of a commercial arrangements with institutional investors and in certain
circumstances the Group also buys back loans from investors.

These loans are included in SME loans (other) {see note 12) and are classified as amertised cost (as they are held solely to
collect principal and interest payments) and are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amertised cost
less provision for impairment. PPP loans are fully guaranteed by the SBA

SME loans {(other) additionatly includes loans temporarily funded by the Group in relation 1o the relaunch of commercial loans
which are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and are held with the intention of selling on to investors
They are initially measured at fair value on the balance sheet with the subsequent measurement at fair value with all gains and
losses being recagnised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

iv) Lines of credit

The accounting policy and description is detailed under “FlexiPay: Lines of credit” in the summary of new and amended
accounting palicies.

v) Investment in trusts and co-investments

The Group holds a minority beneficial ownership in trusts set up to fund CBILS, RLS and commercial loans with the majority

of the beneficial ownership held by institutiona! investors. The SME loans are originated by a Group subsidiary, Funding Circle
Focal Point Lending Limited for CBILS and Funding Circle Eclipse Lending Limited for RLS and commercial loans, which retain
legal title to the loans. These entities hold this legal title of trust on behalf of the majority investors who substantially retain the
economic benefits the CBILS, RLS and commercial koans generate and therefore the trusts and the assets held within, including
the SME loans, are not consolidated.

The Group assesses whether it controls the trust structure under the criteria of IFRS 10. Control is determined to exist if the
Group has the power to direct the activities of entities and structures and uses this control to obtain a variable return, to which
it is exposed to the majority of the variability. As the Group's holding is small compared to the majonty investor and pari passu,
the Group is not exposed to the majority of the variability in the cash flows of the trust, and it is not considered to control the
trust structures, so they are not consclidated by the Group.

Investments in trusts are classified at fair value through profit and loss. They are initially recognised at fair value on the balance
sheet with the subsequent measurement at fair value with all gains and losses being recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

The Group recognises transacticn fee income on crigination of loans within the trust and service fee income on the assets
within the trust, eliminating its proportional ownership share of the service fees. A scheme lender fee is charged in relation to
the crigination of CBILS and RLS {nans and investment income is recognised in relation to returns on the investment.

Other financial assets

Financial assets recognised in the balance sheet as trade and other receivables are classified as amortised cost. They are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less provision for impairment

Net investments in sublease receivables are recognised as other receivables representing the net present value cf the lease
payment recelvable. Interest is recognised within finance income in the statement of comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as amortised cost with the exception of money market funds that are classified as
FVTPL. Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, money market funds and other
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. The carrying amount of these assets
approximates to their fair value.

Impairment of financial assets held at amortised cost
The Group applies the impairment requirements of IFRS 9@ The IFRS 9 1impairment model requires a three-stage approach’

Stage 1includes financial instruments that have not had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition or that
have low credit risk at the reporting date. For these assets, 12-month expected credit losses ("ECLs") (that is, expected losses
ansing from the rigk of default in the next 12 monthsj are recognised and interest ncome is calculated on the gross carrying
amount of the asset (that is, without deductian for credit allowance).

Stage 2 includes financial instrurments that have had a significantincrease in credit risk since initial recognition (unless they
have low credit risk at the reporting date) but are not credit-impaired. For these assets, lifetime ECLs (that is, expected losses
arising from the risk of default over the life of the financial Instrument) are recognised, and interest income is still calculated
on the gross carrying amount of the asset The Group assumes there has been a significant increase in credit risk if outstanding
amounts on the financial assets exceed 30 days, in line with the rebuttable presumption per IFRS 9 at which point the assets
are considered to be stage 2
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1. Accounting policies continued

Financial instruments continued

Financlal assets continued

Impairment of financial assets held at amortised cost continued
Stage 3 consists of financial assets that are credit-impaired, which is when ane or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. For these assets, lifetime ECLs are also recognised,
but interest income is calculated on the net carrying amount (that is, net of the ECL allewance). The Group defines a default,
classified as stage 3, as an asset with any cutstanding amounts exceeding a 90-day due date, which reflects the paint at
which the asset is considered to be credit-impaired.

- In some circumstances where assets are bought back by the Group, the financial asset associated with the purchase meets
the definition of purchased or originated credit-impaired {"POCI*), and impairment is therefore based on lifetime ECLs.

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its financial assets carried at
armorlised cosl and recognises aloss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. | he measurement of ECLs reflects:

- anunbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible cutcomes;
the time value of meney; and

reasonable and suppertable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and farecasts of future economic conditicns.

if in a subsequent perind the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 10ss is reversed, 10 the extent that the
carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or the
Group has either transferred the contractual right to receive the cash flows from that asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay
those cash flows to one or more recipients.

The Group derecognises a transferred financial asset if it transfers substantially al! the risks and rewards of cwnership.

Financial liabilities

Financial liahilities included in trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost
The fair value of a non-interest-bearing liability is its discounted repayment amount. If the due date of the liability is less than one
year, discounting is omitted.

Afinancial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Bank borrowings

Bank borrowings (drawdowns under the cradit facilities) are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds net
of transaction costs incurred. These instruments are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.

Derivative financial instruments

Interest rate ¢caps were in place to partially mitigate the floating rate interest rate risk associated with drawn amounts from
borrowing facilities and risk associated with floating rate ABS bond liabilities conselidated into the Group. The derivatives are
recognised initially at fair value reflecting the time value implicit in the premium paid and are subsequently measured at fair value
with gains and losses recognised in profit or loss. See note 16 for details of interest rate risk.

Bonds

Bonds represent the bond liabilities which the Group must pay to the bond holders from the cash flows generated from the SME
loans (securitised) held on balance sheet. The liability excludes any amount of bonds that the Group has retained as these are
aliminated upon consaolidation.

IFRS 9 permits a cornpany to elect to fair value the bond liabilities where there is an accounting mismatch . In the Group's case
the associated assets generating the cash flows ta pay the bonds are the SME loans (securitised) which are measured at fair
value through profit and loss

As the cash flows from the SME Ioans are used to repay the rated bond tranches in advance of the unrated bands, the Group
does not consider there to be a significant accounting mismateh as default levels impact the unrated bands first. Therefore the
rated bonds are measured at amortised cost. However, as the unrated bonds are most affected by farr value movements in the
SME loans, the Group has elected to measure the unrated tranches of bonds at fair value through profit and loss to eliminate
the accounting mismatch. Following the unwind of the UK SPV entity during the year ended 371 December 2022, there are no
externally hetd bond lizhilities measured at FVTPL remaining on a consolidated Group basis.

See note 16 for detalls of the fair value methodaology and interest rate risk.

Transaction costs associated with the issuance of bonds are deferred to the balance sheet and recognised over the lifetime
of the bonds using the effective interest rate method.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

1, Accounting policies continued
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probabile
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Loan repurchases

Loan repurchase contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment (o be made to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Loan repurchase contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the contract. The liability is subsequently measured at the higher of the best estimate of
the expenditure required to settle the present abligation at the reporting date and the amount recognised less cumulative amortisation.
The expected credit loss model is used to measure and recognise the financial liability {as further detailed in note 15).

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity where their terms include no contractual obligation to transfer cash or another financial
asset to another entity.

Earnings/{loss) per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share ("EPS") for its ordinary shares. Basic and diluted EPS are
calculated by dividing the profit/{loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year excluding shares held as own shares in the Group's Employee Benefit Trusts

Far diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ardinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares. The dilutive potential ordinary shares include those share options granted to employees under
the Group's share-based compensation schemes which do not have an exercise price or where the exercise price is less than the
average market price of the Company's ordinary shares during the year.

Shares held by the Employee Benefit Trust and Share Incentive Plan Trust
The Company has established an offshore Employee Benefit Trust ("EBT*) and an onshore Share Incentive Plan {"SIP") Trust.

The EBT and SIP Trust provide for the issue of shares to Group employees principally under share option schemes and SIP
respectively. The Group has control of the EBT and SIP Trust and therefore consclidates the Trusts in the Group financial
statements The Group has commenced the purchase of own shares in the market during the financial year in order to satisfy the
exercise of emplayee share option schemes. Shares which are purchased are recognised at cost and are treated as a deduction
to shareholders’ equity No gan or lass is recognised in the income staternent on the purchase or utilisation of equity shares

Reserves

Foreign exchange reserve

The foreign exchange reserve represents the curnulative foreign currency translation movement on the assets and liabilities

of the Group’s international operations at year-end exchange rates and on the profit and lass items from average exchange rates
to year-end exchange rates.

Share options reserve

The share options reserve represents the cumulative charges to Income under IFRS 2 Share-based Payments on all share options
and schemes granted, net of share option exercises. The costs are transferred to retained earnings when options are exercised.

2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the consalidated financial statements requires the Group to make estimates and judgements that affect the
application of palicies and reported amaunts. Critical judgements represent key decisions made by management in the application
of the Group accounting policies. Where a significant risk of materially different cutcomes exists due to management
assumptions or sources of estimation uncertainty, this will represent a key source of estimation uncertainty

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to he reasonable under the circumstances. Although these estimates are based on management’s
best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.

The significant judgements and estimates applied by the Group in the financial statements have been applied on a consistent
basis with the financial statements for the year to 31 December 2021,

Critical judgements

Consolidation and deconsolidation of special purpose vehicles ("SPVs") and investment in trusts and co-investments (note 16}
As part of its asset-backed securitisation programmes, the Group has established warehouse and secuntisation SPVs. Judgement
is required in determining wha is most exposed to the varighility of returns and whao has the ability to affect thase returns and
therefore who shauld consolidate these vehicles and subsequently deconsolidate them. Where the Group has a significant
Interest in the junior tranches of the securitisation vehicles or the subordinated debt in the warehouses, the Group is deemed to
be exposed to the majority of the variability of the returns of those vehicles and controls them, and therefore consolidates them.
Where this interest is reduced, the Group considers whether the vehicles should he deconsolidated.
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2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Critical judgements continued

Consolidation and deconsolidation of special purpose vehicles ("SPVs") and investment in trusts and co-investments (note 16)
continued

The Group alsc holds a minarity beneficial ownership in trusts set up to fund CBILS, RLS and commercial loans with the remaining
majority of the beneficial ownership held by institutional investors. The SME loans are originated by a Group subsidiary, Funding
Circle Focal Point Lending Limited for CBILS and Funding Circle Eclipse Lending Limited for RLS and cornmerctal loans, which
retain legal title to the loans. These entities hold this legal title of trust on behalf of the majority investors who substantially retain
the economic benefits the CBILS, RLS and commercial loans generate and therefore the trusts and the assets held within,
including the SME loans, are not consolidated

The Group assesses whether it cantrols the trust structure under the ¢riteria of IFRS 10. Control is determined to exist if the
Group has the power to direct the activities of entities and structures and uses this control to obtain a variable return, to which it
is exposed to the majority of the variability. As the Group's holding is small in comparison to the majority investor and is pari passu,
the Group is not exposed to the majority of the variability in the cash flows of the trust, and i is not considered to control the
trust structures, so they are nat consolidated by the Group.

Loans originated through the platform

The Group originates SME Ioans through its platform which have been funded primarily by banks, asset managers, other
institutional investors, funds, national entities, retail investors or by usage of its own capital. Judgement is required to determine
whether these lcans should be recognised on the Group's balance sheet. Where the Group, its subsidiaries or SPVs which it
consolidates have fegal and beneficial ownership to the title of those SME loans, they are recognised on the Group’s balance
sheet. Where this is not the case, the loans are not recognised at the point of origination.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key sources of estimation uncertainty that the Directors have identified in the pracess of applying the
Group's accounting policies and have the maost significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Fair value of financial instruments {note 16}
AL 37 December 2022, the carrying value of the Group's financial instrument assets held at fair value was £219.4 million
(2021: £302.5 million) and the carrying value of financial liabilities carried at fair value was £nil (2021: £12.8 million)

In accordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, the Group categorises financial instruments carried an the consolidated
balance sheet at fair value using a three-level hierarchy. Financial instruments categorised as level 1 are valued using quoted market
prices and therefore there is rminimal estimation applied in determining fair value. However, the fair value of financial instruments
categorised as level 2 and, in particular, level 3 is determined using valuation estimation techniques including discounted cash flow
analysis and valuation models. The most significant estimation is with respect to discount rates and default rates.

Since 31 December 20271 the assumptions related to estimating fair value have been revised to reflect the observed actual
performance of SME loans (securitised) and a revision to the timing of the assurned defaults to occur fater in light of the
observed resilience of the loans performance and noting that the econamic environment may lead to a later, more gradual but
longer lasting stress than the sooner and sharper stress previously expected. Additicnally, recoveries have been observed to
have performed more favourable to previous stress assumptions and expectations have been revised upwards. The combination
of favourable observed performance, higher recoveries and later defaults on an amortising pool of loans has led to a lower
lifetime cumulative default expectation and a higher relative estimation of fair value.

However, market drivers of discount rates such as observed widening in collateralised loan obligation spreads and increases in the
risk-free rate due to central bank interest rate rises in order 1o curb inflationary pressures have resulted in the estimated cash flows
being discounted at a higher rate, which has led to a lower relative estimation of fair value compared to carrying value of the loans
partially offsetting the favourable revisions from default and recovery expectations.

With respect to investments in trusts and co-investments, where the Group helds a minority equity pari passu ce-investment
structured through warehouse vehicles, the increase in interest rates and future expected increases in interest rates has decreased
the estimated fair value in these structures, as the floating rate interest on senior berrowing facilities within the vehicle is paid
befora returns to the equity holders | including Funding Circle, are made. Additianally, while the majority of default stress particularly
on CBILS loans was previously expecied to occur at the end of the product’s first year payment free period, with lower defaults
observed than anticipated, the economic environment may lead to further defaulis on these portfolios through the same more
gradual default stress outlined above. The nature of the vehicles is such that, while the loans may be government quaranleed, an
uptick in defaults in combination with higher borrowing costs will reduce the lifetime return to the equity holder and the inbuilt
mechanisms of the vehicles which pricritise repayments to the senior lender could lead to cash flowing to the equity holder later.
As a result the estimated fair value of the investment has decreased.

Sensitivities 10 assumptions in the valuation of SME loans {warehouse), SME loans (other) and money market funds within cash
and cash equivalents are not disclosed below as reasonably possible changes In the current assumpticns would not be expected
to result in material changes in the carrying values.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty continued
Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Fair value of financial instruments {note 16}

Sensitivities to the default rates and discount rates are ilustrated below.

Fair value Relationship of
Description £m Unobservable input Inputs uncbservable inputs to fair value
SME loans (securitised) 458 Lifetime cumulative default Us: 14 6% A change in the lifetime cumulative
rate as % of original and 17.3%! default rate would have the
UK 6.9% following impact

US SPV1" +68/-17 bps would decrease/
ncrease fair value by £(0 8) million/
£0.3 million respectively

US 8SPV2" +127/-34 bps weuld
decrease/increase fair value by
£(1.8) million/£0.6 million respectively.

UK: +36/-36 bps would decrease/
increase fair value by £{0.4} million/
£0.4 million respectively

investments in Trustsand 287 Lifetime cumulative default Blended 16 0% A change in the lifetime cumulative
co-investments rate as % of criginal default rate by +230/-480 bps would
decrease/increase fair value by
(£0.8) million and £1.8 million respectively.

1 lwo cumulative default rates are oresentec for the US representing the portfalios in each of the twe respective paals of SMF loans {secunitised) related to the remaining and
legacy securttisation vehicles Separate sensibivities 1o de‘ault rates for the US securtisation vehicles epresent the respective seasonirg of the loans and the different
reasonably passible range of outcomes US SPPV2 defauli definition 1s “synthetic cefault” being 90+days past due based on onginal contractual tei ms including where borrawers
became 90+ days late due ta going on appraved torbearance measures such as payment holidays JK and US 5PY1 detault defintior 15 based on "contractual default”
det:ution of 90+ days past due based on curtest contractual terms which may have been revised since the orignal contract The UK and USSPV default defimt'an was
previously aligned 1o the US but amended after the loans wete scle from the SPV, diiving the divergence in ifetime expected default rates oresertec between the SPvs

The abave sensitivities represent management's estimate of the reasanably possible range of outcomes and as a result the fair
value of the assets and liabilities measured at fair value could materially diverge from management's estimate.

Fairvalue Relaticnship of
Description £m Unobservable input Inputs unobservable inputs to fair value
SME loans (securitised) 458 Risk-adjusted discount rate Us: 157% A change in the discount rates
UK:18.5% by +/-200 bps would decrease/

increase fair value by £0.8 million/
£(0.8) million respectively.

Investments in Trusts and 287 Risk-adjusted discount rate 7.5% to 20 3% A change in the discount rate by

co-investments +200/-200 bps would decrease/
increase fair value by £1.0 million/
£01.0) million respectively.

It is considered that the range of reasonably possible outcomes in relation to the discount rate used could be +/-200 bps and
as a result the fair value of the assets could materially diverge from management’s estimate.

As the discount rate is risk adjusted, 1t should be noted that the sensitivities to discount rate and to lifetime cumulative default
rate contain a level of overlap regarding credit risk. The sensitivity in expected lifetime cumulative defaults should not also be
applied to the sensitivity of the credit risk element of the risk-adjusted discount rate and the sensitivities are most meaningful
viewed independently of each other.
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3. Segmental information

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires the Group to determine its operating segments based on information which is used
internally for decision making. Based on the internal reporting informatien and management structures within the Group, it has
been determined that there are four operating segments, three of which are loans businesses arranged geographically consistent
with the prior year and the fourth which is a line of credit business, FlexiPay, based in the United Kingdom. Reporting on this
basis is reviewed by the Global Leadership Team ("GLT") which is the chief operating decision maker ("CODM"). The GLT is made
up of the Executive Directors and other senior management and is responsible for the strategic decision making of the Group.

The four reportable segments are as shown in the table below. The other segment includes the Group's businesses in Germany
and the Netherlands. In light of the increasing prominence of new products such as FlexiPay, an additional segment is reported
to the CODM related to FlexiPay and has been disclosed separately for the first time for the year to 31 December 2022,

The GLT measures the performance of each segment by reference to a non-GAAP measure, adiusted EBITDA, which is defined
as profit/loss hefare finance income and costs, taxation, depreciation and amartisation ("EBITDA"), and additionally excludes
share based payrment charges and associated social securily cosls, [ureign exchange and exceptional items (see note b).
Together with operating profit/loss, adjusted EBITDA is a key measure of Group performance as it allows better comparability
of the underlying performance of the business. The segment reporting, including Adjusted EBITDA, excludes the impact of the
Group's transfer pricing arrangements as this is not information presented to, or used by, the CODM in decision making or the
allocation of resources

Netincome
31 December 2022 31 December 2621
ioans FlexiPay Total Loans FlexiPay Tolal
United United United United Urited United
Kingdom States Other Kingdom ¥ingdom States Other  Kingdom
£m £m Em £m £m £m fm £m £m £m
Total income 117.0 28.6 1.6 1.5 148.7 159 4 44.8 27 - 2069
Fair value gains/(losses) (2.4) 7.2 - - 4.8 105 18.1 - - 286
Net income 114.6 35.8 1.6 1.5 153.5 1699 629 27 - 2355
Segment (loss)/profit
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Loans FlexiPay Total Loans FlexiPay Total
United United United United United United
Kingdom States Other  Kingdom Kingdom States Gther  Kingdom
£m £m £m £m £m £m fm £m £m £m
Adjusted EBITDA 1.7 3.7) 2.8 {4.0) 6.8 619 28.4 1.5 — a91.8
Depreciation and amartisation (11.7) (5.2) (0.1) - (17.0) (9.7) 4. 0.1 - (13.9)
Share-based payments and
social security casts (3.9) {0.8) - - 4.7) (76) (1.3 - - 89)
Foreign exchange losses 0.2 - - - 0.2 0.3 (0.6 - - (09
Exceptional items (nate 5) - - - - - - {39) - - {39)
Operating (loss)/profit (3.7) (9.7) 2.7 (4.0) (14.7) 443 18.5 14 - 64.2
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 37 December 2022

4. Operating expenses

31 December 2022

31 December 2021

Before
exceptional Exceptional
Total itemsg items Total
£m £m £m £m
Depreciation 5.1 59 — 59
Amortisation 1041 8.0 - 80
Rental income and other recharges {1.0) 09) - 0.9)
Operating lease rentals
- Land and buildings 0.3 0. - 0.1
Employment costs {including contractors) 85.9 777 - 777
Marketing costs
{excluding employment costs) 38.4 469 - 469
Data and technology 9.7 9.0 - 9.0
Expected credit loss impairment {credit}/charge {1.5) 1.2 - 12
Impairment cf intangitble and
tangible assets 1.8 - 39 39
Other expenses 19.4 195 - 19.5
Total operating expenses 168.2 1674 39 1713
Auditors’ remuneration
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£m £fm
Audit fees
- Fees payable to the Company’s auditars for the audit of the Parent Company and consolidated
financial statements 0.5 0.5
- Fees payable to the Gompany's auditors and 1ts associates for the statutory audit of the financial
statements of subsidiaries of the Company 0.3 0.3
Total audit fees 0.8 08
Non-audit service fees
- Audit-related assurance services 0.3 02
— Other non-assurance services 01 01
Total non-audit service fees 0.4 0.3

5. Exceptional items

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

£m £m

Impairment of non-financial assets {note 11} - 39
Total - 39
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5. Exceptional items voulinued

Exceptional items are the items of income or expense that the Group considers are material, one-off in nature and of such
significance that they merit separate presentation in order to aid the reader’s understanding of the Group's financial
performance.

During the year to 31 December 2021 certain floors of the San Francisco office were sublet to third parties for the remainder
of the term of the head lease for an amount lower than the head lease rental. As a resuit the sublease was determined tobe a
finance lease which resulted in the right-of-use asset being derecognised and a net investment in sublease recognised on the
balance sheet. The difference between the carrying value of the right-of-use asset and the netinvestment in the sublease was
£3.3 million and has been recorded in the statement of comprehensive income as an impairment under exceptional items
Additionally it was determined that the fixed assets associated with the office were impaired in full as they were no longer used
by the Group resulting in impairment of £0.6 million. There was no cash movement in relation to the impairment

In 2020, the Group restructured the German and Dutch (Other) businesses to focus on referring loans it originates to local
lenders. This restructuring resulted in one-cfl cosls comprising redundancy costs and a related share-based payment credit and
impairment on right-of-use assets. Cash payments associated with these ltems totalled £0.8 million in the previous year ended
37 December 2021, See note 15 for movement in associated provisions and note 22 for cash fiow.

6. Employees
The average monthly number of employees (including Directors) during the year was:

2022 2021

Number Number

UK 686 632
FlexiPay 20 2
us 177 155
Other 10 15
893 804

In addition to the employees above, the average manthly number of contractors during the year was 142 (2021: 125)

Employment costs (including Directors’ emoluments} during the year were:

31 December 31 Decamber

2022 2021

£m £m

Wages and salaries 72.2 61.4
Social security costs 7.6 6.2
Pension costs 19 18
Share-based payments 4.7 839
86.4 783

Contractor costs 12.0 76
Less capitalised development costs (12.5) (8.2
Employment costs net of capitalised development costs 85.9 777

7. Net finance income/(costs)

31 December 31 Decemnber

2022 2021

£m £m

Interest receivable 2.3 01

Total finance income 2.3 a1
Interest on lease tiabilities {0.9) o
Total finance costs (0.9) (n
Net finance income/{costs) 1.4 (1.0
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

8. Income tax (credit}/charge

The Group is subject to all taxes applicable 10 a commercial company in its countries of operation. The UK (losses)/profits of the
Company are subject to UK income tax at the standard corporation tax rate of 19% (2021: 19%).

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£m £m
Current tax
UK
Current tax on (losses)/profits for the year 0.3 27
Adjustrment in respect of priar years {0.3) 0.1)
- 2.6
US and Other
Current tax on (losses)/prafits for the year 0.4 -
Adjustment in respect of prior years 0.5 0.3
0.9 0.3
Total current tax charge 0.9 29
Deferred tax
UK
Deferred tax on (losses)/profits for the year - -
Adjustment in respect of prior years - -
US and Other
Deferred tax on (losses)/profits for the year {6.9) -
Adjustments in respect of prior years - -
(6.9) —
Total deferred tax (credit) (6.9) -
Total tax (credit)/charge (6.0) 29

The above current tax charge represents the expected tax on the Research and Development Expenditure Credit ("RDEC")
receivable for 2022 and US state taxes In the prior year, the tax charge represents the tax liability an the Group's taxable profit
and the amount of 1ax deducted from the RDEC receivable for 2021. The deferred tax credit represents recognition of a deferred
tax asset in respect of US losses previously unrecognised

The Group (credit)/charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss}/profit before tax shown per the consolidated statement
of comprehensive iIncome as follows.

Factors affecting the tax (credit)/charge for the year

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£m £m
{Loss)/profit before taxation (12.9) 641
Taxation on {loss)/profit at 19% (2027 19%) 2.4) 122
Effects of
Research and development 0.3 (0.8}
Effect of foreign tax rates 0.3 2.6
Non-taxable/non-deductible expenses 1.0 18
Movement in deferred tax not recognised 5.3 84
Utilisation of tax josses previously unrecognised 4.0 (5.9)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 0.2 a1
Deferred tax assets recognised (6.9) -
Impairment charge ard other exceptional iterms 0.2 11
Total tax (credit)/charge (6.0) 29
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8. Income tax (credit)/charge continued

The Group is taxed at different rates depending on the country in which the profits arise. The key applicable tax rates include the
UK 19%, the US 21%, Germany 30% and the Netherlands 25%. The effective tax rate for the year was (45.85%) (2021: 4. 5%).

The statutory UK corparation tax rate is currently 19% {effective T Aprii 2020). The UK government announced on 3 March 2021
and canfirmed in November 2022 that the rate of carporation tax wili be increased to 25% frem 1 April 2023

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset of £6.9 million in respect of £32.9 million of the US federal losses.

The Group has utilised tax losses in the US for the first time in 2021 and the Group's transfer pricing arrangements between the
UK and US entitle the US te earn an agreed profit margin. It is probable that the US will be in a profitable position going forwards
such that it could use some of its historical federal losses to offset profits.

In determining the amount of losses to recognise as deferred tax assets the Group has used the forecasts applied in the Parent
Company impairment testing with regards to the investment in the US business, detalled in note 1 of the Company financial
slalemenls on page 182. ILhas then applied probability weightings to those five-year forecasts the further out it projects to
reflect greater levels of uncertainty with limited recognition beyond this point.

The key assumptions are:

cumulative annual revenue growth rate of 15%; and
= theimpact of transfer pricing arrangements within the Group are considered.

The estimated amount of deferrad tax recagnised is not materially sensitive to reasonably possible changes in these
assumptions.

The Group has recognised a deferred tax liability of £2.8 million (2021: £3.2 miflion) relating to the property, plant and eguipment
in the UK. The deferred tax liability is predominantly due to the accelerated capital allowances of £2.8 million (2021: £2.6 million)
and in relation to securitisation and warehouse vehicles of the UK which are domiciled in Irefand of £nil (2021: £0.6 million).

A deferred tax asset relating to unrelieved tax losses of £2.8 million (2021: £3.3 million} has been recognised in the UK to the
extent of the above mentioned deferred tax liability pursuant to I1AS 12 para 74. Deferred tax has been determined using the
applicable effective future tax rate that will apply in the expected period of utilisation of the recognised deferred tax assets
or liabilities.

Unrecognised deferred tax

31 December 31 December

2022 2023

£m £m

Property, plant and equipment 17.4 10.3
Carry forward losses 133.3 2573
Deferred stock optians 18.5 157
US R&D credit 2.3 21
US fair value adjustments 471 463
Other 0.3 37
Unrecognised deferred tax’ 2189 3354

1 Balances presented in tahle above are gross tinung differences and are not tax effected
Based on the temporary differences, there are total unrecognised deferred tax assets of £50.1 million (2021: £92.1 millian).

The Group has unrelieved tax losses of £177.0 million (2021 £257.3 miliion) that are available for offset against future taxable
profits. Of these, there are £133.3 million (2021: £257.3 million) of unrecagnised tax losses for deferred tax purposes.

There are £81.7 million of losses carried forward in the US of which £14.8 miflion will expire in 2035, £23.7 million will expire

In 2036 and the remaining balance of £43.2 million have na expiry period. There are £96.1 million of German losses {of which
£48 3 million relate to federal losses and £47.8 million relate to trade tax losses) that can no longer be used as the tax residence
of the German-incorporated entities has changed to the UK. There are £97.3 million losses which relate to the UK.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

8. Income tax (credit)/charge continued
Factors affecting the tax charge in future years

Factors that may affect the Group's future tax charge include the geographic location of the Group's €arnings, the tax rates in
those lacations, changes in tax legislation and the use of brought forward tax losses. The calculation of the Group's total tax
charge involves a degree of estimation and judgement with respect to the recognition of any deferred tax asset

9. (Loss)/earnings per share

Basic {loss)/earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Campany by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

For diluted {loss)/earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue is adjusted to assume conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The ditutive potential ordinary shares include thase share options granted to employees
under the Group's share-based compensation schemes which do not have an exercise price or where the exercise price is less
than the average market price of the Company’s ordinary shares during the year.

The fallowing table reflects the {loss)/profit and share data used in the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share computations:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

{Loss)/profit for the year (£m) (6.9) 6.2
Basic weighted average number of ardinary shares in issue (million) 3486 3815
Basic {loss)/earnings per share (2.00p 17.4p
{Loss)/profit for the year before exceptional items (£my} 6.9) 651
Basic weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue (million) 348.6 3515
Basic {loss)/earnings per share before exceptional items (2.0)p 18.5p
{Loss)/profit for the year (Em) (6.9) 61.2
Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (million) 379.5 381.7
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (1.8)p 160p
{Loss)/profit for the year before exceptional items {(£m} (6.9) 651
Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (million) 379.5 3817
Diluted (loss)/earnings ner share before exceptional items (1.8)p 171p
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue {million) 348.6 3515
Effect of dilutive share options {million) 309 30.2
Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (million) 379.5 3817
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10. Intangible assets

Capitalised
developrnent Computer Other
coslts software intangibles Total
£m £m £m £m
Cost
At January 2021 455 0.8 1.1 474
Exchange differences (0.2} 01 0.1 -
Additions 8.5 0.1 — 8.6
Disposais 4.8) 0.1} - (4.9)
At 31 December 2021 490 09 1.2 511
At 1. lannary 2077 49.0 09 1.2 511
Exchange differences 19 - - 19
Additions 12.7 — - 127
Disposals 8.8 N — (89
At 31 December 2022 54.8 0.8 1.2 56.8
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2021 213 a7 1.0 23.0
Exchange differences 0N - 0.2 01
Charge for the year 80 — — a0
Disposals (4.8) ©n - (4.9)
At 31 December 2021 24.4 06 1.2 262
ALY January 2022 24.4 0.6 1.2 2672
Exchange differences 1.2 — — 1.2
Charge for the year 10.0 01 - 101
Disposaly (8.8] (0.1} - (8.9)
At 31 December 2022 26.8 0.6 1.2 28.6
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 28.0 0.2 - 28.2
At 31 December 2021 246 03 - 249
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

11. Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
The Group has right-of-use assets which comprise property leases held by the Group Information about leases for which the
Group is a lessee is presented below.

Analysis of property, plant and equipment between owned and leased assets

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£m £m
Property, plant and equipment {owned} 2.7 27
Right-of-use assets 7.3 1.4
10.0 141
Reconciliation of amount recognised in the balance sheet
Right-af-use
Leasehald Computer Furniture assets
improvements equipment and fixtures (property) Total
£m jag £m £m £m
Cost
At T January 2021 6.1 3.6 2.8 46.8 59.3
Disposals (0.4) 18 (10) - (4.2)
Additions - 07 01 - 0.8
Exchange differences - 0.2 - (0.4) (0.2)
Derecognition of right-of-use assats - - - (15.4) (15.4)
At 31 December 2021 47 27 19 310 40.3
At 1 January 2022 4.7 27 19 310 403
Disposals - {08 - - (0.8
Additions’ 0.5 10 01 0.7 2.3
Exchange differences - 0.1 0.1 10 12
Derecognition ¢f right-of-use assets - - — - -
At 31 December 2022 5.2 3.0 21 32.7 43.0
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2021 37 32 17 220 30.6
Disposals (1.4) 1.8) (1.0 — 4.2
Charge for the year 0.8 e 0.3 42 59
Impairment (exceptional) 0.2 - 0.4 33 39
Exchange differences (X)) @.1) 01 - (0.1}
Derecognition of right-of-use assets - - — 9.9 (99)
At 31 December 2021 32 1.9 15 196 26.2
At January 2022 3.2 19 1.5 19.6 262
Disposals — (0.8) - - {0.8)
Charge for the year 07 07 az 35 51
Impairment - - - 18 1.8
Exchange differences - 01 G 0.5 07
Derecognition of right-of-use assets - - - - -
At 31 December 2022 39 19 1.8 25.4 33.0
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 1.3 11 0.3 7.3 10.0
At 31 December 2021 15 08 .4 114 141

1 Leasahckd morovement addibons ir e year are nen-cas e rature

Certain right-of-use assets related to the US San Francisco office have been sublet under an operating sublease Due to a
reduction in market values since inception of the sublet, the estimated cash flows expected on expiry of the existing sublet
and negotiation of further sublet are lower and as aresult an impairment of £1 8 million was recognised in the year ended
31 December 2022. The impairment was nat treated as an exceptional item
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11. Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities continued
Reconciliation of amount recognised in the balance sheet continued

During the previous year ended 31 December 2021, cerlain olher right-of-use assets related to the US San Francisco office were
sublet in a finance sublease. As a result the right-of-use asset was derecognised and a net investment in sublease was recognised
within other receivables. During the previous year the right-of-use asset related 1o the Netherlands business was exited along
with the corresponding head lease hability, The carrying values of the right-of-use asset and lease liabitity at the point of

derecognition were £0.4 millicn. See note 5 for related exceptional items.

Lease liabilities

Amounts recognised on the balance sheet were as follows:
31 December

31 December

2022 2021

£m £m

Current 7.2 H9
Non-current 12.6 170
Total 19.8 239

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income were as follows:

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

£Em £m

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (property) 3.5 4.2
Interest expense {included in finance costs) 0.9 1.1
Expense relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 0.4 a1

The tctal cash outflow for leases {excluding shart-term and low-value leases) in 2022 was £7.3 million (2021: £8.1 million).

A maturity analysis illustrating the undiscounted contractual cash flows of lease liabilities is included within the liquidity risk

disclosure within note 16.

As at 31 December 2022 the potential future undiscounted cash outflows that have not been included in the lease liability, due

to lack of reasonable certainty the lease extension options might be exercised, amounted to £nil 2027: £nif).

12. Investment in SME loans
31 December

31 December

2022 2021
£m £m
Non-current
SME loans {other) — amortised cost 24.8 74.2
Investment in trusts and co-investments — FYTPL 28.7 381
Total non-current 53.5 113.3
Current
Lines of credit — amortised cost 16.0 16
SME loans {ather) - FVTPL 209 -
SME loans (warehouse) - FVTPL 2.4 3.2
SME loans (securitised) - FVTPL 45.8 1481
Total current 85.1 1529
Total 138.6 266.2
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2022

13. Trade and other receivables

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
£m £m

QOther receivables 3.4 41
Non-current trade and other receivables 3.4 4
Trade receivables 0.4 1.8
QOther receivables’ 5.3 10.0
Prepayments 3.7 4.8
Accrued income 4.8 62
Rent and other deposits 2.3 22
Current trade and other receivables 16.5 250
19.9 291

1. Includes £n11 (2075 £3.6 million) inrelaton 1 cash and kquidity reserves held in the LK secunitisation vehicle

The maximum exposure 1o credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivables described earlier.

Na trade receivables were overdue or impaired.

Included in rent and other deposits are £1.3 million of rental deposits (2021: £1.6 million) in respect of the Group's property

leases which expire over the next five years.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value.

14. Trade and other payables
31 December

31 December

2032 2027
£m £m
Trade payables 25 37
Other taxes and social security costs 5.0 49
Other creditors 9.7 .4
Accruals and deferred income 14.6 164
31.8 364
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates ta their fair value.
15. Provisions and other liabilities
Dilapdaton  Loan repurchase Restructuring' Other” Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2021 09 52 1.1 27 99
Exchange differences - (0.3) o) 0.2 @ 2)
Additional provision/liability — - - 1. N
Amount utilised - {(2.6) (0.8) 02) (3.6)
Amount reversed 6.3) {0.1} - (27) 30
At 31 December 2021 0.6 22 a2 11 41
Exchange differences - 01 ~ 0.1 0.2
Additional pravision/liability G.5 - -~ a5 10
Amaunt utiised - 09 0.2) {0.2) (1.3)
Amount reversed - Q9 - (10 (1.9}
At 31 December 2022 1.1 0.5 - 0.5 21
1 Restructunng provisiar 15 e relation 10 -earganisaticr of tne JS German aro Dutch busiresses, see nale & Other orovisicns acludes orav sicns for gperaticnal baybac<s £0 3

million 2021 £nil) ¢ expected credr lnss impar ment allyyances refated ta undrawn Flaxbay ires of credilis alse includes wethin ather
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15. Provisions and other liabilities continued

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£m £m

Current provisions and other fiabilities 1.0 3.4
Non-current provisions and other liabilities 11 07
21 41

The dilapidation provision represents an estimated cost for dismantling the customisation of offices and restoring the leasehaold
premises 1o its onginal state at the end of the tenancy period. The provision is expected t¢ be utilised by 2025,

Loan repurchase liability

In certain historical circumstances, in Germany and the Netherlands, Funding Circle entered into arrangements with institutional
investors to assume the gradit risk on the loan investments made by the institutional investors. Under the terms of the agreements,
the Group is required either to make payments when the underlying borrower fails to meet its obligation under the loan contract
or buy the defaulted loan from the investors at its carrying value. In return for these commitmients, the Group is entitled to the
excess returns or additional inceme which 1 recorded as other fees.

Under IFRS 9, the Group is required to provide for these lcan repurchases under the expected credit loss {"ECL"} model.

The liability related 1o each loan arranged is based on the ECLs associated with the probability of default of that toan in the next
12 months unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk of that loan since origination. The Group assumes there has
been a significant increase in credit risk if outstanding amounts on the loan investment exceed 30 days, in line with the rebuttable
presumption per [FRS g,

The Group defines a default, classified within non-performing, as a loan investment with any outstanding amounts exceeding
a 90-day due date, which reflects the point at which the loan is considered to be credit impaired.

If the loan is bought back by the Group, at the point of buyback, the financial asset assaciated with the purchase meets the
definition of purchased or originated credit imgpaired ("POCI"); this element of the reserve is therefore based on lifetime ECLs.
After being baught back, POCI loans and associated impairment provisions are recognised within invesiment in SME loans
(other) on the balance sheet.

The Group hands each loan investment using an internal risk rating and assesses credit losses on a collective basis.

Performing: Underperforming: Non-performing:

12-month lifetime lIifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
£m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2021 22 1.5 15 5.2
Exchange differences 0N 0.0 0.1 (0.3
Liability against loans transferred between stages (0.2) (0.5) 1.7 1.0
Amounts utilised - - (2.6) (2.6
Loans repaid (0.9) (0.4) (0.6} (1.9
Change in probability of default 0.4 0.3) 0.5 0.8
At 31 December 2021 14 0.4 0.4 2.2
Exchange differences — 01 - 01
Liability against loans transferred between stages 0.0 (0.2) 07 0.4
Amounts utilised - - (0.9} {09
Loans repaid (0.9) {0.1) 0.2} (1.2)
Change in probability of default {0.2) {0.1) 0.2 (o)}
At 31 December 2022 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.5
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2022

15. Provisions and other liabilities continued
Loan repurchase liability continued

Gross gssels
of external

Basis for parties subject Laan
Expected credit recognitionof  toloanrepurchase repurchase
loss coverage loan repurchase liability liability
At 371 December 2021 % hability £m £m
Performing (due in 30 days or less) 15.3  12-month ECL 88 14
Underperforming (31-90 days overdue) 63.6 Lifetime ECL 06 04
Non-performing (30+ days overdue) 76.5 Lifetime ECL 0.6 04
Total 10.0 2.2

Gross assels

of external
Basis for parties subject Loan
Expected credit recognition of to loan repurchase repurchase
ioss coverage  lsanrepurchase liability liability
At 31 December 2022 % liability £m £m
Performing (due in 30 days or less) 9.6 12-month ECL 2.4 0.2
Underperforming (31-90 days overdue) 32.6  Lifetime ECL 0.2 0.1
Non-perfarming (30+ days overdue) 92.9 Lifetime ECL 0.2 0.2
Total 2.8 0.5

The percentages applied above are based on the Group's past experience of delinguencies and loss trends, as well as forward-looking
information in the form of macroeconomic scenarios governed by an impairment commitiee, which considers macroeconomic
forecasts such as changes in interest rates, GDP and inflation which are incorporated into scerarios and probability weighted.

Estimation is required in assessing individual loans and when applying statistical maedels for collective assessments, using historica
trends from past performance as well as forward-looking infarmation including macroeconomic forecasts in each market together

with the impact on loan defaults

The maximum exposure the Group might have 1o pay at the balance sheet date if 100% of eligible loans were required to be bought
back would be £2.8 million (2021: £10.0 milfion). This would be dependent on the timing of any eligible loans defaulting. Repayments
of eligible loans are no longer reinvested and therefore the final ioan s due to expire in Decemnber 2024, along with the associated

financial guarantees. At 31 December 2022, there is only one portfolio of loans.
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16. Financial risk management
The Board of Directors has overal! respensibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framewark.
The risk management policies are established ta identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, 1o set appropriate risk limits
and contrals and 1 manitor risks and ensure any limits are adhered to. The Group's activities are reviewed regularly and potential
risks are considered.
Risk factors
The Group has exposure ta the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
credit risk;
+ liguidity risk; and
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and other price risk).
Principal financial instruments
The principal financial instruments used by the Group, from which financial instrument risk arises, are as follows:
SME lnans;
investments in trusts and co-investments;
lines of credit;
trade and other receivables;
+ cash and cash equivalents;
trade and other payables,
bank horrowings;
bonds;
+ lease liabilities; and
loan 1epurchase liabilities.
Categorisation of financial assets and financial liabilities

The tables show the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities by category of financial instrument as at
31 Decemnber 2022:

Fair
value through Amortised
profit and loss cost Other Total
Assets £m £m £m £m
SME loans (other) 20.9 248 - 45.7
SME loans (warehouse) 2.4 - - © 2.4
SME loans (securitised} 45.8 - - 45.8
Lines of credit - 16.0 — 16.0
Investment in trusts and co-investments 28.7 - - 28.7
Trade and other receivables - 16.2 - 16.2
Cash and cash equivalents 121.6 56.1 - 177.7
219.4 1131 - 332.5
Fair
value through Amortised
prafit and loss cost Other Total
Liabilities £m £m £m £m
Trade and other payables - (12.2) - (12.2)
Loan repurchase liability - - (0.5) (0.5)
Bank borrowings - (22.6) - (22.6)
Bonds - (23.7) - (23.7)
Lease liabilities - (19.8) - (19.8)

- (78.3) (0.5) (78.8)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 37 December 2022

16. Financial risk management continued
Principal financia! instruments continued
Categorisation of financial assets and financial liahilities continued

The tables show the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liahilities by category of financial instrument as at
31 December 2021

Fair
valuc through Amortised
profit and loss cost Other Total
Assets £m £m £m £m
SME leans (other) - 742 - 74.2
SME loans (warehouse) 3.2 — - 32
SME loans (securitised) 1481 - - 1481
Lines of credit - 16 - 16
Investment in trusts and co-investments 391 - - 391
Trade and other receivables - 243 - 243
Cash and cash equivalents 121 ma - 2240
3025 212.0 - 514.5
Farr
value through Amorlised
profit and loss cost Other Total
Liabilities £m £m £m £m
Trade and other payables - (15.2) - (15.2)
Loan repurchase liability - - (2.2} (2.2
Bank barrowings - (73.2) - (73.2)
Bonds (12.8) (127.5) — {140.3)
Lease lighilities - (23.9) - (239)
(12.8) (239.8) (2.2 (254.8)

Financial instruments measured at amortised cost

Financial instruments measured at amortised cast, rather than fair value, include ¢ash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables, certain SME loans (gther), bank borrowings, lease liabilities, certain bonds and trade and other payables. Due to their
nature, the carrying value of each of the above financial instruments approximates to their fair value

Other financial instruments
Loan repurchase liabilities are measured at the amount of loss allowance determined under IFRS 9.

Financial instruments measured at fair value

IFRS 13 requires certain disclosures which reguire the classification of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair
value using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the fair value measurement

Disclosure of fair value measurements by level is according to the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date,

+ level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the assets or liahilities, either
directly or indirectly, and

level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities

The fair value of financial nstruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, investrments in SME loans) is
determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techriques maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little ag passible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inouts required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument 1s included in level 2. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data,
the instrument is included in level 3. An assessment that the level applied 1o financial instruments is appropriate and whether a
transfer between levels is required is undertaken at the end of each accounting period. There were no transfers between levels
during the year or prior year.

The Finance department of the Group perfarms the valuations of items required for financial reporting purposes, including level
3 fair values. This team reports to the Chief Financial Officer ("CFO"). Discussions of valuation pracesses and results are held
regularly at Balance Sheet Management and Investment Valuation Committees along with regular updates provided to the
Audit Committee.
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16. Financial risk management continucd

Financial instruments measured at fair value continued
Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservabie

markets inputs inputs
(tevel 1) (level 2) {level 3) Total
31 December 2022 £m £m £m £m

Financial assets

SME loans (warehouse) - - 2.4 2.4
SME loans (securitised) - - 45.8 45.8
SME loans {(other) - - 209 209
Investment in trusts and co-investments - - 28.7 28.7
Lash and cash eguivaients 121.6 - - 121.6
121.6 - 97.8 219.4

Financial liabilities

Bonds - - - -
Fair value measurement using
Queted prices Significant Significant
In active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
{level 1) (level 2) (level 3) Total
31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
SME loans {warehouse) - - 3.2 3.2
SME loans (secutitised) - - 1481 1481
Investment in trusts and co-investments - - 391 397
Cash and cash equivalents 112 - - 1121
1121 - 180.4 3025
Financial liabilities
Bonds - - (12.8) (12.8)
— - {12.8} (12.8)

The fair value of SME loans (warehouse) has been estimated by discounting future cash flaws of the loans using discount rates that
reflect the changes in market interest rates and observed market conditions at the reparting date The estimated fair value and carrying
amount of the SME |oans (warehouse} was £2.4 million at 31 December 2022 (2021: £3.2 million).

The fair value of SME loans (securitised) represents loan assets in the securitisation vehicles and legacy loans of this nature and has
been estimated by discounting future cash flows of the loans using discount rates that reflect the changes in market interest rates and
ohserved market conditions at the reporting date. The estimated fair value and carrying amount of the SME loans (securitised) was
£45.8 million at 31 December 2022 (2021: £148.1 million).

Bonds represent the unrated tranches of bond liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss {the rated tranches of bonds
are measured at amortised cost). The fair value has been estimated by discounting estimated future cash flows in relation to the
bonds using discount rates that reflect the changes in market interest rates and observed market conditions at the reporting date
The estimated fair value and carrying amount of the bonds was £nil at 31 December 2022 {2021: £12.8 million).

Investment in trusts and co-investments represents the Group's investment in the trusts and other vehicles used 1o fund CBILS, RLS
and certain commercial loans and is measured at fair value through profit and loss. The government-owned British Business Bank will
quarantee up ¢ §0% of the balance of CBILS toang in the event of default {and between 70% and 80% of RLS loans). The fair value has
been estimated by discounting future cash flows in relation to the trusts using discount rates that reflect the changes in market interest
rates and cbservad market conditions at the reporting date. The estimated fair vatue and carrying amount of the investment in trusts
and co-investments was £28.7 million at 31 December 2022 (2021 £39.1 million),

The SME loans (other) held at fair value represents loan assets temporanly funded by the Group in relation to the commercial foans and
is estimated by discounting future cash flows of the loans using discount rates that reflect the changes in market interest rates and
observed market conditions at the reporting date. The estimated fair value and carrying amount of the SME loans (other) was

£20.9 million (2021: £nil).

The most relevant significant unobservable inputs relate to the default rate estimate and discount rates applied to the fair value

calculation, detailg of which are set out in note 2 for those with material estimation uncertamty.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2022

16. Financial risk management continued

Financial instruments measured at fair value contirued

Falr value movements on SME loans (warehouse}, SME loans (securitised), SME loans (other}, investments in trusts and bands (unrated)
are recognised through the profit and loss account in fair value gains/{losses).

A reconcitiation of the mavernent in level 3 financial instruments is shown as follows:

Investrnent Trade and
SME loans SME loans Bonds in trusts and SME other
(warehouse) (secuntised) (unrated) co-investments  loans (other) receivables
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At January 2021 221.8 2748 (7.8) 212 - 0.2
Additions - — — 221 - -
Transfers 02 - - - - 0.2)
Repayments (58.0) (150.2) - (3.3) - -
Disposal (1761} - - - - -
Net gain/(loss) on the change in fair value of financial
instruments at fair value through profit and foss 16.3 ]2 (5.0) 09} - -
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain 0.4 a3 - -~ - -
At 37 December 2021 32 1481 (12 8 391 - -
Additions - - 6.4 226 —
Repayments (2 8) (86.8) 16.3 {10.0) (0.8) -
Disposal - (39.5) - - - -
Net gain/(loss) on the change in fair value of financial
instruments at fair value through profit and loss 24 147 {3.5) (7.0) {1.4) -
Foreign exchange gain - 5.3 — 02 0.5 —
At 31 December 2022 2.4 458 - 287 209 -

Financial risk factors
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables fram customers and cash and cash equivalents held at banks.

The Group's maximum expoesure to credit risk by class of financial asset is as follows:

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£m £m

Non-current
SME loans {other) 24.8 742
Investment in trusts and co-investments 287 391
Trade and other receivables
- Other receivables 3.4 41
Current
Line of credit 16.0 1.6
SME loans (other) 20.9 —
SME loans {warehause) 2.4 32
SME loans (securitised) 45.8 1481
Trade and other receivables:
— Trade receivables 0.4 18
- Other receivables 5.3 10.0
— Accrued ircome 4.8 6.2
— Rent and other deposits 23 22
Cash and cash equivalents 177.7 2240
Total gross credit risk exposure 3325 5145
Less bank barrowings and bend lizbilities’ (46.3) (213.5)
Total net credit risk exposure 286.2 3010

1 Included within bark borrawings are £2¢
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16. Financial risk management continued

Financial risk factors continued

Credit risk continued

In addition the Group is subject to financial guarantees it has issued to buy back loans detailed in the foan repurchase liability

in note 15. The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk on financial guarantees were every eligible loan required to be bought
back would be £2.8 million, (2021 £10.0 million)

An expected credit loss allowance related to undrawn lines of credit en the FlexiPay product of £0.3 miliion (2021: £nil) is held
within provisions and cther liabilities. The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk on the undrawn lines of credit if they were
all to be fully drawn would be £41 6 million (2021: £4.2 million).

SME loans (warehouse) and SME toans (securitised) relate to the underlying pool of SME leans in both the warehouse and
securitisation vehicles or are loans from the legacy warehouses and SPVs that have since been purchased or novated into other
Funding Circle entities, but remain held at FVTPL with the businass model of holding the loans for sale. Whilst there is credit risk
from the loans defaulting, certain of these SME loans (securitised) and the third party bonds that remain in SPVs are held within
hankruptcy remote vehicles. If the SME loans were to all default, then the bank debt or third party bonds do not receive their
money back. Therefare the overall exposure to the Group for these investments is the Group’s net investment in the SME loans
which is after taking account of the bank debt and third party bonds

SME loans (other) includes £20.9 million (2021 £nil) loans originated by the Group with the intention of selling enwards, which
are held at FVTPL and are therefore disclosed as current.

Under IFRS 9, the Group is required to provide for loans measured at amortised cost under the expected credit loss ("ECL)
model. The impairment related to each loan is based on the ECLs associated with the probability of default of that loan in the
next 12 months unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk of that loan since crigination. The Group assumes
there has been a significant increase in credit risk if outstanding amounts on the loan investment exceed 30 days, in line with
the rebuttable presumption per IFRS 9.

The Group defines a default, classified within non-performing, as a loan investment with any outstanding amounts exceeding
a 90-day due date, which reflects the peint at which the loan is considered to be credit impaired. In some circumstances where
loans are bought back by the Group, the financial asset associated with the purchase meets the definition of purchased or
originated credit impaired ("POCI'); this element of the impairment is therefore based on lifetime ECLs

Lines of credit utilises the same default definition and probability of default under IFRS 6, however, are assessed based on
12-month probability of default at the overall available line of credit level, estimating the expected utilisation of the line of credit
at the estimated point of default. The expected credit loss impairment associzted with undrawn lines of credit is disclosed within
other liabilities in note 15 and in note 27.

SME loans (other) includes PPP lgans funded by the use of the PPPLF. The loans are guaranteed by the US government in the
event of default and the loans are anticipated to be forgiven. At the point of default and subsequent collection of the guarantee
or point of forgiveness, the loan and the respective borrowings under the PPPLF are extinguished. SME loans (other) also
includes loans which have been brought back fram investors and are held at amortised cost.

Lines of credit camprises £16.0 million (2021: £1.6 million) of drawn amounts through the FlexiPay product net of expected credit
loss impairment, enabling businesses to spread UK invaices or payments over three monihs with the initial payment made on
a borrower’s behalf.

The gross principal value of SME loans (other) is £39.6 million (2027: £89.5 million} and drawn lines of credit held at amortised
costis £17.6 million (2021: £1.6 million), totalling £57.2 million (2021 £91.1 million), and an allowance for expected credit losses
of £14.8 million (2021: £15.3 million) and £1.6 million (2021: £nil) respectively, totalling £16.4 millien (2021: £15.3 million}, is held
against these loans and drawn lines of credit as detailed below.

Animpairment credit of £0.9 million {2027: charge of £1.3 million) was recognised through the statement of comprehensive
income in the year to 31 December 20272 within credit/(provision) for expected credit losses in the income statement.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2022

16. Financial risk management continued
Financial risk factors continued
Credit risk continued

Performing Underperforming: Non-performing FOCI
12-manth Lifetime Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL ECL Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2021 01 - 0.4 122 127
Impairment against additions 0.1 - - 26 2.7
Exchange differences - - - (0.6) {0.6)
Impairment against loans transferred from/(to)
performing - 0.3 0.7 - 1.0
Loans repaid (0.1) - — (0.9) (1.0}
Change in probability of default or loss given defauit Q.5 - - - 0.5
assumptions
At 371 December 2021 0.6 0.3 1.1 13.3 15.3
impairment against additions 0.1 - - 11 1.2
Exchange differences 0.1 - Q.1 1.0 1.2
Impairment against loans transferred from/(to)
performing 0.1) 0.3 0.3 - 0.5
Loans repaid {0.3) (0.3) (0.5) (1.2) (2.3)
Change in probability of default or loss given default 0.7 - (0.1} (0.1) 0.5
assumptions
At 31 December 2022 1.1 0.3 09 14.1 16.4
Basis for Gross ines Provision
Expected credit recognition of of creditand for expected Net carrying
085 coverage expected credit  SME loans (other) creditloss amount
% loss impairment £m £rm £m
As at 31 December 2021
Performing (due in 30 days cr less) 07 12-month ECL 75.7 (0.6} 751
Underperfarming (31-90 days overdue) 1000 Lifetime ECL a3 (0.3} -
Non-performing (90+ days overdue) 100.0 Lifetime ECL 11 1.1} -
POCI {90+ days overdue) 951 Lifetime EGL 14.0 (13.3) 0.7
Total 311 (15.3) 75.8
As at 31 December 2022
Performing (due in 30 days or less} 2.7 12 month ECL 39.2 (1.1) 38.1
Underperforming (31-90 days overdue) 36.5 Lifetime ECL 0.7 (0.3) 0.4
Non-performing (90+ days overdue) 431 Lifetime ECL 2.3 0.9) 1.4
POCI {80+ days overdue) 94.2 Lifetime ECL 15.0 (14.1) 0.9
Total 57.2 (16.4) 40.8

Trade receivables represent the invoiced amounts in respect of servicing fees due from institutional investors The risk

of financial loss is deemed minimal because the counterparties are well established financial institutions

Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of other receivables and, where appropriate, a provision
for expected credit losses is recerded in the financial statements.

Other receivables include net investment in subleases of offices representing the present value of future sublease payments

receivable. Where appropriate, impairment is recorded where the receivable s in doubt

Individual risk limits for banks and financial institutions are set by the Group with reference to external rating agencies. The
Group's treasury policy has set limits and quantities that the Group must remain within. No credit or counterparty limits were
axceeded during the year. The Group’s cash and cash eguivalents split by S&P counterparty rating were A/A- rated: £56 2 million
(2021. £111.9 million), A+ or better rated. £121.5 million (2021: £112.0 million) and below A-rated: £nil (2027 £0.1 million)

164  Funding Crcle Holdings plc




16. Financial risk management continued
Financial risk factors continued
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's approach to
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient financial rescurces to meet its liabilities when
due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s poesition.

The Group’s liguidity position is menitored and reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Directors.

The amounts disclosed in the following tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. The liquidity requirements of the
bonds are met from cash flows generated by the investment in SME loans (securitised) and the liguidity requirements of bank
borrowings are met from cash flows generated by investment in SME loans (warehouse) and SME loans (other)

The maturity analysis of financial instruments at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 1s as follows:

Between Total
Less than 3 months Between 1 Over undiscounted Impact of Carrying
3 months and 1 year and 5 years 5 years cash flows discounting? amount
At 31 December 2022 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (12.2) - - - (12.2} - (12.2)
Bank barrowings - - (22.6) - (22.6) — (22.6)
Bonds (5.1) (12.5) {6.4) - (24.0} 0.3 (23.7)
Loan repurchase liability’ (0.5) - - - (0.5} - (0.5)
Lease liabilities 1.7) (5.6) (13.7) - (21.0) 1.2 (19.8)
(19.5) (18.1) (42.7) - (80.3) 1.5 (78.8)
Between Total
Less than 3 months Between 1 QOver  undiscounted {mpact of Carrying
3 months and 1 year and 5 years 5 years cash flows discounting? amount
At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (15.2) - - - (15.2) - (15.2)
Bank horrowings - - (73.2) - {73.2) — {73.2)
Bonds (28.8) (60.5) (60.8) (0.2) (150.3) 10.0 {140.3)
Loan repurchase liability’ (2.2) - - - (2.2 - (2.2)
Lease labilities 0.7 (5.2) (18.9) - (25.9) 19 {23.9)
{479) {65.7) {152.9) 0.2) (266.7) 119 (254.8)

1 Financial quarantees provided for in the loan repurcnase hability are allocated to the earl’est periad in waich the guarantee could possioly be called

2. Included within the impact of discounting on bonds 1s £0.3 million of defer-ed bond 1ssuance costs (2021, £1.1 rrilhan)

Bank borrowings consist of drawn amounts in the US of $27.3 million (2027: $98.7 miilion} on the PPP Liquidity Facility available
from the Federal Reserve Bank at a fixed interest rate of 0.35%.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 371 December 2022

16. Financial risk management continued

Financial risk factors continued

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market

prices. The Group's market risk arises from open positions in interest-bearing assets and liabilities, to the extent that these are
exposed to general and specific market movements.

a) Qther price risk

The fair value of the SME loans which are held at fair vaiue through profit and lass can fluctuate depending on market pricing of
relative interest rates and credit risk. This is reflected in the discount rate used to derive a valuation for the loan assets. A sensitivity
to the discount rates used in the valuation of the assets measured at fair value through profit and loss and which are exposed to
greater estimation uncertainty is disclosed in note 2.

b} Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in relation to financial liabilities thraugh drawn committed borrowing facilities and on
honds and on financial assets through investment in SME loans.

Non-trading interest rate risk

The Group's interest risk on financial instruments is limited to interest receivable on loan note investments, cash and cash
equivalent balances and interest on bonds and bank borrowings. The maturities of financial instruments subject to interest rate
risk are as follows:

Less than 3 months Between 3 maonths and 1 year Between 1 and 5§ years
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

At 31 December £m £m £m £m £m £m
Fixed rate
SME loans {cther)? 0.9 - 0.4 - 44.4 742
Investment in trusts and co-
investments - - — - 28.7 391
Lines of credit 16.0 16 - - - -
SME loans {warehouse)' a.1 - 01 a1 2.2 31
SME loans (securitised)’ 0.1 02 4.0 101 41.7 137.8
Bank borrowings? - - - = (22.6) (73.2)
Bonds' - - - - (23.7) (80.2)
Floating rate
Cash and cash equivalents 177.7 224.0 - - - -
Bank borrowings - - - - - -
Bonds! - — - - - (60.1)

194.8 225.8 4.5 10.2 70.7 40.7

1 Tnebones, SME loans {warehouse) and SME loans (securitised) are classified as current on ihe delarce sheet, reflecting that the position is held 1o sell The abave table
represerts the contractuel matuniiies

2 The fixed rate bank bor-owings end SME loars (othedy inclade the Group's drawing of the PPP Ligu dity Facility n the US in order to furd PPP loan ongimaticns These are
classified as non-cu-rent o1 the balance sheet, and the above table represents the cantractial matunities, although the PPP loars could be forgrsen oy the 534 and the
associated liatlity could be repaid from the proceeds within 12 montis of the balance sheet date

There are no financial assets which are held for a period of over five years.

interest rate risk sensitivity analysis ~ non-trading interest (fixed rate)

Interest on loan note investments including SME loans (other), SME loans {warehouse), SME loans {securitised), the unleveraged
investment in trusts and co-investments, lines of credit, certain bank borrowings (in the US) and bond liahilities {in the US) is
fixed until the maturity of the investment, and is not impacted by market rate changes. The level of future interest rate receivable
would be similar to that received in the year and the impact of movements in interest rates on the value of the assets s
considered rmmaterial 1o the Group's overall performance for the year.

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis — non-trading interest (floating rate)

Interest on ¢cash and cash equivalent balances is subject to movements in base rates. The Directors monitor interest rate risk
and note there have recently been significant increases in rates and expectation of future rate rises observed. The Directors
believe that any reasonable increase in the base rate would not significantly impact the Group's cash or finance incame.

Interest an bonds (In the UK) was subject te movements in the Sterling Overnight Index Average Rate ("SONIA". However, the
Group had mitigated the risk of increases n interest rates through the use of interest rate caps and the bonds were fully repaid
during the year
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16. Financial risk management continued

Financial risk factors continued

Market risk continued

by Interest rate risk continued

Interest rale risk sensitivity analysis — non-trading interest (floating rate) continued

Some of the Group's investmient in trusts are through warehouse vehicles where the Group is a minority equity investor. The
senior borrowing facilities utilised in these vehicles receive interest on borrowings in priority to payments to the equity investors
at SONIA plus a margin. As a result of the increase in SONIA and anticipated future increases, the increased borrowing costs
have reduced the expected cash returns to the equity investors of the investment held at fair value through profit and loss. The
impact is recognised in fair value gains and losses in the statement of comprehensive income. Some, but not all of the vehicles,
have interest rate caps or interest rate swaps within their structures which can mitigate the impact of future rate rises. Further
increases in SONIA or the expected future increases in SONIA could reduce the fair value further. A 100bps increase in projected
SONIA rates over the life of the trusts wouid reduce the fair value of the investments in trusts at 31 December 2022 by £0.1 million.

Following the financial crisis, the reform and replacement of benchmark interest rates such as GBP LIBOR and other inter-bank
offered rates ("IBORs”) has become a priority for glabal regulators. There remains some uncertainty around the timing and
precise nature of these changes.

This uncertainty will remain untif the Group’s contracts that reference LIBOR are amended 1¢ reference the alternative benchmark
which is complete for the UK and remains ongoing for the US; however, there are no remaining material exposures to USD LIBOR
at 31 December 2022.

) Sensitivity analysis
IFRS 7 requires disclosure of sensitivity analysis for each type of market risk to which the entity is exposed al the report date
showing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected by changing the relevant risk variables that were reasonably
possible at that date.

As discussead above, the Group does not have significant exposure 1o price or cash flow risk and therefore no sensitivity analysis
for those risks has been disclosed with the exception of sensitivity 1o discount rates on SME loans held at fair value through
profit and loss within note 2.

d) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising fram various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the US dollar, the UK pound and the euro. Foreign exchange risk arises fromn future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operaticns.

The Group's palicy is, where possible, to allow Group entities to setile liahilities denominated in their functional currency with the
cash generated from therr own operations in that currency. Where Group entities have liabilities denominated in a currency other
than their functional currency (and have insufficient reserves of that currency to settle them), cash already denominated in that
currency will, where possible, be transferred from elsewhere within the Group.

Apart from these particular cash flows, the Group aims to fund expenses and investments in the respective currency and 1o
manage foreign exchange risk at a lacal level by matching the currency in which income is generated and expenses are incurred.

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk.

The table below sets out the Group's currency exposures from financial assets and liabilities held by Group companies in currencies
other than their functional currencies and resulting in exchange movements in the incorme statement and balance sheet.

31 Dacember 2022 31 December 2021
usD GBP EUR Total usp GBP EUR Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cash and cash
equivalents 0.2 - - 0.2 02 - 2.2 2.4
Intra-group assets - - 1.0 1.0 - — - -
Intra-group liabilities (16.5) - (0.8) 7.3 (20.8) (ON))] (4.0} (24 9)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

16. Financial risk management continued

Financial risk factors continued

Market risk continued

d) Fareign exchange risk continued

The Group assessed the sensitivity 1o a 10% depreciation and 10% apprecization in pound sterling against the relevant foreign
currencies (2021 carnparative sensitivities are presented based on 5%). While 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to senior management personnel, in light of recent fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, 10%
represents management's current assessment of a reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis to the income statement includes only outstanding foreign currency-dencminated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the year end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis illustrates the impact on the
fareign currency translation reserve within equity of the retranslation of quasi-equity loans 1o foreign operations within the Group
and net investment in foreign operations of the Group.

The Group's sensitivity to fluctuations in foreign currencies is related to the US dollar and euro amaunts held in the Parent Company.

Appreciation in pound stesling Depreciatian in pound sterling
Inceme Income Income Income
statement Equity slatement Equity statement Equity statement Equity
2022 2022 202 2021 2022 2022 2021 2021
At 31 December £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
US dollars - (3.6) (1.0 (33} - 4.4 1.1 356
Euros - 0.6 1 05 - 0.7) Q1 (05)
- (3.0) (1.1 (2.8) - 3.7 12 31

Capital management

The Group considers its capital to comprise its ordinary share capital, share premium, fareign exchange reserve, share aptions
reserve and retained earnings. Quarnititative detail is shown in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Directors’ objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Group's ahility to continue as a gaing concern in order to
provide returns for the shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital.

The Directors monitor a number of KPls at both the Group and individual subsidiary level on a monthly basis As part of the
budgetary process, targets are set with respect to operating expenses in order to effectively manage the activities of the Group.
Performance is reviewed on a regular basis and appropriate actions are taken as required. These internal measures indicate the
performance of the business against budget/forecast and confirm that the Group has adeguate resources to meet its working
capital requirements.

The Group is subject to externally imposed capital requirements by the Financial Conduct Authority but these are lower than
internally set requirements. During the period the Group complied with all externally imposed requirements.

Sources of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements that may result in a material adjustment in future periods are outlined
n note 2.

17. Share capital

31 December 31 December 31 Decemper 31 December
2022 2022 2021 2an
Number £ Number £
Called up, allotted and fully paid
Ordinary shares of £0.001 361,303,143 361,303 356,619,718 356,620

During 2022, the Company issued 4,683,425 ordinary shares of £0.001 (20271: £0.001) ranking pari passu with ordinary shares in issue
(2021 3,675,743) in connection with employee share schemes, giving rise to a total share premium of £0.1 million (20271: £0.4 million).

Included in the total number of ordinary shares outstanding are 16,726,515 (2021: 283,786) shares held by the Group's Employee
Benefit Trust, which includes 16,471,236 shares (2021: nil) that were purchased during the vear (17,660,340 purchased and

1,188,101 utilised to satisfy employee share option plans) and 5,539,201 (2021 2,984,437) shares held by the Group’s Share Incentive
Plan Trust.

18. Share premium account

2022 2621

£m £m

At 1 January 293.0 292.6
Exercise of optians — proceeds received 0.1 0.4
At 31 December 2931 2930
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19. Foreign exchange reserve

£m
At 1 January 2021 9.7
Exchange difference on translating the net assets of foreign operations 1.4
At 31 December 2021 117
Exchange difference on translating the net assets of foreign operations 58
At 31 December 2022 16.9

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the ret assets of the Group's subsidiaries from their functional currency into
the Company's functional currency are recognised directly in the foreign exchange reserves within equity.

20. Accumulated losses

£m
At 1 January 2021 (98.6)
Fransfer of share option costs 1.8
Profit for the year 612
At 31 December 2021 (35.6)
Transfer of share option costs 26
Purchase of own shares (87)
Loss for the year 6.9)
At 31 December 2022 (48.6)

The transfer of share option costs is in relation to the exercise of share options during the year and their associated costs in the
share options reserve which are transferred to (accumulated losses)/retained earnings.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, £8.7 million {2021: £nil) of ordinary shares were purchased by the EBT for the
purposes of satisfying employee share option plans. The number of shares purchased was 17.6 million and the average
purchase price was £0.50 All shares have a nominal value of £0.001.

21. Share-based payment
The Company operates share schemes for all employees of the Group. The terms of the main current schemes from which the
Group's employees benefit are set out below.

Post-IPO employee share plans

Since the Company's admission on the London Stock Exchange to the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company operated a single
discretionary share-based long-term incentive plan ("LTIPY). In Novernber 2020, the Company introduced a Share Incentive Plan {"SIP")
approved by HMRC, which includes free shares, partnership shares and matching shares. This plan is only relevant for UK-based
employees; the LTIP will continue to make awards for non-UK-based employees and employees in senior management positions.

The main features of the LTIP and SIP are set out below,

Post-IPO — LTIP
Form of LTIP Awards
The Board grants awards in the form of restricted stock units at no cost or options to acquire shares at no cost (@ nil-cost option)

Performance conditions

LTIP Awards are not currently subject to performance conditions with the exception of LTIP Awards granted to Executive
Directors which are subject to perforrmance conditions. Refer to the Remuneration Report for further details.

Any performance condition may be amended or substituted If one or more events occur which cause the Board to reasonably
consider that an amended ar substituted performance condition would be more appropriate and would not be matenaily less
difficult to satisfy than originally intended.

Vesting and release of LTIP Awards
LTIP Awards granted to employees, excluding Executive Directors, currently vest subject to continued service only ("Time-Based
vesting”) in accordance with a vesting schedule set at grant.

LTIP aAwards granted to Executive Directors vest at the end of three years subject to achievement of performance conditions.
Further details are shown in the Remuneration Report.

The Board may determine at grant that an LTIP Award is subject to an additional holding period following vesting (a "Holding
Period”). LTIP Options will be exercisable from the date of vesting or, if applicable, the end of the Holding Period until the tenth
anniversary of the grant date, or such earlier date as the Board determines.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

21. Share-based payment continued
Post-IPO employee share plans continued
Post-IPO — LTIP continued

Cessation of employment

LTIP Options may normally be exercised 1o the extent vested for a periad of six months after ceasing employment or 12 months
after death (or such other period as the Board may determine).

Post-IPO - SIP
Form of SIP awards
The Board grants awards in the form of free shares, partnership shares and matching shares.

Performance conditions
There are no performance conditions attached to free shares, partnership shares and matching shares.

Free shares

Under the SIP, UK employees are eligible to receive up to a maximum of £3,600, or 10% of annual salary if less, of free shares per
tax year. Free shares will be awarded annually with a forfeiture period of two years and a holding period of three years.

Matching shares

UK employees are invited to buy partnership shares from pre-tax salary with a maximum investment in each tax year of £1,800,
or 10% of annual salary if less. Partnership shares are purchased every month. Employees can withdraw partnership shares
from the SIP &t any time although there are tax advantages if the shares are retained in the SIP for at least three years

Participants are awarded one matching share for every one partnership share they purchase. There are tax advantages if the
matching shares are retained in the SIP for at least three years.

Whitst employed by the Cornpany, a participant will forfeit a corresponding number of matching shares if they choose to transfer
partnership shares out of the SIP within three years of the date of purchase.

Under normal circumstances, if a participant leaves the Company before the second anniversary of the date of award, they will
forfeit their matching shares. If they leave between two and three years of the date of award, they retain their matching shares
but those shares must be removed from the SIP and any tax advantages are lost. If a participant leaves under speciai
circumstances, they will retain all of their matching shares, regardless of how long they have been held in the SIP.

Pre-1IPQ employee share plans
EMI Options

Prior to June 2014, the Company issued options to UK subsidiary undertakings' employees under the EMI Options Scheme.
Since then, the Company is not eligible to issue under the scheme.

Unapproved Options

The Company has an Unapproved Options Scheme for all employees of the Group. In accordance with standard vesting terms,
the full award will vest four years after the vesting start date, with 25% vesting on the first anniversary of the vesting date and
6.25% every three months thereafter. If the options remain unexercised after a period of ten years from the date of grant, the
options expire. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the aptions vest.

US Options Scheme 2

Options granted under the "US Options Scheme 2° are Unapproved Options granted to US employees as either non-gualifying
options or incentive stock options. The US Options Scheme 2 has the same vesting period as Unapproved Options. If the options
remain unexercised after a period of ten years from the date of grant, the options expire. Unvested options are forfeited if the
employee leaves the Group before the options vest.

Growth Shares with “shadow” Unapproved Options

Growth Shares were an upfront award of B, D or E ordinary shares with a nominai value of £0.00001 per share where the ability to
receive dividends and a capital return from the shares was conditional on the achievement of a performance target (namely, the
growth of the enterprise value of the business heyond a hurdle) According to the terms and conditions, the perfarmance target
differed depending on the underlying share.

If this performance target was met, the participants would profit from the whole of the value of the business, not just the growth
from the date of the award, on the same basis as the ordinary shares.

The Growth Shares were each issued in conjunction with a “shadow” Unapproved Option. The Unapproved Option could be exercised
if the applicable enterprise value hurdle is not met upon an exit event. Both the Growth Shares and the "shadow” Unapproved Options
vested according to the Company’s standard vesting terms, as discussed in the description of Unapproved Options above.

All share-based incentives are subject to service conditions. Such conditions are not taken inte account in the fair value of the
service received. The fair value of services received in return for share-based incentives is measured by reference to the fair
value of share-based incentives granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share-based incentives is measured using market
prices. When market prices do nat exist for shares or rights to shares with similar characteristics, fair value is determined by
using a valuation technigue {either the Monte Carlo or Black-Scholes pricing model as 1s most appropriate for each scheme),
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21, Share-based payment continued

Charge for the year

Included in operating expenses of the Group is & charge for share-based payments and associated social security costs of
£4.7 million {2027 £8.9 million) that arises from transactions accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions.

Movements in share plans

Details of movements in the share schemes during the year are as follows:

Free shares and

EMI Options Unapproved Options matching shares LTIP Awards U8 Options Scheme Total
Number and WAEP' Number and WAEP Number and WAEP Nurnber and WAEP Number and WAEP Nurnber and WAEP
Numiber £ Number £ Nurmber £ Number £ Number £ Number £
Quistanding at
1 January 2021 306,312 4027 6292088 0.300 2,499,297 — 14515220 — 3654855 0424 27267773 0140
Granted during
the year - — — — 1,340,578 —  BA680S546 - - - 10,021,124 -
Exercised dunng
the year - —  {1,108,496) 0200 (31.582) - (982792) —  {709,527) 0367 (2,832,397) 0170
Forfeited during
the year (7.312) 0027 (41.509) 0.850 (950,520} - {2,872931) - (126,048) 0.598 (3,998,320} 0028
QOutstanding at
31 December
2021 299,000 0027 5142,084 0317 2,857773 - 19340043 — 2,819,280 0431 30,4387180 0106
Free shares and
EMI Options Unapproved Options matching shares LTIP Awards US Options Scheme Total
Number and WAEP Number and WAEP Number and WAEP Number and WAEP Number and WAEP Number and WAEP
Nurriber £ Number £ Number £ Number £ Number £ Number £
Outstanding at
1January 2022 299,000 0027 5142,084 0.317 2857773 — 19340043 - 2,819280Q 0431  30,438180 0106
Granted during
the year - - - — 3,131,344 - 11,877920 - - — 14949264 —
Exercised dunng
the year (132,700) 0.027 (129,399) o417 - - (3121272) — (2,383) 0410 (3,405754) 0.017
Forfeited during
the year (5.000) 0027 (2.789) 1682 (1155891) - {8175973) - {625) 0.440  (9,340,278) oom
Outstanding at
31 December
2022 141,300 0.026 5,009,896 0.314 4,833,226 — 19,860,718 - 2,816,272 0.431 32,661,412 0.097
1 Werghted average exercise pnice.
The following table summarises information about the share awards outstanding at 31 December 2022:
Free shares ang
EMI Opticns Unappraved Options matching shares LTIP Awards U3 Options Tetal
Range of Number and WARCL'  Number and WARCL Number and WARCL  Number and WARCL  Number and WARCL Number and WARGL
exercise prices Nurmiber Years Numbper Years Nurmber Years Number Years Number Years Number Years
£0-£0.008 - - 2,260,017 54 4833225 — 19860718 79 — — 26953967 62
£0.009-£0.176 141,300 08 214142 0.5 - - - - 24,302 1.4 379,744 0.é
£0177-£0.471 — - 2,167,099 4.3 — — - — 2793087 28 4,360,186 35
£0.472-£175 — - 368,638 55 - - - - 593,883 54 967,521 5.4
141,300 0.8 5,009,896 4.7 4,833,226 - 19,860,718 79 2,816,272 3.3 32,661,412 5.8
The following table summarises information about the share awards cutstanding at 31 December 2027
Free shares and
EI Options Unapproved Options malching shares LTiP Awards US Options Total
Range of Number and WARCL Number and WARCL Number and WARCL Number and WARCL Number and WARCL Number and WARCL
exercise prces Number Years Number Years Nurnher Years Number Years Number Yoars Number Years
£0-£0008 - - 2,260,017 64 2857773 — 19340043 75 — —  24,457833 66
£0.009-£0176 299,000 13 214,299 1.5 - - — - 24,385 24 537684 14
£0177-£0.471 — — 2,305977 55 - - - - 2396,012 38 4,501889 47
£0.472-£173 - 361,791 65 - - - - 598,883 &4 960,674 54
299,000 1.3 5,142,084 5.8 2,857,773 — 19,340,043 7.5 2,819,280 4.4 30,458,180 6.2

1 Weighted average remaining contractual hife
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

21. Share-based payment continued
Unapproved Options Scheme

There have been no Unapproved Options granted since IPO in 2018, The weighted average fair values of options granted under the
tnapproved Options Scheme and the US Options Scheme ranged between £0.73 and £1.80 per option respectively in the previous
year. These values were determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The significant inputs into the model are as follows:

31 December
Unapproved Options Scheme 2018
Share price (various times during the year) £1.89
Exercise price £nil-£0.44
Expected life 4 years
Expected volatility 48%
Risk-free interest rate {(between) 093%1.02%
Dividend yield Nil
Forward exchange rate — US Options (hetween) 0.769

LTIP Awards

Since all LTIP Awards were made past-IPO, the Company has used its share price at grant date as the fair value of the LTIP
Awards granted during the year to employees.

In the prior financial year, the only exception to this was for awards made to the former Chief Financial Officer, who departed
prior to the end of this financial year (these awards have therefore lapsed). These awards contained market-based performance
conditions and the fair value at grant date was calculated using a Black-Scholes model.

The incumbent Chief Financial Officer's LTIP Awards do not contain market-based performance conditions but do inciude
nan-market performance conditions {refer to the Remuneration Report for further detail) and, therefore, the Company's share
price at grant date is the fair value used, with the likelihoad of achieving the non-market performance conditions factored into
the accounting charge. In line with IFRS 2, the likelihood will be reassessed at the end of each reporting period.

Free shares and matching shares

The Company has used its share price at grant date as the fair value of free shares and matching shares granted during the year
to employees.

22. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows
Cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities

31 December
31 December 2021
2022 {re-presented)’
£m £m
(Loss)/profit before taxation (12.9) 641
Adjustments for
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 51 59
Ameortisation of intangible assets 101 8.0
Impairment of intangible and tangible assets (prior year exceptional iterm) 1.8 39
interest receivable 2.3) 0.1
Interest payable 0.9 11
Non-cash employee benefits expense ~- share-based payments and associated social security costs 4.7 8.5
Fair value gains (4.8) (28.6)
Maovement in restructuring provision (pricr year exceptional item) (0.2) (0.9)
Maovement in loan repurchase liability (1.8} (3.0)
Movermnent in other provisions (0.1) (1.9
Share of gains of associates (0.4) (0.9)
Other non-cash movements 1.4 0.7)
Changes in working capital
Moverment in trade and ather recévables 8.8 46.4
Movement in trade and other payables 3.7) 1.4
Tax paid (1.0) 31
Originations of lines of cradit’ (59.6) (3.6
Cash receipts from lines of credit’ 43.6 20
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from cperating activities (10.4) 98.5
1 Asdisclosed ir rotg 1, FlexiPay crawn lines of sredit have beean re-presented with n “Gngmation nf/cash recepts fror ines of credit” with n cask *laws *rom caerating activit es
and were previously presented withir "0rig nauan of - cash recepts frorn SME Inars 1ather)” n cash flews from irvestirg activities ir tne year ended 37 Decerber 2021
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22, Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows continued
Cash and cash equivalents

31 December 31 Decemnber

2022 2021

£m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 177.7 2240

The cash and cash equivalents balance is made up of cash and money market funds. The carrying amount of these assels is
approximately equal to their fair value. Included within cash and cash equivalents above is a total of £12.1 million (2021, £24.6 million})
in cash which is restricted in use. Of this £1.1 million (2021: £1.0 million) is restricted in use in the event of rental payment defaults
and cash held in the securitisation SPVs of £2.9 million (2021: £14.4 millien) which has been collected for on-payment to bond
holders and is therefare restricted in its use. A further £8.1 miflion {2021: £9.2 million) of cash is held which is restricted in use

to repaying investors in CBILS and RLS loans and paying CBILS and RLS-related costs to the UK government.

At 31 December 2022, money market funds totalled £121.6 million (2021: £112.1 million).

Analysis of changes in liabilities from financing activities

1 January Exchange Other ngn-cash 31 December

2021 Cash low maovemants movernenls 2027

£m £m £m £m £m
Bank borrowings {195.5) 1231 {0.8) - (73 2)
Bonds (294 3) 160.6 (1.6) (5.0 (140.3)
Lease liahilities (30.8) 8.1 (o . (23.9)
Liabilities from financing activities (520.6) 291.8 (2.5) 6.1) (237.4)
1 January Exchange Other non-cash 31 December

2022 Cash flow movemems movements 2022

£m £m £m £m £m
Bank borrowings (73.2) 579 (7.3) - {22.6)
Bonds (140.3) 129.7 (8.1) (4.4) {23.7)
Lease liabilities (23.9) 7.3 (1.6) (1.6) (19.8)
Liabilities from financing activities (237.4) 194.3 (17.0) (6.0) (66.1)

23. Operating lease arrangements
As disclosed in notes 1 and 11, leases of low-value items or short-term leases continue to be treated as operating leases.

31 Pecember 31 Decernber

2022 2021

£m £m

Lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the year 0.3 Q.1

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-canceliable
operating leases of £0.7 million {2021: £nil)

QOperating lease payments represent payments for lease assets that are individually considered low value.

24. Dividends per share
No ordinary dividends were dectared or paid in the current or previous financial years.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

25. Related party transactions
Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the
activities of the Group The Group’s key management personnel comprises the Global Leadership Team ("GLT"), which is made
up of the Executive Directers and other senier management as defined in ncte 3 as the chief operating decision maker ("CODM")
and the Non-Executive Directors of the Group.

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£m £m

Salaries and shart-term benefits 5.1 4.2
Equity-based compensation 1.3 19
Post-employment benefits 0.1 01
6.5 6.2

Further details en Directers’ remuneration are disclosed in the Rermuneration Report in the Corporate Governance section
of the Annual Report and Accounts on pages 100to 115

Transactions with other related parties
During the year the Group invested £nil (2021: £nil} into entities accounted for as associates, recelved capital redemptions
of £5.1 million (20271 £3.9 million) and received dividends of £0.3 million (2021: £nil)

During the year the Group received service fees from Joans held by Knightrider Lending Designated Activity Company of
£0.1 million (2021 £0.2 million) and from Throgmorton Lending Designated Activity Company of £0.4 million (2027; £0.7 million).
These entities are subsidianies of the Group's associates, as detailed in note 29

26. Ultimate controlling party
In the apinion of the Directors, the Group does not have a single ultimate controling party

27. Contingent liabilities and commitments

As part of the ongoing business, the Group has operational reguirements with its investors. At any point in time, it is possible that
a particular investor may expect the Group to buy back their loan if they did not believe that the terms of business had been fully
complied with. Where a loan i1s bought back it 1s presented within Investment in SME loans (other) on the face of the consalidated
balance sheet and held at amartised cost under IFRS 9.

In common with other businesses, the Group is involved from time to time in disputes in the ardinary course of business
There are no active cases expected 1o have a material adverse financial impact on the Group.

The Group has commitments related to undrawn amounts on issued FlexiPay fines of credit At 31 December 2022 there were
undrawn commitments of £47. & million (2021 £4.2 million) An expected credit loss impairment allowance is held within other
pravisions by the Group of £0.3 million (2021 £nil) in relation to the estimated credit losses the Group may be exposed ta on
these undrawn lines of credit.

28. Subsequent events

Subseguent to the 31 December 2022, an agreement was signed in February 2023 to sell loans valued at £19.8m at

37 December 2022 and presented within SME loans (other) to a third party investor. The sale did not give rise to a materal
gain or loss.
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29, Interests in other entities
investments in subsidiaries

The Group had the following subsidianes, all of which have been mncluded in these consolidated financial statements.
The proportion of the voting rights in subsidiary undertakings held directly by the Company does nct differ from the proportion

of ordinary shares held.

Proportion of Directly/
Place of ownership indirectly

Subsidiary undertakings Incorporation interest held Registered office address
Funding Circle Ltd UK 100% Directly 71 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4VY 4AY
Funding Circle Asset Finance Limited UK 100% Indirectly 71 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4AY
Funding Circle BB Limited UK 100% Indirectly 71 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4AY
Funding Circle Eclipse Lending Limited UK 100% Indirectly 71 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4AY
Funding Circle Focal Point Lending Limnited UK 100% Indirectly /1 Queen victona Street, Landon EC4V 4AY
Funding Circle Global Partners Limited UK 100% Directly 71 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4AY
Funding Circle Midco Limited UK 100% Directly 71 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4AY
Funding Circle Property Finance Limited UK 100% Indirectly 71 Queen Victoria Street, Londan EC4V 4AY
Funding Circle Trustee Limited Uk 100% Indirectly 71 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4AY
Made To Do More Limited UK 100% Indirectly 71 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4AY
Funding Circle Horizon Lending Limited UK 100% Indirectly 71 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4AY
Funding Circle Potaris Lending Limited UK 100% Indirectly 71 Queen Victoria Street, Landon EC4Y 4AY
85 Second Street, 4th Flocr,

Funding Circle USA, Inc. Usa 100% Directly San Francisco, California 94105
85 Second Street, 4th Floor,

Funding Circle Notes Program, LLC USA 100% Indirectly San Francisco, California 94105
85 Second Street, 4th Floor,

FC Marketplace, LLC USA 100% Indirectly San Francisco, California 94105
85 Second Street, 4th Fleor,

Funding Circle Investor Funds, LLC USA 100% Indirectly San Francisco, California 94105
85 Second Street, 4th Flaor,

FC Depositor US LLC USA 100% indirectly San Francisco, California 4105
Funding Circle CE GrmbH Germany 100% Directly RheinstralRe 11, 14513 Teltow
Funding Circle Deutschland GmbH Germany 100% Indirectly Rheinstrale 11, 14513 Teltow
Funding Circle Connect GmbH Germany 100% Indirectly Rheinstralle 11, 14513 Teltow
FC Forderungsmanagement GmbH Germany 100% Indirectly Rheinstrale 11, 14513 Teltow
Calle Claudic Coello nimero 91,

Funding Circle Espana S.L. Spain 100% Indirectly 3a planta, 28006 Madrid
Funding Circle Negerland BV. Netherlands 100% Indirectly Atrium, Strawinskylaan 3075,

4th Floor, 1077 ZX Amsterdam
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

29, Interests in other entities continued

Investments in associates

Set out below are the assaciates of the Group as at 371 December 2022 which, in the opinion of the Directors, are material 1o the
Group. The entities listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by ihe Group
The country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business, and the proportion of ownership interest

is the same as the propartion of voting rights held

Proportion of Diractlys
Place of awnership indirectly
Assaociate entity name incorporatian interest held Regstered ofice addiess
Funding Circle European SME Direct
Lending Fund I Ireland 24% Indirectly 70, Sir John Rogerson's Quay, Dublin 2, Ireiand
Funding Circle UK SME Direct Lending Fund |' Iretand 8% Indirectly 70, Sir John Rogerson's Quay, Dublin 2, Ireland

1 Prvate sub-fund held wa the - unicing Cicle ICAV, ar inish collective asset-managerrent vehicle constituted as an umbrella fund with registered office address of 70, Sir John
Raogerson's Quay, Dublin 2, treland

The associates outlined above directly hold investments in subsidiary entities as detailed below, which are considered to be
related parties of the Group.

Place of % ownership by
Other related party name Incarporation Relatonship associate Immediate parent entity Registered office address
Knightrider Ireland Subsidiary 100% Funding Circle European SME 70, Sir John Rogerson’s Quay,
Lending Designated of associate Direct Lending Fund | Dublin 2, Jreland
Activity Company”
Throgmorton freland Subsidiary 100% Funding Circle UK SME Direct 70, Sir John Rogerson's Quay,
Lending Designated of associate Lending Fund | Dublin 2, Ireland

Activity Company

1 Knightrider Lencing Designated Activity Company s in lquidation, having appainted a liquidatar an 16 December 2027

The tables below provide summarised financial information for those associates that are material to the Group. The information
disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant associates and not Funding Circle Holdings
plc’s share of those amounts. They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity when using the equity method,
including modifications for differences in accounting policy. While the Group holds less than 20% cwnership in Funding Circle
UK SME Direct Lending Fund I the Group considers that it has significant influence over the entity through representation on its
Board and so continues t0 account for it as an associate instead of a trade investment,

The associates are sub-funds which invest in SME loans, and the Group 1s exposed to default and pregayment risk with respect
to the performance of the underlying loans in the associates, to the extent that the share of profit from associate may diminish.
The table below illustrates the Group’s maximum exposure 10 the investrment in associate which represents the value on the
Group balance sheet. The value of the investment is derived from net asset value statements from the sub-funds; however, being
private these are not from chservable market data, and therefore the fair value is considered to be aligned to the carrying value.

In July 2022 an agreement was signed by Funding Circle European Private Fund DAC { to sell the loans held by the fund as part
of its strategy to return capital to shareholders in a cost effective manner. The Group received £2.6 million in cash in August 2022
as a final capital distribution and the corresponding investment in associate held by the Group was reduced by this distribution
to £nil. There was no impact on the statement of comprehensive iIncome from the transaction.

Funding Circle Funding Circle Funding Circle Funding Circle

European uK Eurapean UK

SME Direct SME Direct SME Direct SME Oirect

Lending Fund! Lending Fund | tending Fund | Lending Fund |

31 becember 31 December 31 December 31 Pecember

2022 2022 2021 20

Summarnised balance sheet (Group's share) £m £m £m £m
Non-current assets - 2.4 31 37
Current assels - 0.3 06 0.5
Current habilities - - - -
Naon-current liahilities - - - -
Net assets - 27 37 4.2
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29. Interests in other entities continued

Reconciliation of associates’ total shareholders’ equity to carrying amount in Funding Circle Holdings plc’s consolidated

financial statements

Funding Circle

Funding Circle

Funding Circle

Funding Circle

European UK Eurcpean Uk

SME Direct SME Direct SME Birect SME Direct

Lending Fund | Lending Fund | Lending Fund | Lending Fund |

2022 2022 2021 202

£m £m £m £m

Opening net assets as at 1 January 2022 15.5 51.3 263 64
(Loss)/profit for the year (0.7} 3.2 20 31
Exchange differences 0.3 - (1.6 -
Other comprehensive income - - - -
Capital redemptions in the year (15.1) (18 1) (11?2} (15.4)
Dividends paid in the year - (3.9) — 0.5)
Closing net assets as at 31 December 2022 - 325 15.5 513
Group's share In % 23.6% 8.3% 23.6% 8.3%
Group's share of het agsets as at 31 December - 2.7 3.7 42
Accounting policy alignment - - 0.2 on
Group's carrying amount - 2.7 35 41

Funding Circle

Funding Circle

Funding Circle

Funding Circle

European UK Eurapean UK

SME Direct SME Direct SME Direct SME Direct

Lending Fund | Lending Fund Lending Fund | Lending Fund |

2022 2022 2027 2021

Summarised statement of comprehansive income (Graup's share) £m £m £m Em
Gross income 0.1 0.3 0.5 0.5
Profit for the year - 0.4 0.6 03
Other comprehensive income - - B ~
Total comprehensive income - 0.4 0.6 03
Dividends received from associates - 0.3 - -
Capital redemptions received from associates 3.6 1.5 2.6 13

Interest in other entities

Stichting Derdengelden Funding Circle is not a direct or indirect subsidiary of Funding Circle Holdings pic but 1s an independent
special purpose foundation which is required in the Netherlands to safeguard borrower and investor funds and is consolidated as
it is controlled by the Group. The registered office address is Atriumn, Strawinskylaan 3075, 4th Floor, 1077 ZX Amsterdam.

The Funding Circle Holdings Employee Benefit Trust was established on 14 September 2018. The purpose of the trust is to
facilitate the acquisition of shares in the Company by, or for the benefit of, existing and future employees of the Company and

Group subsidiaries and is consolidated as it is contralied by the Group.

Consolidated structured entities: Small Business Crigination Loan Trust 2019-3 DAC, Great Trinity Lending 1 DAC, Small Business
Lending Trust 2019-A, Small Business Lending Grantor Trust 2013-A, Small Business Lending Trust 2020-A and Small Business
Lending Grantor Trust 2020-A are consolidated structured warehouse and securitisation entities which either hold SME loan
assets in a warehouse or hold the portfolio of SME loans and issue bonds after securitisation has occurred.

The entities are bankruptcy remote special purpose vehicles and as such there is no requirement for the Group to provide
financial suppart to the entities. The entities’ activities are not governed by voting rights and the Graup has assessed that it has
power aver the entities based on the purpose and design of the entity and ability to direct the relevant activities of the entity, the

nature of the relationship with the entity and the size of its exposure to the variability of the returns from each entity.

As explained in note 16 the Group experiences credit risk and prepayment risk in relation to the SME loan assets net of bond
labilities, and interest rate risk in relation to the warehouse loan facilities and floating rate bond liabilities which is partially

mitigated through the use of derivative financial instruments
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 20272

29, Interests in other entities continued
Interest in other entities continued

The principal activities of the Group's most significant subsidiary undertakings are set out below. These are considered
significant in the context of the Group's business, results and financial position.

Subsidhary undertakings Principal activity

Funding Circle Ltd Acts as facilitator and performs intermediary services in respect of all loans made
through the Funding Circle platform in the UK.

Funding Circle USA, Inc, The US operating subsidiary of Funding Circle Acts as the administrator of the Funding
Circle platform in the US

FC Marketpiace, LLC Acts as orfginator and servicer of all foans made through the Funding Circle platform in
the US. FC Marketplace, LLC sells each loan it originates, on a servicing retained basis, to
third party institutional investors or to affiliates (e.g Funding Circle Notes Program, LLC)
on an arm's length basis.

Funding Circle Notes Program, LLGC A gpecial purpose bankruptcy remote entity which issues loan payment dependent debt
securities to accredited investors. It uses the proceeds to purchase a specific corresponding
loan made through the Funding Circle platform from FC Marketplace, LLC. The entity retains
the contractual rights 1o receive the cash flows from the loan assets it has purchased, but
has assumed a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to the holders of the debt
securities. The eligibility criteria have been met to derecognise the loan assets and
associated issued debt securities as a pass-through arrangement under IFRS 9

Funding Circle Focal Point Lending Limited Subsidiary via which CBILS loans are originated and which holds legal title to loans which
are held via trust structures for the beneficial ownership of instilutional investors

Funding Circle Eclipse Lending Limited Subsidiary via which RLS loans are originated and which holds legal title ta loans which
are held via trust structures for the beneficial cwnership of institutional investors.

Funding Circle Deutschland GmbH Operates the Funding Circle platform in Germany and services loans.

Funding Circle Nedertand 8 V. Operates the Funding Circle platform in the Netherlands and services loans.
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Company balance sheet

as at 31 December 2022

31 December 31 Decernber
2022 2021
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiary undertakings 5 3333 2819
3333 2819
Current assets
l.oans due from subsidiary undertakings 7 0.1 0.1
Trade and other receivables 6 0.5 0.3
Cash and cash equivalents 1 50.1 63.4
50.7 63.8
Total assets 384.0 3457
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 8 1.6 1.8
Total liabilities 1.6 18
Equity
Share capital 9 0.4 04
Share premium account 9 2931 2930
Share options reserve 22.2 19.1
Retained earnings 10 66.7 31.4
Total equity 382.4 3439
Total equity and liabilities 384.0 3457

The Company's profit for the year was £41.4 million (2021 loss of £4.4 million).

The financial statements on pages 179 to 189 were approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 2 March 2023. They were

signed on behalf of the Board by:

(LA
Oliver White
Director

Company registration number 071234934

The notes on pages 182 to 188 form part of these financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Share
premium Sharc options Retained
Share capital account reserve earnings Total equity

Note Em £m £m £m £m
Balance at 1 January 2021 0.3 2926 13.6 34.0 3405
Loss for the year 10 - - - (4.4) (4.4}
Transactions with owners
Transfer of share option costs - - (1.8) 18 —
issue of share capital 10 01 04 - - 5
Employee share schemes — value of - - 73 e 7.3
employee services
Balance at 31 December 2021 0.4 293.0 191 31.4 3439
Profit for the year 10 - - - 414 41.4
Transactions with owners
Transfer of share option costs - - (2.8) 2.6 -
Issue of share capital 10 — 01 — — ai
Purchase of own shares - - - 8.7) ®7)
Employee share schemes — value of - - 5.7 - 5.7
employee services
Balance at 31 December 2022 0.4 293.1 22.2 66.7 382.4

The notes on pages 182 to 189 form part of these financial statements.

180  Funding Circle Holdings ple




Company statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2022

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
Note £m £m

Net cash autflow from operating activities 1 (4.2) (2.4)
Investing activities

Loans advanced to subsidiary undertakings 7 - {10.0)
Loan repayment from subsidiary undertakings 7 - 19.8
Capital contribution to subsidiary undertakings 5 (10.0) —
Capital redemptions from subsidiary undertakings 5 8.9 273
Interest received 0.6 0.5
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (0.5) 376
Financing activities

Proceeds on the issue of shares from the exercise of share options 0.1 04
Purchase of own shares (8.7) -
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities (8.6} 0.4
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (13.3) 356
Cash and ¢ash equivalents at the beginning of the year 63.4 278
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1 50.1 63.4

The notes on pages 182 to 189 form part of these financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Significant accounting policies

The separate financial staterments of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006. As permitted by that
Act, the separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International Accounting Standards
and with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies reporting under those standards. The
Company is a public company limited by shares and registered, incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The address
of its registered office is given on page 196.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are carried
at fair value through profit and loss ("FVTPL"). The principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in note 1
to the consolidated financial statements except as noted below These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

The principal activities of the Company and the nature of the Company’s operations are as a holding company for a global SME
lending platform.

As permitted by the exemption in section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the profit and loss account of the Company is not
presented as part of these financial staternents. The Company made a comprehensive profit for the year of £41.4 million
{20271: comprehensive loss of £4 4 million).

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors are salisfied that the Group has the resources
to continue in business for the foreseeable future (which has been taken as 12 months from the date of approval of the
financial statements)

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment (see note 5 for further details).

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgements that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts. Where a significant risk of materially different outcomes exists due to management assumptions
or sources of estimation uncertainty, this will represent a key source of estimation uncertainty. Estimates and judgements are
continually evaluated and are based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount,
event or actions, actual resuits ultimately may differ from those estimates. There were no critical accounting judgements in the
year ended 31 December 2022,

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Reversal of impairment of investments in subsidiary undertakings {hote 5)

The carrying value of investment in subsidiary undertakings is reviewed for impairment or impairment reversal on an annual
basis The recoverable amount is determined based on the higher of value in use and fair value less cost to sell, with value in use
heing applied for this assessment where an indicator of impairment or impairment reversal is identified. The use of this method
requires the estimate of future cash flows expected to anse from the continuing operation of the subsidiaries and the choice of
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Actual outcomes could vary significantly from these estimates.

It was identified that there was an indicatar of impairment reversal related to increased certainty of future profitability of the US

business, supported by the Group's transfer pricing arrangements and reflected through the recognition of a deferred ta asset in

the Group's accounts based on the expectation that losses will be utilised against future prefits As a result an assessment of the

value in use of the investment in Funding Circle USA, Inc. was undertaken.

Animpairment reversal of £45.3 miflion was recognised in relation to Funding Circle USA, Inc. in the year ended 31 December 2022,

The investment remains subject to estimation uncertainty and its vaiue could materially diverge from management's estimate

The Group prepares a five-year management plan for its operations, which is used in the value-in-use calculation. The management

plan was conservatively adjusted to reflect risk and uncertainty to the growth assumptions far the purpose of the impairment

assessmeant when benchmarking to historically achieved growth rates. The cash flow projections are based con the following

key assumptions:

+ cumulative annual growth rate of 15%;

+  pre-tax discount rate of 16 8%;

- the subsidiary will be able to distribute future cash flows to the Company without constraint; and

+ the impact of transfer pricing arrangements within the Group are considered and assumed 1o be cash settled, further
supporting cash flows of the US business.

The above assumptions are based on historical trends and future market expectations

In light of the impairrnent reversal, if any of the key assumptions were to be stressed then the estimated value-in-use would be
sensitive to these for the year ended 31 December 2022, both favourably through further impairment reversal and unfavourably
through additional impairment.
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1. Significant accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Reversal of impairment of investments in subsidiary undertakings (note 5) continued

A B00bps increase or decrease in the curnulative annual revenue growth would increase/decrease the value-in-use estimate

by +£6.7 million/-£6 7 million.

A 100bps increase or decrease in discount rate would decrease/increase the value in use estimate by -£2.6 million/+£2.9 million.

The near-term cash flows of the US business are additionally supported by cash received back from the SME loans {securitised).
These cash flows are sensitive to estimation uncertainty with regards to estimated default rates which correlates with their
valuation as disclosed in note 2 of the Group's financial statements.

After the reversal of impairment, cumulative impairment remains in relation to the investment in Funding Gircle USA, Inc.
of £110.6 million.

2. Financial risk management
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management framewark.
The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and
controls, and to monitor risks and ensure any limits are adhered to. The Campany's activities are reviewed regularly and potential risks
are considered.
Risk factors
The Company has expaosure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
credit risk;
liquidity risk;
+ market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk); and
foreign exchange risk.
Principal financial instruments
The principal financiat assets and liabilities of the Company, from which financial instrument risk arises, are as follows:
+ loans due from related undertakings;
trade and other receivables,
+ cash and cash eguivalents; and
+ trade and other payables.
Categarisation of financial assets and financial liabilities
The table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabifities by category as at 31 December 2022

Carried at amortised cost Carried al fair value
Based on
Based on individual
Carrying market valuation
amount Fair vaiue derived data parameters
£m £m £m £m
Assets

Loans due from related undertakings 0.1 0.1 - -
Trade and other receivables 0.3 0.3 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 4.8 4.8 45.3 -
5.2 5.2 45.3 -

Liabilities
Trade and other payables 0.2) {0.2) - -
0.2) {0.2) - -

IFRS 13 requires certain disclosures which require the classification of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair
value using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the fair value measurement.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the Company financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

2. Financial risk management continued
Categorisation of financial assets and financial liabilities continued
Disclosure of fair value measurements by level is according to the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

- devel T inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or {iabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

- tevel 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either
directly or indirectly; and

- level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities.
The Company’s financial assets measured at fair value are all calegorised as fevel 1 in both the current year and prior year.

The table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities by category as at 31 December 2021,

Carried at amartised cost Carned at fair value
Based an
Based on individual
Garrying market valuation
amount Fair value derved data parameters
£m £m £m Fm
Assets

Loans due from related undertakings 01 a1 - -
Trade and other receivables 01 at - -
Cash and cash equivalents 141 141 493 —
14.3 143 49.3 -

Liabilities
Trade and ather payables on 1 - -
0.7} 0.m - -

Financial instruments measured at amortised cost
Due to the short-term nature of the financial assets and liahilities measured at amortised cost, the carrying value approximates
their fair value.

The fair value of financial assets held at fair value, comprising cash and cash equivalents, approximates their carrying value.
Credit risk is mitigated as cash and cash equivalents are held with reputable institutions.

Financial risk factors
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial asset fails to meet its
contractual abligations, and arises principally fram the Company's receivables from related undertakings and cash and cash
equivalents held at banks.

The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial asset is as follows

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£m £m
Non-current
Loans due from related undertakings - -
Current
Loans due from related undertakings 0.1 01
Trade and other receivables:
— Amounts due from related undertakings 0.2 01
- Accrued interest 0.1 -
Cash and cash equivalents 501 63.4

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company's approach
to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liguidity to meet its habilities when due, under
both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’'s position

The Cormpany's liquidity position is monitared and reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Directors

The amounts disclosed in the below tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows
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2. Financial risk management continued

Financial risk factors continued
Liquidity risk continved

The maturity analysis of financial assets and fiabilities at 31 Decermnber 2022 and 31 December 2027 is as follows:

Between
Less than 3 months Between 1 Over
3 months and 1 year and 5 years 5 years
At 31 December 2022 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 0.3 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 50.1 - - -
Loans due from related undertakings 0.1 - - -
50.5 - - -
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 0.2) - - -
0.2) - - -
Between
Less than 3 months Between 1 Over
3 months and 1 year and 5years 5 years
At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 0.1 - - -
Cash and cash eguivalents 63.4 - - -
Loans due from related undertakings 0.1 - - -
63.6 - - -
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (AN} - - -

0.1

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair vajue of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices. The Company's market risk arises from open positions in interest-bearing assets and liabilities, to the extent that these

are exposed to general and specific market movements.

a) Other price risk

The Company is nct exposed to market risk with respect to financial instruments as it does not held any marketable equity securities.

b) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

interest on cash and cash equivalent balances is subject to mavements in base rates. The Directors monitor interest rate risk
and note that rates have risen over the course of the year from their historical lows and are forecast to rise further over 2023.
A 1.0% Increase in base rates could increase the annual interest earnad by ¢.£0.5 million (2021: 0.5% increase and ¢.£0.3 million).

¢} Sensitivity analysis

IFRS 7 requires disclosure of sensitivity analysis for each type of market risk to which the entity is exposed at the reporting date
showing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected by changing the relevant risk variables that were reasonably

possible at that date.

As discussed above, the Company does not have significant exposure to interest rate risk, cash flow risk or other price risk and

therefare no sensitivity analysis for those risks has been disclosed.

d} Foreign exchange risk

The Company has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk.

Foreign exchange risk is disclosed in note 16 to the consclidated financial statements
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes forming part of the Company financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2022

2, Financial risk management continued
Capital management
The Company considers its capital to comprise equity share capital, share premium, share options reserve and retained earnings

The Directors’ cbjective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a geing concern in order to
provide returns for the shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

The Directors menitor 2 number of KPls at both the Company and individual subsidiary level on a monthly basis. As part of the
budgetary pracess, targets are set with respect to operating expenses in order to effectively manage the activities of the Cormpany
Performance is reviewed on a regular basis and appropriate actions are taken as required. These internal measures indicate the
performance of the business against budget/forecast and confirm that the Company has adequate resources to meet its
working capital requirements.

3. Company profit/(loss) for the year
The Company made a comprehensive profit for the year of £41 4 million (2021: comprehensive lags of £4.4 million)

4. Employees

The Cempany had no employees during the current or prior year other than Directors who numbered 8 (2021: 10). The Company did
not aperate any pension schemes during the current ar preceding year. Directors received emoluments in respect of their services
to the Company during the year of £2.1 million (2021, £1.3 million). For further information see the Remuneration Report on page 106.

5. Investments in subsidiary undertakings

2022 2021
£m £m

Balance at 1 January 281.9 303.3
Capital contribution regarding employee services in subsidiaries 5.0 59
Capital additions 50.7 —
Return of capital (49.6) (27.3)
Reversal of impairment 45.3 -
Balance at 31 December 333.3 2819

Investments in subsidiary undertakings, which are listed in note 29 of the Group financial statements, are all stated at cost less
any provision for impairment.

Dunng the year the Company made capital contributions in the form of cash investments of £10.0 million (2027: £nil) to Funding
Circle USA, Inc. and non-cash investment of £40 7 million (2021. £nif) to Funding Circle Ltd. The Company received £8.9 millian
cash (2027 £3.4 million) from Funding Circle Global Partners Limited and £40 7 milhon non-cash (2021: £23.9 million} from
Funding Circle USA, Inc. as capital redemptions.

In addition to the above, the Company recognised a capital contribution of £5.0 million (2027: £5 S million) representing the
service cost for the employees of its subsidianies, under the Company’s share option schemes.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 the Company identified a reversal of impairment of £45.3 miilion in relation to the
Company’s investment in Funding Circle USA, Inc. to a value of £80.5 million. No impairment or impairment reversal was
recagnised in the year ended 31 Decermber 2021 in relation to investment in subsidiary undertakings

The cumulative amount of impairment losses in relation ta investment in subsidiaries is £190.8 million (2021: £236.1 million),

6. Trade and other receivables

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£m £m

Amounts due from related undertakings 0.2 0.1
Prepayments 0.2 02
Accrued income 0.1 -
0.5 03

The Directars cansider that the carrying ameunt of trade and other receivables is approximately equal to their fair value,
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7. Loans due from subsidiary undertakings

31 December 31 Decernber

2022 2021

£m £m

Funding Circle USA Inc - -
Stichting Derdengelden Funding Circle 0.1 01
Current portian 0.1 01

Amount due from Group undertakings

During 2022, the Company operated a loan facility agreement with Funding Circle Ltd (subsidiary company). Under the terms of
the agreement, the Company provided an unsecured sterling revolving credit facility of a total principal amount not exceeding
£20.0 million (2021, £20.0 million) to Funding Circle Ltd which is repayable at the end of the facility term of five years an 5 August 2025.
Any drawn amount under the fagility bears an interest of 3 5% ahave the base rate of the Bank of England.

During the year the Company has provided £nil {2021: £5.0 million) of additional funding under the facility agreement. Total
interest income of £nil (2021: £nil} has been recognised in the Company statement of comprehensive income.

In the current year, Funding Circle Ltd settled certain amounts due under the intercompany loan obligations cumuiative of
interest of £nil {2021: £5.0 million) with the Company. £nil of this was settled via cash (2021 £5.0 million). The facility was drawn
by £nil (2027: £nil) at the balance sheet date.

During the year the Company operated a revolving credit facility to Funding Circle CE GmbH of up to £€2.0 million (2021: up to
€2.0 million). Any drawn amount under the facility bears an interest of 3.5% above the base rate of the Bank of England and is
repayable at the end of the facility term of five years on 18 July 2024. The facility was drawn by £nil {2021: £nil) at the balance
sheet date.

During the year, the Company continued to operate an unsecured sterling revolving credit facility for £1.0 million with its subsidiary
{Funding Circle Gigbal Partners Limited ("FCGPL")). Under the agreement, any drawn amount under the facility bears an interest
of 3.5% above the base rate of the Bank of England and is repayable with the principal amount at the end of the facility term of
five years on 30 June 2022. The facility was drawn by £nil (2021: £nil) at the balance sheet date. The carrying amount of this
receivable approximates to its fair value.

During the year, the Company continued to operate a term loan facility to Funding Circle USA, Inc. of up to £7.7 million. Any drawn
amount under the facility bears an interest of 3.5% above the base rate of the Bank of England and is repayable at the end of the
facility term of five years on 13 January 2025. In addition, the Company continued to provide a revolving credit facility to Funding
Circle USA, Inc. of up to $3.0 million. Any drawn amount under the facility bears an interest of 3.5% above the base rate of the
Bank of England and 1s repayable at the end of the facility term of five years on 27 January 2025.

In the current year, Funding Gircle USA, Inc. cash settled certain amounts due under the intercompany loans cumuiative of
interest of £nil and $nil (2027: £8.1 million and $3.1 million) with the Company. Total interest inceme of £nif (2021: £8.5 millicn)
has been recognised in the Company statement of comprehensive income. The facilities were drawn by £nil (2021: £nil) and
Snil (2021: $nil) at the balance sheet date.

During the year, the Company continued to operate a revolving credit facility to Funding Circle USA, Inc. of up to £10.0 miflion.
Any drawn amount under the facility bears an interest of 3.5% above the base rate of the Bank of England and is repayable at
the end of the facility term of five years on 21 January 2026.

During the year, the Company has provided £nil (2021: £5 0 million) of additional funding under the facility agreement. Funding Circle
USA, Inc. settled certain amounts due under the intercompany loan abligations cumulative of interest of £nil (2027 £5.0 million).
The facility was drawn by £nil (2021: £nil) at the balance sheet date.

8. Trade and other payables

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£m £m

Accruals 09 13
Taxes and sccial security costs 0.5 0.4
Other creditors 0.2 -
Amounts due to related undertakings - 0.1
1.6 1.8

The Directors consgider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates to their fair vaiue.
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Notes forming part of the Company financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2022

9. Share capital and share premium account

The movement on these items is disclosed in notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

10. Retained earnings

£m
At 1 January 2021 34.0
Transfer of share cption costs 1.8
Loss for the year (4.4)
At 31 December 2021 314
Transfer of share option costs 2.6
Purchase of own shares 8.7)
Profit for the year 41.4
At 31 December 2022 66.7
11, Notes to the Company statement of cash flows
Cash outflow from cperating activities
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2G21
£m £m
Profit/(toss) before taxation 41.4 4.4
Adjustments for
Interest receivable (0.6) (0.5)
Non-cash employee benefits expense - share-based payments 0.7 1.5
Reversal of impairment charge (45.3) -
Changes in working capital
Movement in trade and other receivables - 07
Movement in trade and other payables 0.4) 0.3
Net cash outflow from operating activities 4.2) 29
Cash and cash equivalents
2022 2021
£m £m
Balance at 1 January 63.4 278
Cash flow (13.3) 356
Balance at 31 December 50.1 63.4

These comprise cash held by the Company, short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less and
maoney market funds. The carrying amount of cash balances approximates their fair value. As at 37 December 2022, money

market funds totalled £45.3 million (2021: £49.3 million})

12. Related parties

Amounts owec by related partes

Amounts owed to related part-es

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2022 2021
£m £m £m £m

Short-term payables/receivables
Funding Circle Ltd 01 - - 01
Funding Circle USA, Inc. 0.1 a1 - -

Intercompany loans

Funding Circle USA, Inc. - - - -
Stichting Derdengelden Funding Circle 01 01 - -
0.3 0.2 — 01

During the year, the Company received payment of expenses for amounts of £0.3 million (2021. received payment of expenses

for amaunts of £1.2 million) fram Funding Circle Ltd
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12. Related parties continued

During the year, the Company made a non-cash capital contribution to Funding Circle Ltd of £40.7 million in exchange for the
subsidiary’s intercompany payable to Funding Circle USA, Inc. and received a non-cash return of capital from Funding Circle
USA, Inc. of £40.7 million in consideration for the subsidiary's intercompany receivable from Funding Circle Ltd The intercompany
balance that was capitalised intc the net investment in the subsidiary undertakings through this transaction primarily related to
the transfer pricing arrangements bhetween the entities.

During the year the Company received return of capital of £8.9 million {2021: £3.4 millien) from Funding Circle Global Partners
Limited and £nil (2027: £23.9 million) from Funding Circle USA, Inc.

During the year the Company made a capital contribution of £16.0 millicn (2021: £nil) to Funding Circle USA, Inc.

As at the year end, the Company was owed a cumulative amount of £0.1 millicn (2021: £0.1 million) from loans with Stichting
Derdengelden Funding Circle.

See note 14 in relation to remuncration of key management personnel.

13. Parent Company guarantee — exemption from audit for subsidiary companies

The following UK entities, all of which are 100% owned by the Group, are not subject 1o an audit by virtue of section 479A of the
Companies Act 2006 relating to subsidiary companies:

Company Registration number
Funding Circle Asset Finance Limited 07832868
Funding Circle BB Limited 12593368
Funding Circle Eclipse Lending Limited 12570773
Funding Circle Focal Point Lending Limited 12407296
Funding Circle Global Partners Limited 10554628
Funding Circle Midco Limited 11793162
Funding Circle Property Finance Limited 08896582
Funding Circle Horizon Lending Limited 13451185
Funding Circle Trustee Limited 07239092

The Company will guarantee the debts and liabilities of the above UK subsidiary undertakings at the balance sheet date in
accordance with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006. The Company has assessed the probability of loss under the
guarantee as remote.

The Company will guarantee the debt and liabilities of the European subsidiary Funding Circle CE GmbH and therefore meets the
requirements of section 264(3) HGB and the entity is nat subject to audit by virtue of this guarantee. The Company has assessed
the probability of loss under the guarantee as remate.

The fallowing UK entity, which is 100% owned by the Group, is exempt from the requirement to prepare accounts by virtue
of section 3944 and section 4484 of the Companias Act 2006 relating to the individual accounts of darmant subsidiaries:

Company Registraticn number
Made To Do More Limited 10575978
Funding Circle Polanis Lending Limited 13216286

14. Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management persennel is disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

15. Ultimate controlling party
in the opinion of the Directors, the Group does not have a single ultimate controlling party.
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Alternative performance measures

The Group uses a humber of alternative performance measures ("APMs") within its financial reporting. These measures are not
defined under the requirements of IFRS and may not be comparable with the APMs of ather companies. The Group believes
these APMs provide stakeholders with additional useful infermation in providing alternative interpretations of the underlying
performance of the business and how it is managed and are used by the Directors and management for performance analysis
and reporting. These APMs should be viewed as supplemental to, but not as a substitute for, measures presented in the financial
staternents which are prepared in accordance with IFRS.

APM

Closest equivalent
IFRS measure

Adjustments to reconciie
10 IFRS measure

Definition

Income statement

Adjusted EBITDA

EBITDA, while not defined
under IFRS, is a widely
accepted profit measure.

Refer to note 3.

Operating profit/(loss) before finance income and
costs, taxation, depreciation and amortisation
("EBITDA™) and additionally excludes share-based
payment charges and associated social security costs,
foreign exchange and exceptional items.

Investment
AEBITDA and
operating AEBITDA

EBITDA, while not defined
under IFRS, is a widely
accepted profit measure

Refer ta Finance Review

Investrnent AEBITDA refers to investment income,
investment expense and fair value adjustments and
operating AEBITDA represents AEBITDA excluding
investment AEBITDA.

Net investment Net income. Refer to Finance Review.  Net investment iIncome represents investment income
income less investment expense
Exceptional items  None Refer to note 5. Items which the Group excludes from adjusted EBITDA

in order to present a measure of the Group's performance.
Eachitem i1s considered to be significant in nature

or size and is treated consistently between periods.
Excluding these items from profit metrics provides the
reader with additional performance information on the
business as i1 is cansistent with how information is
reported to the Board and GLT.

Cash flow

Free cash flow

Cash generated from
operating activities.

Refer to Finance Review.

Net cash flows from operating activities less the cost
of purchasing intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment, lease payments and interest received,

It excludes the warehouse and securitisation financing
and funding cash flows and excludes cash flows on
draw downs and repayment of FlexiPay lines of credit.
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Glossary

Term

Definition

8th generation

We use generational factors at Funding Circle ta describe the number of fundamental enhancements/revisions
that have been made to the credit modelling used to determine borrower craditworthiness for lending. In the UK
we are currently using an 8th generation credit model In the US we are on our 5th generation

Arnortisation

In lending terms, the process by which the outstanding balance on a loan reduces through repayments made
by the borrower, until the loan is fully repaid. Not to be confused with the general accounting term relating to the
eqguivalent form of depreciation for intangible assets.

API

Application Programming Interface Term used to describe a technical solution facilitating customer access to
Funding Circle's platform and capability via a partner website to create seamless previsioning of Funding Circle
products and services on its site. We also refer to this solution as an "embedded” route to reaching potential
new borrowers.

BBB

British Business Bank. A state-owned economic development bank established by the UK government. Its aim
is to increase the supply of credit to small and medium-sized enterprises as well as providing business advice
services. The BBB has administered all the recent governrment-backed loan schemes in the UK on behalf of the
Secretary of State for BEIS.

BBLS

Bounce Back Loan Scheme. A UK government-backed low fixed interest loan scheme intended to support
businesses through the Covid-19 pandemic. The scheme facilitated loans of a maximum of £50,000 for up to six
years, and these were 100% backed by a government guarantee for the lender. The borrower always remained
fully lizble for the debt. All Funding Circle loans under BBLS were to existing core lending customers and Group
total lending under the scheme amounted to ¢.£35 million.

BEIS

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy. A UK government department throughout the reporting
period. The ministerial departrment has been responsible for business, industrial strategy, science, innovation,
energy and climate change throughout FY 2022, The UK government subsequently announced the disbandment
of the department on 7 February 2023 into four new departments, the mast relevant of which for Funding Circle
purposes is the new Department for Business and Trade.

Beta testing

The second phase of testing a new product using real customers in a live, but restricted environment.

Board

The Board of Directors of Funding Circle Holdings ple.

Barrowers

Actual or prospective borrowers participating on the Group's lending platform.

Capital Markets

A functional division within Funding Circle that deals with all relations and activities associated with
institutional investors.

CBILS

Coronavirus Business Interruption Loan Scheme. UK government-backed loan scheme intended to provide
support for smal! businesses (up to £45 million annual turnover) through the Covid-19 pandemic. The scheme
facilitated loans fram £1,000 te £5 million for up to six years, with the first 12 menths of interest charges, and
lender levied fees cavered by the government. The loans were initially 80% backed by government guarantee
for the lender, reducing later to 70%, but the borrower always remained fully liable for the debt. CBILS closed to
new applications on 31 March 20271, Funding Circle was the third largest approver through tha scherme among
90 accredited providers, facilitating some ¢.£3 billion of loans. Transaction fee yields on CBILS loans were fixed
at4.75%.

CCDS

Commercial Credit Data Sharing. Effectively a light version of Open Banking. A UK government initiative mandated
under the Small Business Enterprise & Employment Act 2015 with the aim of actively stimulating competition and
new entrants in SME lending markets. The scheme is run by HM Treasury and mandates the sharing of financial
data on SMEs by the nine designated banks which account for over 80% of SME lending in the UK.

COFI

Community Development Financial Institution. Speciafised small bank-like institution in the US that provides
financial services in low-income communities and to organisations and people who lack access to financing.

Circlers

Term used by the Group to refer to its employees.

Cohorts

Term used to denote loan groupings. Loan cohorts are determined by their year of erigination. Investor coharts
denote loan groupings according to the loan funding institution.

Company

When capitalised, “Company” refers to Funding Circle Holdings ple.
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Glossary continued

Term Definition

C&R Collections and Recoveries. A division of Funding Circle.
Credit Collection obtains payments from borrowers of debt classified as delinguent. This process is usually
managed in house across the lending industry.
Debt Recovery obtains payments from borrowers of debt classified as in default. Across the wider lending
industry this process is usually managed by a third party; at Funding Circie we have a dedicated function
managing this process.

Credit box A mostly internally used term that encapsulates both the SME database and credit modetling used by Funding

Circle to determine the criteria by which we lend to borrowers.

Credit bureau

A company that collects information relating to credit ratings of companies and/or individuals and makes this
available to other financial institutions.

Credit model

Mathematical model used to estimate the probability for a customer to default on aloan,

Default

Term used to describe lcans where the customer has failed to repay a loan in accardance with the terms of the
agreement Loans are placed inte default when itis deemed likely the customer can no jonger meet the terms
of the scheduied loan repayments (e g due to company liguidations and insolvencies) or when the borrower has
consistently failed to pay in accordance with the terms and it has not been possible to arrange an alternative
repayment schedule A default affects the credit score of the borrower.

Delinquencies

Term used to describe loans where the borrower is late making payment(s). This need not affect a customer's
credit score if the borrower is able 1o agree and meet a revised schedule for repayments.

Developing Markets

The name farmerly used for the primary reporting segment for the Group now referred to as "Other Loans®,
consisting of operations in Germany, the Netherlands and Spain (all of which the Group has now exited and are
in wind down).

Directors When capitalised, "Directors” refers to the Board Directors of Funding Circle Holdings plc, both Executive Directors
and Non-Executive Directors

EBT Employee Benefit Trust. A trust under which shares in the Company are held on behalf of the employees.

EIB European Investment Bank. The lending arm of the Eurapean Union.

Employee Employee engagement is a function of the relationship between the Group and its employees We measure this

engagement through surveys designed to help understand and improve the workplace and culture so that our employees feel

scere/index

mare connected and dedicated to the Group goals and values.

ERMF

Enterprise Risk Management Framewaork.

Executive Directors

When capitalised, "Executive Directors” refers to the executive directors of Funding Circle Holdings plc. Currently
the CEQ and CFO of the Group.

FCA

Financial Conduct Autherity The UK institution responsible for regulating finaneial institutions.

FlexiPay

FlexiPay 1s Funding Circle’s new line of credit product that allows businesses to make purchases and then spreag
the cost aver three months, paying back in three equal monthly instalments. It's designed to satisfy the working
capital needs of SME businesses and is currently available in the UK

FlexiPay card

FlexiPay card is another way for customers to use their FlexiPay line of credit, helping them to pay for everyday
business expenses and make purchases. Currently in beta launch phase in the UK

Forward flow

Agreements made between Funding Circle and institutional investors that indicate the lending funds they intend

agreements to provide for borrowers. Agreements generally stipulate the key lending terms, target borrower metrics, total
funds earmarked for lending and the period over which they will be deployed.

Institutional Actual or prospective institutional investors participating on the Group's platform who provide the funds to lend

investors to SME borrowers, and who also take the credit risk associated with the loans

Funding Circle
Continental Europe

Funding Circle CE GmbH and its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings Combination of Furding Circle
operations (n Germany, the Netherlands and Spain

Funding Circle
Germany

Funding Circle Deutschiand GmbH. Funding Circle operations in Germany
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Term

Definltion

Funding Circle NL

Funding Circle Nederland B.V. Funding Circle operations in the Netherlands.

Funding Circle UK

Funding Circle Ltd. Funding Circle operations in the UK.

Funding Circle US

Funding Circle USA, Inc. and its US subsidianes and affiliates. Funding Circle operaticns in the US.

FVTPL

Fair Value Through Profit ar Loss. Term used to describe those securities where the business model under
which these investments are held by the Group remains for these to be sold, and hence the fair value of these
investments 1s reported through the P&L.

Government-backed
loan schemes

Term used to describe the various schemes deployed by governments to support their economies through
economic shocks, most recently the Covid-19 pandemic. These include CBILS, BELS and RLS in the UK and PPP
in the US (see defimtions). Invariably, government-backed loan schemes have conferred various advantages to
either or both the institutional investors and the borrowers making them more attractive products compared to
normal commercial lending. Lenders and lending platforms normally require formal accreditation to be able to
provide the loans under these schemes.

GDPR General Data Protection Requlation. EU regulation governing how personal data is gathered and used.
GPO Global Platform for Qriginations.
Group {or Funding Circle Holdings plc and its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings

Funding Circle)

DL instant Decision Lending. The part of our platform that facilitates automatic decisions on borrowers’ loan
applications, In the UK, the system enables applications to be completed easily in arcund six minutes, with
decisions in as little as nine seconds and the maney in the barrower's account in 24 hours.

iFRS International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union.

Laa8 Lending as a Service, A distribution platform launched in the US. Funding Circle's offering allows financial
institutions to give their customers s fully integrated, digital end-to-end borrowing experience without the
significant nvestment and resources required to build or buy their own platform. By leveraging Funding Circle's
technaology and expertise, financial institutions can quickly and easity enter the digital lending market, offer loans
to their business customers and earn attractive interest and fee revenue.

LuM l.oans under Management. The total value of outstanding principal and interest to borrowers; includes amounts
that are overdue {delinquencies), but not loans that have defaulted.

LTIP Leng-term Incentive Plan. A scheme used to reward employees.

MAR Market Abuse Regulation. EU regulation designed to combat market abuse in financial markets.

Marketplace Term used 1o deseribe our referral of borrowers {who fall cutside our credit risk or service capability) to specialist
lenders who can meet their needs. Funding Circle generally receives a fee for such referrals.

MIFID 1l Markets in Financial Instruments Directive. EU regulation.

MTP Medium-term plan. Our operational and financial plans for delivering growth to FY 2025. This includes & focus
on three key areas: attract more businesses; say yes to more businesses; and #1 in new products.

Mission The Funding Circle mission is to "build the place where small businesses get the funding they need to win”.

NPS Net Promater Score, An index ranging from -100 to +100 that measures the willingness of customers to
recommend a company's praducts or services to others. The more positive the score, the more likely a customer
is to recommend the service.

NED Non-Executive Director. When capitalised, “NED" refers to a non-executive director of the Board of Funding Circle

Holdings ple.

Open Banking

An initiative led by the UK's Competition and Markets Authority, intended to create more competition in the
banking industry and to encourage better services and more innovation to iImprove customers’ banking
experience. Using a set of technologies and standards Open Banking allows customers to safely and securely
share their bank account infarmation. Users decide what informatian they allow to be shared and fer how long.

Origination

Term used to describe the process of obtaining and onboarding a new borrower.
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Glossary continued

Term

Definition

P2P lending

Peer-to-peer lending. A legacy service that facilitated retail investments in loans to SME businesses on a retail
platform. Funding Circle paused P2P lending in April 2020, and in March 2022 the Group confirmed that it would
permanently close the retail platform for new investments Some legacy historical P2P lending remains on the
Group balance sheet, but this will reduce to £nil as the loans continue to amortise.

PPP

Paycheck Protection Program. A US government (SBA)-backed loan scheme to help SMEs keep their workforces
employed during the Covid-19 pandemic. Borrowers are able to apply for forgiveness on these loans where they
can prove that the proceeds have been spent on payroll costs and other eligible expenses. The scheme closed
to new business on 31 May 2027. Accounting for PPP loans differs to normal loans with transaction fees spread
aver the expected life of the loans under IFRS9 {as the loans must be held on balance sheet at amortised cost
until forgiven, and with no servicing fees earned on PPP loans.

PPPLF

The Paycheck Protection Program Liguidity Facility. The name of the funding facility used by the US Government
for PPP icans.

RLS

Recovery Loan Scheme. A UK government-backed loan scheme to help businesses recover from the effects of
Covid-19. To date there have been three different RLS schemes, designed to support access to finance for UK
businesses as they looked to invest and grow. Term loans of up to £2 million and six months have been available
through the scheme at iImproved commercial terms. The government provided lenders under the scheme with
70% guarantees against the outstanding balance of the facility after normal recovery processes. The borrower
always remains fully hable for the debt

SBA

Small Business Administration. US governmental institution established in 1953 to help small businesses succeed
by providing counselling, capital, contracting expertise, information resources and a volice for small businesses.

SCRF
(formerly FCIF)

SME Credit Realisation Fund Limited. Oniginally the Funding Circle SME Income Fund ("FCIF*). A Guernsey
closed-ended investment company listed on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange in 2015 (ticker” SCRF).
The company is in managed wind-down_{ts investment objective is to realise all assets in its portfolio in a prudent
manner ta achieve a balance between maxmising the value from the realisation of the Company's investrments
and making timely returns of capital to shareholders. The fund includes assets in the UK, the US, the Netherlands
and Germany.

Securitisation

The process by which multiple foans are pooled and packaged into interest-bearing securities (bonds).

Horizontal securitisation denotes the packaging of loans into cohorts ranked according to risk potential: from the
lowest risk, lowest reward, first receiver of loan yield, to the highest risk, highest reward bearer of first losses and
receiver of surplus yield on the loans. In terms of existing horizontal securitisations on the Group balance sheet,
Funding Circle temporarily holds the residual tranches with the intention to sell once seasoned.

Vertical securitisation denctes a packaging of loans where all investors take their share of the yield across the
entire pool of loans In terrms of existing vertical secuntisations en the Group balance sheet, Funding Circle was
required by regulation to retain a 5% equal participation in all classes of bonds issued

Segment

The principal reporting segments of our operations, representing the divisional structure through which the
business is currently managed. Namely UK Loans, US Loans, Other Loans {formerly Developing Markets) and
New Products.

Servicing yield

The ratio of the servicing fee {the fee charged to institutional investors for managing their loans) to the amartised
loan balance. Typically, the servicing yield is between 1% and 1.25% pa of the loan balance.

SMB Small and medium-sized businesses. Term used in the US to represent smaller businesses (the US equivalent
of the UK's SMEs})
SME Small and medium-sized enterprises Term used In the UK to represent smaller businesses (the UK equivalent
of the US's SMB).
SONIA Sterling Overnight Index Average. A UK interest rate benchmark that came in as a replacement for LIBOR
{London Interbank Offer Rate),
SPV Special Purpose Vehicle. A subsidiary created by a company to isolate a financial risk. The Group has held
a number of SPVs housing securitised loans
TAM Total Addressable Market. An estimation of the total potential market value for which Funding Circle can compete.

Unrestricted cash

Term used to describe the cash on the balance sheet that is available for use by Funding Circle. This excludes
cash balances being held on behalf of third parties, like governments and bondholders,

Warehousing

Process whereby loans that have been issued to borrowers are pooled into a holding warehouse with the intention
that these are ultimately being held for packaging and reselling to a third party investor
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Shareholder and Company information

Shareholder information
Receiving shareholder information by email:

You can opt to receive shareholder information frorm us by
email rather than by post. We will then email you whenever we
add sharehoider communications to the Company website.
To set this up, please visit www shareview co.uk and register
for electronic communications {"e-comms”).

tf you subsequently wish to change this instruction or revert to
receiving documents or information by post, you can do so by
contacting the Company’s registrars at the address shown in
the Company information opposite. You can also change your
communication method back to post by logging in to your
Shareview account and going to "update my commurication
preferences” within the "Quick links" section.

The registrars can alsg be contacted by telephone on

+44 (0)371 384 2030 (non-UK callers +44 (09121 415 7047)

or +44 (0)371 384 2255 (text phone). Calls ta this number cost
no maore than a national rate call from any type of phane or
provider. These priceg are for indication purposes only; if in
doubt, please check the cost of calling this number with your
phone line provider. Lines are open 8 30 am =530 p.m.,
Maon-Fri excluding public holidays in England and Wales.

Cautionary statement

Shareholder enquiries

If you have any queries relating to your shareholding, dividend
payments or lost share certificates, or if any of your details
change, please contact the Company's registrars by visiting
www shareview.co.uk or by using the contact details above.

Annual shareholder calendar
Final results anncunced 2 March 2023

30 March 2023
11 May 2023

Annual Report published

Annual General Meeting

Interim Report

As part of our e-comms programme, we have decided not to
produce a printed copy of our Interim Report. We will instead
publish the report on our website. It is expected that this year's
report will be available on cur website in September.

Certain statements included in our 2022 Annual Repart, or incorporated by reference to it, may constitute “forward-looking
statements” in respect of the Group’s operations, performance, prospects and/or financial condition,

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties because they are beyond the Group’s control and
are based on current beliefs and expectations about future events about the Group and the industry In which the Group operates.

No assurance can be given that such future results will be achieved: actual events or results may differ materially as a result of
risks and uncertainties facing the Group. If the assumptions on which the Group bases its forward-locking staternents change,
actual results may differ from those expressed in such statements. The forward-looking statements contained in this report

reflect knowledge and inforrmation avallable at the date of this Annual Report and the Group undertakes no obligaticn to update

these forward-looking statements except as required by law.

This report does not constitute or form part of any offar ar invitation to sell, or any solicitation of any offer to purchase, any
shares or other securities in the Company, and nothing in this report should be construed as a profit forecast.
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